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The Hon. Stuart Ayres MP 
Minister for Jobs, Investment, 
Tourism and Western Sydney 

52 Martin Place 
SYDNEY NSW 2000

30 November 2020 

Dear Minister, 

We are pleased to submit the Annual Report of Destination NSW for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 for 
presentation to the NSW Parliament. 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984, 
the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Regulation 2015, the Government Sector Employment Act 2013, the Public 
Finance and Audit Act 1983, and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

Yours sincerely, 

John Warn    Steve Cox 
Chairman    CEO
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Chairman’s Foreword

The 2019-2020 financial year was the most turbulent and 
challenging period for the NSW tourism industry since the 
establishment of Destination NSW in 2011. 

The year started positively with the Tourism Satellite Accounts 
reporting the highest levels of tourism employment, tourism 
Gross State Product and tourism Gross Value Add in NSW 
for more than a decade. The State also continued to track 
ahead of target to achieve the 2020 goal of doubling overnight 
visitor expenditure with record results in the September and 
December 2019 quarters.

Throughout 2019-2020, the organisation found itself operating 
in a challenging environment as it responded to natural 
disasters including prolonged drought, floods, extensive 
and widespread bushfires and most recently the COVID-19 
pandemic. These factors affected the program of work, 
which remained fluid providing flexibility to react to industry 
needs while continuing to drive growth in the key metrics of 
expenditure, visitors and nights.

The organisation demonstrated a high level of resilience in its 
coordinated response to implementing initiatives to support 
the visitor economy and the broader government sector, with 
Destination NSW lending a hand on a number of NSW Treasury 
projects to combat the COVID-19 pandemic.

All of these initiatives were delivered despite ongoing 
uncertainty around the organisation’s funding arrangements, 
which forced Destination NSW to reduce or discontinue some 
activities and divert its available budget to recovery activities. 

In addition, Destination NSW experienced organisational 
change in 2019-2020, commencing with the departure of 
long term CEO Sandra Chipchase. I thank Sandra for her 
contribution to NSW tourism and major events over her eight-
year tenure, which delivered many outstanding achievements 
and shaped Destination NSW into a dynamic organisation that 
has delivered multiple firsts for NSW and Australia.

It was a pleasure to work with Stephen Mahoney as acting CEO 
through late 2019 and early 2020. Stephen assumed this role 
during an unprecedented period for Destination NSW as the 
State endured a bushfire season unlike anything we had seen 
before and the early stages of a global pandemic. His leadership 
during this time was instrumental in bringing the team together 
to deliver a range of activities, including the development of 
a multi-faceted tourism recovery program that continues to 
evolve to meet the needs of the NSW tourism industry.  

The recruitment of Steve Cox as the new Destination NSW 
CEO marks a new era for the organisation and I welcome his 
appointment. Steve commenced his role on 4 May 2020, since 
which time he has driven the team to develop new strategies 
and projects to shape the future of the NSW visitor economy, 
including an update of the Visitor Economy Industry Action 
Plan 2030, which will serve as the industry’s tourism recovery 

blueprint. We all look forward to Steve’s impact to the NSW 
visitor economy and tourism sector. 

I thank the Hon. Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for Jobs, 
Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney for his ongoing 
support of Destination NSW and his work to represent the 
NSW tourism industry. 

I would also like to thank the Treasury team, in particular 
Secretary, Mike Pratt and Deputy Secretary, Kim Curtain for 
their continued assistance in enabling Destination NSW to 
make a strong contribution to the NSW economy. As always, 
the contribution of the Destination NSW Board has been 
invaluable in guiding the organisation, and supporting the team 
during this exceptional year. 

2019-2020 was not an easy year, the response from everyone at 
Destination NSW was overwhelming, highlighting the passion 
and commitment of all our staff in making sure that NSW can 
recover and remain Australia’s number one visitor economy. 

I look forward to better times ahead and to working with 
the Minister, the Board, the Executive team and the broader 
Destination NSW team to get the NSW visitor economy back to 
its best.

Big thanks to all those in our industry, from right across 
the state and all our wonderful regions, for your hard work, 
commitment and tenacity.

Bright times are ahead.

 The response from 
 everyone at Destination 
NSW was overwhelming, 
highlighting the passion and 
commitment of all our staff.

John Warn 
Chairman 
Destination NSW

John Warn 
Chairman 
Destination NSW
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About Destination NSW

1. Position Sydney and 
NSW as world leading 

tourism and events 
destinations.

3. Build a sustainable 
events calendar 

for NSW.

5. Deliver value in 
partnership / 

co-operative programs.

6. Develop and sustain 
a high-performance 

organisation.

7. Maximise yield and 
dispersal from the 
Visitor Economy.

8. Implement the Visitor 
Economy Industry 

Action Plan.

4. Increase industry 
stakeholder and 

customer engagement.

2. Attract and secure 
high-value major 

events.

Established under the Destination NSW Act 2011 as the lead 
Government agency for the NSW tourism and major events 
sector, its charter is to achieve economic and social benefits 
for the people of NSW through the development of tourism and 
the securing of major events.

Destination NSW was established through the merger of four 
Government-funded entities – Tourism NSW, Events NSW, the 
Homebush Motor Racing Authority and the Greater Sydney 
Partnership – into a single entity.

As a Public Service Executive Agency, Destination NSW is 
governed by a Board of Management and is subject to the 
control and direction of the Minister for Jobs, Investment, 
Tourism and Western Sydney. It is principally funded by the 
NSW Government and is part of a cluster of agencies under the 
responsibility of the Secretary of the NSW Treasury.

Role
Destination NSW is responsible for devising and implementing 
strategies to grow the State’s visitor economy. Its particular 
focus is on driving tourism and acquiring and developing major 
sporting and cultural events for Sydney and regional NSW. In 
addition, Destination NSW is the major investor in Business 
Events Sydney with the aim of securing more international 
conventions, incentive travel reward programs, corporate 
events and exhibitions for Sydney and regional NSW.

Vision
To make Sydney and NSW one of the world’s most successful 
tourism and events destinations.

Mission
To double overnight visitor expenditure by 2030 and maximise 
the benefits of the visitor economy for NSW.

Strategic Objectives
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Importance of the Visitor Economy 
to New South Wales
The term ‘visitor economy’ includes businesses and 
communities that benefit from the direct and indirect 
economic activity generated through the wide range of 
initiatives that support the provision of goods and services 
to overnight visitors including, but not limited to, leisure, 
business, events, food and wine, arts and cultural, nature and 
student visitors.

The visitor economy contributes $46.5 billion to the State’s 
economy and supports 191,800 direct jobs. In the year ended 
June 2020, NSW welcomed 95.4 million visitors and currently 
leads all Australian States and Territories in terms of visitor 
numbers, nights and expenditure.

Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan
In December 2012, the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 
(the NSW Government response to the NSW Visitor Economy 
Taskforce Report) was released supporting the majority of 
recommendations made by the Taskforce.

The Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan outlined the whole-
of-government commitment to the NSW visitor economy and a 
long-term strategy to achieve the NSW Government’s target of 
doubling overnight visitor expenditure to NSW by 2020.

The updated Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 was 
released by the NSW Government in August 2018 and contains 
34 recommendations to drive the NSW visitor economy to 2020 
and beyond.

Destination NSW is assisting in the implementation of the 
Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 and delivering 
activities that will contribute to the new targets set by the NSW 
Government of achieving $20 billion in visitor expenditure in 
rural and regional NSW by 2025, rising to $25 billion by 2030 
and tripling overnight visitor expenditure in NSW by 2030.

Working with Industry
Destination NSW works with industry and government 
stakeholders to realise its vision of making Sydney and 
NSW one of the world’s most successful tourism and events 
destinations. The value of the contribution made by tourism 
and major events to the economy and local communities 
is undeniable and by working with industry stakeholders, 
Destination NSW can undertake a wide range of activities that 
increase the profile of Sydney and NSW in key domestic and 
international markets.

Services
The services offered by Destination NSW include:

• Brand development and management

• Strategic partnership programs

• Market research and insights

• Destination development assistance

• Product development advisory service

• Market and business development programs

• Destination and event marketing

• Co-operative marketing and publicity programs

• Major event investment, acquisition and evaluation

• Event leveraging activities

• Regional conferencing acquisition and promotion

• Visitor resources and information

• Visual resources – footage and photography

• Funding for regional events and tourism activities.

Cafe Sydney

About Destination NSW  CONTINUED
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Board Members

Rod McGeoch AO

Michael Pratt AM The Hon. George Souris AM Steve Cox

John Warn (Chairman)  Russell Balding AO (Deputy Chairman) David Baffsky AO

Margaret Jack AM Sally Loane
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John Warn  GAICD, FIML, FCSIA, SEP (Chairman)

John Warn was appointed Chairman of Destination NSW in July 
2018. He has had an extensive career across executive search, 
business consulting, sport, tourism and in the Australian and 
New Zealand retail property industry spanning over 25 years. 
He has held senior roles most recently with Odgers Berndtson 
as Head of Sport, Media & Entertainment, and previously with 
Scentre Group (Westfield) from 2010 - 2018, after serving in 
the senior executive team at David Jones. John also previously 
worked in specialty retail with iconic brands such as Virgin 
and Beach Culture, a tourism, airport-based, lifestyle retailer, 
after a short stint in banking (Westpac) and investment 
banking in the UK.

In addition to his executive career, John has held a number of 
other non-executive roles. He was appointed as the youngest 
ever Chairman of Cricket NSW, one of the larger not-for-
profit sporting bodies in Australia, holding the Chair role 
from early 2013 to June 2018, after joining the board in late 
2012. John oversaw a period of significant strategic change, 
transformation and success, winning every possible title for 
both male and female categories. John also presently sits 
on the Board of Mainbrace Constructions, and the Bradman 
Foundation as a Non-Executive Director. 

In mid-2020, as COVID-19 was unfolding, he was appointed 
as the NSW Government’s Chair of the NSW Visitor Economy 
Industry Action Plan 2030 Taskforce, a cross industry group 
aimed at ensuring NSW built a robust whole of Government 
tourism industry plan with specific economic targets through 
to 2030.

John completed the well-regarded Stanford Executive 
Program at Stanford University GSB in Silicon Valley in 2015. 
He is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Managers 
and Leaders and a Fellow of the Customer Service Institute 
of Australia. John has also supported various charities, in 
non-executive capacities, including the Happy Days Inc. in 
Cambodia, the SEP Alumni Scholarship Foundation (USA) from 
2015 - 2017 and he also served a brief term on the Cerebral 
Palsy Alliance Board in 2016.

Russell Balding  AO, BBus, DipTech (Comm), FCPA, 

MAICD (Deputy Chairman)

Russell Balding is Chairman of Racing NSW, Deputy 
Chairman of Racing Australia Limited, Deputy Chairman 
of Destination NSW, and a Director of The Trust Company 
(Sydney Airport) Limited. Russell also Chairs Destination 
NSW’s Audit and Risk Committee. 

Russell served on the Board of Cabcharge Australia Limited for 
over five years, including as its Chairman for over two years. 

Previously, Mr Balding Chaired the Visitor Economy Taskforce, 
established by the NSW Government to develop a tourism 
and events strategy to double overnight visitor expenditure to 
NSW by 2020. Russell also served on the Board of the former 
Government tourism body, Tourism NSW.

In June 2011, Russell retired as Chief Executive Officer of 
the Sydney Airport Corporation after a five year appointment 
where he oversaw the continued growth and commercial 
success of Australia’s National Gateway Airport. 

Russell is a former Managing Director of the Australian 
Broadcasting Corporation (ABC). Prior to joining the ABC, 
Russell was Director of Finance at the NSW Roads and 
Traffic Authority. 

Russell holds a Diploma in Technology (Commerce) and a 
Bachelor of Business. Russell is a member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, a Fellow of CPA Australia and a 
past State President of that organisation. Russell was awarded 
an Order of Australia in January 2007.

David Baffsky  AO, LLB

David Baffsky is Honorary Chairman (formerly Executive 
Chairman between 1993 and 2008) of Accor Asia Pacific, the 
largest hotel management company in the Asia Pacific region. 
He is Chairman of Ariadne Australia Ltd and Chairman of 
Investa Property Group.  

Amongst previous roles, Mr Baffsky was a Board Member of 
Sydney Olympic Park Authority, The George Institute and the 
Australian Brandenburg Orchestra. He was a Trustee of the 
Art Gallery of NSW, Chairman of Voyages Indigenous Tourism 
Ltd and a Director of the Indigenous Land Corporation. He 
was a Director of SATS Limited (Singapore) and Chairman of 
FASSCO International (Australia) Pty Ltd. He was a member of 
the Business Government Advisory Group on National Security 
and the Commonwealth Government’s National Tourism 
Infrastructure Investment Consultative Group. 

David is a life member of the Tourism Taskforce. 

In 2007, David was appointed to the Commonwealth 
Government’s Northern Australia Land and Water Taskforce 
and the Prime Minister’s Community–Business Partnership. In 
June 2001, David was made an Officer in the General Division 
of the Order of Australia and was awarded the Centenary 
Medal in 2003. David was recognised as the 2004 Asia Pacific 
Hotelier of the Year. In 2012 he was awarded the Chevalier 
(Knight) in the French National Order of the Legion of Honour.

Board Members
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Margaret Jack  AM, FCA 

Margaret Jack is currently China Strategic Advisor to the 
Board of Directors of Adecco Group AG headquartered in 
Zurich. Adecco is the largest human resources company in the 
world and consistently maintains its position as the number 
one HR company in the Global Fortune 500 list. In China, 
Margaret is on the Board of the FESCO Adecco joint venture.

She was the Group’s representative at the 2014 B20 and 2016 
B20 Meetings and Group representative of 2019 Summer Davos.

Margaret was on the Board of DFAT’s Australia China Council 
from 2016 to 2019.

In the 2019 Queen’s Birthday Honours list, Margaret was 
appointed a Member of the Order of Australia with the citation 
“For significant service to the resources sector, and to 
Australia-China relations”.

Margaret is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of Australia and New Zealand. She has over 30 years’ 
experience working in negotiating commercial and technology 
contracts and developing large industrial plants. Margaret 
established the first Price Waterhouse office in Beijing in 1982 
and was subsequently appointed Executive Director of the 
Shell China and Hong Kong Group of Companies.

Sally Loane  BA (English, Politics, Journalism)

Sally Loane joined the Financial Services Council as Chief 
Executive Officer in December 2014.

Prior to this Sally had a decade in the corporate sector, 
working at Coca-Cola Amatil as a senior executive. Her first 
career was in the media, where she spent 25 years as a 
broadcaster and journalist across radio, television and print. 
Sally is also a published author.

Sally is a Director of Venues NSW, and the Avner Pancreatic 
Cancer Research Foundation.  Sally is also a Governor of the 
Cerebral Palsy Research Foundation, Ambassador for Business 
Events Sydney and a member of Chief Executive Women.  

Sally was the first female Director of Waratahs Rugby and 
served on the Board for seven years. She was a Director of 
SCEGGS Darlinghurst for 12 years and chaired the Salvation 
Army’s Sydney East Doorknock Appeal from 2008-2011 and 
was a Co-Deputy Chair for the Committee for Sydney.

Rod McGeoch  AO, LLB

Rod McGeoch was the leader of Sydney’s successful Olympics 
2000 bid. He is an Officer of the Order of Australia. He is 
also Chairman of BGP Holdings Plc, Chairman of Vantage 
Private Equity Growth Limited, Chairman of Chubb Insurance 
Australia Ltd, Director of Corporacion America International 
S.A.R.L., Director South Cone Foundation and Deputy 
Chairman of the Sydney Cricket & Sports Ground Trust. 

Mr McGeoch is a former Chairman of the Committee for 
Sydney and plays a leading role in a variety of cultural, 
community and welfare organisations. He was also President 
of the Law Society of New South Wales and Director of Ramsay 
Health Care Limited. He has published two best-selling books: 
McGeoch and The Bid. 

Michael Pratt  AM 

Michael Pratt AM was appointed as the 27th Secretary of NSW 
Treasury on 1 August 2017. The Treasury Cluster includes NSW 
Treasury, NSW Small Business Commission, Destination NSW, 
Western City & Aerotropolis Authority, NSW Procurement, 
NSW Treasury Corporation, icare (Insurance & Care NSW) and 
SAS Trustee Corporation.  

As Secretary, Michael is responsible for strategic 
management of the entirety of the State’s finances, budget, 
assets, liabilities and financial risk management framework 
and transformation. 

Prior to his role with Treasury, Michael was the NSW Customer 
Service Commissioner, where he revolutionised the way 
the Government delivers services - putting the people of 
NSW at the heart of service delivery in the establishment of 
Service NSW. He led major service reform across the NSW 
Government, chairing the NSW Customer Advisory Board - 
the responsible governance entity for the delivery of State 
Government services to the citizens of NSW.

Michael Pratt was honoured as a Member of the Order of 
Australia (AM) in the Queen’s Birthday 2016 Honours List. 
Michael was recognised as a role model for Australian society 
for providing significant service to public administration 
through reforms in customer service and communication 
and to the finance and banking industry.  Michael was also 
awarded an Honorary Doctorate of Letters in April 2018 from 
Western Sydney University for his services to the University 
and to the wider community.

Prior to his role as Customer Service Commissioner, Michael 
was CEO of Consumer and SME Banking, North East Asia, 
with Standard Chartered Bank. He is a former President of 
the Australian Institute of Banking & Finance and was the 
inaugural Joint President of Finsia. Michael’s previous roles 
also include senior executive positions as Group Executive 
of Westpac Business & Consumer Banking, CEO of National 
Australia Bank in Australia, CEO of Bank of New Zealand 
and CEO of Bank of Melbourne.  Michael was also Deputy 
Chancellor of Western Sydney University. 

Prior directorships include Non-Executive Director roles at 
TAL Dai-ichi Life Australia and Credit Union Australia where 
he chaired their respective risk committees, Deputy Chair of 
iCare, MasterCard International Inc New York, MasterCard 
Asia Pacific, BT Financial Services, Chairman of Bennelong 
Funds Management, Chairman of Shenzen Credit Corporation 
and Executive Director of Standard Chartered Bank Hong Kong 
and China.

Board Members  CONTINUED
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The Hon. George Souris  AM, BEc, Dip Fin Mangt, 

FAIM, FCPA

George Souris is a highly experienced former NSW Minister 
responsible for a wide range of portfolios, including tourism 
and major events, and the management of large government 
departments. He is a former Minister for Finance and was 
responsible for the State’s privatisation agenda, including 
the Government Insurance Office by public float, the State’s 
Southern irrigation districts, and Land & Water Conservation. 

George retired from the NSW Parliament in 2015 after 27 
years of elected Parliamentary representation from the Upper 
Hunter Valley of NSW. He was Parliamentary Leader of the 
National Party. Prior to entering Parliament he served seven 
years as an elected Councillor of Singleton Shire Council and 
was its Deputy President. 

In his former capacity as Minister for Tourism, Major Events, 
Hospitality and Racing, George was responsible for creating 
Destination NSW and establishing the Visitor Economy 
Taskforce. George was also charged with developing a strategy 
to double overnight visitor expenditure to NSW by 2020. The 
strategy, the NSW Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan, 
continues to be implemented by the current Government. 
He was responsible for the government’s liquor and gaming 
regulation and was previously responsible for the NSW TAB 
and for creating the current form of Racing NSW.

George is the President of the State Library Council of NSW 
and is a Director of the Board of Racing NSW. He is a Director 
of the Board of Business Events Sydney Ltd as Destination 
NSW’s representative and is Chairman of the NSW Mine Safety 
Council. He was made a Member of the Order of Australia in 
June 2016. 

He serves the Australian Rugby Foundation, the Australian 
Film Institute and the Sir Earle Page Memorial Trust.

Beforehand entering Parliament, George was a partner in 
public practice of an accounting firm in the Hunter Valley 
where he lives.

Steve Cox  MBA

Steve Cox is the Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW.

Prior to joining Destination NSW in May 2020, Steve was the 
Managing Director of Dymocks Retail for eight years where 
he launched several high-growth business channels for the 
company. Before serving Dymocks, Steve held senior roles 
in the fashion sector with David Jones and the Specialty 
Fashion Group. Steve holds an MBA with Macquarie University 
– Graduate School of Management and was a member of 
the Business Advisory Council for Greenfleet, a leading 
environmental not-for-profit organisation.

As a passionate and energetic champion for Sydney and 
regional NSW, Steve’s focus is spearheading the strategic 
direction of Destination NSW including the review of the Visitor 
Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 to ensure NSW is the 
world’s most successful tourism and events destination.

The following people were also Destination NSW Board 
Members during the reporting period: 

Sandra Chipchase 
(Former CEO, 1 July 2019 to 31 December 2019)

Stephen Mahoney 
(Acting CEO, 16 December 2019 to 4 May 2020)

Board Members  CONTINUED
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Organisation Chart 2019-2020
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and Event Delivery 

Destination Brand Management
Consumer Marketing Strategy & Implementation
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Digital Content Generation & Distribution
Advertising Campaigns
Social Media Channel Management
Digital Analytics & Performance Optimisation
Web Development & Asset Management
ATDW / Get Connected Industry 
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Partnership Programs 
Airline Agreements
International Offices

Destination Development
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Trade Famils and Trade Missions
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Regional Conferencing
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Visitor Services
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Cruise, Food and Wine, Youth
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Visual Asset Management
Corporate Website  

Finance
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CEO’s Review of the Year

As the new CEO of Destination NSW, I am honoured to have the 
opportunity to take on the role and build on the organisation’s 
tremendous achievements.

Starting my role ‘virtually’ amidst a global pandemic was 
not ideal, but it soon became apparent that I was joining an 
organisation with a high performing team committed to 
delivering the best results possible for the NSW visitor economy. 

2019-2020 has presented many challenges for the NSW 
tourism industry which was greatly affected by multiple 
crises during the year, including an unprecedented bushfire 
season and COVID-19. Our team has shown great resilience 
by adapting to a new way of working at very short notice and 
continuing to deliver a wide range of programs to support the 
NSW tourism industry.   

The NSW Government’s $10 million tourism recovery package, 
first announced in February 2020, to support recovery 
from bushfires, drought and floods has been a key focus 
for Destination NSW. It marked the first step on the road to 
recovery and campaign activities delivered as part of this 
package evolved during the year to address the needs of the 
industry and ensure that messaging was consistent with 
government travel restrictions and public health orders. 

As the new normal forced us to operate in a virtual 
environment and think differently about all our programs, the 
team adapted well to supporting the NSW tourism industry 
outside the regular office environment. The Love NSW 
campaign was delivered in several phases with messaging 
adapted to match the progression and make sure that NSW 
was the only place that people were thinking about, even when 
they could not travel due to the COVID-19 lockdown. 

We used our time wisely while restrictions were in place, 
running virtual activities for industry as well as planning 
activities that could be rolled out as restrictions eased. Key 
highlights included virtual media workshops for journalists 
who could no longer travel, the creation of the ‘Local Stories’ 
video series featuring tourism operators inviting travellers 
to visit and a dedicated webpage showing the top 213 ways to 
reboot 2020 in NSW. Launched on 31 May 2020 to coincide with 
the relaxation of travel restrictions within NSW, the initiative  
was supported by extensive PR and enables travellers to make 
the most of the remaining 213 days in 2020.

The challenges experienced by the visitor economy in 2019-
2020 presented the need to review the Visitor Economy 
Industry Action Plan 2030 to update our key objectives, 
reset our targets and develop a comprehensive roadmap for 

growing our visitor economy over the next 10 years. The new 
NSW Visitor Economy Strategy will outline a new approach 
to growing the NSW visitor economy, taking into account 
the ongoing challenges and uncertainty facing the tourism 
industry. Stephen Mahoney, who led Destination NSW as the 
acting CEO from mid-December to May 2020, is managing 
this work. 

The NSW Visitor Economy Strategy will guide the road 
to recovery and our vision for the future. Going forward 
increased engagement will be at the forefront of our recovery 
activities to ensure that we are listening to our stakeholders 
and responding to their needs. This increased engagement 
will also allow us to get closer to Government to form better 
relationships and drive greater awareness and understanding 
of the value the visitor economy delivers for the State.  

In my short time leading Destination NSW, I have been struck 
by the team’s commitment to delivering for the NSW tourism 
industry, often in difficult circumstances. The approach to 
dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic has seen everyone 
come together to develop activities and strategies to sustain 
the NSW tourism industry into the future to give us the best 
possible opportunity of maintaining our position as Australia’s 
number one tourism state.

I would like to thank Minister Ayres, the Chairman, all Board 
Members and the Treasury Secretary for welcoming me in 
my new role and giving me the opportunity to steer our state’s 
tourism industry to recovery. I am excited by this challenge 
and I know I have the right team in place at Destination NSW to 
support me in that task.

Steve Cox 
Chief Executive Officer

Steve Cox 
Chief Executive Officer
Destination NSW
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Budget Structure
Destination NSW is a NSW Public Service Executive Agency 
under the Destination NSW Act 2011 (created on 1 July 
2011), comprising all the entities under its control, namely 
Destination NSW Staff Agency which provides personnel 
services to Destination NSW.

As part of the Machinery of Government changes in 2019, 
Destination NSW moved to the NSW Treasury cluster from 
1 July 2019.

This summary represents the consolidated financial 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Sources of Funds ($137.5 million) 
Total revenue for Destination NSW for the year ending 30 June 
2020 was $137.5 million.

The main sources of revenue were recurrent government 
grants from NSW Treasury ($121.6 million), contributions 
received from Industry and other parties ($15.5 million) 
to participate in marketing activities and other income 
($0.4 million).

Financial Overview 2019-2020

Sources of Funds

11.2%

88.5%

0.3%

88.5% NSW Treasury

11.2% Other contributions

0.3% Other income



Page  21DESTINATION NSW   //   Annual Report 2019-2020

ORGANISATION

Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020

Strategic Objective 1: 
Position Sydney & New South Wales as world-leading tourism and events destinations

Key Performance Indicators Target
2019-2020

Actual
2019-2020

%
Achieved Comment

Growth in total NSW visitor nights (million)

Total 205.7 168.6 82.0%

Domestic 98.1 98.8 100.8%

International 107.6 69.7 64.8%

Growth in total NSW overnight expenditure ($billion)

Total 35.5 26.1 73.4%

Domestic 19.8 18.1 91.4%

International 15.6 8.0 51.2%

Media Exposure

No. of media articles 15,202 16,582 109.1% Exceeded

Equivalent Advertising Value $202,107,063 $117,038,801 57.9% Note 1

No. of supported media visits to Sydney and  
regional destinations 269 195 72.5% Note 1

Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements 122,774 35,019 28.5% Note 1

Consumer Response to Marketing Activity

Visits to tourism & events consumer websites 
(sydney.com, visitnsw.com & vividsydney.com) 23,871,924 15,385,866 64.5% Note 2

Business leads to industry generated by digital and 
campaign activity 7,174,402 4,789,886 66.8% Note 2

Note 1:   In 2019-2020 the number of media articles generated increased by nine per cent over the previous year, however the impact of bushfires, 
COVID-19 and in particular the cancellation of Vivid Sydney and other Destination NSW sponsored events impacted the PR team’s ability to 
execute publicity activities. COVID-19 travel restrictions halted delivery of the media famil program which reduced Equivalent Advertising Value 
in high value international markets in the period from January-June 2020. 

Note 2:   There was significant impact on performance in 2019-2020 due to the bushfire disasters and the COVID-19 pandemic which contributed to the 
steep decline in website visits and leads to the tourism industry. Campaigns were impacted across Sydney, Regional, Events and Vivid Sydney 
and the second half of the financial year saw paused activity across Always On Search and Always On Social activity.

AWARDS

Vivid Sydney named Australia’s Best Tourism Event, and the country’s Best Cultural, Arts or Music Event at the Australian Event Awards.

NSW was again recognised as the home of major events with Sydney, Coffs Harbour and Port Macquarie all bestowed the International 
Festivals & Events Association (IFEA) 2019 World Festival and Event City Award. Sydney is the only city to have won the IFEA City Award.

Lord Howe Island ranked the world’s fifth best region to visit next year by global travel authority Lonely Planet in their new publication, 
Best in Travel 2020.

Vivid Sydney named NSW’s best major festival and event at the NSW Tourism Awards.

Sydney named Best Homeport in 2019 Cruise Critic Editors’ Picks Awards.

Six NSW beaches named amongst Australia’s top 20 beaches for 2020 announced by Tourism Australia.
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Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 2: 
Attract and secure high value major events

FESTIVALS Secured:

Deni Ute Muster

Snowtunes

Wings Over Illawarra

The 100 Festival, Blue Mountains

Continued investment into: Parkes Elvis Festival; Sydney Festival; TOYOTA Country Music Festival Tamworth; 
Vivid Sydney & Vivid LIVE at Sydney Opera House; Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras; Sydney Royal Easter Show

ENTERTAINMENT Secured:

9 to 5 The Musical

Sydney International Art Series: Matisse

Sydney International Art Series: Doug Aitken

Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour

Vogue 60th Anniversary

Continued investment into: ARIA Awards; Australian Fashion Laureate; 9th AACTA Awards Ceremony; Mercedes-Benz 
Fashion Week Australia; Semi Permanent

LIFESTYLE Secured:

Blackmores Sydney Running Festival

2019 Nepean Triathlon

Tour de Tweed / Battle on the Border

Australia Day 2020

WEMBO Asia Pacific 24 Hour Solo Championships & WEMBO World Solo 24 Hour Solo Championships

Surfest

Southern 80

Sail Port Stephens

Mudgee Classic

Bowral Classic

Superboat Festival Weekend

WSL Sydney Surf Pro

Kiama Bodyboard King Pro

Australian Boardriders Battle

Continued investment into: NSW Pro Surf Series - Carve Pro; NSW Pro Surf Series - Great Lakes Pro; NSW Pro Surf 
Series - Central Coast Pro; NSW State Readiness Camp (Surfing); Sydney Harbour Challenge; Ironman 70.3 Western 
Sydney; L’Etape Australia by Tour de France; True Grit Aussie 24Hr Titles; Newcrest Orange Challenge; NCHA Futurity; 
Australian Surf Rowers League Open; SAE Australian Surf Championships; Snowies Ultra Trail Run Festival; Snowies 
Mountain Bike Festival; TreX Cross Triathlon National Championships; Ironman Australia; Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo
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Strategic Objective 2 (continued): 
Attract and secure high value major events

SPORT Secured:

Bathurst 12 Hour

2023 FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023

2022 FIBA Women’s Basketball World Cup

Continued investment into: Holden State of Origin Game 3; Rugby Test Match: Wallaroos v Japan (Women’s); 
FFA National Youth Championships for Boys; FFA National Youth Championships for Girls; International Football 
Friendly: Olyroos v New Zealand (U23’s); Rugby Test Match: Wallabies v Manu Samoa; NRL Premiership Grand Final; 
International Football Friendly: Matildas v Chile; Australian Open Golf Championship; FIH Hockey Pro League; HSBC 
Sydney 7s; National Touch League; Youth Trans-Tasman Test (Touch Football); Open Trans-Tasman Test (Touch Football); 
Australian Hockey U21 Championships (Men & Women); Supercars Newcastle 500; Australian Little League Baseball 
Championships; Australian Senior League Baseball Championships; Australian Track & Field Championships; Australian 
U15 Hockey Championships (Boys & Girls); Sydney International Rowing Regatta 2020; Rugby League Nines World Cup; 
Trans-Tasman Test (Triple Header); Kennards Hire Rally Australia; Australian Indoor Hockey Festival; ATP Cup; Australian 
Ladies Classic (Golf); Women’s NSW Open Golf Championship; FIFA World Cup Qualifier (Socceroos v Jordan)

Note:   All events listed were secured or retained in 2019-2020; however, some could not be delivered due to bushfires and 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED
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Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020  CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 3: 
Build a sustainable events calendar for New South Wales

Key Performance Indicators Intrastate
overnight visitors

Interstate
overnight visitors

International
overnight visitors Comment

Sydney events 98,755 112,255 22,599 Note 1

Regional events 55,577 47,668 3,415 Note 1

Total 154,331 159,923 26,013 Note 1

EVENT ATTENDANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020

Key Performance Indicators No of events evaluated Visitor Expenditure Comment

Sydney events 27 $143,531,683 Note 2

Regional events 28 $74,837,098 Note 2

Total 55 $218,368,782 Note 2

INTERNATIONAL SPORTS, CULTURAL, CREATIVE AND ARTS EVENTS HELD IN NSW  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020

Key Performance Indicators Regional NSW Sydney Metro Western Sydney Total

Events won or retained 17 21 21 59

Events assisted or grown 19 7 2 28

Events on calendar 
(not directly assisted) 1 4 0 5

Total no. of events held 37 32 23 92

BUSINESS EVENTS SYDNEY PERFORMANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020

Key Performance Indicators Target
2019-2020

Actual
2019-2020

%
Achieved Comment

Events Secured:

Bids Won 88 49 56%

Delegate Days 257,400 198,400 77%

Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M) $236 $167 71%

Events Delivered:

Events Held 50

Delegate Days 125,800

Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M) $104

EVENT ASSESSMENT  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020

Key Performance Indicators No of events evaluated

Event investment feasibility 39

Event performance assessment 55

Note 1:   Event visitation results include actuals, where event evaluations have been completed, and forecasts/estimates, where evaluations have not 
been finalised. These are all events that took place within the 2019-2020 financial year. Reporting excludes the Regional Events Program. 
Events cancelled due to bushfires and COVID-19 are not included in these results.

Note 2:   Overnight visitor expenditure reports the money flowing into the State, from the expenditure by intrastate, interstate and international overnight 
visitors who came specifically to Sydney or NSW for an event or extended their stay. Reporting excludes the Regional Events Program. 
Events cancelled due to bushfires and COVID-19 are not included in these results.
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Strategic Objective 4: 
Increase industry stakeholder and customer engagement

Key Performance Indicators Target
2019-2020

Actual
2019-2020

%  
Achieved Comment

Media Exposure

No. of media articles generated 15,202 16,582 109.1% Exceeded

Equivalent Advertising Value $202,107,063 $117,038,801 57.9% Note 1

No. of supported media visits to Sydney and 
regional destinations 269 195 72.5% Note 1

Media distribution/ pitches / service 
engagements 122,774 35,019 28.5% Note 1

Trade and Industry Development Target
2019-2020

Actual
2019-2020

%  
Achieved Comment

No. of trade missions & events 5 3 60% Note 2

No. of New South Wales businesses 
attending trade missions 180 67 37% Note 2

No. of trade familiarisations 57 29 50% Note 2

No. of trade familiarisation participants 537 289 54% Note 2

No. of workshops delivered 25 22 88% Note 2

No. of tourism businesses assisted 1,200 1,238 103% Note 2, 3

Key Performance Indicators Actual  
2019-2020

Destination and Business Development

No. of approved TASAC applications1 24

No. of research insight fact sheets published 314

Visits to corporate website 219,210

Grants – No. of approved applications Actual  
2019-2020

Regional Event Fund 59

Note 1:   In 2019-2020 the number of media articles generated increased by nine per cent over the previous year, however the impact of bushfires, 
COVID-19 and in particular the cancellation of Vivid Sydney and other Destination NSW sponsored events impacted the PR team’s ability to 
execute publicity activities. COVID-19 travel restrictions halted delivery of the media famil program which reduced Equivalent Advertising Value 
in high value international markets in the period from January-June 2020.

Note 2:   Original planned program delivery disrupted by COVID-19.

Note 3:   Businesses assisted under the NSW First Program include 1,075 participants in NSW First workshops, showcases and trade training, and 163 
businesses receiving business development assistance via 304 interactions, including phone, email and meetings.

Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED

1 Tourist Attraction Signposting Assessment Committee
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Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED

Strategic Objective 5: 
Deliver value in partnership/co-operative programs

Key Performance Indicators Results  
2019-2020 % difference over last year Comment

Marketing & Communications

No. of advertising/creative pieces developed 
(television ads, digital, outdoor and press ads etc.) 4,058 -46% Note 1

No. of Sydney campaigns 5 -128% Note 2

No. of regional NSW campaigns 10 -46% Note 3

Equivalent Advertising Value (EAV) 
of publicity generated $117,038,801 -42% Note 4

Consumer Response to Marketing Activity Target
2019-2020

Results
2019-2020

%  
Target Comment

Visits to tourism and events consumer websites 
(sydney.com, visitnsw.com, vividsydney.com) 23,871,924 15,385,866 64.5% Note 5

Business leads to industry generated by digital  
and campaign activity 7,174,402 4,789,886 66.8% Note 5

Partnership Programs Target
2019-2020

Results
2019-2020

%  
Target Comment

No. of campaigns domestic 39 17 44% Note 6

No. of campaigns international 220 120 55% Note 6

Total no. of airline partnerships secured and  
or renewed 23 11 48% Note 6

Value of domestic and international airline 
partnerships (including VIK) $14.3 million $3.3 million 23% Note 6

Note 1:   Creative production outputs reduced significantly in 2019-2020 due to the combined impact of bushfires and the COVID-19 pandemic, which saw 
campaign activity paused and cancelled. This greatly affected a number of events cancelled, including Vivid Sydney 2020 where outputs for this 
event, including the artwork of event owners usually exceeds 1,000 pieces. 

Note 2:   The number of Sydney campaigns reduced significantly in 2019-2020 due to the combined impact of bushfires and the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which saw campaign activity paused and cancelled. A number of planned event campaigns were cancelled and there was no destination 
campaign for Sydney over summer or winter. 

Note 3:   The number of regional NSW campaigns reduced significantly due to the Regional Tourism Fund not being offered in 2019-2020.  The number of 
regional campaigns was further impacted by the combined impact of drought, bushfires and the COVID-19 pandemic, which saw activity delayed 
or reduced due the number of impacted regions.  

Note 4:   Bushfires, COVID-19, the cancellation of Vivid Sydney and other events had significant impact on Destination NSW publicity activities, reducing 
the amount of coverage generated, particularly in second half of 2019-2020.

Note 5:   Bushfires and COVID-19 accounted for the steep decline in website visits and leads to the tourism industry. Sydney, Regional, Events and Vivid 
Sydney campaigns were impacted in the second half of the financial year, with Always On Search and Always On Social activities paused. 

Note 6:   The COVID-19 travel restrictions and State and international border closures required Partnership Program activities to be paused or cancelled. 
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Strategic Objective 6: 
Create and sustain a high performance organisation

Key Performance 
Indicators Targeted Outcomes Achieved Comment

Organisation 
Governance

Key People Management 
Strategies Embedded Value and Culture Ongoing

Disability Inclusion Plan review Updated

Code of Conduct Ongoing

Performance Review Process Ongoing

Learning and Development Ongoing

Work Health and Safety (WHS) including Health and Wellbeing Ongoing

No Workers’ Compensation cases and lost time for injuries Achieved

Diversity and Inclusion Plan Updated

Wages Policy Outcome Ongoing

Multicultural Plan review Updated

One industrial instrument matter Ongoing

Improved provision of
Operational Support Corporate Operations Policies and Guidelines Ongoing

Treasury SAP and GOVConnect Implementation migration Ongoing

Salesforce CRM including streamlining of key business process and 
solutions Ongoing

Calendar of Works and Activities Ongoing

Green Team to ensure an efficient and sustainable practices Ongoing

Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED
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NSW Tourism Performance 2019-2020

Overview
Due to the combined impact of the Australian summer 
bushfires, the COVID-19 pandemic, the closure of Australia’s 
international and domestic borders and travel restrictions, all 
States and Territories recorded a decline in visitors, nights and 
expenditure for the year. 

NSW received 95.4 million international and domestic overnight 
and day trip visitors, down 13.9 per cent on 2018- 2019. These 
visitors stayed 168.6 million nights and spent over $33.0 billion 
for the year, down 21.3 per cent and 20.4 per cent, respectively. 

Domestic day trip visitors accounted for 65 per cent of all 
visitors to NSW and 21 per cent of the expenditure in 2019-
2020. NSW’s domestic overnight visitor share was 32 per cent 
which accounted for 55 per cent of State expenditure. While 
international visitors accounted for just 3 per cent of the NSW 
total visitation, they contributed 24 per cent of the expenditure. 

International performance
NSW continues to lead Australia with 49 per cent of all 
international visitors, 34 per cent of all nights and 35 per cent 
of all expenditure.

NSW received 3.1 million international visitors (-30.3 per cent 
compared to 2018-2019) who stayed 69.7 million nights 
(-28.9 per cent) and spent almost $8.0 billion (-29.4 per cent). 
These results represent the State’s largest decline on record 
in all metrics.

The key drivers for the decline in NSW’s international visitor 
expenditure were the Education and Holiday markets from 
China which were down $868.4 million or -31.6 per cent and 
$263.1 million or -40.4 per cent respectively. The Holiday and 
Visiting Friends and Relatives market and China drove the 
decline in NSW’s international visitor numbers.

International visitation to NSW declined by 34 per cent in the 
March quarter 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. 
International news reporting of the Australian bushfires, the 
global spread of the coronavirus and the onset of Australia’s 
travel ban on visitors coming from/through China from 
February 2020 were all major contributors to this decline. 
Visitors from China, NSW’s number one international market, 
fell by 61 per cent in that period. 

The impact of COVID-19 on travel intensified with the closure of 
Australia’s international borders from 20 March 2020. Visitor 
numbers to NSW declined by 99.5 per cent in the June quarter 
2020 compared to the same period in 2019.

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

+3.5% +10.0% +9.8% +7.0% +8.0% -30.3%

+4.9% +18.2% +11.0% +6.6% +7.6% -29.4%

+2.7% +9.0% +6.4% +2.6% +4.1% -28.9%

% change on 
previous year

% change on 
previous year

% change on 
previous year

Visitors 
(Million)

3.4 3.7 4.1 4.3 4.4

3.1

69.7

98.1
94.391.9

86.4
79.3

Expenditure 
(Billion)

7.5
8.9

9.8
10.5

11.3

8.0

Nights 
(Million)

NSW  —  INTERNATIONAL — YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2020
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VISITORS (000s) 
YE June 2020

NIGHTS (Million) 
YE June 2020

COUNTRY
% 

Change 
YOY

% 
Change 

YOY

% 
Change 

YOY

China -36.8% -30.9%
 

-32.6%

USA -29.1% -33.9% -31.1%

New 
Zealand -30.5% -28.5% -34.8%

UK -23.6% -28.3% -30.1%

Japan -28.3% -37.0% -27.9%

Korea -37.2% -22.1% -30.7%

India -28.2% -33.3% -25.2%

Germany -26.6% -10.7% -25.6%

Hong 
Kong -31.9% -33.0% -19.3%

Singapore -34.4% -34.2% -36.2%

268515.2477

370

306

274

147

126

121

93

83

92

3.6

2.6

5.2

2.5

3.5

5.2

2.2

1.4

0.9

588

296

465

290

385

322

159

262

158

NSW — INTERNATIONAL — SOURCE (TOP 10)

EXPENDITURE 
(Million) 
YE June 2020

In 2019-2020, NSW remained the most popular Australian 
destination for six of the State’s top 10 markets: China, USA, 
United Kingdom, South Korea, Hong Kong, and Germany.

Visitation to Australia from China for the year declined, with 
NSW the most impacted (down 278,000). In NSW, the decrease 
in visitation from China in 2019-2020 was mainly due to 
reduced Holiday visitors  (-40.7 per cent), Education nights 
(-28.4 per cent) and expenditure (-31.6 per cent).

Sydney continued to lead Australian capital cities in 
international visitors, nights and expenditure. Sydney received 
2.8 million international visitors (-30.5 per cent) who stayed 
59.3 million nights (-28.6 per cent) and spent $7.2 billion (-29.3 
per cent). These percentages exceeded national capital city 

declines in all metrics (-27.8 per cent, -25.6 per cent and -24.2 
per cent, respectively).

Regional NSW received 591,600 international visitors (-31.7 per 
cent) who stayed 10.4 million nights (-31.0 per cent) and spent 
$729.8 million (-31.0 per cent). These percentages exceeded 
regional Australia’s decline in all metrics (-28.4 per cent, -25.7 
per cent and -29.7 per cent, respectively).

In absolute terms, Sydney had a much bigger decline for the 
year than regional NSW (visitors: down 1.2 million, nights: down 
23.7 million and expenditure: down $3.0 billion). There was 
significant decline in all three metrics in the Sydney Holiday 
market in 2019-2020.

NSW Tourism Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED
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International performance  CONTINUED
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NSW Tourism Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED

Domestic performance
NSW maintained national leadership in the domestic 
overnight market for the year, accounting for 32.9 per cent of 
all visitors, 28.9 per cent of all nights and 28.7 per cent of all 
expenditure in Australia.

NSW received 30.3 million domestic visitors (-18.6 per cent 
compared to 2018-2019) who stayed 98.8 million nights (-14.8 
per cent) and spent $18.1 billion (-20.0 per cent), representing 
its greatest decreases ever recorded. 

The decline in domestic overnight visitors to NSW was mainly 
due to fewer Holiday and Visiting Friends and Relatives visitors 
to regional NSW (down 3.1 million and 1.5 million on 2018-2019, 
respectively) and less Holiday and Business visitors from 
Victoria (each down 0.4 million).

The bushfires hit NSW harder than any other State in Australia. 
This had an adverse impact on domestic travel to NSW in the 
March quarter 2020, with 18 per cent fewer domestic overnight 
visitors compared to the same period in 2019.

Domestic travel to NSW was not severely impacted by 
COVID-19 until March, with Queensland closing its border to 
NSW on 25 March 2020 and the tightening of other lockdown 
restrictions later that month. While there was easing of travel 
restrictions from late April and the resumption of intrastate 
travel across NSW from 1 June 2020, the State received 68 per 
cent fewer domestic overnight visitors in June quarter 2020 
compared to the year prior.

Regional NSW experienced a bigger decline in domestic 
visitors and nights in absolute terms than Sydney for the year 
(down 4.7 million and 12.4 million, respectively) while Sydney 
suffered a higher drop in domestic overnight expenditure 
than regional NSW (down $2.5 billion). Sydney experienced 
significant declines in Business and Holiday visitor expenditure 
in 2019-2020.

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

– +5.0% +5.7% +11.7% +10.6% -18.6%

– +2.1% +6.8% +16.7% +12.5% -20.0%

– +3.8% +5.9% +8.2% +10.7% -14.8%

% change on 
previous year

% change on 
previous year

% change on 
previous year

Visitors 
(Million)

27.2 28.5 30.2 33.7
37.2

30.3

98.8

116.1
104.8

96.9
91.5

88.1

Expenditure 
(Billion)

Nights 
(Million)

NSW  —  DOMESTIC — YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2020

16.1
17.2

20.1
18.1

15.8

22.6
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Sydney continued to lead Australian capital cities in domestic 
overnight visitors and nights. It received 9.6 million domestic 
visitors (-19.6 per cent compared to 2018-2019) who stayed 27.6 
million nights (-15.0 per cent) and spent $6.8 billion (-26.7 per 
cent) for the year. 

Regional NSW led regional Australia in domestic visitors, 
nights and expenditure in 2019-2020. It received 21.4 million 
domestic visitors (-17.9 per cent on 2018-2019) who stayed 71.2 

million nights (-14.8 per cent) and spent $11.3 billion (-15.2 per 
cent) for the year.

The North Coast continued as the highest ranked regional 
destination in Australia after Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane.

All tourism regions in regional NSW recorded falls in domestic 
visitors, nights and expenditure for the year.

NSW Tourism Performance 2019-2020   CONTINUED
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% 
Change 

YOY
Average length 
of stay (nights)

Average spend 
per night

North Coast NSW -13.5% 3.8 $164.7

South Coast -17.2% 3.4 $134.7

Hunter -22.8% 2.8 $170.8

Central NSW -29.2% 2.7 $177.6

Central Coast -16.8% 2.7 $132.9

New England North West -14.0% 2.6 $156.1

Capital Country -14.1% 2.5 $130.1

The Murray -11.9% 2.8 $159.7

Riverina -12.1% 2.8 $130.4

Blue Mountains -24.9 2.5 $149.8

Snowy Mountains -17.5% 3.3 $244.6

Outback NSW -15.3% 3.6 $132.7

5.1
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1.4

1.4

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.5

NSW — DOMESTIC OVERNIGHT VISITORS  — BY DESTINATION
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NSW Tourism Performance 2019-2020  CONTINUED

Factors contributing to performance
2019-2020 was undoubtedly one of the most eventful and 
challenging years for Australia and the world, with the 
unprecedented Australian summer bushfires and the outbreak 
of the COVID-19 pandemic impacting all aspects of our lives, 
business and the economy.

Bushfires
The 2019-2020 Australian bushfire season was a period of 
unusually intense bushfires throughout Australia. As the 
hardest hit state, NSW experienced the worst bushfires on 
record, in terms of intensity, area affected and number of 
properties lost. 

This event had an adverse impact on domestic and 
international travel to NSW, with NSW receiving 16 per cent 
less domestic overnight visitors in January 2020 and one per 
cent fewer in February than the same months in 2019. Global 
media representation of the Australian bushfires is likely to 
have contributed to the two per cent decline in international 
visitors to NSW in January 2020 and three per cent fall in 
expenditure.

COVID-19
The Australian Government introduced progressive travel 
restrictions from the beginning of February 2020, and by 20 
March, a general travel ban prevented non-citizens and non-
residents travelling to the country. Non-essential gatherings of 
more than 500 people were banned from late March, resulting 
in the cancellation of public events. 

COVID-19 had an instant impact on international travel. China 
is NSW’s top holiday and education market for visitors and 
expenditure. With entry restrictions placed on visitors arriving 
from, or through, China in February 2020, international visitors 
to NSW decreased 31 per cent for the month compared to 
February 2019 while expenditure dropped by 49 per cent. 

The COVID-19 impact intensified in March, causing 
international visitors to NSW to decrease by 65 per cent for 
the month and expenditure fall by 56 per cent or $519 million. 
Domestic overnight visitors to NSW fell 35 per cent while 
expenditure declined 37 per cent to $1.1 billion.  

With interstate borders closed and other lockdown restrictions 
tightened, NSW received 88 per cent, or 3.4 million, fewer 
domestic overnight visitors in April 2020 than the same month 
in 2019. Expenditure decreased by 93 per cent or $2.1 billion 
for the month. 

The easing of lockdown restrictions from late April saw some 
improvement in domestic travel in May 2020. NSW received 
more than one million domestic overnight visitors in May, up 
from 445,000 in April. However, visitors to NSW were still 
down 68 per cent compared to May 2019 and expenditure 
decreased by 83 per cent or $1.4 billion. From 1 June 2020, 
intrastate travel was allowed across NSW which brought 
further improvements on the previous month. NSW received 
1.8 million domestic overnight visitors in June.

Events
Destination NSW invested directly in over 100 sports, cultural, 
lifestyle, creative and arts events held in Sydney and regional 
NSW, including events supported through the Regional Event 
Fund. From late March 2020, the NSW Public Health Order 
preventing public gatherings of more than 500 people saw the 
cancellation of some events due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
including Vivid Sydney.

COVID-19 travel restrictions and social distancing measures 
also significantly impacted the global meetings sector, hitting 
the industry earlier and harder than most, affecting the 
livelihoods of the business events community. 

During 2019-2020, Business Events Sydney secured 49 global 
meetings that are expected to attract 39,200 delegates, staying 
198,400 delegate days and generating in excess of an estimated 
$167 million in direct expenditure to the State’s economy. 

From March 2020, Business Events Sydney focussed on 
securing longer-lead industry association global meetings, 
although at a reduced activity level reflecting market 
conditions. Activity in the short-lead Asian incentive business 
reduced to relationship management and preparation for a 
return to market, when conditions allow. The resultant impact 
on last quarter outcomes reduced the number of global 
meetings secured for 2019-2020 compared to the previous 
financial year.

Fifty global meetings previously secured by Business 
Events Sydney were delivered in 2019-2020, generating 
more than $104 million in estimated direct expenditure for 
the State’s economy. 

This was significantly less than the previous year, when 88 
global meetings generating more than an estimated $228 
million were held. In the second half of the financial year, 18 
events with an estimated direct expenditure of $110 million 
were displaced due to COVID-19 restrictions, together with 
additional short lead business that would traditionally have 
been won and held in this period. 

Some of the larger events delivered for the year were:

• MDRT Global Conference 2019 — 7,100 delegates

• RoboCup 2019 — 2,700 delegates

• World Scholar’s Cup: Global Round 2019 — 2,100 delegates

•  China Gather Love & Pass Health Distributor Incentive 
— 850 delegates.
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Factors contributing to performance  CONTINUED

Aviation
International and domestic aviation seat capacity declined 
significantly from March 2020, following the progressive 
implementation of travel restrictions and the closure of 
national and interstate borders. 

In 2019-2020, NSW domestic aviation capacity accounted 
for 48 per cent of domestic seats in Australian competitive 
routes. NSW and Australia domestic seat capacity both 
declined by at least a quarter (down 26.3 per cent and 25.4 
per cent, respectively). 

Compared to the same month in 2019, domestic aviation 
seats to NSW declined by 27 per cent in March 2020, 95 per 
cent in April, 97 per cent in May and 93 per cent in June.
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International aviation seat capacity to NSW accounted for 
40 per cent of international seats in Australia and capacity 
decreased by 26.7 per cent for the year. By comparison, 
international seat capacity to Australia also decreased at a 
similar rate, 25.9 per cent. 

Compared to the same month in 2019, international aviation 
seats to NSW declined by seven per cent in February, 36 per 
cent in March, 93 per cent in April and June and 94 per cent 
in May.

New international services to Sydney in 2019-2020 included 
Malindo Air’s daily service from Kuala Lumpur to Sydney, via 
Denpasar, Indonesia, which commenced in August 2019.
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Factors contributing to performance  CONTINUED

Accommodation
In the June quarter 2020, the NSW accommodation sector 
comprised 1,765 establishments and 87,763 rooms. This 
represents a decrease in supply compared to the previous 
year, down one per cent and two per cent, respectively. 
Regional NSW accounted for 78 per cent of all establishments 
and 52 per cent of all rooms in the State.

Occupancy rates in NSW decreased significantly from 77.2 
per cent in 2018-2019, to 46.0 per cent in 2019-2020. This was 
mainly due to the 35 percentage point decrease in occupancy 
rate in the Sydney region compared to the 21 percentage point 
decrease in regional NSW. 

The number of establishments and rooms in NSW in the June 
quarter 2020 was lower than the 1,812 establishments and 
90,268 rooms reported in the March quarter 2020. This could 
be partly due to the temporary closure of establishments due 
to COVID-19.

The Australian summer bushfires could have contributed to 
the slight fall in occupancy rates in the December quarter 
2020. The COVID-19 travel ban and restrictions severely 
impacted occupancy rates with significant decreases from 
March to May 2020, followed by early signs of recovery in June.

NSW Tourism Performance 2019-2020  CONTINUED
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Factors contributing to performance  CONTINUED

Australian dollar
Exchange rates and differential inflation rates affect the 
price of Australia as a destination, relative to competing 
destinations. A fall in the value of the Australian dollar 
reduces the cost for overseas visitors to travel to, and within, 
Australia. Such a fall can also have a positive impact on 
domestic travel, encouraging Australian travellers to choose 
to holiday domestically rather than overseas.

In 2019-2020, Australia was at its most affordable for 
international visitors since it dropped below parity against 
the US dollar in May 2013. The average Australian dollar to 
US dollar exchange rate in 2019-2020, was US $0.68, down 
from the average exchange rate of $0.72 in 2018-2019.  

The Australian dollar dropped against all major currencies 
compared to 2018-2019, with the highest decline against 
Japan (-8.5 per cent), Taiwan (-7.4 per cent), Indonesia (-6.9 
per cent) and Hong Kong (-6.4 per cent). 

Global confidence
Based on responses from over 33,500 online consumers 
in 68 countries, the Conference Board® Global Consumer 
Confidence Index fell from a near record 106 in the first 
quarter of 2020, to 92 in the second quarter. The 14-point 
drop marks the largest period-on-period decline since the 
launch of the index in the first quarter of 2005. Additionally, 
this latest decline is twice as deep as the largest drop during 
the global financial crisis of 2008-2009. 

Consumers spent more on necessities, less on discretionary 
items and saved more during the second quarter of 2020. The 
global confidence survey found that more consumers plan to 
limit spending on annual holidays and short trips, reflecting 
social distancing rules as well as health and financial 
concerns. Consumer confidence is higher in countries where 
governments have earned their people’s trust in reducing the 
risk of further outbreaks. 

•  In mature economies in North America and Europe, the 
worsening job outlook in the second quarter propelled 
the decline in confidence levels (down 14 points and 20 
points, respectively). This was particularly pronounced in 
major markets such as the United States, Canada, France, 
Germany, and the United Kingdom. 

•  In the Asia-Pacific region (including in Hong Kong, South 
Korea, Taiwan, Thailand, India and Singapore), consumer 
confidence reduced by 19 points due to diminishing 
expectations about personal finances over the next 12 
months. In countries such as China, Taiwan and South 
Korea which successfully implemented strict COVID-19 
containment measures and have begun to open up their 
economies, confidence will likely rebound fairly quickly. 
In countries such as India and Indonesia, confidence may 
recover more slowly as the virus spread continues 
to accelerate.

Australian confidence
In 2019-2020, the ANZ Roy Morgan Australian consumer 
confidence rating dropped significantly to 104.1 index points 
compared to 116.6 in 2018-2019. This was the lowest rating 
since 2008-2009 but higher than the confidence rating of 
98.0 index points during the Global Financial Crisis year, 
2008-2009.

Tourism Australia conducts fortnightly research on Australia 
and its 15 key international markets.  Following a 23 per cent 
increase in the number of active COVID19 cases in Australia 
(523 on 24 June and 424 on 10 June 2020), there was instant 
impact on consumer sentiment. 

As at 23 June 2020, consumer confidence index declined by 
four per cent and trip booking intent for the next month fell 
by three  percentage points. The top triggers for domestic 
travel in the next six months were the need for a holiday (43 
per cent) and wanting to visit family and friends (36 per cent). 
Their current financial situation was the biggest barrier to 
travel intention in the next six months (39 per cent) and the 
fear of contracting COVID-19 (37 per cent).

NSW Tourism Performance 2019-2020  CONTINUED
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Visitor Snapshot: NSW Year Ending June 2020

TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS  
(INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)

TOTAL VISITOR ARRIVALS

Australia 98.2 million

NSW 33.4 million

Growth on Previous Year: Australia -19.4%

Growth of Previous Year: NSW -19.8%

NSW Market Share Visitors 34.0%

TOTAL VISITOR NIGHTS

Australia 544.5 million

NSW 168.6 million

Growth on Previous Year: Australia -19.1%

Growth on Previous Year: NSW -21.3%

NSW Market Share Visitor Nights 31.0%

AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY

Australia 5.5 nights

NSW 5.1 nights

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

Australia $86.0 billion

NSW $26.1 billion

Growth on Previous Year: Australia -20.6%

Growth on Previous Year: NSW -23.1%

NSW Market Share Visitor Expenditure 30.3%

TOTAL VISITOR MARKET SHARE

Visitation to Sydney and regional NSW Visitors Visitor 
Nights

Sydney 37% 52%

Regional 66% 48%

Note: Figures may add to more than 100% in some instances as some 
visitors will visit multiple destinations.

DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS 

PURPOSE OF VISIT Visitors Visitor Nights

Holiday 35% 38%

Visiting Friends & Relatives 37% 33%

Business 22% 21%

Other 7% 8%

Total 100% 100%

DOMESTIC PURPOSE OF VISIT — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR 
(YE June 2020)

Visitors % change

Holiday -3.9 million -26.6%

Visiting Friends & Relatives -2.2 million -16.3%

Business -0.9 million -11.2%

Other -0.2 million -6.3%

Total -6.9 million -18.6%

Nights Visitor nights % change

Holiday -12.3 million -24.8%

Visiting Friends & Relatives -7.3 million -18.2%

Business +1.1 million 5.7%

Other +1.3 million 20.6%

Total -17.2 million -14.8%

Source: National and International Visitor Surveys. 
Tourism Research Australia.

Note: Visitors may visit a State for more than one purpose – hence, 
figures by Purpose of Visit category may not add up to the Total.
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Visitor Snapshot: NSW Year Ending June 2020  CONTINUED

TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS

Visitors
(millions) % change Visitor nights 

(millions) % change Expenditure
($billion) % change

Sydney

International 2.8 -30.5% 59.3 -28.6% 7.2 -29.3%

Domestic 9.6 -19.6% 27.6 -15.0% 6.8 -26.7%

Total 12.5 -22.4% 86.9 -24.7% 14.1 -28.1%

Regional NSW

International 0.6 -31.7% 10.4 -31.0% 0.7 -31.0%

Domestic 21.4 -17.9% 71.2 -14.8% 11.3 -15.2%

Total 22.0 -18.3% 81.7 -17.3% 12.0 -16.4%

New South Wales (total)

International 3.1 -30.3% 69.7 -28.9% 8.0 -29.4%

Domestic 30.3 -18.6% 98.8 -14.8% 18.1 -20.0%

Total 33.4 19.8% 168.6 -21.3% 26.1 -23.1%

Note: NSW visitors total is less than the addition of Sydney and regional NSW as some visitors will visit multiple locations.

NSW TOP 5 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS (based on expenditure)

Visitors
(thousands) % change Visitor nights 

(millions) % change Expenditure
($billion) % change

Country of Origin

Mainland China 476.9 -36.8% 15.2 -30.9% 2,685 -32.6%

USA 370.1 -29.1% 3.6 -33.9% 588 -31.1%

United Kingdom 273.7 -23.6% 5.2 -28.3% 465 -30.1%

South Korea 126.1 -37.2% 3.5 -22.1% 385 -30.7%

India 120.6 -28.2% 5.2 -33.3% 322 -25.2%
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The visitor economy is a vital input to the broader NSW 
economy, contributing more than $38 billion in Gross State 
Product and supporting one in 14 direct and indirect jobs in 
the state.2 

The year started with NSW on track to meet its target of 
doubling overnight visitor expenditure to reach $36.6 billion 
by the year ending December 2020. Strong growth in the first 
half of 2019-2020 saw overnight visitor expenditure reach $35 
billion by the end of the December 2019 quarter. However, at 
the same time, the effects of natural disasters were taking 
hold, with the prolonged drought affecting the entire state 
and the summer 2019-2020 bushfire season well underway.

Response
The cumulative effects of drought, bushfires, floods and the 
COVID-19 pandemic had a devastating effect on the NSW 
visitor economy, and it was clear that Destination NSW would 
play a vital role in supporting recovery.

The NSW Government provided $10 million through 
Destination NSW for a tourism recovery package, which was 
developed in consultation with the tourism industry, industry 
associations and the six Destination Networks. 

Commonwealth support
In January 2020, the Commonwealth Government provided 
$1 million in immediate funding to the 33 bushfire-affected 
NSW Local Government Areas. This funding could be spent 
on a range of activities including hosting new events to 
bring communities together and attract visitors back to 
affected regions. 

The widespread devastation of the 2019-2020 bushfire season 
also attracted significant support from the Commonwealth 
Government including $20 million for the Holiday Here This 
Year domestic marketing campaign to get Australian’s to take 
holidays in fire-affected regions as they re-opened.

2 NSW Tourism Satellite Accounts, 2018-20

Recovery Story

Mudgee
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Marketing strategy
Following the launch of the tourism recovery package, 
Destination NSW continued to modify its campaign strategy 
in line with the NSW Government’s phased approach to crisis 
management and economic recovery. The Now’s The Time 
To Love NSW campaign evolved in response to the COVID-19 
situation, resulting in three distinct phases:

•  RESPOND — Love NSW, from Home 
Relieving the anxiety of being in hibernation at home, by 
focusing on dreaming and inspiration, showcasing many 
magnificent virtual experiences across the State.

•  RECOVER — Now’s The Time to Plan Your Trip 
Capitalising on signs of positivity to shift our Path to 
Purchase towards the planning stage, with full / partial 
domestic travel restrictions lifted. 

•  REFORM — Now’s The Time To Love NSW 
With borders open, we intend to capture the demand 
that has been generated, converting previously booked 
international travel into domestic bookings, in NSW.

Program launch
At its inception, the multi-phase program targeted both 
domestic and international markets to encourage visitation 
to NSW, fund new local events and assist tourism businesses 
to develop, promote and sell their tourism products following 
these devastating events. 

The first phase of the program included: 

•  Joint marketing campaigns with major industry partners 
to build on the #RecoveryWeekend activity 

•  Extensive social media and marketing activity showcasing 
the entire state

•  Targeted publicity and hosted media programs for 
domestic and international markets

•  $1 million regional events program to support 
existing flagship events and a new stream to support 
‘micro events’

•  Capability building programs including upskilling for 
tourism operators.

The Now’s The Time To Love NSW campaign was launched 
on 8 February 2020 as the first key activity in the recovery 
package. It was promoted via a double-page spread in The 
Daily Telegraph and a dedicated landing page on visitnsw.
com, as well as social media activities. 

Using #RecoveryWeekend to kickstart the campaign, 
travellers were urged to book getaways that gave back to 
affected regions and operators. People were encouraged 
to stay and spend locally, take photos showcasing NSW 
destinations, featuring hands in a heart shape and share 
them on social media with the tag #LoveNSW to generate 
authentic, real-time imagery of NSW holiday destinations. 

With international border closures coming into effect on 
20 March 2020, Destination NSW paused some planned 
investments in the Now’s The Time To Love NSW campaign, 
including television advertising, in line with Government 
Public Health Orders and travel restrictions.

During May 2020, aspiring travellers were encouraged 
to Love NSW From Home with activities inspiring them to 
dream and plan future holidays once travel restrictions 
lifted. Activities to support Love NSW From Home, included 
advertising in the Love Australia Project special on Network 
10’s The Project and Tourism Australia’s ‘Live From Aus’ 
virtual weekend. 

Phase two
Phase two of Now’s The Time To Love NSW began on 1 June 
2020 coinciding with the easing of travel restrictions. With 
international borders remaining closed, marketing activities 
pivoted to domestic tourism, encouraging Australians to plan 
and book holidays in their own country.

The campaign was relaunched simply as Love NSW supported 
by a paid media plan comprising TV, radio, digital display, 
social, YouTube and search to deliver the highest reach 
to drive consideration, intent and conversion for tourism 
businesses. The campaign targeted a cross section of 
travellers and was aligned to a range of interests including 
road trips, caravan and camping, and food and wine.

A dedicated webpage was developed showing the top 213 
ways to reboot 2020 in NSW, encouraging travellers to make 
the most of the 213 days to the end of the year.

Recovery Story  CONTINUED

It’s time to reboot 2020 and turn those travel dreams into reality.

If you’ve been longing for vast national parks, sandy beaches and cosy 
cabin getaways, now’s the time to book that dream trip in NSW.

visitnsw.com/love-nsw
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Support for regional events
The recovery package included $1 million through the 
Regional Event Fund with 59 grants awarded, comprising 30 
through the Flagship Event stream and 29 through the Micro 
Event stream.

Impact on events
Developing a world-class events calendar to continue to 
attract tourism and ensure NSW remains Australia’s number 
one visitor economy is a key focus for Destination NSW. 
Having built and secured a strong portfolio of successful and 
world-renowned events for Sydney and regional NSW, the 
need to cancel or postpone events due to the bushfires and 
COVID-19 pandemic was difficult for all concerned.

The impact on events was felt as early as November 2019, 
with the cancellation of the 2019 Rally Australia due to 
a bushfire affecting a large part of the event footprint 
in northern NSW. In January 2020, bushfire smoke 
compromised air quality in Sydney, cancelling the Opening 
Night performance of the 2020 Sydney Festival. 

As the year progressed, the bushfires and COVID-19 
pandemic caused 48 Destination NSW-supported events 
across the State to be cancelled, rescheduled or postponed. 
Regional NSW was worst hit with 26 events including major 
events and those supported through the Regional Event 
Fund. Sixteen Sydney and six Western Sydney events were 
also affected.

In particular, the cancellation of Vivid Sydney 2020 was a 
severe blow to the NSW tourism industry. As the largest 
event of light, music and ideas in the Southern Hemisphere, 
Vivid Sydney attracted a record 2.4 million people in 2019 
and delivered $172 million to the NSW visitor economy. This 
decision was necessary to ensure public safety by controlling 
the spread of COVID-19. Vivid Sydney will return in August 
2021 in a COVID-safe manner.

Throughout the second half of the financial year, Destination 
NSW worked closely with event owners to support them 
through this period and assist in varying contracts for 
cancelled, rescheduled or postponed events.

The State’s night-time economy has also suffered as a result 
of COVID-19 restrictions. To reinvigorate the night-time 
economy Destination NSW partnered with the Australian 
Recording Industry Association (ARIA) during 2019-2020 to 
develop Great Southern Nights, a new music event bringing 
1,000 COVID-safe gigs to Sydney and regional NSW in 
November 2020. 

This new event is a great example of the innovative ways 
that the tourism and events industry has pivoted to address 
COVID-19 and will be instrumental in turbocharging live 
music venues across the state.

Major events will play a critical role in stimulating NSW’s 
visitor economy, and in turn our state’s broader COVID-19 
recovery strategy.

Recovery Story  CONTINUED

Royal National Park
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Communications and PR support
Destination NSW continually adjusted its key messaging 
and media strategy throughout the bushfires and COVID-19 
pandemic to align with travel advice and public health orders.   

The Destination NSW corporate website was updated with a 
new ‘Travel alerts’ page to provide the latest information about 
travel restrictions in NSW.  More than 337,000 consumers 
visited this page during 2019-2020, highlighting the important 
role that Destination NSW websites play in being a trusted 
source of reliable facts and knowledge for potential visitors.

A variety of videos, photos and articles were produced for 
visitnsw.com and sydney.com with a focus on promoting virtual 
experiences local produce and products across NSW. 

The Now’s The Time To Love NSW launch was supported 
through proactive media outreach to more than 3,190 domestic 
and international media, a full week of Today Show weather 
broadcasts from locations across the state, a full show Today 

Show and Today Extra broadcast on location in Batemans Bay, 
and 17 media famils to bushfire-affected regions of NSW. 

The Communications team led the crisis response from 
an industry engagement perspective through increased 
industry e-newsletter distribution and social media activity 
to advise operators about changes to Public Health Orders or 
inform of support programs available. Destination NSW also 
created a ’tourism recovery’ page on the agency’s corporate 
website, and managed regular updating of travel alerts on 
the consumer websites and social media channels in line with 
NSW Government health advice.

2019-2020 has presented challenges like no other year. 
While recovery will take some time, it is clear that the NSW 
tourism industry has the resilience to rebound from the 
various crises of prolonged drought, bushfires, floods and 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Recovery Story  CONTINUED

Batemans Bay
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Event Development
In 2019-2020, Destination NSW secured or retained 27 major 
events for Sydney and NSW. New events secured during this 
period include: 9 to 5 The Musical, the Vogue 60th Anniversary 
Celebration for Sydney Metro, and the 100 Album Festival for 
Blue Mountains. New exhibitions secured under the Sydney 
International Art Series banner include French artist Matisse 
and American artist Doug Aitken. 

Retained events for this period include Blackmores Sydney 
Running Festival and Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour for 
Sydney Metro, Nepean Triathlon for Western Sydney, the Deni 
Ute Muster, Bathurst 12 Hour, Mudgee Classic and Southern 
80 for regional NSW.

With 2015 election commitment funding ending on 30 June 
2019, Destination NSW’s ability to secure or retain events for 
the State reduced significantly in 2019-2020. In 2018-2019, this 
additional funding enabled Destination NSW to secure or retain 
119 events for Sydney Metro, Western Sydney and regional 
NSW; more than double the amount secured in 2019-2020. This 
additional funding was vital in securing or retaining 44 major 
events for NSW.

The 2019-2020 year brought unprecedented challenges to 
the tourism and events industry across the entire State. 
A catastrophic bushfire season saw the cancellation of the 
2019 Rally Australia, as a result of a bushfire affecting a 
large area of northern NSW. With the bushfire smoke also 
compromising the air quality in Sydney, the Opening Night 
performance of the 2020 Sydney Festival was cancelled due 
to health concerns for performers. 

Following the bushfires, NSW, along with the rest of the world, 
was heavily impacted by the rapid spread of COVID-19. The 
global pandemic saw the introduction of strict social distancing 
rules that included limits on gatherings and restrictions on 
all travel including domestic and international. Since March 
2020, the NSW Government has issued multiple Public Health 
Orders placing restrictions on all non-essential gatherings, 
resulting in the cancellation or postponement of most events 
across NSW.

The Event Development team maintained close contact with 
event organisers and other external stakeholders following 
the outbreak of COVID-19.

The team represents Destination NSW in the monthly Event 
Operations Group meetings along with other key government 
agencies in relation to event delivery, including NSW Health, 
NSW Ambulance, NSW Police, Roads and Maritime Services.

Nepean Triathlon

Bathurst 12 Hour
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Event Development  CONTINUED

10 World Cups in 10 Years
On 23 July 2018, the Premier announced the NSW 
Government’s intention to bid for 10 World Cups in the coming 
10 years. The 10 World Cups in 10 Years initiative remains a 
focus for the Event Development team. To date, eight of the 10 
World Cups have been secured, including two events in the 
2019-2020 financial year:

•  In March 2020, the International Basketball Federation 
(FIBA) announced that the NSW Government and 
Basketball Australia had won the bid to host the FIBA 
Women’s Basketball World Cup 2022. Sydney will host all 
12 competing national teams and all 38 games at Sydney 
Olympic Park from 22 September to 1 October 2022.

•  On 26 June 2020, the International Federation of 
Association Football (FIFA) announced that the joint bid 
between Football Federation Australia and New Zealand 
Football to host the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023 was 
successful. The FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023 will see an 
increase in teams for the first time, with 32 national teams 
competing. The 2023 tournament is anticipated to deliver 
an estimated visitor spend of $21 million to NSW and will be 
held from 10 July to 20 August 2023. 

10 World Cups in 10 Years events secured to date:

1. 2019 Rugby League Nines World Cup

2. ATP Cup (2020-2025)

3. 2020 Women’s ICC T20 World Cup

4. 2020 Men’s ICC T20 World Cup (postponed to 2022)

5.  2021 World Athletics Cross Country Championships 
(postponed, dates TBC)

6. 2022 UCI Road World Cycling Championships

7. 2022 FIBA Women’s Basketball World Cup

8. 2023 FIFA Women’s World Cup

Vivid Sydney
On 15 March 2020, the NSW Government announced 
the cancellation of Vivid Sydney 2020. This decision was 
made following recommendations by the Commonwealth 
Government and health authorities to limit non-essential 
organised gatherings to less than 500 people to control 
the spread of COVID-19 and ensure the health and safety of 
attendees and everyone involved with Vivid Sydney.

2019 Rugby League Nines World Cup
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2019-2020 Event Development Achievements

Arts and Entertainment Portfolio
•  The annual Sydney International Art Series presented two 

exclusive exhibitions: 

 –  The Art Gallery of NSW curated Japan Supernatural, a 
world-first, immersive and multi-sensory exhibition 
of more than 200 works celebrating Japanese culture 
and art. The exhibition featured a new piece of work in a 
multi-panel mural and large-scale sculpture by Takashi 
Murakami, one of the most recognisable figures in the 
world of contemporary art. 

 –  The Cornelia Parker exhibition at the Museum of 
Contemporary Art Australia was the artist’s first major 
retrospective in the Southern Hemisphere, encompassing 
works across three decades. Highlights included six 
major installation works Cold Dark Matter: An Exploded 
View (1991) and War Room (2015), as well as a new 
commission made specifically for the MCA exhibition.

•  The 2020 Sydney Festival program presented 109 events 
and 458 performances across theatre, dance, music 

(contemporary and classical), cabaret, large-scale outdoor 
events, visual arts, forums and workshops. The program 
championed access (27 free events), diversity (1,200 
participating artists from Australia and 10 countries) and 
the presentation of new Australian work. The 2020 event 
included 44 Co-Commissioned Works, 20 Australian 
Exclusives and 9 Australian Premieres.

•  Chicago, the multi award-winning, record-breaking 
musical, premiered in Sydney in August 2019, starring 
Casey Donovan, Natalie Bassingthwaite and Alinta Chidzey.

•  Gondwana World Choral Festival saw hundreds of young 
choristers converge on Sydney in July 2019 for a six-day 
celebration of voice. The festival enabled Sydney Children’s 
Choir and Gondwana Indigenous Children’s Choir to develop 
strong relationships with participating international 
choirs from USA, France, Estonia, Latvia, Canada, Japan 
and China. The festival opened and closed with sold out 
performances at the Sydney Opera House.

Event Development  CONTINUED

Chicago

Japan Supernatural

Cornelia Parker



Page  49DESTINATION NSW   //   Annual Report 2019-2020

REVIEW

2019-2020 Event Development Achievements  CONTINUED

Event Development  CONTINUED

Sport and Strategic Events
•  The final and deciding game of the 2019 State of Origin Series 

saw the NSW Blues defeat the Queensland Maroons 26-20 
at ANZ Stadium. The Blues scored the winning try with only 
32 seconds left in the match to clinch the series in front of 
82,565 screaming fans.

•  In men’s tennis, the inaugural ATP Cup saw the world’s top 
24 nations play across three host cities — Brisbane, Perth 
and Sydney — in the group stages. Sydney hosted the final 
stages at the redeveloped Ken Rosewall Arena at Sydney 
Olympic Park Tennis Centre. The Australian team, featuring 
Nick Kyrgios and Alex de Minaur, advanced to the Semi 
Finals where they were eventually defeated by Spain. The 
Final between Spain and Serbia saw the world’s top two 
players Rafael Nadal and Novak Djokovic compete in Sydney. 
Serbia went on to defeat Spain 2-1 in the final to win the 
tournament in front of a sell-out crowd of 10,223 spectators.

•  The ICC Women’s T20 World Cup 2020 attracted 136,549 
spectators, the highest ever attendance for a women’s 
sporting event in Australia. The tournament was also the 
most watched women’s cricket event ever with 1.1 billion 
video views across International Cricket Council (ICC) 
digital channels. Sydney hosted both semi-final matches 

at the Sydney Cricket Ground, in addition to five group 
matches at the Sydney Showground Stadium. To celebrate 
the commencement of the ICC Women’s T20 World Cup, 
a number of Australian artists performed a spectacular 
pre-game concert ahead of the opening match between 
Australia and India at Sydney Showground Stadium. The 
Opening Ceremony was an exciting celebration of music, 
dance and cricket, broadcast to a global audience. 

World Rally Championships 
On 12 November 2019, Rally Australia announced that due to 
the serious bushfire affecting much of Northern NSW and 
the State of Emergency declaration by the Premier, Kennards 
Hire Rally Australia, including the final round of the 2019 FIA 
World Rally Championship, would not proceed. The event 
owner’s decision followed extensive consultation with the 
NSW Government, the international sport’s governing body 
(FIA), emergency services and the local community. The event 
owner decided that it was not appropriate to conduct the rally, 
considering the best interests and safety of everyone involved 
with the event as well as the wider community.

2019 State of Origin Series



Page  50DESTINATION NSW   //   Annual Report 2019-2020

REVIEW

2019-2020 Event Development Achievements  CONTINUED

Lifestyle Portfolio
•  The 2019 Blackmores Sydney Running Festival featured over 

40,000 runners. This was a seven per cent increase on 
2018, with the flagship Sydney Marathon (5,242 runners) 
participation up by almost 20 per cent. The Blackmores 
Sydney Running Festival – a legacy event of the Sydney 2000 
Olympic Games – has a larger field than the equivalent 
festivals in the Gold Coast and Melbourne, even though both 
have been in existence for over 40 years.

•  The Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo visited Sydney with 
all the fanfare of the iconic Scottish festival. Set against 
a full-size replica of Edinburgh Castle, the four shows 
featured over 1,400 military and cultural performers from 
around the world.

•  The Sydney Surf Pro was the opening event of the newly 
announced World Surf League Challenger Series at Manly 
Beach. Four-time WSL World Champion Carissa Moore 
(USA) won the women’s event, with Italy’s Leonardo 
Fioravanti taking out the men’s title. More than 20 other 
world tour surfers featured in the field of 172 professionals 
with over 100 pro-junior competitors also participating. 
The Sydney Surf Pro finished a day earlier than scheduled 
after the WSL’s decision to cancel upcoming events due to 
COVID-19.

Business Activation Portfolio
•  Sydney hosted the 33rd annual ARIA Awards to support the 

city’s position as a globally recognised music destination. 
The 2019 line-up included Tones & I, Guy Sebastian, Hilltop 
Hoods, Human Nature and Morgan Evans, alongside 
international guests Khalid, Halsey and Dua Lipa. The event 
was broadcast on Channel 9 and a new partnership with 
YouTube Music shared the ARIA Awards for the first time 
with international audiences through a global live stream, 
replays and best-of performances.

•  The 9th Australian Academy of Cinema and Television Awards 
(AACTA Awards) were held at The Star Event Centre, hosted 
by Shane Jacobsen and broadcast on Network Seven. 
Presenters included notable Australian talent such as Dr 
George Miller, Rachel Griffiths, Tim Minchin, Pia Miranda, 
Sigrid Thornton and Julia Morris. Sam Neill received the 
Longford Lyell Award, Australia’s highest screen accolade, 
in recognition of his lifetime achievement and contribution 
to Australian film and television. The AACTA Awards have 
been held in Sydney since 2012, reinforcing the city’s 
position as Australia’s Capital of Film and Television and an 
internationally recognised creative industries hub.

•  Destination NSW partnered with Vogue Australia to produce 
a bespoke experiential and editorial campaign showcasing 
Sydney and regional NSW in celebrating 60 years of Vogue. 
The campaign celebrated the beauty, culture, diversity and 
innovation of NSW, and included fashion shoots, a location 
shoot in Byron Bay and profiles on local venues, beaches 
and arts companies.

Event Development  CONTINUED

The Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo

Sydney Surf Pro
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The team’s approach to marketing changed in 2019-2020, 
especially regional marketing, which has and continues to 
evolve to respond to multiple crises throughout the year. 

Digital Performance and Technology
The Digital Performance team advanced a number of 
key initiatives in 2019-2020 with a focus on improved 
understanding of consumer behaviour, data-driven digital 
marketing performance and organisational capability. Working 
with Havas Media as our key implementation partner, Google 
Analytics 360 was implemented in July 2019. This initiative 
delivered a range of outcomes including:

•  A full audit and management of Google Analytics 360 and 
Google Tag Manager accounts 

•  Data strategy development

•  ‘Insight of the Month’ analysis pieces for Destination NSW 
Marketing team 

•  Lead score planning and development

•  First party data audience building and initial 
campaign testing

•  Platform maintenance and optimisations

•  Organisational-wide Google Analytics Training Sessions.

Destination NSW will continue to work with Havas Media to 
service our Google Analytics 360 platform with the addition of 
Google Optimise 360, which will be instrumental in delivering 
our conversion rate optimisation program across our 
consumer websites.

Paid Search and Search Engine Optimisation continued to be 
a key digital channel that delivered performance for both 
Always On activity as well as marketing campaigns. The 
bushfire disasters followed by the COVID-19 crisis saw this 
activity paused intermittently throughout the second half of 
the year.

Looking forward we will continue to grow our YouTube channel 
strategy and performance program in 2020-2021 with a 
focus on increasing subscribers, video views and channel 
engagement across both Sydney and Visit NSW.

We will also continue to focus attention on our consumer 
websites as we look to build the world’s best Destination 
Marketing Organisation websites across design, user 
experience, content and technology. 

Digital Projects and Development 
The Digital Projects and Development Team worked on a 
series of Customer Experience (CX) projects to advance 
onsite engagement and conversion across Destination NSW 
consumer websites. This work included consumer research 
and user testing to deliver a contextual map experience 
across visitnsw.com and sydney.com, providing world-class 
geographical and digital planning tools that enhance the NSW 
visitor experience, encourage deeper exploration and provide 
contextual information.

A redesign of the sydney.com and visitnsw.com product 
list and product pages was implemented, including new 
accessibility filters, deals and attributes to increase visitor 
engagement, ease of navigation and tourism operator leads. 
The design and release of an enhanced, mobile optimised 
mega menu improved navigation and access to content. 

Building and supporting the regional and event funding 
microsites, to allow event owners to upload applications to 
apply for funding across NSW. All microsites now integrate 
with Salesforce, improving tracking and stakeholder 
management. 

A cyber security risk audit in partnership with Deloitte, was 
designed to analyse the business infrastructure. It identified 
threats and vulnerabilities, exposing weaknesses and high-
risk practices. The audit has improved the organisation’s 
security awareness, strengthened security posture with 
regular testing, and provided up to date policies and checklists 
to prevent comprehensive and multi-layered attacks. 

Digital Content and Distribution
During 2019-20 the team maintained the Always On content 
schedule for visitnsw.com and sydney.com, covering over 
1,000 content pages promoting NSW destinations, experiences 
and providing travel information. This work required close 
collaboration with industry partners to ensure fresh, current, 
quality products are featured. 

A highlight was the Love NSW interactive map and trip planner, 
developed to showcase NSW and Sydney products that inspire 
travellers to plan and book their next trip. The Love NSW 
interactive map encourages users to add products to their 
planner and share them with their friends or family.  

The development of a new Digital Consumer Content Strategy 
created a future proof framework for all consumer marketing 
content, publishing, curation, effective distribution and modern 
editorial governance across Destination NSW marketing 
channels and integrated media campaigns. The strategy 
includes the new content vision, brand values, content themes, 
editorial governance, content guidelines and recalibrated 
metrics that test the quality of content against key target 
audience behaviours. 

Looking ahead the team will focus on the delivery of a content 
planning and implementation program.

Marketing for Tourism and Events

 World-class geographical  
 and digital planning tools 
enhance the NSW visitor 
experience and encourage 
deeper exploration.
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Get Connected Program 
Destination NSW’s Get Connected program gives tourism 
operators across NSW the opportunity to showcase their 
products across flagship consumer websites for free.  
Powered by the Australian Tourism Data Warehouse (ATDW), 
the team rolled out several new features in Get Connected 
during the year to enhance tourism promotion in NSW:

•  Deals and Offers section available enabling operators to 
further promote their business.  

•  Product page design and build to integrate deals and offers 
data on Visitnsw.com and sydney.com.

•  Accessibility filters across the websites, allowing 
consumers to filter products by their specific 
requirements. The accessible tourism market has been 
assessed to be the current size of the Chinese market, so 
catering for it is very important.

•  Dedicated page for tour operators plus a web page per tour 
service, providing a better user experience and further 
exposure for tour operators. 

During 2019-2020, Destination NSW, tourism operators and 
industry partners made approximately 56,000 updates to Get 
Connected, an average of 153 product updates per day.

Consumer Social Media
During 2019-2020 Destination NSW maintained Always On 
365 days a year consumer social media activities, promoting 
Sydney and regional NSW across Facebook, Instagram, 
Twitter, WeChat, Weibo and Douyin in our domestic and priority 
international source markets.

In response to natural disasters and COVID-19, the team 
developed an agile approach to content, with the focus moving 
to the dreaming and planning phases of travel planning. 
Despite this change in strategy, the Sydney and Visit NSW 
social channels (Facebook, Instagram, Twitter) continued to 
drive strong results, reaching a combined 228 million people 
with over 65 million engagements, delivering a year on year 
(YoY) increase of 250 per cent. 

Organic content in China reached a combined 3.45 million 
people and our community size on Weibo, WeChat and Douyin 
increased by 3.52 per cent YoY. 

To keep up with the ever-changing social media landscape 
the social media team delivered a number of key projects, 
focussing on improved performance and consumer 
engagement. Highlights of the social media programs include:

•  Appointment of new specialist social media agency for 
social media management of the Always On consumer social 
media channels

•  Development of a new social media strategy including the 
adoption of a full funnel approach for both content creation 
and media

•  Development of Datorama dashboards for paid social 
media reporting

•  Refined and optimised existing Sprinklr dashboards 
for organic social media reporting, working to ensure 
consistency in metric measurement

•  Social media sentiment/listening benchmarking

• Facebook tourism recovery asset creation with Genero

•  Creation of two Social Augmented Reality (AR) filters 
‘Where to go in NSW’ and ‘Explore Sydney’

•  Development of a suite of Sydney and regional NSW 
GIFS/stickers.

Marketing for Tourism and Events  CONTINUED

 Despite the challenges of  
 2020, our social channels 
reached a combined 228 million 
people with over 65 million 
engagements, delivering a YoY 
increase of 250 per cent.
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Regional Campaigns
Destination NSW continued to deliver for regional NSW, 
placing rural and regional destinations, events, and 
experiences at the heart of what it does. 

In 2019-2020, the team implemented the last round of Regional 
Tourism Fund campaigns with partners. They also focussed 
on delivering whole-of-state programs aimed at bushfire and 
COVID-19 recovery. 

A Drought Resilience program was formulated in the first 
quarter, however with the devastating bushfire season, floods 
and then COVID-19, the tourism recovery marketing program 
grew in scale and importance and evolved to meet the ever-
growing challenges faced by our State. 

The success of the marketing program was its central 
proposition Now’s The Time To Love NSW that was key to 
generating civic pride, a sense of community and advocacy 
amongst NSW residents. The program’s adaptability across 
source markets and experiences cemented it as a strong 
brand for the State. 

Destination NSW implemented an Always On approach via 
paid and organic social media to keep the state top-of-mind 
while generating deferred demand for when travel restrictions 
and traveller confidence returned. When regional NSW 
travel restrictions were lifted in June 2020 an omni-channel 
high impact campaign comprising of TV, radio and digital 
advertising was delivered resulting in just under 60,000 leads 
to NSW tourism operators.

Marketing for Tourism and Events  CONTINUED

While some activities were paused due to the introduction 
of COVID-19 travel restrictions, the team delivered several 
highlights including:

•  Continuation of the successful Unspoilt campaign in 
partnership with Sydney Surrounds South and Southern 
NSW Destination Networks and Shellharbour, Kiama, 
Shoalhaven and Sapphire Coast LGAs.

•  Make It Maitland, the first social-only, co-operative 
marketing campaign with digital channels owned by the 
partner and advertising and content plans managed by 
Destination NSW. Followers to the My Maitland Instagram 
account grew by 29.3 per cent during the campaign period.

•  Eurobodalla All Kinds of Natural, a new brand and 
awareness campaign for the region resulting in a  
23 per cent increase in holiday consideration among 
campaign recognisers.

•  It’s Out There, the first campaign for the Broken Hill Central 
Darling Shire region in more than five years was launched 
at the International Media Market Place (for Travel Media). 
The campaign included a new brand as well as new image 
and video assets.

•  Launched Port Stephens Incredible by Nature campaign 
featuring a new brand and refreshed image and video 
library via an online webcast with more than 80 industry 
operators joining the stream

•  Now’s The Time To Love NSW recovery campaign launched 
in February 2020. While activities were paused from mid-
March until 1 June 2020 when regional NSW travel was once 
again permitted, results show that website traffic increased 
by 154 per cent in the first month and the campaign has 
achieved one of the highest recognition levels.
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Events Campaigns
Campaigns promoting the Sydney and NSW events calendar 
continued from July 2019, using the It’s ON! campaign platform. 
Some activities were paused following the introduction of 
travel restrictions and prohibition of public gatherings causing 
the cancellation of events due to COVID-19. 

The It’s ON! in Sydney campaign activities focused on greater 
targeting of events aligned with audience interests which 
generated higher levels of awareness and response rates. 
Results showed that 18 per cent of the target source market 
recognising the campaign made a booking as a result of 
exposure to it; 22 per cent decided to go and 28 per cent 
expanded their existing itineraries. 

The It’s ON! in NSW campaign increased event awareness and 
intention to visit NSW; with 16 per cent of the target market 
recognising the campaign making a booking as a result of 
exposure to it. Nine per cent decided to go and 18 per cent 
expanded their existing itineraries.

Design Studio
Destination NSW’s in-house Design Studio had a remarkably 
busy year supporting several key initiatives across Destination 
NSW including:

•  Now’s the Time to Love NSW Prospectus campaign creative 
production of online, social assets to help local councils 
align with the Love NSW campaign platform

•  Supporting an Industry Travel Trade campaign by producing 
many creative outputs for both online and offline promotion

•  Creating the brand and industry toolkit for Great Southern 
Nights to help the entertainment, hospitality and services 
industry get back on its feet

•  Creating an accessible online version of the NSW Wine 
Regions Industry Toolkit which includes key NSW wine 
regions, local attractions, accommodation options, gourmet 
highlights and a selection of wineries to promote

•  Creating the 2020 Destination NSW Brand Guidelines 
for corporate governance, guidance on brand usage 
and owning Destination NSW brand assets for greater 
alignment within the business to become more effective in 
our brand communications.

Marketing for Tourism and Events  CONTINUED
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Marketing for Tourism and Events  CONTINUED

Looking into the Future
During the year the marketing division took the opportunity to 
reset and create a work framework to address the COVID-19 
pandemic challenges, planning and preparing for the future. 
The future focus program of work is evolving on several fronts.

Development of the 2020-2021 
Marketing Blueprint 
An evidence-based strategic framework to reimagine 
destination marketing founded on global best practice to 
accelerate travel demand for the competitive benefit of our 
industry. A number of strategies have been fast tracked to add 
maximum impact at this important time including:

•  A new global Sydney and NSW branding strategy and 
creative brand architecture

•  A revitalised Vivid Sydney brand

•  New integrated media strategy planning tools and 
Customer Decision Journey, with emphasis on digital 
engagement and improved targeting

•  Significant new statewide road trip strategy

•  Organisation-wide consumer content strategy

•  Updated priority audience strategy

•  Key digital transformation projects fast-tracking the 
performance of the conversion rate to lead generation 
to our industry

• 
 Developed a high performance future-ready 
marketing team.

New South Wales and Sydney Brand 
Development
The need for a NSW and Sydney brand refresh cannot be 
underestimated at this point in time, with domestic competition 
to win the hearts and minds of visitors more acute than ever. 
The brand refresh is a key priority to support tourism sector 
recovery post COVID-19. This work will include strategic brand 
positioning, identity architecture and audience prioritisation.

Sea Cliff Bridge, Clifton
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Regional Event Development
Fourteen major events were secured or retained for regional 
NSW in 2019-2020. These include new events such as the 100 
Festival in the Blue Mountains and Mudgee Classic cycling 
event, and Deni Ute Muster, Wings Over Illawarra and Bathurst 
12 Hour.

In 2020, $1 million (excl. GST) was made available to support 
events in regional NSW as part of the Bushfire Recovery Plan, 
through two funding streams as follows:

•  $700,000 through the existing Flagship Event stream of 
the Regional Event Fund, which offered grants to assist 
events to market themselves to visitors from outside their 
immediate regions and drive tourism

•  $300,000 through a new funding stream offering grants 
of $10,000 (excl. GST) to ‘micro events’, community-based 
events with the capacity to harmonise, build engagement 
and stimulate local economies, particularly in bushfire or 
drought-affected areas.

A total of 59 grants were awarded through the Regional Event 
Fund in 2020, 30 through the Flagship Event stream and 29 
through the Micro Event stream. Full details are on page 89.

Many events awarded grants through the 2020 Regional Event 
Fund had to be cancelled due to COVID-19 and grants have 
been deferred to 2021.

Regional Tourism Development
Regional Tourism Development Managers are the interface 
between Destination NSW, the six Destination Networks 
and their regional stakeholders, including Local Tourism 
Organisations, Local Governments, Industry Associations 
and operators.

The Regional Tourism Development Managers develop and 
maintain stakeholder relationships, providing guidance and 
encouraging participation in Destination NSW programs 
and resources. 

Regional Tourism Fund
The Regional Tourism Fund ended on 30 June 2019. No further 
program funding was announced by the NSW Government in 
2019-2020. 

Projects funded through the Regional Tourism Fund continue 
to be managed until they are satisfactorily implemented and all 
milestones have been met. At the conclusion of the reporting 
period, there were 22 ongoing projects.

Destination NSW continues to provide guidance and support 
to the tourism industry in developing new, and improving 
existing, tourism products and experiences. The team 
maintains a database of industry stakeholders interested in 
future funding opportunities.

Regional NSW

Wings Over Illawarra
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Regional NSW  CONTINUED

Regional Conferencing 
The Regional Conferencing unit supports the business events 
sector, which presents significant growth opportunities 
for regional destinations and is a focus for driving the NSW 
visitor economy.  

Destination NSW continued to deliver the NSW Regional 
Conferencing Strategy and Action Plan 2017 – 2021. 
The following key deliverables were achieved during the 
reporting period: 

EDUCATION

•  Industry workshops - hosted eight industry workshops on 
the value of business events to regional NSW 

•  MEA scholarships - applications invited (June 2020) for 12 
scholarships to be awarded for students across regional 
NSW to undertake a Diploma of Event Management via 
Meetings and Events Australia (MEA)

•  Industry resources - produced a Client Brief template and 
a series of factsheets showcasing the business events 
capacity of 38 destinations across regional NSW

•  Capacity building sponsorship - sponsored six tourism 
professionals from across regional NSW to attend the 
Australian Association of Convention Bureaux (AACB) 
annual conference in Melbourne

PROMOTION

•  Business Development - secured 21 business events for 
regional NSW locations and provided assistance in securing 
an additional 13 events 

•  Trade show activity - represented Destination NSW at 
six industry trade shows throughout the financial year, 
including driving the largest ever contingent (29 regional 
NSW operators and destinations) to attend the Asia Pacific 

Incentives Meetings Event (AIME) in February 2020 
in Melbourne

•  Familiarisations - supported seven business events 
familiarisations across regional NSW to assist destinations 
in securing events for their region 

•  Industry partnerships

 –  #backingthebush — announced an expanded 
partnership between Destination NSW, Business NSW 
and Business Events Sydney to support the State’s visitor 
economy by facilitating meetings, conferences and 
corporate events in all parts of the state

 –  #EventHereThisYear — worked closely with Tourism 
Australia to develop their domestic focused business 
events campaign

RESEARCH

•  Published a research report relating to the value of business 
events to regional NSW, compiling data from sponsored 
business events detailing the visitor spend, jobs generated 
and regional benefits of conferencing in regional NSW.

Visitor Services
The Visitor Services team works with government and industry 
stakeholders on projects to improve visitor servicing and 
wayfinding throughout NSW.

In 2019-2020 the Visitor Services team, in collaboration with 
TAFE NSW, conducted 14 volunteer management training 
workshops throughout NSW. Over 160 visitor information 
centre staff from 55 visitor centres attended the training, which 
focused on how to attract, train, motivate and retain volunteers.

2019 Wine Media Conference, Hunter Valley
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Aboriginal Tourism
Destination NSW continued its work with the NSW Aboriginal 
Tourism Operators Council (NATOC) to support the 
development and distribution of Aboriginal tourism experiences 
in NSW. Implementation of the Aboriginal Tourism Action Plan 
2017-2020 continued throughout the year, along with activities to 
raise awareness of Aboriginal experiences in NSW.

The 24 actions in the Plan were developed in consultation 
with Aboriginal tourism stakeholders for completion under 
four major goals: 

•  Continue to build consumer awareness of Sydney and 
regional NSW as destinations where Aboriginal culture is 
strong, vibrant and diverse

•  Increase the inclusion of export-ready experiences in travel 
trade distribution networks and marketing programs

•  Develop new sustainable market-ready and export-ready 
Aboriginal cultural tourism products and events

•  Build on the success of cross-cultural exchange between 
NSW Aboriginal cultural tourism, Government and 
Destination Networks.

Almost 90 per cent of the actions (21 out of 24) in the 
Aboriginal Tourism Action Plan 2017-2020 are now completed 
or are ongoing. The COVID-19 pandemic disrupted the 
implementation of the three remaining actions, two of which 
are currently in planning and one is in progress.

The Aboriginal Tourism Mentoring Pilot Program, a 
collaborative six-month phased program developed by the 
NATOC in partnership with Destination Country and Outback 
and Destination NSW commenced in May 2020. A maximum 
of 12 Aboriginal-owned tourism businesses are taking part in 
the program, which aims to complement Destination NSW’s 
NSW First Workshop Program and continue to build authentic 
and sustainable Aboriginal tourism businesses in line with the 
NSW Aboriginal Tourism Action Plan 2017 - 2020.

Destination NSW was represented on the Senior Officer Group 
panel and site visits assessing applications to the $20 million 
Regional Growth Environment and Tourism Fund (Stream Four 
– Indigenous Tourism). Nine projects were shortlisted through 
this process.

Destination NSW met regularly with TAFE NSW to discuss the 
development of a nationally accredited Aboriginal Tourism 
training program, an action item in the Visitor Economy Industry 
Action Plan 2030. TAFE NSW has invited Destination NSW, 
NATOC, National Parks and Wildlife Service and other relevant 
stakeholders to contribute to a discussion paper that will 
inform the training program.

COVID-19 impacted a number of activities supporting 
Aboriginal tourism during the year. This included the NATOC 
seller booth at the Australian Tourism Exchange to support five 
new and existing Aboriginal export ready tourism businesses 
to grow inbound sales relationships at Australia’s key 
inbound travel trade event. The Destination NSW Aboriginal 
Tourism Experience Development Workshop Program and 
Aboriginal Tourism Cultural Awareness Program developed in 
conjunction with NATOC was also paused due to COVID-19.

Destination NSW also met with the National Indigenous 
Australians Agency (NIAA) to provide an update on the effect of 
COVID-19 on Aboriginal-owned tourism businesses in NSW.

Sector Development
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Food and Wine Tourism 
Destination NSW continued its partnership with NSW Wine 
Industry Association on the Capturing Growth in Wine Regions 
State Grant Program to support a collaborative, strategic 
approach to attracting and maximising international wine 
tourism in NSW. The program was due to be completed 
by June 2020, however it has been extended to June 2021 
following delays in delivering some components due to 
bushfires and COVID-19.  

The key outcomes of this project in 2019-2020 were:

•  A regional audit and gap analysis across all 14 NSW wine 
regions examining the strengths, gaps, challenges and 
opportunities of each region. All wine regions received 
reports outlining the gaps and opportunities for their 
region. Six key regions were identified to target the 
international market.

•  Delivered six Sip, Chat and Discover – The Wine Tourism 
Opportunity tourism development workshops tailored for 
wineries through the NSW First Program. The workshops 
encouraged wineries to create bookable experiences for 
distribution to domestic and international visitors. 

 –  184 people from wineries across NSW participated in 
these events

 –  As a result of the workshops, bookable wine tourism 
experiences in NSW increased from approximately 
10 to over 100

•  Developed resources to assist the travel trade  to include 
NSW wine experiences in their itineraries:

 –  Wine Regions of NSW – A toolkit for the trade – includes 
six destination fact sheets providing information for the 
travel trade  on  commissionable products 

 –  Six wine region destination videos featuring interviews 
with local heroes, winemakers and winery owners 
providing insights and  inspiration about each region

•  Completed an extensive content capture program, which 
produced new video and images from seven NSW wine 
regions. Tourism businesses, media, trade and regional 
stakeholders can use the images and footage to promote 
NSW wine tourism experiences.

Implementation of the Food and Wine Strategy & Action Plan 
2018-2022 continues. Destination NSW incorporates the food 
and wine sector broadly in many of its marketing, publicity, 
partnership and industry support activities.

In 2019, Destination NSW was involved in implementing 
the NSW Independent Brewers Action Plan to support the 
economic development of the independent brewing industry in 
the state. The Action Plan was developed as part of the NSW 
Government’s Food and Beverage Manufacturing Industry 
Development Strategy and the NSW Food and Wine Tourism 
Strategy and Action Plan.

Sector Development  CONTINUED

Printhie Wines, Molong
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Cruise Ship Tourism
In 2019-2020, Sydney maintained its position as Australia’s 
pre-eminent cruise destination, hosting 277 cruise ship visits 
and accommodating close to 1.2 million passenger exchanges. 
Vessels visiting Sydney for the first time, included Boudicca, 
Explorer Dream, Carnival Splendor and Vasco Da Gama.

Regional ports in NSW including Newcastle, Eden and Port 
Kembla received 36 cruise ships visits, up from 31 in 2018-2019. 

From 27 March until 17 June 2020, the Australian Government 
prohibited the arrival at any Australian port of any cruise ship 
that has left a foreign port, due to COVID-19. This cruise ban 
was later extended to 17 December 2020. 

Prior to these restrictions, the Sydney Cruise Ship Meet and 
Greet program was extremely popular with both passengers 
and the cruise lines. From 1 July 2019 to February 2020 
program volunteers welcomed 12,125 passengers at the 
Overseas Passenger Terminal and White Bay Terminal. This 
represents a 22 per cent increase on the previous year.

Newcastle’s visitation fell from 15 cruise visits in 2018-2019 to 
12 cruise visits prior to the COVID-19 cruise ban. The season 
boasted two maiden voyages, with visits from Explorer Dream 
and Sea Princess.  

The south coast port of Eden saw a 20 per cent increase in 
cruise ship visits in 2019-20 season with 18 visits compared 
to 15 visits in 2018-2019. Pacific Aria, Voyager of the Seas, 
Explorer Dream, Seven Seas Navigator and Queen Elizabeth all 
made maiden voyages to Eden during the season. Bushfires 
in January 2020 and COVID-19 resulted in the cancellation of 
15 cruise visits after 15 March, which would have seen Eden 
experience its biggest season ever. 

Port Kembla received five cruise ships visits in 2019-2020 
compared to one in the previous season. All visits occurred in 
March/April 2020 following redeployments from other ports 
due to COVID-19. Port Kembla assisted the cruise industry 

through the COVID-19 crisis by allowing vessels to berth so that 
they could reprovision in preparation for their journey home.

Destination NSW attended the Australian Cruise Association 
2019 Conference from 4-6 September in Geelong, Victoria, and 
produced the Cruise Sydney & New South Wales Along the Blue 
Highway guide for the event.

Sector Development  CONTINUED

Eden Wharf

Photo credit: Port Authority of NSW

For more information:
visitnsw.com/cruise
portauthority.com.au

cruise@dnsw.com.au

Along the Blue Highway

CRUISE SYDNEY 
 & NEW SOUTH WALES
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In 2019-2020, Destination NSW continued delivery of the NSW 
First Program, designed to assist NSW tourism businesses 
to develop, promote and sell tourism products. NSW First 
comprises two activity streams: tourism product development 
and travel industry training.

Tourism Product Development 

The NSW First Program delivered 21 workshops in 17 
locations, across all Destination Networks and Sydney, in 
addition to one webinar, attracting a total of 1,075 participants. 
Following the workshops 92 per cent of survey respondents 
indicated they were satisfied or very satisfied with the events 
they attended. 

Workshop topics included Inbound Strategy, Seller Training, 
Digital Marketing Tips and the Wine Tourism Opportunity. 
The webinar detailed digital opportunities to be involved in the 
Love NSW campaign. 

Twenty-nine new online resources were created in 2019-2020, 
including seven Quick Tips for Tourism Recovery guides to 
assist businesses through the challenges of COVID-19, and 22 
tourism business case studies.

Travel Industry Training 

Training resources were developed for travel distributors, 
including 10 destination videos for trade audiences, six 
updated trade product fact sheets, and the new NSW Wine 
Regions trade toolkit and videos. 

Support of the Aussie Specialist Program continued with 
additional content for two online training modules and four 
newsletters targeting Aussie Specialist travel agents. 

Travel Trade Events
Three trade events were delivered in 2019-2020: Focus on 
Greater China 2019, USA Roadshow 2019 and South Korea 
Roadshow 2019. In 2020, five Destination NSW trade events 
were cancelled due to COVID-19: Chinese New Year ITO 
lunch, Focus on India 2020, New Product Workshop, Sip & 
Explore: Wine Experiences in NSW and the Destination NSW 
UK & Europe Roadshow. Australian Tourism Exchange was 
also cancelled.

Delivery of the International Trade Events Webinar Program 
commenced in June 2020 in response to the global COVID-19 
pandemic and ongoing international travel restrictions to 
replace face-to-face business trade events. 

Three digital events consisting of 10 webinars were delivered 
in 2019-2020, targeting travel distributors in UK, Europe, 
South Korea and China. Nine NSW tourism suppliers 
participated in the UK/Europe webinars with 350 key trade 
buyers viewing the webinars online. Seven NSW tourism 
suppliers participated in the South Korea digital events with 
112 key tourism buyers viewing online.  Sixteen NSW tourism 
suppliers participated in the China digital events with 3,949 
key tourism buyers viewing online.

International Trade Familiarisation Visits
Destination NSW offers a comprehensive annual  trade 
familiarisation program focused on priority international 
markets where it partners with airlines and travel providers on 
joint promotional campaigns. Fifty per cent of scheduled trade 
familiarisations in 2019-2020 were cancelled due to COVID-19. 
However, the team delivered 29 individual familiarisation visits 
for more than 289 participants. 

Industry Sponsorships and Events
In 2019-2020, Destination NSW worked in partnership with a 
number of key industry associations, including:

•  Sponsorship of the Local Government NSW Tourism 
Conference, held in Jindabyne from 16-18 March 2020 and 
attended by 130 delegates from across the State

•  The Minister’s Student Achiever Award 2019 acknowledging 
academically high-achieving tourism and hospitality 
students. Thirteen individuals received awards from the Hon 
Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and 
Western Sydney at Parliament House on 26 September 2019

•  Major sponsor of the 2019 NSW Tourism Awards held at the 
Four Seasons Hotel on 14 November 2019. Managed by the 
NSW Business Chamber, the awards celebrate excellence 
in the tourism industry through recognition of tourism 
products and individuals who have made an outstanding 
contribution to the industry

•  Sponsored two awards in the Tourism Accommodation 
Australia (NSW) Awards for Excellence held on 25 July 
2019 at The Star, Sydney. The awards are recognised as the 
hospitality industry’s most prestigious awards, honouring 
excellence in the accommodation sector

•  Sponsorship of the NSW Wine Industry Association 
and Restaurant & Catering Association 2019 and NSW 
Sommelier’s Wine List Awards held at Parliament House 
on 18 October 2019. The Hon Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for 
Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney presented 
the awards on the evening.

Trade and Industry Development

2019 DIRECTORY OF BUYERS

Focus on Greater China
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The Partnerships team works with airlines, Online Travel 
Agents (OTAs) and trade partners on conversion campaigns 
that drive visitation to Sydney and NSW. Due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, all partnership campaigns were initially paused 
and then cancelled from March 2020 as international and state 
borders closed and travel restrictions were introduced across 
key source markets.

International Campaign Activity

Launch of ‘Love Sydney & NSW’ 
International Social Media Campaign

Destination NSW launched its first direct to consumer, 
international social media campaign in May 2020, delivering 
inspirational destination content across paid social media 
channels in our key source markets. 

As our key international source markets were in various 
stages of isolation and lockdown due to COVID-19, online 
media consumption hours were increasing including social 
media channels. The objective of this campaign was to keep 
Sydney and NSW destinations top of mind as places to visit 
when travel can resume. 

The international social media campaign was in market 
from May to June 2020, targeting high value travellers in 
the United States, New Zealand, United Kingdom, India, 
Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia. The campaign media 
channels were Facebook, Instagram and YouTube and 
included short format videos covering the key pillars of 
nature and wildlife, food and wine, adventure and Sydney 
iconic experiences. The campaign delivered more than 260 
million impressions, over 850,000 clicks through to sydney.
com, and more than 70 million video views.

Launch of ‘Love Sydney & NSW’ Campaign in New Zealand

Destination NSW launched its tourism recovery campaign, 
Love Sydney & NSW, which included new TV, social and digital 
creative featuring NSWs diverse landscapes and alluring 
experiences to inspire travellers around the globe.

The commercial debuted in New Zealand during Tourism 
Australia’s special edition of The Project, ‘The Love Australia 
project’, and was supported by ‘Live from Aus’ social media 
activity to encourage people to dream about and plan a NSW 
holiday for when borders reopen.

The Love Sydney & NSW campaign continued in June and 
included television, digital video and PR activity to target high 
value travellers in New Zealand. The campaign objective 
was to increase awareness, appeal and intention to travel to 
Sydney and NSW by showcasing inspirational content to target 
consumers at the dreaming and planning phase. The campaign 
creative consisted of 15 and 30 second television commercials 
and digital display and videos. The digital campaign delivered 
more than 2.4 million impressions, close to 25,000 clicks 
through to sydney.com and over 1 million video views.

Social Media Activities in China

During 2019-2020, Destination NSW maintained an Always On 
365 day a year consumer social media campaign promoting 
Sydney and Regional NSW on WeChat, Weibo and Douyin to our 
China source market. 

In the second half of 2019-2020, Destination NSW developed 
an agile approach to content focusing only on the upper funnel 
dreaming and planning phases due to natural disasters and 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Destination NSW’s organic content 
reached a combined 3.45 million people and our community size 
on Weibo, WeChat and Douyin increased by 3.52 per cent YoY.

Partnership Programs
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Domestic Partnership Activity

Love NSW Domestic Campaign

In February 2020, Destination NSW launched the first phase 
of its disaster recovery campaign #RecoveryWeekend, 
which promoted travel to regional NSW with a focus on 
destinations that had been affected by bushfires and were 
open for business. The Domestic Partnerships team delivered 
co-operative marketing campaign activity with nine investing 
and non-investing partners including online travel agencies, 
hotels, travel wholesalers and retailers, airlines and holiday 
letting agencies. 

The second phase Now’s the Time to Love NSW launched in 
March 2020 and evolved into a COVID-19 recovery strategy 
which will run until June 2021. 

Tourism Australia Domestic Partnership

On 19 January 2020, the Commonwealth Government 
announced a tourism recovery package that provided 
funding to the states and territories for domestic marketing 
initiatives. As part of this funding package, Tourism Australia 
and Destination NSW delivered a partnership marketing 
program under the Holiday Here This Year campaign platform. 
The campaign’s objective was to stimulate travel to bushfire 
affected regions. Activity was paused in March due to 
COVID-19 and has since recommenced in May with the focus 
shifting to stimulating travel to both Sydney and regional NSW.

Domestic Partnerships 

Destination NSW worked with multiple partners to promote 
Sydney, regional NSW and key events in its primary interstate 
markets of South-East Queensland, ACT and Victoria. 

In 2019-2020, Destination NSW continued its successful 
partnerships with a range of partners including Qantas 
Airways and Accor Hotels:

•  Qantas Airways 
Destination NSW and Qantas Airways developed an 
integrated and strategic partnership across multiple 
touchpoints to increase flight bookings to Sydney and 
across their regional NSW network.

Key Highlights:

-  Meet the Maker content series evolved to include the NSW 
North Coast. The campaign was in market from October to 
December 2019, highlighting the Byron and Tweed regions 
and featured two local producers: Byron Bay Cookie 
Company and Brookie’s Gin. The two episodes streamed 
on Qantas inflight entertainment over a four-week 
period and shared on Qantas’ owned channels including 
Facebook and Instagram. 

-  In August 2019, Destination NSW and Qantas Airways 
undertook a tactical campaign to promote travel to 
Sydney and regional NSW destinations from key 
interstate markets.

•  Accor Hotels 
Destination NSW and Accor Hotels developed an integrated 
and targeted partnership promoting key properties across 
the state. The strategy includes dynamic social media 
campaigns, radio partnership with Nine Radio and digital 
marketing. 

Regional NSW Partnership Activity

In 2019-2020, a key focus was to support and promote regional 
NSW destinations as part of the Destination NSW disaster 
recovery strategy. Campaigns were developed as a part of the 
#RecoveryWeekend and Now’s the Time to Love NSW activity 
with partners including Qantas Airways, TripAdvisor, Accor 
hotels, Webjet, Helloworld, Flight Centre, Stayz and Tigerair. 

Selling Events through Partnerships

In 2019-2020, the Partnership Programs team worked 
with over 40 event partners to disperse event content and 
packages through partner distribution channels. Destination 
NSW also continued its strategic partnerships with Ticketek 
and Ticketmaster to promote events in targeted intrastate, 
interstate and international markets.

Partnership Programs  CONTINUED

If you’ve been longing for vast national parks, sandy beaches  
and cosy cabin getaways, now’s the time to plan  

your dream family holiday in NSW.

visitnsw.com/love-nsw
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PR Activity Highlights 2019-2020
In October 2019, Destination NSW hosted US based, Australian 
celebrity chef and media personality, Curtis Stone, in Sydney 
and NSW to film a dedicated NSW episode for season two of 
his TV show, Field Trip with Curtis Stone. Featured locations 
included Sydney, Tweed, South Coast and Hunter Valley. The 
season premiered on PBS in the US in October 2020, with 
Australian distribution in negotiation.

To support and amplify the announcement of Lord Howe 
Island’s inclusion in Lonely Planet’s Best in Travel 2020 List, 
Destination NSW hosted a group of top tier international 
and domestic Key Opinion Leaders (KOLs) on Lord Howe 
Island and Sydney in October 2019. The group was a mix of 
influential travel KOLs from China, USA, UK and Australia who 
drove awareness of Lord Howe Island and NSW by sharing 
their experiences, and the announcement, live with a global 
audience of millions.

The PR team supported the launch of Destination NSW’s 
Tourism Recovery Program - Now’s The Time To Love NSW in 
February with proactive media outreach to more than 3,190 
domestic and international media. The team also secured a full 
week of Today Show weather broadcasts from locations across 
the state, a full show Today Show and Today Extra broadcast 
on location in Batemans Bay, and 17 media famils to bushfire 
affected regions of NSW. 

Destination NSW launched the It’s Out There Broken Hill and 
Central Darling Regional Tourism Fund campaign to more than 

200 media at the Travmedia International Media Marketplace 
in February by creating a pop-up of the iconic Bells Milk Bar 
and full schedule of media interviews and appointments for the 
Broken Hill Mayor. 

In April 2020, the PR team launched a series of virtual 
workshops to deliver NSW experiences to media at home to 
support story placement while travel restrictions were in 
place. The Workshop themes were developed to replicate 
some of NSW’s key lifestyle experiences most impacted by 
COVID-19 restrictions. 

During April and May, the PR team delivered 25 workshops 
comprising: cocktail masterclasses, NSW wine appreciation 
and yoga classes to 185 participants comprising travel and 
lifestyle media, influencers and industry contacts. To date the 
workshop series has delivered 53 media articles with a total 
AVE (advertising value equivalent) of $321,859.

The PR team launched 213 Ways to Reboot 2020 in NSW, a PR 
led campaign coinciding with the easing of travel restrictions 
from 1 June and the second phase of the Love NSW campaign. 
Twenty-five days of live morning TV from across regional NSW 
were also delivered, working with Sunrise, Weekend Sunrise, 
Today Show and Weekend Today. The programs visited 25 
different locations across the state, delivering 150 live crosses 
with more than 150 different tourism operators, and more than 
300 minutes of prime-time TV. This activity delivered a reach 
of more than 75 million and AVE of $15,424,151.

Communications

Lord Howe island
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Communications  CONTINUED

Editorial and Content 
The Editorial and Content team produces and manages 
photography, video and editorial content with the aim of 
building a strong inventory of assets for marketing, publicity 
and partnership campaign use. The team also services 
requests from industry, media and government for images, 
footage and editorial to promote Sydney and regional NSW. The 
Destination NSW Content Library provides registered users 
access to content and currently houses approximately 30,000 
assets for promotional use. 

In 2019-2020, the team undertook 94 video and 64 photography 
shoots across the state, including the capture of content 
across the Destination Networks, which was used by media, 
trade and industry, marketing, partnerships and government 
agencies. More than 6,000 new images and 185 new videos 
were uploaded to the Destination NSW Content Library for 
stakeholder use. 

Demand for content remained strong with 60,905 photo 
assets, 2,557 video orders and 150 editorial items serviced via 
the Content Library plus 823 custom video edits provided to 
stakeholders. In addition to video and photography, the team 
researched, wrote and edited 521 editorial content requests. 

The Editorial and Content team also manages the Destination 
NSW corporate website, which had almost 220,000 visits 
in 2019-2020, and the newly redesigned and launched staff 
Intranet. 

From January, focus switched to aiding industry with all 
activity immediately adapting to changed circumstances. 

Editorial and Content project highlights during the year 
included:

July – December 2019

Video and photography content shoots, with supporting 
editorial:

• Wine Regions of NSW 

• Orange in Winter 

• Griffith in Spring

• Blue Mountains featuring international talent 

• Underwater NSW 

• Bondi to Manly Walking Trail 

• Curtis Stone behind-the scenes in regional NSW

• Vogue 60th Birthday Sydney Activation 

• Bridgeclimb activation content for social media 

• New Sydney Zoo.

January – June 2020 

•  Local Stories: video content series, featuring 35 regional 
operators for digital media distribution, inviting visitors 
back to regional NSW

•  Port Stephens Local Operator Video Stories to complement 
the Incredible By Nature campaign

•  Love NSW Reboot 2020 Television commercial and social 
campaign for domestic markets

•  Love NSW Television commercial campaign for 
international markets 

•  Love NSW campaign content: Hawkesbury, Blue Mountains, 
Port Stephens, Kiama, Sydney

•  Love NSW: Dreaming content, including zoom 
backgrounds, puzzles and extensive editorial support 
for industry operators. 

•  Suite of content for virtual experiences to support industry: 
visual galleries; virtual wine experiences; cooking classes; 
at-home wellness

•  Sydney content shoot, featuring 70 locations

•  North Coast Shoot: from Port Macquarie, Coffs Harbour, 
Yamba, Bellingen, Byron Bay and Tweed Heads

•  Content Acquisition Project

•  Media Centre project initiation, research and scoping

•  CONTENTed – EDMs for staff, Destination Networks and 
Content Library users 

FY 2019 Editorial & Content highlights* 
*highlights items that can be compared to a full FY 2018 report

Photography:

• 21.13% increase in media requests

• 36.85% increase in government requests

• 65.52% increase in lifestyle shoots

• 14.71% increase in regional shoots

Video:

• 140.96% increase in trade and industry requests

• 39.13% increase in media requests

• 172.41% increase in regional shoots

• 107.69% increase in lifestyle shoots

Editorial:

• 171.88% increase in event industry and trade requests
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Ministerial Liaison
The Ministerial Liaison team continued its role in developing, 
drafting and coordinating a range of outputs to support 
Ministers and Government representatives as well as the 
Destination NSW executive team. The multiple crises during 
the year prompted an increase in workloads particularly 
in correspondence and Questions on Notice, with the team 
responding to 278 letters compared to 164 in the previous year 
and providing responses to 23 Questions on Notice, compared 
to nine in the previous year. 

A major change for the team was the new Budget 
Estimates resolution, introduced by the Legislative Council 
which introduced a new approach to Budget Estimates 
Hearings. With initial hearings in September-October 2019, 
supplementary hearings in October-November and further 
hearings in February 2020, this new approach saw Ministers, 
Parliamentary Secretaries and public servants give evidence 
in morning sessions, and, for the first time, included afternoon 
sessions during which department secretaries and public 
servants gave further evidence.

To assist the Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and 
Western Sydney and the Destination NSW CEO, the Ministerial 
Liaison team prepared 130 Budget Estimates Notes for the 
hearings and responses to more than 120 Questions on Notice 
and Supplementary Questions.

Ministerial and Corporate Communications
The Ministerial and Corporate Communications team works 
with the broader communications team to leverage tourism 
and major events announcements for NSW, positioning the 
Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney as 
the lead spokesperson for opportunities.

The team managed a range of announcements and other 
initiatives during the year. Highlights include:

Lord Howe Island named in Lonely Planet’s 
Best in Travel 2020

In October 2019, Lonely Planet released its annual publication 
Best in Travel 2020 naming Lord Howe Island in the top five 
destinations to visit.

Destination NSW coordinated a Ministerial media release 
about the announcement, a video including comments from 
Minister Ayres and Member for Port Macquarie, Leslie 
Williams, social media content for Minister Ayres and a 
comprehensive internal Q&A addressing contentious issues 
including sustainability and visitor quotas.

Vivid Sydney best major festival and event 
— NSW Tourism Awards

In November 2019, Vivid Sydney was named best major event 
or festival at the NSW Tourism Awards - the first gold medal 
for the event since its inception in 2009.

The submission, prepared by the Corporate Communications 
team, called for extensive research, coordination of input, and 
a lengthy review process with the NSW Business Chamber 
mentor and experienced NSW Tourism Awards judge.

The final document provided a comprehensive overview 
of Destination NSW’s strategic vision and operational 
management of Australia’s largest and much-loved event. 
It drew attention to the organisation’s leadership in terms 
of securing visitation through travel packages and risk 
management through extensive engagement with other 
Government agencies and external stakeholders.

Tourism Recovery campaign 

Destination NSW played a significant role in supporting the 
tourism industry navigate a rapidly changing market and 
challenging conditions in the wake of devastating bushfires, 
prolonged drought and the COVID-19 pandemic.

On 8 February 2020, Minister Ayres launched the NSW 
Government’s tourism recovery package delivered by 
Destination NSW. The $10 million package included the 
Love NSW marketing campaign, which was re-launched on 1 
June 2020 to align with the recommencement of travel across 
regional NSW following a period of restricted movement to 
control the spread of COVID-19. 

The team supported both launches with Ministerial media 
releases, releases for local MPs to distribute in their 
electorates, social media content, extensive stakeholder 
communications materials and support across Destination 
NSW’s corporate channels including social media and 
industry newsletters.

The tourism recovery package included the 2020 Regional 
Event Fund that was announced by the Minister on 21 
February, with successful grant recipients confirmed on 26 
June via Ministerial and local MP media releases and social 
media amplification using a custom-created video hype reel 
for the program.

Importantly, the team also led the crisis response from an 
industry engagement perspective through increased industry 
e-newsletter distribution and social media activity to advise 
operators about changes to Public Health Orders or inform 
them of support programs they could access. Destination 
NSW also created a “tourism recovery” page on the agency’s 
corporate website, and managed regular updating of travel 
alerts on the consumer websites and social media channels in 
line with NSW Government health advice.

Communications  CONTINUED
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Women’s T20 World Cup 2020 — Welcome to Sydney

In February 2020, Destination NSW led a major media and 
stakeholder event ahead of the T20 Women’s World Cup 
2020. It was officiated by Minister for Women, Bronnie Taylor 
and Minister for Tourism, Stuart Ayres on behalf of the NSW 
Government to welcome the Australian and Indian Women’s 
cricket teams to NSW.

The event kicked off a week of fan activations and gave the 
media a springboard to promote the games held in Sydney. The 
tournament was secured as part of the NSW Government’s 10 
World Cups in 10 years initiative and had a focus on accessibility 
for families and communities.

FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023

In June 2020, FIFA announced that hosting rights for the 2023 
Women’s Football World Cup had been awarded to Australia 
and New Zealand, making the 2023 event the first to be held in 
the Asia-Pacific region.

Minister for Tourism Stuart Ayres attended the event in 
support of the bid with media invited in anticipation of the 
announcement. Destination NSW arranged content capture 
that was circulated widely and published by international 
and national media outlets, including the Daily Mail UK. The 
content was re-shared via social media through the Australian 
women’s football team (the Matildas), FFA and FIFA’s Women’s 
World Cup channels.

Following the announcement by FIFA, Destination NSW helped 
to coordinate a large scale press conference with Federal 
Minister for Youth and Sport Richard Colbeck, Federal Minister 
for Women and Foreign Affairs Marise Payne, NSW Premier 
Gladys Berejiklian, Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and 
Western Sydney Stuart Ayres and Minister for Sport Geoff Lee, 
as well as the FFA CEO and Matildas players.

Communications  CONTINUED

ICC Women’s T20 World Cup 2020
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Special projects

Corporate social media growth and strategy

In 2020, Destination NSW’s corporate social media accounts 
became an important channel for updating stakeholders on 
its activities and key government announcements. 

The Corporate Communications team prioritised content 
creation and messaging for these channels, in particular 
the Destination NSW LinkedIn account, to provide timely 
information to tourism businesses, councils, industry 
associations and other stakeholders during the bushfires and 
COVID-19 pandemic.

From March to June 2020, Destination NSW grew its LinkedIn 
community by 3,000 followers taking the total to 17,600, 
achieving 20 per cent organic growth for its LinkedIn channel. 
This has occurred through regular posting of relevant content 
showcasing the agency’s work to support the industry, 
including marketing campaigns, new content, partnership 
activity and publicity coverage, alongside profiling operators 
and sharing NSW Government announcements and messages.

Employee communications strategy

In May, the Communications team undertook to review 
Destination NSW’s approach to employee engagement 
and communications, and to prepare and implement a 
new strategy.

The objectives were to deliver a strategic and consistent 
approach and content, facilitate two-way communications, 
foster and drive a high performance culture and ensure staff 
feel connected and committed to achieving the agency’s 
shared goals.

To achieve this, three key content pillars were identified to 
steer the types of communication that would be shared:

• Destination NSW strategic priorities

• Updates that enhance the employee experience

• Engaging and understanding our industry.

The strategy is in the implementation phase and early steps 
have included increasing the frequency of all staff ‘town hall’ 
meetings and a relaunch of the Destination NSW intranet.

Destination NSW has also collaborated closely with Treasury’s 
Human Resources team to include agency content in cluster-
wide communications such as the Open Mike newsletters from 
Secretary of NSW Treasury, Mike Pratt and updates from Kim 
Curtain, Deputy Secretary Jobs, Investment and Tourism. This 
has highlighted the work and achievements of Destination NSW 
staff to the broader Treasury cluster, in turn raising the profile 
of the tourism industry as a key economic driver for NSW.

Communications  CONTINUED
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The Corporate Services team brings together specialist 
support services including finance, recruitment, human 
resource management, workplace health and safety, database 
administration and technology support, recordkeeping, general 
administration, facilities management and property maintenance.

Key Achievements
The Corporate Services team continued to provide operational 
and business support across the organisation and delivered 
numerous projects related to each of its functional areas. 

Values and Culture

There was a continued focus on our values and culture, with 
our six core values of Collaboration, Agility, Excellence, 
Respect, Ownership and Passion being championed through the 
formation of the Destination NSW People Committee to drive 
our values and engagement in the workplace.

Customer Relationship Management - Salesforce CRM 

The ongoing success of the Salesforce Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) Project Team continues to permeate 
across all divisions to streamline and introduce functional 
updates to the work-stream. 

The CRM team continues to automate additional business 
processes for Vivid Sydney and the Communications, and 
Corporate Services teams managing general enquiries, to 
ensure better outcomes.

Migration into Treasury 

Facilitating the migration of corporate systems and IT from the 
Department of Primary Industry and Environment into Treasury 
was a key focus in 2019-2020. Once complete, Destination 
NSW will receive support through Treasury’s Payroll Services 
function Gov Connect and SAPConnect, which includes Finance, 
Procurement, Payroll and Information Technology.

LinkedIn Learning 

The LinkedIn Learning online learning platform was made 
available to staff to provide them with on-demand learning 
opportunities to upskill whilst working remotely.

New HR Business Plan

The development of our new HR Business Plan to highlight and 
prioritise our short-term and long-term HR initiatives.

WHS Committee 

Destination NSW’s WHS Committee highlighted the ongoing 
commitment to ensuring a safe workplace with the successful 
completion of the external WHS audit.

Managing the Transition to Remote Working

Provided practical Human Resources advice to staff and 
managers to minimise the negative impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, to ensure the management of the demands of 
remote working and prioritisation of staff safety. 

Working from home enabled the organisation to think 
of working differently. The organisation is creating a 
consistent, consolidated, transparent and dynamic operations 
environment. The leadership team’s commitment is to build 
a higher performing team and stakeholder environment, to 
deliver on our key objectives.

Wages Policy Outcome

A 2.5 per cent salary increase was approved by the NSW 
Wages Policy Taskforce and paid to Destination NSW 
employees, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 
2019. This is aligned with the NSW Public Sector Wages Policy.

Performance Reviews and Learning and Development

All staff completed the annual Performance Review 
and Development Plan process, which supports career 
and learning goals. More than 300 formal learning and 
development opportunities were provided to Destination NSW 
staff totalling 722 hours of training. Additionally, staff had 
access to online self-paced learning courses to assist their 
learning and development plans.

SAP Connect

Destination NSW worked with the SAPConnect Project Team 
to transition to Treasury’s SAPConnect system effective 
from October 2020. SAPConnect allows Treasury to have one 
view of staff and finances across the Treasury cluster and 
incorporates the SAPConnect Self Service mobile app for 
requesting / approving leave and viewing pay details.

SAPConnect is the tool for managing people, finance, HR/
payroll, procurement, expense claims and project accounting. 
It allows Destination NSW to interact with Treasury’s shared 
services provider GovConnect.

Supporting the organisation during COVID-19

From March 2020, the team’s focus changed to implementing 
the COVID19 Business Continuity Plan, to ensure staff could 
effectively transition to agile working while maintaining 
productivity in a remote environment. The team has continued 
to adapt and support the business in different ways depending 
on the scenario.

Corporate Services continued to deliver learning and 
development resources online, where staff have access to a 
range of courses in the agile environment. New ways of on-
boarding were implemented during the working from home 
period with new starters inducted online. With only essential 
staff working from the office, core services continued from 
home in an electronic, paperless environment, which resulted 
in no delay in the provision of services. Cleaning protocols 
were changed to ensure a clean and safe working environment 
for staff attending the office and WHS social distancing 
measures implemented.

Corporate Services provided a special Working from Home Plan 
to staff to help them adjust to working from home, along with 
communications about counselling and ergonomics, regular 
check in sessions, online WIPs and team meetings, regular 
reminders that EAP is available, updating the intranet with 
resources for wellbeing. The frequency of Town Hall meetings, 
led by the CEO, increased to bring staff together virtually. 

The Legal Team worked closely with event owners and 
organisers on the postponement or cancellation of events due to 
COVID-19. In many cases, this required variations to contracts. 

Destination NSW staff members provided critical support 
to the both the Treasury Bushfire Taskforce, and the 
COVID-19 Committee. Destination NSW WHS planning 
documentation was provided to the Taskforce ensuring the 
ability of the Agency to quickly respond to the unprecedented 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Corporate Services
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Destination NSW Senior Executive (as at 30 June 2020)
Steve Cox, MBA, Post Grad Dip Management 
(from 4 May 2020) Chief Executive Officer

Neville D’Costa, B. Com, LL.B. (Hons) 
Director, Procurement and Legal

Peter Doran, BA MA QPR AMSRS TASA FAIM MAICD MISPI 
Director, Program Performance and Assessment

Sue Doyle, BA Tourism Management 
Director, Partnership Programs

Libby Ellis, B. Education 
Event Development Manager, Arts and Entertainment

Bronwen Gwynn-Jones, BA (Hons); Master of Arts (Communications) 
Director, Editorial and Content

Jan Hutton, IMM 
General Manager, Marketing

Stephen Mahoney, Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Japanese Language and Culture 
General Manager, Regional NSW

Shane McClelland, DipInvRel 
General Manager, Communications 

Theresa Mejia, Master of Industrial Engineering, BSc Statistics 
Manager, Visitor Insights and Performance

Kylie-Jane Menzies, AdvDip Travel and Tourism Marketing 
Director Trade and Industry Development

Kristy Meudell, BA (Communications) 
Director, Public Relations and Visiting Media

Caroline Miller, CPA 
Director, Finance and Administration

Sonia McIvor, BA, Master of Tourism 
Director, Marketing

Ross Pearson, BA (Accounting), FCPA and MAICD 
Chief Operating Officer

Jacqueline Smith, B Media Comm; Master of Environmental Law 
(from 20 April 2020) Director, Ministerial and Corporate Communications  

Nathan Ting, BA Business Studies (Marketing Major) 
Director, Digital Marketing Services

Julie Turpie, BA Hons Leisure and Recreation Management 
Director, Event Development – Arts, Lifestyle and Entertainment 
Acting General Manager, Event Development (from January 2020)

Sandra Chipchase, B. Bus Comm, GAICD (until 31 December 2019) 
Chief Executive Officer

Steve Keogh, B. App Sc (until 20 December 2019) 
Director, Sport and Strategic Events
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Human Resources

Destination NSW Staff Profile (as at 30 June 2020)
The following tables cover staff of Destination NSW (rounding applied).

PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)

Total staff on 30 June 2020 2019-2020 Men Women % Total % Men % Women

Grade 3–4 $72,418-$79,297 4 1 3 2.0% 0.5% 1.5%

Grade 5–6 $85,488 -$94,327 22 5 17 11.1% 2.5% 8.5%

Grade 7–8 $97,152-$107,541 42 4 38 21.1 2.0% 19.1%

Grade 9–10 $110,745-$122,038 35 2 33 17.6% 1.0% 16.6%

Grade 11–12 $128,089-$148,134 17 5 12 8.5% 2.5% 6.0%

Senior Executives Band 1–3 18 7 11 9.0% 3.5% 5.5%

Overseas Staff 21 3 18 10.6% 1.5% 9.0%

Contingent Workforce 40 12 28 20.1% 6.0% 14.1%

Total 199 39 160 100% 19.6% 80.4%

STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS

Total staff on 30 June 2020 2019-2020 2018-2019 2017-2018 2016-2017

Permanent Full-time 104 98 119 117

Permanent Part-time 18 14 14 14

Temporary Full-time 17 14 10 7

Temporary Part-time 2 2 0 0

Senior Executives 18 18 18 18

Contingent 40 52 33 38

Total staff on 30 June 199 198 194 194
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Senior Executive Profile
In 2019-2020, 24.68 per cent of Destination NSW’s employee-related expenditure was allocated to Senior Executives, compared to 
25.46 per cent in 2018-2019.

SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE

Band
2019-2020 2018-2019

Female Male Female Male

Band 3 0 1 1 0

Band 2 1 3 1 3

Band 1 10 3 9 4

Totals
11 7 11 7

18 18

SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE – REMUNERATION

Band Range $ Average Remuneration  
2019-2020

$ Average Remuneration  
2018-2019

Band 3 $345,551 - $487,050 475,000 475,150*

Band 2 $274,701 – $345,550 311,237 303,646

Band 1 $192,600 – $274,700 219,545 212,058

*does not include allowances

Exceptional movements in remuneration
A salary increase of 2.5 per cent, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2019, was paid to clerical officers in accordance 
with the Crown Employees (Public Sector – Salaries) Award.

An application was made to, and approved by, the NSW Government Wages Policy Taskforce for an increase of 2.5 per cent to all 
non-executive staff not covered under the Crown Award.

The Statutory and Other Offices Remuneration Tribunal determined a performance-based increase of 2.5 per cent for Senior 
Executive officers, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2019.

All increases were subject to satisfactory performance. There were no adjustments made to the recruitment and 
retention allowance.

Various international based staff received annual cost of living increases in accordance with their individual employment agreements.
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Corporate Governance

Destination NSW Board of Management

Method of appointment and term of board members

Under the terms of the Destination NSW Act 2011, members of 
the Board of Management of Destination NSW were appointed 
by the responsible Minister. During the year the responsible 
Minister was the Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and 
Western Sydney, The Hon.  Stuart Ayres, MP.

The Board consists of a Chairperson (also appointed by the 
Minister), individuals with relevant skills and experience, 
the Secretary of the cluster and the Chief Executive Officer. 
Each member holds office for the term specified in his or her 
instrument of appointment. If they are otherwise qualified, 
members are eligible for reappointment for additional term(s).

Board Members

John Warn (Chairman)

Russell Balding AO (Deputy Chairman)

David Baffsky AO

Margaret Jack AM

Rod McGeoch AO

Sally Loane

The Hon. George Souris AM

Michael Pratt AM

Steve Cox (CEO, Destination NSW – appointed 4 May 2020)

Sandra Chipchase (former CEO – until 31 December 2019)

Stephen Mahoney (A/CEO – 16 December 2019 to 4 May 2020) 

Rebekah Horne was appointed to the Destination NSW Board 
on 17 July 2020.

Board Meetings 

Destination NSW Board met on six occasions during 2019-
2020. The attendance record of the members was John 
Warn (6/6), Russell Balding AO (6/6), David Baffsky AO (6/6), 
Margaret Jack AM (6/6), Rod McGeoch AO (6/6), Sally Loane 
(6/6), the Hon. George Souris AM (6/6), Michael Pratt AM (or 
alternate 6/6), Steve Cox (1/1), Sandra Chipchase (3/3) and 
Stephen Mahoney (2/2).

Board Committees

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Committee has an important role in risk management 
and audit through endorsement of internal and external 
audit plans, review of audit reports and the review of risk 
assessment and management.

This Committee also ensures the sound financial position 
of Destination NSW through regular reviews of its budget 
performance. The Destination NSW Audit and Risk Committee 
met on four occasions during 2019-2020.

The attendance record of the members was: Russell Balding 
AO (Committee Chairman) (4/4), Sally Loane (4/4), Steve Cox 
(1/1), Sandra Chipchase (1/1) and Stephen Mahoney (2/2).

Business Events Sydney
Destination NSW has two Board Members on the Business 
Events Sydney Board:

The Hon. George Souris AM and Steve Cox. 

Legal Change  
The Treasurer and Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism 
and Western Sydney administer the following Acts and the 
Regulations made under those Acts:

Destination NSW Act 2011 No 21 

Major Events Act 20019 No 73 

Motor Sports (World Rally Championship) Act 2009 No 55

Motor Racing (Sydney and Newcastle) Act 2008 No 106.

Consultants
Consultants equal to or more than $50,000:

Consultant Funding $ Title/Nature

Bevington 
Consulting 
P/L

$95,500 Strategy advice – Visitor Economy 
Industry Action Plan 2030

Consultants less than $50,000: Nil
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Disclosure of Controlled Entities
Destination NSW has the following controlled entities:

Destination NSW Staff Agency 

The Destination NSW Staff Agency is classified as an Executive 
Agency pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 of the Government 
Sector Employment Act 2013 and falls within the NSW Treasury 
cluster of the public service. The head of the agency is the Chief 
Executive Officer of Destination NSW, who is responsible for 
general and employer functions. 

The Staff Agency’s objective is to provide personnel services 
to Destination NSW. The Staff Agency has responsibility for the 
employees and employee-related liabilities of Destination NSW.

Disclosure of subsidiaries

Destination NSW does not have any interest in any public 
sector subsidiaries. Destination NSW does hold a shareholding 
in Australian Tourism Warehouse Data Limited. Destination 
NSW is also a member of six Destination Networks, which are 
established as companies limited by guarantee.

Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009
In 2019-2020, Destination NSW received five valid access 
applications under the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009. 

Pursuant to the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009, Destination NSW reviews each year its release of 
Government information.

As a result of this review, Destination NSW will continue to do 
the following:

1.  Produce a corporate annual report as part of its 
Government reporting requirements.

2.  Distribute a regular e-newsletter which outlines 
upcoming events and insights in the events and 
tourism industry in NSW to industry stakeholders. 
The e-newsletter is free for subscribers.

3.  Distribute a regular e-newsletter which outlines 
upcoming events and tourism initiatives to subscribers. 
The e-newsletter is free for subscribers.

4.  Maintain a media centre on our website www.
destinationsw.com.au which provides media releases 
and media kits for downloading free of charge. The media 
centre also provides event fact sheets, destination media 
kits, reports, product fact sheets, product updates, videos, 
speeches and presentations, annual reports, image library 
and media visit details.

5. Provision of reports, tourism strategies and plans. 

6. Produce letters to stakeholders.

7. Provision of statistics and research insights.  

8. Provision of Partner Opportunities via a prospectus.

9. Briefings with accommodation providers.  

10. Workshops with industry. 

11. Links to webcasts, strategies and plans.

12. Details of contacts and associations.

Destination NSW aims to strike a balance to provide 
information to the public whilst acknowledging the resources 
of Destination NSW and the commercial nature of its 
operations.

The table below details the total number of access applications 
received by the agency during the reporting year (1 July 2019 to 
30 June 2020).

Valid Applications Invalid Applications

5 1

Destination NSW did not receive any informal applications 
during the reporting period.

A detailed breakdown of the types and nature of the requests is 
provided in the following tables.
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TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*

Access 
granted 
in full

Access 
granted 
in part

Access 
refused 
in full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/ 
deny whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Media 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Private sector business 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Not for profit organisations or 
community groups 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the public (application 
by legal representative) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Members of the public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

* More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made in relation to 
each such decision. This also applies to Table B.

TABLE B: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME

Access 
granted 
in full

Access 
granted 
in part

Access 
refused 
in full

Information 
not held

Information 
already 
available

Refuse to 
deal with 
application

Refuse to 
confirm/ 
deny whether 
information 
is held

Application 
withdrawn

Personal information applications* 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications (other than 
personal information applications) 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Access applications that are partly 
personal information applications 
and partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

* Personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to the 
Act) about the applicant (the applcant being an individual).

TABLE C: INVALID APPLICATIONS

Reason for invalidity No of applications

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 1

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0

Total number of invalid applications received 1

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0

Corporate Governance  CONTINUED 
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TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT

Number of times consideration used*

Overriding secrecy laws 0

Cabinet information 0

Executive Council information 0

Contempt 1

Legal professional privilege 0

Excluded information 0

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0

Transport safety 0

Adoption 0

Care and protection of children 0

Ministerial code of conduct 0

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0

Information about complaints to Judicial Commission 0

Information about authorised transactions under Electricity Network Assets (Authorised 
Transactions) Act 2015 0

Information about authorised transaction under Land and Property Information NSW 
(Authorised Transaction) Act 2016 0

* More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each such 
consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.

TABLE E: OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS AGAINST DISCLOSURE – MATTERS LISTED IN TABLE TO SECTION 14 OF ACT

Number of occasions when application not successful

Responsible and effective government 2

Law enforcement and security 0

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 1

Business interests of agencies and other persons 2

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0

Secrecy provisions 0

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0
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TABLE F: TIMESLINES

Number of applications

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 4

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 1

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0

Total 5

TABLE G: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS REVIEWED UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF REVIEW AND OUTCOME)

Decision varied Decision upheld Total

Internal review 0 0 0

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0

Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act 0 0 0

Review by NCAT 1 0 1

Total 1 0 1

* The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendations to the original 
decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by 
the Information Commissioner.

TABLE H: APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF APPLICANT)

Number of applications for review

Applications by access applicants 2

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates 
(see section 54 of the Act) 0

TABLE I: APPLICATIONS TRANSFERRED TO OTHER AGENCIES UNDER DIVISION 2 OF PART 4 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF TRANSFER)

Number of applications transferred

Agency-initiated transfers 0
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Privacy and Personal Information 
Protection Act 1998 
Destination NSW respects the privacy of members of the 
public who use its services and its employees. As a NSW Public 
Service Executive Agency, Destination NSW must comply with 
NSW State and Commonwealth Privacy legislation.

During the reporting year no complaints have been received 
regarding the privacy management of Destination NSW.

Destination NSW has a privacy policy which is reviewed 
regularly. The privacy policy and terms of use documents 
for all Destination NSW websites were amended as a result 
of the General Data Privacy Regulation released by the 
European Commission. 

Destination NSW advises members of the public of its privacy 
obligations in various media and correspondence i.e. website 
and terms and conditions. Destination NSW also outlines 
its privacy obligations in contracts with third parties and 
requests those third parties also to be aware and comply 
with privacy legislation.

Requests for access to personal information held by 
Destination NSW may be made to the Privacy Officer at 
Level 2, 88 Cumberland Street, The Rocks, NSW, 2000 or by 
telephone on (02) 9931 1111.

In compliance with the provisions of the Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection Act 1998, Destination NSW has a Privacy 
Management Plan and has a designated Privacy Officer. 
Mechanisms have been established to make Destination NSW 
staff aware of the Privacy and Personal Information Protection 
Act 1998 and other privacy obligations.

In all staff contracts, staff are required to exercise 
confidentiality in their dealings with third parties and in the 
execution of their duties.

Public Interest Disclosures
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 requires Agencies 
to report every six months to the Ombudsman on Public 
Interest Disclosures (PIDs) and to include this information 
in Annual Reports.

This report covers those PIDs received during the period from 
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.

Number of public officials who have made a disclosure to the 
Agency – (0)

Number of the public interest disclosures received by the 
Agency relating to:

• Corrupt conduct – (0)

• Maladministration – (0)

• Serious and substantial waste – (0)

• Government information contravention – (0)

Total number of public interest disclosures received – (0)

The number of public interest disclosures finalised to 30 June 
2020 – (0)

The Destination NSW PID Reporting Policy and Procedure was 
developed in accordance with the requirements of the Public 
Interest Disclosures Act 1994 and approved effective from June 
2012. To ensure that staff are aware of the contents of the 
Policy and the protections available, as required under s6E (1)
(b) of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994.

Destination NSW staff have access to the Public Interest 
Disclosures policy from the staff intranet.

Internal Audits
Destination NSW conducted an internal audit program during 
the reporting year, comprising six audits undertaken by Deloitte:

• Event Funding - Regional Event

• Funding – Destination Networks 

• Procurement

• Cybersecurity 

• Website Management 

• Work Place Health and Safety 

Destination NSW is implementing the agreed 
recommendations from these audits.

Destination NSW has developed a risk management program 
to identify and manage risks consistent with NSW Government 
guidelines and policy. Risk management aims to safeguard the 
public, staff, buildings and related assets.

Risk controls include:

• Assessing corporate risk and conducting internal audits

•  Managing ongoing risk, including maintaining registers and 
conducting fire and safety audits

• Developing risk strategies

•  Maintaining appropriate insurance cover with the Treasury 
Managed Fund that covers all classes of risk

• Reviewing financial management processes.

Insurance
Destination NSW is insured through the Treasury Managed 
Fund. The coverage provided by the scheme is all inclusive and 
policies are held for Workers Compensation, Motor Vehicles, 
Property, Miscellaneous and Public Liability. 

Destination NSW also has a specific separate insurance policy 
for its media familiarisation program.
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NSW Cyber Security Policy

Compliance Attestation Statement 2019-20 
for Destination NSW
I, John Warn, am of the opinion the Department of Planning 
Industry and Environment (DPIE), the Destination NSW  
shared services provider for the 2019-20 financial year, has 
managed cyber security risks in a manner consistent with 
the Mandatory Requirements set out in the NSW Government 
Cyber Security Policy. 

Governance is in place to manage the cybersecurity maturity 
and initiatives of DPIE. Risks to the information and systems 
of DPIE have been assessed and are managed. There exists 
a current cyber incident response plan for DPIE which has 
been tested during the reporting period.

The DPIE Cluster Corporate Services has maintained certified 
compliance with ISO 27001 Information technology - Security 
techniques - Information security management systems - 
Requirements by an Accredited Third Party (BSI) during the 
2019-2020 financial year (Certificate Number is IS 645082).

John Warn 
Chairman 
Dated: 18 October 2020
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Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statement 
for the 2019-2020 Financial Year for Destination NSW
The Board of Destination NSW is of the opinion that Destination NSW has internal audit and risk management processes in  
operation that are, excluding the exceptions described below, compliant with the core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and 
Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector, specifically:

CORE REQUIREMENTS
For each requirement, please 
specify whether compliant, 
non-compliant, or in transition

Risk Management Framework

1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and accountable for risk management in the agency Compliant

1.2 A risk management framework that is appropriate to the agency has been established and 
maintained and the framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Compliant

Internal Audit Function

2.1 An internal audit function has been established and maintained Compliant

2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is consistent with the International Standards 
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing Compliant

2.3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ Compliant

Audit and Risk Committee

3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with appropriate expertise has been established Compliant 
(with Minister’s Exception)

3.2
The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee providing assistance to the agency 
head on the agency’s governance processes, risk management and control frameworks, and 
its external accountability obligations

Compliant

3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ Compliant

Membership 
The chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee are: 
• [Independent] Chair, Mr. Russell Balding AO, (Appointment to April 2022) 
• [Independent] Member 1, Sally Loane, (Appointment to April 2021)
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Departures from Core Requirements
The Board of Destination NSW advises that the internal audit and risk management processes for Destination NSW depart from 
the following core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector:

1.  The circumstances giving rise to these departures have been determined by the Portfolio Minister, and Destination NSW 
has implemented the following practicable alternative measures to  meet the core requirements:

DEPARTURE Reason for departure and description of practicable alternative 
measures implemented/being implemented

Non-Compliance

•  Core Requirement 3.1.4 – Independent members from 
Prequalification Scheme

•  Independent Members are individuals who do not hold positions 
within the agency and are not employees of the NSW Government. 
They collectively possess all skill and knowledge requirements set 
out in the policy and also satisfy other TPP 15-03 criteria prohibiting 
conflicts of interest.

•  Loss of industry knowledge, adequate skills of current members and 
administrative burden

The determination by the Portfolio Minister for Destination NSW in respect of this departure is dated 14 December 2017

These processes, including the practicable alternative measures being implemented, demonstrate that the Destination NSW has 
established and maintained frameworks, including systems, processes and procedures for appropriately managing audit and risk 
within the agency.

Signed in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Destination NSW.

John Warn 
Chairman

Dated: 18 October 2020
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Policies and Programs

Work Health and Safety 
Destination NSW is committed to ensuring the active 
participation of all staff in WHS matters and continues to 
ensure everyone has a safe and healthy workplace. The active 
WHS Committee continues to promote and educate staff in 
the identification and management of Workplace Health and 
Safety. There were no compensation cases or lost time injuries 
recorded in 2019-2020. There were two reported incidents (low) 
which were managed through the appropriate channels.

The WHS Committee provided assistance for the successful 
completion of the external WHS audit, highlighting the ongoing 
commitment of the Destination NSW WHS Committee to 
ensuring a safe workplace.

As part of Destination NSW’s commitment to providing staff 
with practical WHS advice, the Corporate Operations team 
managed the transition of employees to Remote Working by 
undertaking key activities to support the transition to working 
from home during the COVID-19 pandemic including the 
provision of ergonomic advice, regular check-in sessions, 
encouraging WHS in regular online WIPs and team meetings, 
regular reminders that EAP is available, and updating the 
intranet with resources for wellbeing. This advice and support 
was provided to staff and managers to minimise the negative 
impact on staff of the COVID-19 pandemic, and to ensure the 
demands of remote working were managed and that staff 
safety was prioritised.

Disability Inclusion Action Plan 
Destination NSW is committed to providing an accessible 
and inclusive workplace, and supports the inclusion in the 
community of individuals with a disability. We will continue to 
collaborate with various public authorities to provide support 
and services to individuals with a disability.

We have continued building on the implementation and 
objectives of the 2019-2021 Disability Inclusion Action Plan with 
the planning and implementation of disability inclusive events 
held through 2019 Vivid Sydney. We are proud of the many 
events that have been inclusive and will strive to encourage 
social inclusiveness for people living with a disability in the 
accessible events and experiences we produce. Building 
on previous years, Destination NSW will continue providing 

accessible services and event offerings including: the provision 
of personalised assistance for visitors to pre-plan their trip 
with helpful information about accessible transport options, 
travel paths, and event services and facilities.

Vivid Sydney featured audio descriptions of Vivid Light 
Walk installations and projections, talk-to-text selections 
for screen readers and smartphone devices, managed 
accessible viewing areas, provided accessibility maps, 
accessible drop off and pick up zones, and pre-booked mini 
bus accessible parking for community groups. There has 
also been accessible signage and ramps on the Vivid Light 
Walk, promotion of companion card for events and AUSLAN 
interpreters at Vivid Game Changer events. The Vivid Sydney 
Access and Inclusion program is supported by a dedicated 
Vivid Sydney Access and Inclusion Coordinator. Destination 
NSW encourages and supports people with a disability to 
come and experience the largest festival of light, music and 
ideas in the Southern Hemisphere.

Workforce Diversity
Destination NSW recognises that diverse workforces are 
more innovative, productive and increase the delivery of 
high quality services. We are continuing to implement 
strategies to ensure our workforce diversity. We are excited 
about partnering with Treasury in delivering world-class 
training that shows respect for inclusiveness, for diverse 
backgrounds, perspectives and experiences.

We will continue to evaluate internal processes and policies 
to ensure they adhere to the intent and purpose of the 
diversity plan, and we will continue to support staff to 
acknowledge and celebrate diversity, with involvement in 
NAIDOC week, LGBTQIA+ celebrations, charity fundraisers, 
and to role model behaviour in line with the Destination NSW 
values of Excellence, Collaboration, Respect, Agility, Passion 
and Ownership.

Destination NSW welcomes and encourages applications 
from all groups including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people, LGBTQIA+, people with disability, women and other 
diversity groups.

The table on the following page has been populated with 
Workforce Diversity information for Destination NSW.
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Policies and Programs  CONTINUED 

Multicultural Policy and Initiatives 
Destination NSW has actively embraced and embedded 
the 2019-2021 Multicultural Plan, encouraging staff to 
celebrate diversity. We continue to advocate for the values of a 
multicultural society by showing respect, and by being inclusive 
of diverse backgrounds, experiences and perspectives. We 
continue to evaluate our internal processes to ensure the 
purpose of our multicultural plan reflects the initial intention.

Destination NSW is committed to the Principles of the 
Multiculturalism NSW Act 2000 and the NSW Government’s 
aims and objectives for multiculturalism as stated in 
the Multicultural Action Plan. We recognise and support 
multiculturalism as a public policy and have implemented the 
Destination NSW Multicultural Plan 2019-2021 to ensure that 
our organisation both reflects and engages with multicultural 
resources and people, and to ensure every success of its 
initiatives in the promotion of NSW.

Destination NSW continues to follow the NSW Government 
guidelines regarding Culturally and Linguistically Diverse 
communities and continues to provide customised 
translations of its websites visitnsw.com and sydney.com 

from key community and visitor languages such as Chinese, 
Singaporean, Japanese, Malaysian, Korean, Indian, Italian, 
French and German. Destination NSW also continues to provide 
the customised Official Sydney Guide in English, Mandarin, 
Japanese and Korean languages and the Official Sydney Map in 
English and Chinese.

Traditionally the Regional Events Fund has actively supported 
multiculturalism through the support of festivals such as the 
Grafton Jacaranda Festival, the Girrakool Blues Festival & 
BBQ, the Boggabri Drovers Campfire Weekend, Curryfest 
Woolgoolga, the Riverlights Multicultural Festival, the Dream 
Festival Dubbo, Pie Fest Southern Highlands and the Griffith 
Spring Fest. Some of these initiatives have moved online due to 
COVID-19.

Destination NSW looks forward to actively developing 
programs, initiatives and events in 2020/2021 in line with 
the Multicultural Policies and Services Program Framework 
and the policy objectives that people from culturally 
diverse communities achieve high degrees of social and 
economic participation.

TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF  WORKFORCE DIVERSITY GROUPS

Workforce Diversity Group Benchmark 2020 2019 2018

Women 50% 82.7% 80.8%

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People 3.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English 23.2% 1.0% 9.1% 12.7%

People with Disability 5.6% 3.1% 1.1% 1.4%

People with a Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment N/A 1.54% 0.5% 0.7%

Destination NSW exceeded the Benchmark 50% target in the Trends in Workforce Diversity Group Women with a strong result in 
2019-2020 of 82.7%.

Work Health and Safety  CONTINUED
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Operations

Name of Officer Purpose of Visit Country Visited From Date To

Sam Cameron Accompany 5 key agents from Flight Centre, House of Travel & Helloworld 
on a famil

Australia 4/09/2019 6/09/2019

Christine Tang Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney Australia 31/08/2019 7/09/2019

Celine Dong Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney Australia 31/08/2019 7/09/2019

Nerissa Lee Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney Australia 31/08/2019 7/09/2019

Michelle Fu Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney Australia 29/08/2019 7/09/2019

Jennifer Tung Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney Australia 31/08/2019 7/09/2019

Pascal Reiling Attend Corroboree West 2019 Perth, followed by famil to Blue Mountains Australia 6/10/2019 18/10/2019

Daliah Von Harten Attend Corroboree West 2019 Perth, followed by Famil in regional NSW 
showcasing South Coast

Australia 4/10/2019 18/10/2019

Jennifer Tung Travel to Sydney for HATA ( Hong Kong Association of Travel Agents) Australia 24/10/2019 27/10/2019

Gin Woo Escorted a group of 8 top selling agents and 1 media for Air NZ/DNSW to 
the Northern Rivers NSW Region

Australia 12/11/2019 15/11/2019

Haruhiko Niihori Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil 
in Port Macquarie

Australia 26/11/2019 6/12/2019

Sam Cameron Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil 
in Port Macquarie

Australia 27/11/2019 6/12/2019

Siobhan Burke Hosted a famil to the Blue Mountains, Hunter Valley & Port Stephens 
prior to meetings with TravelBag & Malaysia Airlines. Also attended the 
International Manager Meetings in Sydney, followed by a famil in Port 
Macquarie

Australia 18/11/2019 7/12/2019

Jennifer Tung Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil 
in Port Macquarie

Australia 26/11/2019 7/12/2019

Paramjit Bawa Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil 
in Port Macquarie

Australia 25/11/2019 7/12/2019

Irene Morgan Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil 
in Port Macquarie

Australia 24/11/2019 7/12/2019

Siew Hoon Tan Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil 
in Port Macquarie

Australia 26/11/2019 6/12/2019

Steve Keogh Represented the NSW Government as a participant in the World Rugby 
Observer Program, which will assist with the development of the bid to 
host the 2027 Rugby World Cup. 

Japan 7/10/2019 14/10/2019

Heather Young Escort a DNSW educational famil with American Airlines attended by 
7 key retail/industry travel operators to  Sydney, Hunter Valley and 
Port Stephens.

Australia 13/02/2020 25/02/2020
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Research and Development
Along with the Commonwealth Government and other States 
and Territories, Destination NSW co-funds two national 
surveys that provide detailed information on the size of the 
visitor economy and trends in visitor behaviour, including 
length of stay, accommodation used, purpose of visit, day trips, 
transport used, activities undertaken, expenditure, travel party, 
demographics, destinations visited, and source markets.

The International Visitor Survey is conducted in the exit 
lounges of airports around Australia, sampling 40,000 
departing visitors each year. The National Visitor Survey 
interviews 120,000 Australian residents aged 15 years and 
over. From January 2019, the National Visitor Survey was 
conducted through 100 per cent mobile interviewing. With the 
closure of Australia’s international borders, the International 
Visitor Survey was suspended from April 2020.

Destination NSW uses the results of these surveys internally 
to inform campaign activities and develop strategies as well 
as externally to share insights with industry. In 2019-2020, 
Destination NSW published 314 visitor profile factsheets, time 
series, statistical tables and research reports for the tourism 
industry and other stakeholders.

Consumer Enquiries Response 
Destination NSW stakeholders and the community can 
make enquiries or offer feedback via Feedback Assist, or 
by providing comments in writing or by email. The online 
Feedback Assist functionality provides a consistent level of 
service in response to enquiries and/or feedback received 
from our stakeholders and the community. Destination NSW 
is committed to providing professional, courteous and prompt 
assistance to its stakeholders and community and the public 
in general.

All requests for information or assistance made to Destination 
NSW are met directly and promptly and, where necessary, 
are referred to the most appropriate officer. Destination 
NSW received no significant consumer complaints during the 
reporting period. Consequently, no changes to Destination 
NSW’s programs and services were warranted on the basis of 
negative consumer response.  

Economic and other factors affecting 
achievement of operational objectives 
A wide range of economic, industry and consumer factors 
affect NSW visitor economy performance. The COVID-19 
pandemic led to the most severe contraction in global and 
domestic economic activity in decades.

Global economy
The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects global growth 
at 4.9 per cent in 2020, 1.9 percentage points below their 
April 2020 forecast. The COVID-19 pandemic has had a more 
negative impact on the economy in the first half of 2020 than 
anticipated, and hence, IMF projects recovery to be more 
gradual than previously forecast. In 2021, global growth is 
forecast at 5.4 percent.

There is a higher-than-usual degree of uncertainty around 
this forecast than previous years. For economies struggling 
to control COVID-19 infection rates, a lengthier lockdown 
will result in an additional toll on activity. In economies with 
declining infection rates, the IMF forecasts slower recovery 
path based on persistent social distancing measures, larger 
than expected damage on activity during lockdown and on 
productivity as businesses increase necessary workplace 
safety and hygiene practices. 

For the first time, all regions are forecast to experience 
negative growth in 2020. Growth in the advanced economies is 
projected at –8.0 per cent in 2020, 1.9 percentage points lower 
than in the April 2020. Deep downturns are foreseen in the 
United States (–8.0 per cent); Japan (–5.8 per cent); the United 
Kingdom (–10.2 per cent); Germany (–7.8 per cent); France 
(–12.5 per cent); Italy and Spain (–12.8 per cent). In 2021, the 
advanced economy growth rate is projected to strengthen to 
4.8 per cent. 

In China, where the recovery from the sharp contraction in the 
first quarter is underway, growth is projected at 1.0 per cent in 
2020, supported in part by policy stimulus. India’s economy is 
forecast to contract by 4.5 per cent following a longer period of 
lockdown and slower recovery than anticipated in April while 
ASEAN economies are expected to decline by 2.0 per cent.

Management Activities
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Australian economy
The Australian economy has experienced a severe 
contraction and, like many other economies, is now in the 
early stages of recovery. However, the Reserve Bank of 
Australia (RBA) expects the pace of recovery to be slower 
than previously forecast.

In light of the extreme uncertainty about the course of the 
pandemic and its economic effects, the RBA considered 
several scenarios with different assumptions about the 
outbreak and restrictions and their effects on household and 
business confidence. In the baseline scenario, the Australian 
economy is expected to contract by about 6 per cent over 2020, 
before growing by around 5 per cent over 2021 and 4 per cent 
over 2022. Under the baseline scenario, the unemployment 
rate is expected to peak at around 10 per cent over the next six 
months and gradually decline to around 7 per cent in the latter 
part of the forecast period.

A stronger economic recovery is possible if faster progress in 
controlling the virus is achieved in the near term. However, a 
plausible downside scenario is where Australia faces further 
periods of outbreaks and heightened restrictions in certain 
areas, and the world experiences a widespread resurgence in 
infections in the near term.

Aviation
Air transport is key to economic development. This 
wider economic benefit is underpinned by both the direct 
connections between cities and falling air transport costs. 
However, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused a significant 
impact on the industry, with the International Air Transport 
Association reporting that air passenger numbers will not 
return to 2019 levels until 2023-2024.

In Moving Forward 2020, Tourism Research Australia (TRA) 
reported that there is potential for a domestic-led travel 
recovery with travel to and from Australia suspended and 
travel within Australia slowly opening up. A domestic-led 
recovery also includes the possibility of Australians who prefer 
overseas travel becoming domestic travellers.

Accommodation
Accommodation remains a pillar of a prosperous visitor 
economy, offering the supply to meet growing demand. 
Tourism Research Australia reported in Moving Forward 
2020 that recovery prospects will depend on the 
accommodation sector’s ability to find domestic substitutes 
for international visitors. 

While interstate borders remain closed and flights are limited, 
TRA expects that regional centres within driving distance 
of cities will recover first. As flights return and borders 
reopen, this recovery will extend to more far-flung regional 
destinations and interstate capitals. Over the longer term 
however, capital cities will feel the loss of international travel 
far more than other parts of the country.

Infrastructure investment
Investing in tourism is a long-term proposition, requiring 
significant time and capital from planning to approval to 
completion. Tracking the progress of these investments 
will establish how well supply is keeping up with expected 
increases in demand. 

Tourism Research Australia reported in Tourism Investment 
Monitor 2019-20 that Australia’s tourism investment pipeline 
comprised 255 projects worth $43.6 billion. Aviation accounted 
for 42 per cent of the investment ($18.2 billion), followed 
by Arts, recreation and business services (33 per cent or 
$14.3 billion) and Stand-alone Accommodation (25 per cent 
or $11.1 billion). 

NSW had the greatest share of the tourism investment 
pipeline with 66 projects valued at $14.1 billion or a third of 
Australian investments. 

Investments were mostly in the aviation ($5.6 billion), and 
the arts and recreation and business services ($5.2 billion) 
sectors. Capital city investment was $13.6 billion and regional 
investment was $555 million.

Key NSW tourism investment projects in the pipeline included 
Western Sydney Airport (Badgerys Creek) (worth $5.3 billion), 
Sydney Powerhouse Museum ($1.0 billion), Crown Sydney 
Hotel Resort ($2.2 billion). Stand-alone accommodation 
currently under construction in Sydney is worth $2.8 billion 
across 37 projects and $520 million in Regional NSW.

Management Activities  CONTINUED 
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Grants

Conference Organiser Grant Amount

ArtWalk (Port Macquarie) Port Macquarie Hastings Council $20,000

Australian Art Deco Festival (Leeton) Leeton Shire Council $20,000

Baroquefest (Canowindra) Canowindra Fine Music Inc. $10,000

Bathurst Winter Festival (Bathurst) Bathurst Regional Council $30,000

Batlow Cider Fest (Batlow) Batlow Development League $30,000

Be Welcomed by Wildlife at the Australian Wildlife Sanctuary 
(Bargo)

National Trust of Australia (NSW) $10,000

Bellingen Fine Music Festival (Bellingen) Bellingen Community Arts Council Inc. $20,000

Bellinger River Agricultural Show (Bellingen) Bellinger River Agricultural Show Society $10,000

Blue Mountains Writers Festival (Katoomba) Eleanor Dark Foundation $10,000

Boorowa Irish Woolfest (Boorowa) Hilltops Council $10,000

Breathing Space: Transformative Projections in 
the Magic Hour

Illuminart $10,000

Bungendore Street Party (Bungendore) Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional Council $10,000

Casino Beef Week (Casino) Casino Beef Week Promotions Committee Inc. $30,000

Cotton Capital Country Music Muster (Wee Waa) Cotton Capital Country Music Muster $10,000

Cowra Christmas Street Festival (Cowra) Cowra Tourism Corporation $10,000

Crank It Up (Batemans Bay) Batemans Bay Rock n Rollers $10,000

Dubbo Stampede Running Festival (Dubbo) Dubbo Running Festival Inc. $30,000

Eden Whale Festival (Eden) Eden Whale Festival $10,000

Elephant Trail Race (Port Macquarie) Coastal Sports & Fitness $20,000

Ewingar Rising (Ewingar) Ewingar Hall Committee $10,000

Flavours of Mudgee Street Festival (Mudgee) Mid-Western Regional Council $20,000

Gears & Beers Festival (Wagga Wagga) Rotary Club of Wollundry-Wagga Wagga Inc. $20,000

Glenreagh Timber Festival (Glenreagh) Glenreagh Progress Association Inc. $10,000

Regional Event Fund
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Grants  CONTINUED 

Conference Organiser Grant Amount

Grafton Jacaranda Festival (Grafton) Grafton Jacaranda Festival Inc. $30,000

Harden Kite Festival (Harden) Harden Kite Festival Committee $10,000

Hello Koalas Festival (Port Macquarie) Arts & Health Australia Pty Ltd $20,000

Lakeside Music Festival (Tuncurry) Lakeside Festival Inc. $10,000

Lost Lanes (Wagga Wagga) Wagga Wagga City Council $20,000

Love Sea Food (Port Stephens) Port Stephens Tourism Ltd $20,000

Moree on a Plate (Moree) Moree on a Plate Inc. $10,000

Motofest Wauchope (Wauchope) Wauchope Chamber of Commerce & Industry Inc. $10,000

Mullum Circus (Ringside) Festival (Mullumbimby) Spaghetti Circus $20,000

Narooma Oyster Festival (Narooma) Narooma Oyster Festival $30,000

National Cherry Festival (Young) Hilltops Council $30,000

New England Sings! (Armidale) New England Conservatorium of Music $10,000

Perricoota Pop & Pour Festival (Moama) E M Events $20,000

Peter Allen Festival (Tenterfield) Tenterfield Chamber of Tourism Industry & Business Inc. $10,000

Port Stephens Multisport Festival (Fingal Bay) Allura Pty t/a In2Adventure $20,000

Pulse of the Earth – A Festival of Regeneration (Bingara) Bingara & District Vision 2020 Inc. $10,000

ReBoot Bermagui (Bermagui) Bermagui Area Chamber of Commerce & Tourism Inc. $10,000

Rising from the Ashes – Shoalhaven Car Rally (Sussex Inlet 
to Kioloa)

St Mary Star of the Sea Parish $10,000

River Festival (North Haven) Camden Haven Chamber of Commerce, Tourism & Industry 
Inc.

$10,000

River of Art Festival (Durras Lakes to Tilba Tilba) River of Art Inc $30,000

Sculpture at Scenic World (Katoomba) Katoomba Scenic Railway Pty Ltd $30,000

Seechange Jervis Bay Arts Festival (Huskisson) Jervis Bay & Basin Arts Inc. $10,000

Spring Jam (Wagga Wagga) Wagga Wagga City Council $20,000

StoryFest (Milton) StoryFest Incorporated $20,000

Regional Event Fund  CONTINUED
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Grants  CONTINUED 

Conference Organiser Grant Amount

The Bay Games (Huskisson) HBM Creative Pty Ltd $20,000

The Clarence 100 (Copmanhurst to Yamba) Benjamin Sullivan $10,000

The End 2 End Festival (Pokolbin) Parish of Pokolbin Inc. $10,000

Trundle Show (Trundle) Trundle Pastoral & Agricultural Society $10,000

Tulip Time (Bowral) Wingecarribee Shire Council $30,000

Viking Festival – A Celebration of Scandinavian Heritage 
(Sussex Inlet)

Sussex Inlet District Chamber of Commerce $10,000

Warbirds Downunder Airshow (Temora) Temora Aviation Museum $30,000

Woodstock Memorial Show (Woodstock) Woodstock Memorial Show Inc. $10,000

Woolgoolga Blues & Berries Festival (Woolgoolga) Another Tasty Event $20,000

Woolgoolga MTB Festival (Woolgoolga) White Lightning Event Management $20,000

Write Around the Murray Festival (Albury) Albury City Council $30,000

Yours & Owls Festival (Wollongong) Yours & Owls Events Pty Ltd $20,000

TOTAL (All Amounts are GST Exclusive) $1,010,000

Event classification Events assessed Estimated visitor 
expenditure of events

Total contracted 
investment

% of events 
which met all KPIs

Arts, Entertainment & Festivals 14 $122,325,666 $6,780,455 57%

Lifestyle 16 $20,019,876 $4,159,000 75%

Sport 25 $76,023,240 $27,185,999 88%

Total 55 $218,368,782 $38,125,454 76%

Regional Event Fund  CONTINUED

Major Event Performance 2019-2020
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Financial Management

PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS

Quarter Current 
(within due date)
$

Less than 30 
days overdue
$

Between 30 and 60 
days overdue
$

Between 60 and 90 
days overdue
$

More than 90 days 
overdue
$

All Suppliers

September 2019 48,250,519 970,306 29,700 NIL NIL

December 2019 29,111,543 244,639 145,900 NIL -89

March 2020 33,756,570 3,789,830 16,597 -2,126 3,221

June 2020 25,493,790 151,035 8,343 -4,301 -9,818

Total all suppliers 136,612,422 5,155,810 200,540 -6,427 -6,686

Small Business

September 2019 474,799 86,276 NIL NIL NIL

December 2019 251,483 33,221 NIL NIL NIL

March 2020 274,718 134,612 14,725 NIL NIL

June 2020 325,406 23,914 NIL NIL NIL

Total Small Business 1,326,406 278,023 14,725 NIL NIL

All Suppliers September 2019 December 2019 March 2020 June 2020

Total no of accounts due for payment 1,565 946 1,235 1,131

No of accounts paid on time 1,503 910 1,059 1,116

% of account paid on time (based on no of accounts) 96.0% 96.2% 85.7% 98.7%

$ amount of accounts due for payment 49,250,525 29,501,993 37,564,093 25,639,049

$ amount of accounts paid on time 48,250,519 29,111,543 33,756,570 25,493,790

% of accounts paid on time (based on $ amount of 
accounts) 98.0% 98.7% 89.9% 99.4%

Number of payment for interest on overdue accounts NIL NIL NIL NIL

Interest paid on overdue accounts NIL NIL NIL NIL
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Accumulated Funds 
The deficiency of accumulated funds is consistent with the NSW Treasury approved position and results from cash management 
reforms instituted by NSW Treasury.

Investment Performance
Refer Financial Statements: Financial Instruments Note 20.

Liability Management Performance
Destination NSW has no debt greater than $20 million.

Financial Management
In FY 2019-20 there are no after Balance-Day events which have a significant effect on the financial or other operations of 
Destination NSW. 

Budgets
Refer Financial Statements: Note 18.

Implementation of Price Determination
Destination NSW is not subject to the Tribunal.

Ross Pearson 
Chief Operating Officer & Chief Financial Officer

Additional Matters: 
Annual Report Costs

Nil. Annual report produced in-house by Destination NSW Communications Division. All images and other collateral included 
in the document were sourced from the Destination NSW image library and existing resources. Printing of required compliance 
copies was undertaken in-house.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement in accordance

Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting
Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations), the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit
Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and the Financial Reporting
Directions mandated by the Treasurer;

(b) the accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position and the financial
performance of Destination NSW for the year ended 30 June 2020;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements
misleading or inaccurate.

_________________________
John Warn
Chairman

_________________________
Steve Cox
Chief Executive Officer

DESTINATION NSW

Pursuant to section 41C (1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983,  and in accordance with a resolution of 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
Destination NSW 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Destination NSW (DNSW), which comprise 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial 
Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for 
the year then ended, notes comprising a Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and other 
explanatory information of DNSW and the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity comprises 
DNSW and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of DNSW and the consolidated entity as at 
30 June 2020, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and the 
Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 

 
 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.  

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report. 

I am independent of DNSW and the consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
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Other Information 
DNSW’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 includes other information in addition to the 
financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The members of the Board of 
DNSW are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the 
other information I have received comprise the Statement by the Chair and the Chief Executive 
Officer. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Board’s Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The members of the Board are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act and for such 
internal control as the members of the Board determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the members of the Board are responsible for assessing the 
ability of DNSW and the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

Auditor’s Report  CONTINUED 
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that DNSW or the consolidated entity carried out their activities effectively, efficiently and 
economically 

• about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial 
statements 

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 
statements on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

 

Renee Meimaroglou  
Director, Financial Audit 

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

 

14 October 2020 
SYDNEY 
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Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Beginning of the audited Financial Statements

DESTINATION NSW
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2020 2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expenses excluding losses
Operating expenses
   Employee related 2(a) 21,909 21,750 21,608 - -
   Personnel services 2(b) - - - 21,909 21,608
   Other operating expenses 2(c) 102,025 106,041 155,501 102,025 155,501
Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) 1,852 2,021 128 1,852 128
Grants and subsidies 2(e) 4,694 11,347 6,927 4,694 6,927
Finance Costs 2(f) 89 - - 89
Total Expenses excluding losses 130,569 141,159 184,164 130,569 184,164

Revenue
Sale of goods and services 3(a) 234 - 474 234 474
Grants and contributions 3(b) 137,000 139,342 181,381 137,000 181,381
Other revenue 3(c) 209 - 193 209 193
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee 
benefits and other liabilities 3(d) 33 325 41 33 41

Total Revenue 137,476 139,667 182,089 137,476 182,089

Gain / (loss) on disposal 9 (2) - - (2) -

Other gains / (losses)
Other gains / (losses) 4 (1,108) - 41 (1,108) 41
Total Other gains / (losses) (1,108) - 41 (1,108) 41
Net result 19 5,797 (1,492) (2,034) 5,797 (2,034)

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income - - - - -
Total other comprehensive income - - - - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 5,797 (1,492) (2,034) 5,797 (2,034)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes

ParentConsolidated
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DESTINATION NSW

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual 
2020 2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 16,498 13,523 29,657 16,498 29,657
Receivables 7 3,154 8,773 6,930 3,154 6,930
Total Current Assets 19,652 22,296 36,587 19,652 36,587

Non-Current Assets
Financial assets at fair value 8 - - 50 - 50
Property, plant and equipment
  - Plant and equipment 9 243 287 292 243 292
Total property, plant and equipment 243 287 342 243 342
Right-of-use assets 10 4290 5790 - 4290 -
Intangible assets 11 41 41 55 41 55
Total Non-Current Assets 4,574 6,118 397 4,574 397

Total Assets 24,226 28,414 36,984 24,226 36,984

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 12 20,543 32,342 44,788 20,543 44,788
Borrowings 13 1,693 1,809 - 1,693 -
Provisions 14 3,622 3,291 3,627 3,622 3,627
Total Current Liabilities 25,858 37,442 48,415 25,858 48,415

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 13 3,861 4,165 9 3,861 9
Provisions 14 1,103 966 953 1,103 953
Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,964 5,131 962 4,964 962

Total Liabilities 30,822 42,573 49,377 30,822 49,377

Net Liabilities (6,596) (14,159) (12,393) (6,596) (12,393)

EQUITY
Accumulated funds (6,596) (14,159) (12,393) (6,596) (12,393)
Total Equity (6,596) (14,159) (12,393) (6,596) (12,393)

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes

Consolidated Parent

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2020  
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DESTINATION NSW
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Consolidated Entity Accumulated Total
Funds Equity

$000 $000
Balance at 1 July 2019 (12,393) (12,393)
Net result for the year 5,797 5,797
Total other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,797 5,797

Balance at 30 June 2020 (6,596) (6,596)

Balance at 1 July 2018 (10,359) (10,359)
Net result for the year (2,034) (2,034)

Total other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,034) (2,034)

Balance at 30 June 2019 (12,393) (12,393)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Parent Entity Accumulated Total
Funds Equity

$000 $000
Balance at 1 July 2019 (12,393) (12,393)
Net result for the year 5,797 5,797
Total other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,797 5,797

Balance at 30 June 2020 (6,596) (6,596)

Balance at 1 July 2018 (10,359) (10,359)
Net result for the year (2,034) (2,034)
Total other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,034) (2,034)

Balance at 30 June 2019 (12,393) (12,393)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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DESTINATION NSW
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2020 2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee related (21,659) (21,425) (21,220) - -
Personnel services expense - - - (21,659) (21,220)
Grants and subsidies (4,694) (11,347) (7,081) (4,694) (7,081)
Finance Costs (89) (167) - (89) -
Payments to suppliers (132,684) (110,874) (153,551) (132,684) (153,551)
Total Payments (159,125) (143,813) (181,852) (159,125) (181,852)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services 247 - 486 247 486
Grants and contributions 135,253 138,342 176,124 135,253 176,124
Other 12,102 6,670 13,147 12,102 13,147
Total Receipts 147,602 145,012 189,757 147,602 189,757
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 19 (11,524) 1,199 7,905 (11,524) 7,905

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of land and buildings, plant and 
equipment and infrastructure systems (40) (160) (159) (40) (159)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES (40) (160) (159) (40) (159)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments from Borrowings and Advances (1,596) (1,692) - (1,596) -

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES (1,596) (1,692) - (1,596) -

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH (13,159) (653) 7,746 (13,159) 7,746
Opening cash and cash equivalents 29,657 14,176 21,911 29,657 21,911
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6 16,498 13,523 29,657 16,498 29,657

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated

Notes

Parent

6 | Page

Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020  CONTINUED 



Page  104DESTINATION NSW   //   Annual Report 2019-2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DESTINATION NSW
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

● applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
●

●

●

● receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that:
the amount of GST incurred by the Group as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation
Office is recognised as part of cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense and

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Tax Office are classified as
operating cash flows.

(d) COVID-19, delayed 2020-21 NSW Budget and going concern

(e) Insurance
The Group's insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for
Government entities. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claim experience. 
(f) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Valuation of Long Service Leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits as stated in
Note 14.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency, which is the entity’s
presentation and functional currency.

(c) Statement of compliance

The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting
Interpretations. 

The Group assessed the impact on the fair value of its financial assets and recognised a credit loss, where considered 
appropriate to reflect historical credit loss evidence adjusted for forward looking economic outlook and conditions. 
Therefore, it is appropriate for the 2019-20 financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis.

(a) Reporting entity

Destination NSW is a NSW statutory body, established pursuant to the Destination NSW Act 2011. The Destination NSW Group

(the Group) comprises Destination NSW and the entity under its control, the Destination NSW Staff Agency (the Agency).

The Group is a body corporate with a board of management that has a statutory position of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) who is
responsible for the day to day management of the Group in accordance with the directions of the Board. The Group is a not-for-
profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

The Group is consolidated as part of the NSW Total Sector Accounts and falls within the NSW Treasury Cluster.

In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity consisting of the controlling and
controlled entity, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated.

The Group’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis in
accordance with:

the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983  (the Act) and Public Finance & Audit Regulation 2015 
and
Treasurer's Directions issued under the Act.

Judgements, key report assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial
statements.

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 have been authorised for issue by the Chair and Chief
Executive Officer on the date the accompanying Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer was signed.

(b) Basis of preparation

The Group's main aim is to achieve economic and social benefits for the people of New South Wales by developing tourism and
securing major events.

Under the Destination NSW Act 2011, Destination NSW cannot employ any staff but may arrange for the use of the services of
any staff (whether by way of secondment or otherwise) to enable the Group to exercise its functions. The Agency provides
personnel services to Destination NSW.

The Agency has as its head the CEO of Destination NSW and all staff reporting to the CEO.

Where reference in these notes is made to ‘Group’ it refers to the total activities of Destination NSW and the Destination NSW
Staff Agency. A reference to the ‘Parent’ relates to the activities of Destination NSW only. 

Certain financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost convention except where specified otherwise.
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DESTINATION NSW
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

•     identifying the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations
•     determining the transaction price
•     allocating the transaction price to the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations.

The entity applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers , AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities , and AASB
16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of these new accounting standards are
described below.

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in FY2019-20, but do not have an impact on the financial
statements of the entity.
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 15 supersedes AASB 111 Construction Contracts , AASB 118 Revenue  and related Interpretations and it applies, with 
limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

AASB 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when
applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires relevant
disclosures.

The following new Australian Accounting Standards are mandatorily applicable for the first time at 30 June 2020 and have not
had any material effect on the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
• AASB 1058 Income of not-for-profit entities
• AASB 2018-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Right-of-Use Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities
• AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for  Not-for-Profit Entities
• AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 
• AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities  
• AASB 2018-1 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 
• AASB 2018-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in net result.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or net results are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or net results, respectively).
(h) Comparative information
Except when an AAS permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial statements.
(i) Changes in accounting policies, including new or revised AAS
i. Effective for the first time 2019-20

The impact of applying the above practical expedients is not expected to significantly affect the financial statements.

In accordance with the transition provisions in AASB 15, the entity has adopted AASB 15 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application, i.e. 1 July 2019. The entity has used the
transitional practical expedient permitted by the standard to reflect the aggregate effect of all of the modifications that occur
before 1 July 2018 when:

(g) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the spot rate at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange
at the end of the reporting date.

8 | Page

Notes to the Financial Statements  CONTINUED



Page  106DESTINATION NSW   //   Annual Report 2019-2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DESTINATION NSW
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Lessor accounting under AASB 16 is substantially unchanged from AASB 117. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either
operating or finance leases using similar principles as in AASB 117. Therefore, AASB 16 does not have a significant impact for
leases where the entity is the lessor.

Lessee accounting

AASB 16 requires the entity to account for all leases under a single on- balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance
leases under AASB 117. As the lessee, the entity recognises a lease liability and right- of-use asset at the inception of the lease.
The lease liability is measured at the present value of the future lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The
corresponding right-of-use asset is measured at the value of the lease liability adjusted for lease payments before inception,
lease incentives, initial direct costs and estimates of costs for dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site on which it
is located.

The entity has adopted the partial retrospective option in AASB 16, where the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB 16 is
recognised on 1 July 2019 and the comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2019 are not restated.

The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially recorded on transition at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial position as at 30
June 2019. The exception is right-of-use assets that are subject to accelerated depreciation. These assets are measured at their
fair value at 1 July 2019.

Not-for-profit entities need to determine whether a transaction is/contains a donation (accounted for under AASB 1058) or a
contract with a customer (accounted for under AASB 15).

AASB 1058 requires recognition of receipt of an asset, after the recognition of any related amounts in accordance with other
Australian Accounting Standards, as income:

• when the obligations under the transfer is satisfied, for transfers to enable an entity to acquire or construct a recognisable
non- financial asset that will be controlled by the entity.
•     immediately, for all other income within the scope of AASB 1058.
In accordance with the transition provisions in AASB 1058, the entity has adopted AASB 1058 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying the standard at the date of initial application, i.e. 1 July 2019. The entity has adopted the practical
expedient in AASB 1058 whereby existing assets acquired for consideration significantly less than fair value principally to enable
the entity to further its objectives, are not restated to their fair value.

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 supersedes AASB 117 Leases , Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, Interpretation
115 Operating Leases – Incentives and Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of
a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet.

Lessor accounting

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
AASB 1058 replaces most of the existing requirements in AASB 1004 Contributions . The scope of AASB 1004 is now limited
mainly to contributions by owners (including parliamentary appropriations that satisfy the definition of a contribution by owners),
administrative arrangements and liabilities of government departments assumed by other entities.

AASB 1058 applies to income with a donation component, i.e. transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is
significantly less than fair value principally to enable a not-for-profit entity to further its objectives; and volunteer services. AASB
1058 adopts a residual approach, meaning that entities first apply other applicable Australian Accounting Standards (e.g. AASB
1004, AASB 15, AASB 16, AASB 9, AASB 137) to a transaction before recognising income.

In relation to leases that had previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under AASB 117, a lease liability is recognised at 1
July 2019 at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the
date of initial application. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 July 2019
was 1.41%.

The entity does not have any property as a lessor.

(i) Changes in accounting policies, including new or revised AAS (continued)

i. Effective for the first time in 2019-20 (continued)
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

$’000  
Assets

            7,145 
            7,145 

            7,145 
            7,145 

-
-

$’000  
          11,246 

(1,022)

          12,268 

1.41%

            7,169 

(24)

            7,145 

i. Effective for the first time in 2019-20 (continued)

ii. Issued but not yet effective
NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new AAS, unless Treasury determines otherwise.
The following new Australian Accounting Standards have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has not early adopted
any of these new standards or amendments. When applied in future periods, they are not expected to have a material impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group, unless otherwise detailed below:

Lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019

Add/(less): adjustments relating to changes in the index or rate affecting variable payments

• AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors
• AASB 2018-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 1059
• AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business
• AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material
• AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework
• AASB 2019-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Implementation of AASB 1059

Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 (GST included)

(Less): GST included in operating lease commitments

Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 (GST excluded)

Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 1 July 2019

Discounted operating lease commitments as at 1 July 2019

Total assets
Liabilities
      Borrowings  
Total liabilities
Equity
      Accumulated funds   

In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Entity has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

• not reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at 1 July 2019, for those contracts previously assessed under AASB
117 and Interpretation 4
•     applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics
• relying on its previous assessment on whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial application as an
alternative to performing an impairment review
• not recognise a lease liability and right-of-use-asset for short-term leases that end within 12 months of the date of initial
application
•     excluding the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of- use asset at the date of initial application
•     using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or terminate the lease
The effect of adoption AASB 16 as at 1 July 2019 increase/ (decrease) is, as follows:

      Property, plant and equipment     

(i) Changes in accounting policies, including new or revised AAS (continued)

The entity elected to use the practical expedient to expense lease payments for lease contracts that, at their commencement
date, have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option (short-term leases), and lease contracts for
which the underlying asset is valued at $10,000 or under when new (low-value assets).

The lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of 30 June 2019, as follows:
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2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

(a) Employee related expenses

Salaries and wages (including annual leave) 18,466 18,269 - -
Superannuation – defined benefit plans 31 39 - -
Superannuation – defined contribution plans 1,399 1,394 - -
Long service leave 168 409 - -
Workers compensation insurance 44 41 - -
Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax 1,171 1,196 - -
Redundancy Payments 391 - - -
Other - miscellaneous 239 260 - -

21,909 21,608 - -
(b) Personnel services

Personnel services - - 21,909 21,608
- - 21,909 21,608

(c) Other operating expenses include the following: 

Accommodation expenses 180 193 180 193
Administration fees 54 68 54 68
Advertising 19,733 35,257 19,733 35,257

110 103 110 103
Internal audit services 87 223 87 223
Consultancy 96 108 96 108
Contractors 8,565 7,662 8,565 7,662
Expense relating to short-term leases 1,026 - 1,026 -
Fees - events 298 494 298 494
Fees - other 4,007 4,314 4,007 4,314
Maintenance* 91 100 91 100
Motor vehicle expenses 53 56 53 56
Operating lease rental expense – minimum lease payments - 2,957 - 2,957
Other operating 4,644 4,939 4,644 4,939
Promotion 61,019 95,741 61,019 95,741
Purchases 295 521 295 521
Telecommunication 193 183 193 183
Travel 540 1,133 540 1,133
Visiting journalist accommodation and expenses 1,034 1,449 1,034 1,449

102,025 155,501 102,025 155,501
Maintenance Reconciliation

91 100 91 100

Total Maintenance expenses included in Note 2(c) 91 100 91 100
Recognition and Measurement
Maintenance expense

Insurance

Lease expense (up to 30 June 2019)
Operating leases

Lease expense (from 1 July 2019)

Consolidated Parent

Auditor’s remuneration – audit of financial statements

Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement or an
enhancement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

The Group's insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for Government
entities. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience. 

* Maintenance expense - contracted labour and other (non-
employee related), as above

Up to 30 June 2019, operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability (i.e. variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date). These payments are recognised in the year 
in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

From 1 July 2019, the Entity recognises the lease payments associated with the following types of leases as an expense on a straight-
line basis:
• Leases that meet the definition of short-term. i.e. where the lease term at commencement of the lease is 12 months or less. This 
excludes leases with a purchase option.
• Leases of assets that are valued at $10,000 or under when new.

11 | Page

Notes to the Financial Statements  CONTINUED



Page  109DESTINATION NSW   //   Annual Report 2019-2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DESTINATION NSW
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES (continued)

(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

Depreciation - Buildings 1,745 - 1,745 -
Depreciation - Plant and equipment 93 114 93 114

1,838 114 1,838 114

Amortisation of intangible assets 14 14 14 14
14 14 14 14

Recognition and Measurement
Refer to Note 9 and 11 for recognition and measurement policies on depreciation and amortisation.

(e) Grants and subsidies

Grant to other non-government bodies 4,694 6,927 4,694 6,927
4,694 6,927 4,694 6,927

f) Finance costs
Interest expense from lease liabilities 89 - 89 -

89 - 89 -

Recognition and Measurement

Finance costs consist of interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are recognised 
as expenses in the year in which they are incurred, in accordance with Treasury’s Mandate to not-for-profit NSW GGS entities.

Consolidated Parent
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3. REVENUES

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

(a) Sale of goods and services

Rendering of services:
Other services 234 474 234 474

234 474 234 474

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

(b) Grants and contributions

Grants – NSW Budget Sector Agencies       7,800          500       7,800          500 
Grant and contributions – Industry / Private Bodies             -         7,141             -         7,141 
In kind sponsorship       3,319       6,895       3,319       6,895 
Other grants and contributions with sufficiently specific performance obligations 4,269 - 4,269 -

121,612 166,845 121,612 166,845
137,000 181,381 137,000 181,381

Consolidated

Income from Government grants without sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised when the entity obtains
control over the granted assets (e.g. cash).

No element of financing is deemed present as funding payments are usually received in advance or shortly after the relevant
obligation is satisfied.

Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) is recognised when the Group obtains control over the contribution.
The Group is deemed to have assumed control when the grant is received or receivable.

Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are recognised when and only when a fair value of
those services can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Revenue from these grants and contributions is recognised based on the contribution amount specified in the funding
agreement/funding approval, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. Total funding amount in a contract is allocated to distinct performance obligations for promotional activities. 

Consolidated

Revenue from grants and contributions with sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised as when the Entity
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the promised services. This mainly relates to joint promotional activities with
the Industry. 
The entity typically satisfies its performance obligations when the promotional activity is complete.

Revenue from rendering of services with sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised as when the Entity
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the promised goods. This mainly relates to Industry participation in
workshops and trade missions. 

The entity typically satisfies its performance obligations when the activity is complete.

Until 30 June 2019

From 1 July 2019

Grants without sufficiently specific performance obligations - Principal 
Department

Until 30 June 2019

From 1 July 2019

Rendering of services

Recognition and Measurement

Recognition and Measurement

Recognition and Measurement

Parent

Parent

Rendering of services

Until 30 June 2019, income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue  and AASB 1004 Contributions .
From 1 July 2019, income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers or AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities , dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer
defined by AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers . 

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion
(based on labour hours incurred to date).
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3. REVENUES (continued)

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

(c) Other revenue

Miscellaneous 209 190 209 190
Fees - 3 - 3

209 193 209 193

(d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities

Superannuation – defined benefit 31 39 31 39
Payroll tax 2 2 2 2

33 41 33 41

(e) Deemed appropriation

•     forms part of the Consolidated Fund; and
•     is not appropriated under the authority of an Act
All payments and receipts of the Group's operations fall under the category of deemed appropriations.
This statement of cash flows reflect deemed appropriation movement for the Group.

2020 2019
$000 $000

Movement of Section 4.7 GSF Act - deemed appropriations:

Opening balance - -
Adjustment for appropriation deemed on 1 July 2019 29,657 -
Add: additions of deemed appropriations 147,602 182,011
Less: expenditure charged against deemed appropriations (160,761) (182,011)
Closing balance 16,498 -

4.   OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES)

Consolidated
2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

Other gains / (losses)
Impairment losses on Property Plant & Equipment (1,104) - (1,104) -
Unrealised loss on FX Forward contract (4) 41 (4) 41
Net gain / (loss) on fair value derivatives (1,108) 41 (1,108) 41

5.   

Destination NSW has only one service group. Details of the expenses, income, assets and liabilities for this service group are
available in the primary financial statements.

SERVICE GROUPS OF DESTINATION NSW

Section 4.7 of the Government Sector Finance (GSF) Act defines deemed appropriation money as government money that
the Group (a GSF agency) receives or recovers (including from the Commonwealth or another entity) of a kind prescribed by
the regulations that:

Consolidated Parent

The following liabilities and / or expenses have been assumed by the Crown 
Entity or other government entities:

Parent

Consolidated

The Group receives funding under appropriations from the grant funding received from NSW Treasury which receives
appropriations from the Consolidated Fund. Appropriations for each financial year are set out in the Appropriation Bill that is
prepared and tabled for that year. Due to COVID-19, the State Budget and related 2020-21 Appropriation Bill has been
delayed until November/December 2020. However, pursuant to section 4.10 of the GSF Act, the Treasurer has authorised
Ministers to spend specified amounts from Consolidated Fund. This authorisation is current from 1 July 2020 until the release
of the 2020-21 Budget or Appropriation Bill.
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6. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash at bank and on hand 16,498 29,657 16,498 29,657
16,498 29,657 16,498 29,657

Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of financial position) 16,498 29,657 16,498 29,657
Closing cash and cash equivalents (per statement of cash flows) 16,498 29,657 16,498 29,657

Refer Note 20 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.

7. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 1,505 2,452 1,505 2,452
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss (7) - (7) -
Net GST 1,656 4,336 1,656 4,336
Miscellaneous - 142 - 142

3,154 6,930 3,154 6,930

Recognition and Measurement

Subsequent measurement 

Impairment 

Consolidated Parent

Consolidated Parent

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statement of financial position are reconciled at the end of the year to
the statement of cash flows as follows:

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash on hand, and short
term deposits with original maturities of three months or less and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and net
of outstanding bank overdraft.

Details regarding credit risk of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired, are disclosed in Note 20.

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction price.

For trade receivables, the entity applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. The entity recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The entity has established a provision matrix based on its historical credit
loss experience for trade receivables, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the receivable.

The entity holds receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the
year when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process.

The entity recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt financial assets not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the
entity expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The provision matrix considered the impact of COVID-19 and recent natural disasters and took into account the
following:
• Increased credit risk associated with debtors as a result of poor trading conditions.
• Higher receivables balances (i.e. exposure at default) due to recent credit deferment policies of
Government and/or late payment.
• Lost time value of money, if contractual payment dates are extended or amounts are expected to be
received later than when contractually due.

All ‘regular way’ purchases or sales of financial asset are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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8. NON-CURRENT  - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

2020 2019 2020 Parent
$000 $000 $000 $000

NON-CURRENT
Derivative Assets - Hedge FX Forward - 50 - 50

- 50 - 50

Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value
under AASB 9.

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in net results. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at other comprehensive income are included as part of their fair value and amortised to net results
using the effective interest method.

The entity’s financial assets at fair value are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at either fair value
through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets are held for trading if acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments.

Notwithstanding the criteria to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial 
assets may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly 
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
A gain or loss on a financial asset that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in net 
results and presented net within other gains/(losses), except for TCorpIM Funds that are presented in ‘investment revenue’ 
in the year in which it arises.

Refer to Note 20 for further information regarding fair value measurement, credit risk, and market risk arising from financial
instruments.

All ‘regular way’ purchases or sales of financial asset are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Consolidated Parent

Recognition and Measurement
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9.                   NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(a) Total property, plant and equipment

Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent
$000 $000 $000 $000

At 1 July 2019 - fair value
Gross carrying amount               4,678           4,678               4,678           4,678 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (4,386) (4,386) (4,386) (4,386)
Net carrying amount 292 292 292 292

At 30 June 2020 - fair value                     -                   -   
Gross carrying amount               4,699           4,699 4,699           4,699 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (4,456) (4,456) (4,456) (4,456)
Net carrying amount 243 243 243 243

Consolidated and Parent Plant and 
Equipment Total

$000 $000
Net carrying amount
Net carrying amount at start of year 292 292
Purchases of assets 40 40
Disposals (2) (2)
Depreciation expense – asset owned (86) (86)
Net carrying amount at end of year 243 243

Recognition and Measurement
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Capitalisation thresholds

Major inspection costs

Restoration costs

Plant and equipment                      1-8 years

From 1 July 2019 property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases , that is effective from that date. Further information 
on right-of-use assets is at Note 10.

Plant and Equipment Total

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current reporting period is set out 
below.

Default asset class lives are:

Each class of asset has a default life which may be varied as a result of management review either at acquisition or at any time during the asset life. 

Depreciation rates are reviewed and determined on an annual basis.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

All material separately identifiable components of assets are depreciated over their shorter useful lives.

Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent, i.e. deferred payment amount is effectively
discounted over the period of credit.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually (or forming part of a network costing more than $5,000) are
capitalised.

When a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition
criteria are satisfied.

The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if
the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets including original artworks and collections and heritage buildings may not have a limited useful
life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to depreciation. The decision not to recognise
depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or
construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other AAS.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
measurement date.

Except for certain non-depreciable assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable
amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the entity.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.
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9. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

Right-of-Use Assets acquired by lessees (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)
From 1 July 2019, AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset for most leases. The entity has elected to present
right-of-use assets separately in the Statement of Financial Position.

Therefore, at that date property, plant and equipment recognised under leases previously treated as finance leases under AASB 117 are 
derecognised. The right-of-use assets arising from these leases are recognised and included in the separate line item together with those right-of-
use assets arising from leases previously treated as operating leases under AASB 117.

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible, legally permissible and
financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and take into account the characteristics of the asset
being measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the
highest and best use is the existing use. In limited circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no
restrictions on use or where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.

Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participants’ perspective, using valuation techniques (market approach, cost
approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable inputs. Also refer to Note 20 for further
information regarding fair value.

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is
transferred to accumulated funds.

Further information on leases is contained in Note 10.

For those right-of-use assets under leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the entity to further its
objectives, the entity has elected to measure the asset at cost. These right-of-use assets are not subject to revaluation.
Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to revaluation surplus in equity. However, to the extent that an
increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of the same class of asset previously recognised as a loss in the net result, the increment is
recognised immediately as a gain in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, except to the extent that it offsets an existing revaluation surplus on
the same class of assets, in which case, the decrement is debited directly to the revaluation surplus.
As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class of non-current assets, but not
otherwise.
When revaluing non-current assets using the cost approach, the gross amount and the related accumulated depreciation are separately restated.
Where the income approach or market approach is used, accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and
the net amount restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end.

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the entity estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. After an impairment loss has been recognised,
it is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. The reversal is limited so that
the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the net result.

COVID-19 pandemic impacted the Group throughout the 2019-20 financial year. The Group has therefore undertaken an impairment assessment for
the ROU assets, to determine whether the carrying amount exceeded their recoverable amount. Impacted assets were written down to their
recoverable amounts by reference to the asset’s value in use and an impairment loss is recognised in ‘Gains / (Losses)’ in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

The Group recognised impairment losses of $1.104 million for ROU assets relating to various office leases in the current financial year. The
recoverable amounts of the ROU assets for which an impairment loss has been recognised is based on the cumulative net market rent forecast
changes, which is a published information by Property NSW.

Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the 'Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value' Policy and Guidelines Paper
(TPP14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13, AASB 116 and AASB 140 Investment Property .
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10.
a. Entity as a lessee

Right-of-use assets under leases

Buildings Plant & 
Equipment Total

$000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2019 7,125 20 7,145
Additions - - -
Depreciation expense (1,745) (6) (1,751)
Impairment (1,104) - (1,104)
Balance at 30 June 2020 4,276 14 4,290

Lease liabilities

$000

Balance at 1 July 2019 7,145
Additions -
Interest expenses 89
Payments (1,685)
Balance at 30 June 2020 5,550

$000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 1,752
Interest expense on lease liabilities 89
Expense relating to short-term leases 1,026
Total amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 2,867

Operating 
Lease

Finance 
Lease

$000 $000

Within one year 2,480 -
Later than one year and not later than five years 8,766 -
Later than five years - -
Total (including GST) 11,246 -
Less: GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office 1,022 -
Total (excluding GST) 10,224 -

The entity leases various properties and motor vehicles. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 5 years, but may have extension
options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. The entity does not provide residual value guarantees
in relation to leases.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases. These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing contracts. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the entity and not by the respective lessor. In
determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or
not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances
occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.

The entity has elected to recognise payments for short-term leases and low value leases as expenses on a straight-line basis, instead of recognising
a right-of-use asset and lease liability. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low value assets are assets with a fair
value of $10,000 or less when new.

The following table presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property.

LEASES

The entity recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

The following table presents liabilities under leases, including leases in respect of investment properties.

The entity had total cash outflows for leases of $2.056m in FY2019-20.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases as at 30 June 2019 are, as follows:

Recognition and measurement (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)

The entity assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2020 in respect of leases where the
entity is the lessee:
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10.

• Motor vehicles and other equipment 3 years

LEASES (continued)

Recognition and measurement (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019) (continued)

ii. Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the entity recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term.

i. Right-of-use assets
The entity recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are initially measured at the amount of initial measurement of the lease liability (refer ii below), adjusted by any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or
restoring the site.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

• Land and buildings 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the entity at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation
is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

• fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case

for the entity’s leases, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the entity would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary

to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease
payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

• amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees;
• exercise price of a purchase options reasonably certain to be exercised by the entity; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the entity exercising the option to terminate.

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

iv. Leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the entity to further its objectives

The initial and subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets under leases at significantly below-market terms and conditions that are entered into 

principally to enable the entity to further its objectives is same as normal right-of-use assets. They are measured at cost, subject to impairment.

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the inception of the lease.
The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset (or assets), even if that asset (or those assets) is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Until 30 June 2019, a lease was classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the entity was classified as a finance lease.
Where a non-current asset was acquired by means of a finance lease, at the commencement of the lease, the asset was recognised at its fair value
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability was established at the same amount. Lease payments
were apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability. Finance charges were recognised in finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases was depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable
certainty that the entity will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset was depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of
the asset and the lease term.

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments were recognised as an operating expense in the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Recognition and measurement (under AASB 117 until 30 June 2019)

The entity’s lease liabilities are included in borrowings.
iii. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The entity applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease payments include:
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11. INTANGIBLE  ASSETS
 

Software
Consolidated Parent

$000 $000
At 1 July 2019
Cost (gross carrying amount) 140 140
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (85) (85)
Net carrying amount 55 55

Year ended 30 June 2020
Cost (gross carrying amount) 140 140
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (99) (99)
Net carrying amount 41 41

Year ended 30 June 2020
Net carrying amount at start of year 55 55
Additions / transfers - -
Disposals / revaluations / transfers - -
Amortisation (recognised in ‘depreciation and amortisation’) (14) (14)
Net carrying amount at end of year 41 41

At 1 July 2018
Cost (gross carrying amount) 140 140
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (71) (71)
Net Carrying amount 69 69

Year ended 30 June 2019
Cost (gross carrying amount) 140 140
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (85) (85)
Net Carrying amount 55 55

At 1 July 2019
Net carrying amount at start of year 69 69
Additions / transfers - -
Disposals / revaluations / transfers - -
Amortisation (recognised in ‘depreciation and amortisation’) (14) (14)
Net carrying amount at end of year 55 55

Recognition and Measurement

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a
prospective basis.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount and the reduction is recognised as an impairment loss.

The Group recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be

measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value as at

the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is an active market. If

there is no active market for the Group's intangible assets, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

All research costs are expensed. Development costs are only capitalised when certain criteria are met. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be finite.  The Group's intangible assets are amortised using the straight line method over their useful lives. 
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12. CURRENT LIABILITIES - PAYABLES

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 454 340 - -
Unearned income 441 455 441 455
Personnel services - - 454 340
Creditors 19,648 43,993 19,648 43,993

20,543 44,788 20,543 44,788

Recognition and Measurement

13. CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS

2020 2019 2020 2019

$000 $000 $000 $000

Current - Lease liability (see Note 10) 1,693 - 1,693 -
Non-Current - Derivatives 4 9 4 9
Non-Current - Lease Liability (see Note 10) 3,857 - 3,857 -

5,554 9 5,554 9

Consolidated Parent

Details regarding liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 20.

Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group and other amounts. Short-term payables with no
stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
Payables are financial liabilities at amortised cost, initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised net
result when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Details regarding liquidity risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 20.

Recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The changes in fair value of liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in profit or loss with the
exception that movements in fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk are recorded in other comprehensive income
and do not get recycled to net result.

Consolidated Parent

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Borrowings classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in net result when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group enters into a small number of FX forward contracts with TCorp from time to time to manage its exposure to foreign
exchange rate arising from operational activities. 
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14.

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Annual leave 1,645 1,372 - -
Long service leave 1,965 2,254 - -
Other on-costs 12 1 - -
Personnel services provision - - 3,622 3,627
Total current provisions 3,622 3,627 3,622 3,627

NON-CURRENT
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Long service leave 688 538 688 538

688 538 688 538
Other provisions
Restoration costs 415 415 415 415

415 415 415 415
Total non-current provisions 1,103 953 1,103 953

Note:

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs
Provisions – current 3,622 3,627 - -
Provisions – non-current 688 538 - -
Personnel services payable (Note 6.) - - - -
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 6.) 454 340 - -

4,764 4,505 - -

Movements in provisions (other than employee benefits)
Restoration costs
Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 415 482 415 482
Amounts used - (67) - (67)
Carrying amount at end of financial year 415 415 415 415

Annual leave

Long service leave

Recognition and Measurement
Employee benefits and related on-costs Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave

The liability at 30 June 2020 was $2,653,000 (2019: $2,792,000). This is based on leave entitlements at 30 June 2020.

Consolidated Parent

1) Provision for Make Good: - Destination NSW has exercised option to extend the lease and the earliest exit date is 1 July 2023.

Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave balance plus the annual leave
entitlements accrued while taking annual leave (calculated using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual leave) can be used to
approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The entity has assessed the actuarial advice based on the entity’s
circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a
current liability even where the entity does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the future
will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee  Benefits  (although short-cut methods are permitted).

Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts
of the benefits.

The liability at 30 June 2020 was $1,645,000 (2019: $1,372,000). This is based on leave entitlements at 30 June 2020.
The value of annual leave expected to be taken within 12 months is $411,000 (2019: $338,000) and $1,234,000 (2019:
$1,034,000) after 12 months.

Consolidated Parent

CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
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14.

Long service leave and superannuation 

Consequential on-costs

Other provisions

15. EQUITY

Accumulated funds

16. COMMITMENTS 

(a) Capital commitments

As at 30 June 2020 Destination NSW had no capital commitments (2019: Nil).

17. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

18.

Net Result

Assets and liabilities  

Cash flows

The consolidated actual net result for 2020 has a favourable variance to budget $7.3m. This was primarily due to lower than
budgeted expenditure in the last quarter $10.6m, lower than budgeted revenue of $2.2m and a Right of Use Asset impairment of
$1.1m. These factors were mainly attributable to the impacts of COVID-19 as a number of promotional activities were postponed
as a result of border closures, travel bans and mass gathering bans.

The net liabilities are $7.5m lower than budget. Current assets are lower than budget $2.6m predominately due to higher cash
and cash equivalents $3.0m and lower receivables $5.6m. 

The net decrease in cash of $13.2m has a variance to budget of $12.5m. This is primarily due to total payments being higher
than budget $15.3m and total receipts being higher than budget by $2.6m.
Higher payments relate to previous year payables which were higher than the current year payables as a result of reduced
activities in the last quarter due to the impacts of COVID -19.

The Group is not aware of the existence of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at balance date (2019: NIL).

BUDGET  REVIEW
The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates
variations to the planned activities of the Group for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities. Major
variations between the budget and actual amounts are outlined below.                                                                                                           

Total liabilities are $11.8m lower than budget due to lower payables $11.8m.

The variances of both current assets and net liabilities to budget were due to reduced expenditure on promotional activities in the 
June quarter of the financial year. Program activities were curtailed due to restrictions on travel and mass gatherings which 
resulted in a significant reduction in activity in the NSW Visitor Economy.

The category 'accumulated funds' includes all current and prior period retained funds.

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating
to a provision is presented net of any reimbursement in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Any provision for restructuring is recognised only when the Group has a detailed formal plan and the Group has raised a valid
expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected.

Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided up
to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage and
salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using
Commonwealth government bond rate at the reporting date.

Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they relate
have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe
benefits tax.

The Group's liability for defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The Group accounts for the liability as
having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as
'Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities'. 

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s Directions.
The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the
employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation
Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS (continued)
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19. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

Net Cash used on operating activities (11,524) 7,905 (11,524) 7,905
Depreciation and amortisation (1,852) (128) (1,852) (128)
Decrease / (increase) in provisions (145) (322) (145) (322)
Increase / (decrease) in receivables (3,777) (1,824) (3,777) (1,824)
Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets (50) (307) (50) (307)
Decrease / (increase) in creditors 24,249 (7,358) 24,249 (7,358)

(1,104) - (1,104) -
Net Result 5,797 (2,034) 5,797 (2,034)

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial Instrument Categories

Financial Assets Note Category
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying
Amount Amount Amount Amount

2020 2019 2020 2019
Class: $000 $000 $000 $000

6 N/A 16,498 29,657 16,498 29,657

7 Amortised cost 1,498 2,594 1,498 2,594
8 Fair value through profit and loss - 50 - 50

17,996 32,301 17,996 32,301

Payables2 12 Financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost 20,102 44,333 20,102 44,333

Payables3 13 Fair value through profit and loss 4 9 4 9
20,106 44,342 20,106 44,342

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7).
3. Derivative Financial Instruments

(b) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

(c) Financial risks 
(i) Credit risk

Cash and cash equivalents

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group transfers 
the financial asset:

 -  where the Group has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the Group has not retained control.

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 -  where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or

Receivables1

Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets3

Where the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset is recognised 
to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the asset.

Consolidated

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set risk
limits and controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee on a continuous basis.

The Group's main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Group's objectives, policies and processes
for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Group's principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Group's operations or
are required to finance the Group's operations. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.

Other gain / (loss)

ParentConsolidated

Parent

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System. No interest is earned by Destination NSW
on bank balances.
No interest is earned on the overseas advance accounts.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Group's debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss
to the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any
allowance for impairment).
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, including cash, receivables, and authority deposits. No collateral is held by the
Group. The Group has not granted any financial guarantees.

Credit risk associated with the Group's financial assets, other than receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and
establishment of minimum credit rating standards.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Financial risks (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Authority Deposits
The Group has no funds placed on deposit with TCorp.
Other Facilities

The Group has access to the following banking facilities:
2020 2019
$000 $000

Citibank Limit 1,200 1,200

(ii) Liquidity risk

Consolidated and Parent
Weighted Nominal Fixed Int. Variable Int. Non-interest < 1 yr 1 - 5 > 5 yrs

Average Amount1 Rate                              Bearing yrs
Effective

Int. Rate (%) $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2020
Payables -               20,102 - - 20,102 20,102 - -
Derivatives* -               4 - - 4 - 4 -
Lease liabilities 1.41           5,550 5,550 - - 1,693 3,857 -

25,656 5,550 - 20,106 21,795 3,861 -

2019
Payables -               44,333 - - 44,333 44,333 - -
Derivatives* -               9 - - 9 - 9 -

44,342 - - 44,342 44,333 9 -

Notes:
1.

The Group is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of 

Accounting policy for impairment of trade debtors and other financial assets

Receivables - trade debtors

Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the
Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts, including letters of demand.
The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade debtors.

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows and
therefore will not reconcile to the statement of financial position.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments, 
together with the interest rate exposure.

* Relating to FX contract exposure that will be settled in January 2022.

Liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts
owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11-12. For small business
suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered invoice.
For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which
the invoice or a statement is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified time period,
simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the Board
may automatically pay the supplier simple interest. The rate of interest applied during the year was 0% (2019: 0%).

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Group continuously
manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high quality liquid assets.
The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans and other advances.

During the current year and prior year, there were no defaults of borrowing. No assets have been pledged as collateral. The Group's
exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk.

Interest Rate exposure Maturity Dates
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Financial risks (continued)
(iii) Market risk

Interest rate risk

Group and Parent Carrying Amount
$000

-1% +1% -1% +1%

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16,498 - - - -

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 29,657 - - - -

Other price risk - TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities
The Group holds no units in Hour-Glass investment trusts.
Foreign exchange risk

(d) Fair value measurement

●

●
●

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

Management assessed that cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables and other current liabilities
approximate their fair values, largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

ii.  Fair value recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the
use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the entity categorises, for disclosure purposes, the valuation techniques based on
the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date.
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 – inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. 

The effect on net result and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for
interest rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into
account the economic environment in which the Group operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the
next annual reporting period). The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposure in existence at the financial position date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2019. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

i. Fair value compared to carrying amount

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily through the entity’s interest-bearing liabilities. This risk is
minimised by undertaking mainly fixed rate borrowings, primarily with NSW TCorp. The Group does not account for any fixed
rate financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as at fair value through other comprehensive income or available-
for-sale. Therefore, for these financial instruments, a change in interest rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. A
reasonably possible change of +/- 1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates (based on official RBA interest rate
volatility over the last five years). The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the
level of interest rate volatility.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that a business’s financial performance or position will be affected by fluctuations in the
exchange rates between currencies.

Foreign exchange risk, if not identified and managed appropriately, can have significant financial impacts for Government
Entities and the State as a whole. These impacts mostly flow from the sale or purchase of international goods or services due
to the inherent volatility of foreign exchange markets. 

The Group has entered into a FX forward arrangement to comply with TPP 18-03 Foreign Exchange Risk policy. The unrealised
loss of $0.004m has been disclosed in Note 4.

2020 2019
$000 $000
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21. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

Entity Nature of Transaction
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment Provides administrative, secretarial support and operational assistance
Ambulance Service of NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Art Gallery of NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Barangaroo Delivery Authority Provides support services to facilitate events
Botanic Gardens Trust Provides support services to facilitate events
Crown Solicitors Office of NSW Provides legal advice
Department of Premier & Cabinet Provides support services to facilitate events
Fire and Rescue NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Government Records Repository Provides support services to facilitate events
Insurance for NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Museum of Applied Arts & Sciences Provides support services to facilitate events
NSW Police Force Provides support services to facilitate events
Office of Sport Provides support services to facilitate events
Place Management NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Property NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Revenue NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust Provides support services to facilitate events
Sydney Olympic Park Authority Provides support services to facilitate events
Sydney Opera House Trust Provides support services to facilitate events
TAFE NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
The Audit Office of NSW Provision of independent audit services of financial statements
The Treasury Provision of grants and administrative services.
Transport for NSW Provides support services to facilitate events
Cluster grants (refer to Note 3b)
Personnel services (refer to Note 2b)

22. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

End of the audited Financial Statements

Except as disclosed, during the year the Group did not enter into any transactions with key management personnel, their close
family members and controlled or jointly controlled entities thereof.

During the period, the Group entered into transactions with other entities that are controlled / jointly controlled / significantly
influenced by NSW Government. These transactions in aggregate are a significant portion of the Group's sale of goods /
rendering of services / receiving of services.

The following are a list of NSW Government entities with whom the Group had collectively material transactions, but not 
individually, during the 2020 financial year.

During the year, the Group incurred $1,392,000 (2019: $1,183,899) in respect of the key management personnel services that is
provided by Destination NSW Staff Agency, a controlled entity of the Group.

There are no events subsequent to the balance date that affect the financial information disclosed in these financial statements.
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SYDNEY OFFICE

Level 2, 
88 Cumberland Street, 
The Rocks, Sydney, 
NSW 2000 
Tel: +61 2 9931 1111 
Fax: + 61 2 9931 1490

Business hours: 
8:30am-5:00pm Monday to Friday

Postal address: 
GPO Box 7050, Sydney NSW 2001

CORPORATE EMAIL & WEBSITE

info@dnsw.com.au 
destinationnsw.com.au

CONSUMER WEBSITES

sydney.com 
visitnsw.com 
vividsydney.com

INTERNATIONAL OFFICES

United Kingdom Office 
Level 6, Australia Centre Strand, 
London, WC2B 4LG, UNITED KINGDOM 
Tel: +44 20 7438 4643 
Fax: +44 20 7240 6690

Germany Office 
Neue Mainzer Strasse 22 D 
60311 Frankfurt, GERMANY 
Tel: + 49 (0) 69 2740 0698 
Fax: +49 (0) 69 2740 0640

North America Office 
2029 Century Park East, 
Suite 3150, Los Angeles, CA 90067, 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Tel: +1 310 695 3235 
Fax: +1 310 641 1655

New Zealand Office 
Part Level 1, 20 Beaumont Street 
Auckland 1010 NEW ZEALAND 
Tel: +64 9 307 7040 
Fax: +64 9 930 6886

INTERNATIONAL OFFICES  CONTINUED

NORTH ASIA

Shanghai Office 
Room 4303, Level 43 CITIC Square 
1168 Nanjing Road West, Shanghai 200040 
P. R. CHINA 
Tel: +86 21 5292 8833 
Fax: +86 21 5292 5557

Beijing Office 
Destination NSW 
Unit 1486, Level 14, China World Office 1, 
1 Jianguomenwai Avenue, 
Chaoyang District, Beijing, P. R. CHINA 
Tel: +86 10 6535 0330 
Fax: +86 10 6535 1099

Chengdu Office 
Destination NSW 
Unit 17-29, Level 17, Raffles City, Tower 2, 
No.3 Section 4, South Renmin Road, 
Wuhou District, Chengdu 610041, P. R. CHINA 
Tel: 86 28 6511 2838 
Fax: 86 28 6511 8199

Guangzhou Office 
Unit A2, Level 10, Development Centre 
3 Linjiang Dadao, Pearl River New Town, 
Guangzhou, PRC, 510623 
Tel: +86 20 3785 3009  

Hong Kong Office 
Room 2405 
24/F Harbour Centre, No 25 Harbour Road 
Wanchai 
HONG KONG 
Tel: +852 2531 3889 
Fax: +852 2877 0387

Destination NSW Representative Office – South Korea 
Rm #1105, Dong-A BD 117, Namdaemun-ro 
Jung-gu, Seoul, SOUTH KOREA 
Tel: +82 2779 2950

Japan Office 
12F Sanno Park Tower 
2-11-1 Nagata-cho, Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo 100-6112, JAPAN 
Tel: +81 3 6550 8061 
Fax: +81 3 6550 8064

SOUTH AND SOUTH-EAST ASIA

Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia Office 
#08-01A United Square 101 Thomson Rd, 
Singapore 307591, SINGAPORE 
Tel: +65 6253 3888 
Fax: +65 6352 4888

India 
No 85, 3 North Avenue (Building 3), 
Maker Maxity, Bandra Kurla Complex, 
Bandra (E), Mumbai – 400051, INDIA 
Tel: +91 22 6770 3034
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	30 November 2020 
	Dear Minister, 
	We are pleased to submit the Annual Report of Destination NSW for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 for presentation to the NSW Parliament. 
	This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984,the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Regulation 2015, the Government Sector Employment Act 2013, the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 
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	John Warn    Steve CoxChairman    CEO
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	figure
	The 2019-2020 financial year was the most turbulent and challenging period for the NSW tourism industry since the establishment of Destination NSW in 2011. 
	The 2019-2020 financial year was the most turbulent and challenging period for the NSW tourism industry since the establishment of Destination NSW in 2011. 
	The year started positively with the Tourism Satellite Accounts reporting the highest levels of tourism employment, tourism Gross State Product and tourism Gross Value Add in NSW for more than a decade. The State also continued to track ahead of target to achieve the 2020 goal of doubling overnight visitor expenditure with record results in the September and December 2019 quarters.
	Throughout 2019-2020, the organisation found itself operating in a challenging environment as it responded to natural disasters including prolonged drought, floods, extensive and widespread bushfires and most recently the COVID-19 pandemic. These factors affected the program of work, which remained fluid providing flexibility to react to industry needs while continuing to drive growth in the key metrics of expenditure, visitors and nights.
	The organisation demonstrated a high level of resilience in its coordinated response to implementing initiatives to support the visitor economy and the broader government sector, with Destination NSW lending a hand on a number of NSW Treasury projects to combat the COVID-19 pandemic.
	All of these initiatives were delivered despite ongoing uncertainty around the organisation’s funding arrangements, which forced Destination NSW to reduce or discontinue some activities and divert its available budget to recovery activities. 
	In addition, Destination NSW experienced organisational change in 2019-2020, commencing with the departure of long term CEO Sandra Chipchase. I thank Sandra for her contribution to NSW tourism and major events over her eight-year tenure, which delivered many outstanding achievements and shaped Destination NSW into a dynamic organisation that has delivered multiple firsts for NSW and Australia.
	It was a pleasure to work with Stephen Mahoney as acting CEO through late 2019 and early 2020. Stephen assumed this role during an unprecedented period for Destination NSW as the State endured a bushfire season unlike anything we had seen before and the early stages of a global pandemic. His leadership during this time was instrumental in bringing the team together to deliver a range of activities, including the development of a multi-faceted tourism recovery program that continues to evolve to meet the nee
	The recruitment of Steve Cox as the new Destination NSW CEO marks a new era for the organisation and I welcome his appointment. Steve commenced his role on 4 May 2020, since which time he has driven the team to develop new strategies and projects to shape the future of the NSW visitor economy, including an update of the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030, which will serve as the industry’s tourism recovery blueprint. We all look forward to Steve’s impact to the NSW visitor economy and tourism sector.
	I thank the Hon. Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney for his ongoing support of Destination NSW and his work to represent the NSW tourism industry. 
	I would also like to thank the Treasury team, in particular Secretary, Mike Pratt and Deputy Secretary, Kim Curtain for their continued assistance in enabling Destination NSW to make a strong contribution to the NSW economy. As always, the contribution of the Destination NSW Board has been invaluable in guiding the organisation, and supporting the team during this exceptional year. 
	2019-2020 was not an easy year, the response from everyone at Destination NSW was overwhelming, highlighting the passion and commitment of all our staff in making sure that NSW can recover and remain Australia’s number one visitor economy. 
	I look forward to better times ahead and to working with the Minister, the Board, the Executive team and the broader Destination NSW team to get the NSW visitor economy back to its best.
	Big thanks to all those in our industry, from right across the state and all our wonderful regions, for your hard work, commitment and tenacity.
	Bright times are ahead.
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	About Destination NSW
	About Destination NSW

	Established under the Destination NSW Act 2011 as the lead Government agency for the NSW tourism and major events sector, its charter is to achieve economic and social benefits for the people of NSW through the development of tourism and the securing of major events.
	Established under the Destination NSW Act 2011 as the lead Government agency for the NSW tourism and major events sector, its charter is to achieve economic and social benefits for the people of NSW through the development of tourism and the securing of major events.
	Destination NSW was established through the merger of four Government-funded entities – Tourism NSW, Events NSW, the Homebush Motor Racing Authority and the Greater Sydney Partnership – into a single entity.
	As a Public Service Executive Agency, Destination NSW is governed by a Board of Management and is subject to the control and direction of the Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney. It is principally funded by the NSW Government and is part of a cluster of agencies under the responsibility of the Secretary of the NSW Treasury.
	Role
	Destination NSW is responsible for devising and implementing strategies to grow the State’s visitor economy. Its particular focus is on driving tourism and acquiring and developing major sporting and cultural events for Sydney and regional NSW. In addition, Destination NSW is the major investor in Business Events Sydney with the aim of securing more international conventions, incentive travel reward programs, corporate events and exhibitions for Sydney and regional NSW.
	Vision
	To make Sydney and NSW one of the world’s most successful tourism and events destinations.
	Mission
	To double overnight visitor expenditure by 2030 and maximise the benefits of the visitor economy for NSW.
	Strategic Objectives

	1. Position Sydney and NSW as world leading tourism and events destinations.
	1. Position Sydney and NSW as world leading tourism and events destinations.

	2. Attract and secure high-value major events.
	2. Attract and secure high-value major events.

	3. Build a sustainable events calendarfor NSW.
	3. Build a sustainable events calendarfor NSW.
	 


	4. Increase industry stakeholder and customer engagement.
	4. Increase industry stakeholder and customer engagement.

	5. Deliver value in partnership /co-operative programs.
	5. Deliver value in partnership /co-operative programs.
	 


	6. Develop and sustain a high-performance organisation.
	6. Develop and sustain a high-performance organisation.

	7. Maximise yield and dispersal from the Visitor Economy.
	7. Maximise yield and dispersal from the Visitor Economy.

	8. Implement the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan.
	8. Implement the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan.

	About Destination NSW  
	About Destination NSW  
	CONTINUED


	Importance of the Visitor Economyto New South Wales
	Importance of the Visitor Economyto New South Wales
	 

	The term ‘visitor economy’ includes businesses and communities that benefit from the direct and indirect economic activity generated through the wide range of initiatives that support the provision of goods and services to overnight visitors including, but not limited to, leisure, business, events, food and wine, arts and cultural, nature and student visitors.
	The visitor economy contributes $46.5 billion to the State’s economy and supports 191,800 direct jobs. In the year ended June 2020, NSW welcomed 95.4 million visitors and currently leads all Australian States and Territories in terms of visitor numbers, nights and expenditure.
	Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan
	In December 2012, the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan (the NSW Government response to the NSW Visitor Economy Taskforce Report) was released supporting the majority of recommendations made by the Taskforce.
	The Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan outlined the whole-of-government commitment to the NSW visitor economy and a long-term strategy to achieve the NSW Government’s target of doubling overnight visitor expenditure to NSW by 2020.
	The updated Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 was released by the NSW Government in August 2018 and contains 34 recommendations to drive the NSW visitor economy to 2020 and beyond.
	Destination NSW is assisting in the implementation of the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 and delivering activities that will contribute to the new targets set by the NSW Government of achieving $20 billion in visitor expenditure in rural and regional NSW by 2025, rising to $25 billion by 2030 and tripling overnight visitor expenditure in NSW by 2030.
	Working with Industry
	Working with Industry

	Destination NSW works with industry and government stakeholders to realise its vision of making Sydney and NSW one of the world’s most successful tourism and events destinations. The value of the contribution made by tourism and major events to the economy and local communities is undeniable and by working with industry stakeholders, Destination NSW can undertake a wide range of activities that increase the profile of Sydney and NSW in key domestic and international markets.
	Services
	The services offered by Destination NSW include:
	• Brand development and management
	• Strategic partnership programs
	• Market research and insights
	• Destination development assistance
	• Product development advisory service
	• Market and business development programs
	• Destination and event marketing
	• Co-operative marketing and publicity programs
	• Major event investment, acquisition and evaluation
	• Event leveraging activities
	• Regional conferencing acquisition and promotion
	• Visitor resources and information
	• Visual resources – footage and photography
	• Funding for regional events and tourism activities.
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	John Warn
	John Warn
	  GAICD, FIML, FCSIA, SEP (Chairman)

	John Warn was appointed Chairman of Destination NSW in July 2018. He has had an extensive career across executive search, business consulting, sport, tourism and in the Australian and New Zealand retail property industry spanning over 25 years. He has held senior roles most recently with Odgers Berndtson as Head of Sport, Media & Entertainment, and previously with Scentre Group (Westfield) from 2010 - 2018, after serving in the senior executive team at David Jones. John also previously worked in specialty r
	In addition to his executive career, John has held a number of other non-executive roles. He was appointed as the youngest ever Chairman of Cricket NSW, one of the larger not-for-profit sporting bodies in Australia, holding the Chair role from early 2013 to June 2018, after joining the board in late 2012. John oversaw a period of significant strategic change, transformation and success, winning every possible title for both male and female categories. John also presently sits on the Board of Mainbrace Const
	In mid-2020, as COVID-19 was unfolding, he was appointed as the NSW Government’s Chair of the NSW Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 Taskforce, a cross industry group aimed at ensuring NSW built a robust whole of Government tourism industry plan with specific economic targets through to 2030.
	John completed the well-regarded Stanford Executive Program at Stanford University GSB in Silicon Valley in 2015. He is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Managers and Leaders and a Fellow of the Customer Service Institute of Australia. John has also supported various charities, in non-executive capacities, including the Happy Days Inc. in Cambodia, the SEP Alumni Scholarship Foundation (USA) from 2015 - 2017 and he also served a brief term o
	Russell Balding
	  AO, BBus, DipTech (Comm), FCPA, 
	MAICD (Deputy Chairman)

	Russell Balding is Chairman of Racing NSW, Deputy Chairman of Racing Australia Limited, Deputy Chairman of Destination NSW, and a Director of The Trust Company (Sydney Airport) Limited. Russell also Chairs Destination NSW’s Audit and Risk Committee. 
	Russell served on the Board of Cabcharge Australia Limited for over five years, including as its Chairman for over two years. 
	Previously, Mr Balding Chaired the Visitor Economy Taskforce, established by the NSW Government to develop a tourism and events strategy to double overnight visitor expenditure to NSW by 2020. Russell also served on the Board of the former Government tourism body, Tourism NSW.
	In June 2011, Russell retired as Chief Executive Officer of the Sydney Airport Corporation after a five year appointment where he oversaw the continued growth and commercial success of Australia’s National Gateway Airport. 
	Russell is a former Managing Director of the Australian Broadcasting Corporation (ABC). Prior to joining the ABC, Russell was Director of Finance at the NSW Roads andTraffic Authority. 
	 

	Russell holds a Diploma in Technology (Commerce) and a Bachelor of Business. Russell is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, a Fellow of CPA Australia and a past State President of that organisation. Russell was awarded an Order of Australia in January 2007.
	David Baffsky
	  AO, LLB

	David Baffsky is Honorary Chairman (formerly Executive Chairman between 1993 and 2008) of Accor Asia Pacific, the largest hotel management company in the Asia Pacific region. He is Chairman of Ariadne Australia Ltd and Chairman of Investa Property Group.  
	Amongst previous roles, Mr Baffsky was a Board Member of Sydney Olympic Park Authority, The George Institute and the Australian Brandenburg Orchestra. He was a Trustee of the Art Gallery of NSW, Chairman of Voyages Indigenous Tourism Ltd and a Director of the Indigenous Land Corporation. He was a Director of SATS Limited (Singapore) and Chairman of FASSCO International (Australia) Pty Ltd. He was a member of the Business Government Advisory Group on National Security and the Commonwealth Government’s Nation
	David is a life member of the Tourism Taskforce. 
	In 2007, David was appointed to the Commonwealth Government’s Northern Australia Land and Water Taskforce and the Prime Minister’s Community–Business Partnership. In June 2001, David was made an Officer in the General Division of the Order of Australia and was awarded the Centenary Medal in 2003. David was recognised as the 2004 Asia Pacific Hotelier of the Year. In 2012 he was awarded the Chevalier (Knight) in the French National Order of the Legion of Honour.
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	Margaret Jack
	Margaret Jack
	  AM, FCA 

	Margaret Jack is currently China Strategic Advisor to the Board of Directors of Adecco Group AG headquartered in Zurich. Adecco is the largest human resources company in the world and consistently maintains its position as the number one HR company in the Global Fortune 500 list. In China, Margaret is on the Board of the FESCO Adecco joint venture.
	She was the Group’s representative at the 2014 B20 and 2016 B20 Meetings and Group representative of 2019 Summer Davos.
	Margaret was on the Board of DFAT’s Australia China Council from 2016 to 2019.
	In the 2019 Queen’s Birthday Honours list, Margaret was appointed a Member of the Order of Australia with the citation “For significant service to the resources sector, and to Australia-China relations”.
	Margaret is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia and New Zealand. She has over 30 years’ experience working in negotiating commercial and technology contracts and developing large industrial plants. Margaret established the first Price Waterhouse office in Beijing in 1982 and was subsequently appointed Executive Director of the Shell China and Hong Kong Group of Companies.
	Sally Loane  
	BA (English, Politics, Journalism)

	Sally Loane joined the Financial Services Council as Chief Executive Officer in December 2014.
	Prior to this Sally had a decade in the corporate sector, working at Coca-Cola Amatil as a senior executive. Her first career was in the media, where she spent 25 years as a broadcaster and journalist across radio, television and print. Sally is also a published author.
	Sally is a Director of Venues NSW, and the Avner Pancreatic Cancer Research Foundation.  Sally is also a Governor of the Cerebral Palsy Research Foundation, Ambassador for Business Events Sydney and a member of Chief Executive Women.  
	Sally was the first female Director of Waratahs Rugby and served on the Board for seven years. She was a Director of SCEGGS Darlinghurst for 12 years and chaired the Salvation Army’s Sydney East Doorknock Appeal from 2008-2011 and was a Co-Deputy Chair for the Committee for Sydney.
	Rod McGeoch
	  AO, LLB

	Rod McGeoch was the leader of Sydney’s successful Olympics 2000 bid. He is an Officer of the Order of Australia. He is also Chairman of BGP Holdings Plc, Chairman of Vantage Private Equity Growth Limited, Chairman of Chubb Insurance Australia Ltd, Director of Corporacion America International S.A.R.L., Director South Cone Foundation and Deputy Chairman of the Sydney Cricket & Sports Ground Trust. 
	Mr McGeoch is a former Chairman of the Committee for Sydney and plays a leading role in a variety of cultural, community and welfare organisations. He was also President of the Law Society of New South Wales and Director of Ramsay Health Care Limited. He has published two best-selling books: McGeoch and The Bid. 
	Michael Pratt 
	 AM 

	Michael Pratt AM was appointed as the 27th Secretary of NSW Treasury on 1 August 2017. The Treasury Cluster includes NSW Treasury, NSW Small Business Commission, Destination NSW, Western City & Aerotropolis Authority, NSW Procurement, NSW Treasury Corporation, icare (Insurance & Care NSW) and SAS Trustee Corporation.  
	As Secretary, Michael is responsible for strategic management of the entirety of the State’s finances, budget, assets, liabilities and financial risk management framework and transformation. 
	Prior to his role with Treasury, Michael was the NSW Customer Service Commissioner, where he revolutionised the way the Government delivers services - putting the people of NSW at the heart of service delivery in the establishment of Service NSW. He led major service reform across the NSW Government, chairing the NSW Customer Advisory Board - the responsible governance entity for the delivery of State Government services to the citizens of NSW.
	Michael Pratt was honoured as a Member of the Order of Australia (AM) in the Queen’s Birthday 2016 Honours List. Michael was recognised as a role model for Australian society for providing significant service to public administration through reforms in customer service and communication and to the finance and banking industry.  Michael was also awarded an Honorary Doctorate of Letters in April 2018 from Western Sydney University for his services to the University and to the wider community.
	Prior to his role as Customer Service Commissioner, Michael was CEO of Consumer and SME Banking, North East Asia, with Standard Chartered Bank. He is a former President of the Australian Institute of Banking & Finance and was the inaugural Joint President of Finsia. Michael’s previous roles also include senior executive positions as Group Executive of Westpac Business & Consumer Banking, CEO of National Australia Bank in Australia, CEO of Bank of New Zealand and CEO of Bank of Melbourne.  Michael was also D
	Prior directorships include Non-Executive Director roles at TAL Dai-ichi Life Australia and Credit Union Australia where he chaired their respective risk committees, Deputy Chair of iCare, MasterCard International Inc New York, MasterCard Asia Pacific, BT Financial Services, Chairman of Bennelong Funds Management, Chairman of Shenzen Credit Corporation and Executive Director of Standard Chartered Bank Hong Kong and China.
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	The Hon. George Souris
	The Hon. George Souris
	  AM, BEc, Dip Fin Mangt, 
	FAIM, FCPA

	George Souris is a highly experienced former NSW Minister responsible for a wide range of portfolios, including tourism and major events, and the management of large government departments. He is a former Minister for Finance and was responsible for the State’s privatisation agenda, including the Government Insurance Office by public float, the State’s Southern irrigation districts, and Land & Water Conservation. 
	George retired from the NSW Parliament in 2015 after 27 years of elected Parliamentary representation from the Upper Hunter Valley of NSW. He was Parliamentary Leader of the National Party. Prior to entering Parliament he served seven years as an elected Councillor of Singleton Shire Council and was its Deputy President. 
	In his former capacity as Minister for Tourism, Major Events, Hospitality and Racing, George was responsible for creating Destination NSW and establishing the Visitor Economy Taskforce. George was also charged with developing a strategy to double overnight visitor expenditure to NSW by 2020. The strategy, the NSW Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan, continues to be implemented by the current Government. He was responsible for the government’s liquor and gaming regulation and was previously responsible for 
	George is the President of the State Library Council of NSW and is a Director of the Board of Racing NSW. He is a Director of the Board of Business Events Sydney Ltd as Destination NSW’s representative and is Chairman of the NSW Mine Safety Council. He was made a Member of the Order of Australia in June 2016. 
	He serves the Australian Rugby Foundation, the Australian Film Institute and the Sir Earle Page Memorial Trust.
	Beforehand entering Parliament, George was a partner in public practice of an accounting firm in the Hunter Valley where he lives.
	Steve Cox
	  MBA

	Steve Cox is the Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW.
	Prior to joining Destination NSW in May 2020, Steve was the Managing Director of Dymocks Retail for eight years where he launched several high-growth business channels for the company. Before serving Dymocks, Steve held senior roles in the fashion sector with David Jones and the Specialty Fashion Group. Steve holds an MBA with Macquarie University – Graduate School of Management and was a member of the Business Advisory Council for Greenfleet, a leading environmental not-for-profit organisation.
	As a passionate and energetic champion for Sydney and regional NSW, Steve’s focus is spearheading the strategic direction of Destination NSW including the review of the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 to ensure NSW is the world’s most successful tourism and events destination.
	The following people were also Destination NSW Board Members during the reporting period: 
	Sandra Chipchase(Former CEO, 1 July 2019 to 31 December 2019)
	 

	Stephen Mahoney(Acting CEO, 16 December 2019 to 4 May 2020)
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	Destination NSW

	As the new CEO of Destination NSW, I am honoured to have the opportunity to take on the role and build on the organisation’s tremendous achievements.
	As the new CEO of Destination NSW, I am honoured to have the opportunity to take on the role and build on the organisation’s tremendous achievements.
	Starting my role ‘virtually’ amidst a global pandemic was not ideal, but it soon became apparent that I was joining an organisation with a high performing team committed todelivering the best results possible for the NSW visitor economy. 
	 

	2019-2020 has presented many challenges for the NSW tourism industry which was greatly affected by multiple crises during the year, including an unprecedented bushfire season and COVID-19. Our team has shown great resilience by adapting to a new way of working at very short notice and continuing to deliver a wide range of programs to support the NSW tourism industry.   
	The NSW Government’s $10 million tourism recovery package, first announced in February 2020, to support recovery from bushfires, drought and floods has been a key focus for Destination NSW. It marked the first step on the road to recovery and campaign activities delivered as part of this package evolved during the year to address the needs of the industry and ensure that messaging was consistent with government travel restrictions and public health orders. 
	As the new normal forced us to operate in a virtual environment and think differently about all our programs, the team adapted well to supporting the NSW tourism industry outside the regular office environment. The Love NSW campaign was delivered in several phases with messaging adapted to match the progression and make sure that NSW was the only place that people were thinking about, even when they could not travel due to the COVID-19 lockdown. 
	We used our time wisely while restrictions were in place, running virtual activities for industry as well as planning activities that could be rolled out as restrictions eased. Key highlights included virtual media workshops for journalists who could no longer travel, the creation of the ‘Local Stories’ video series featuring tourism operators inviting travellers to visit and a dedicated webpage showing the top 213 ways to reboot 2020 in NSW. Launched on 31 May 2020 to coincide with the relaxation of travel
	The challenges experienced by the visitor economy in 2019-2020 presented the need to review the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030 to update our key objectives, reset our targets and develop a comprehensive roadmap for growing our visitor economy over the next 10 years. The new NSW Visitor Economy Strategy will outline a new approach to growing the NSW visitor economy, taking into account the ongoing challenges and uncertainty facing the tourism industry. Stephen Mahoney, who led Destination NSW as t
	The NSW Visitor Economy Strategy will guide the road to recovery and our vision for the future. Going forward increased engagement will be at the forefront of our recovery activities to ensure that we are listening to our stakeholders and responding to their needs. This increased engagement will also allow us to get closer to Government to form better relationships and drive greater awareness and understanding of the value the visitor economy delivers for the State.  
	In my short time leading Destination NSW, I have been struck by the team’s commitment to delivering for the NSW tourism industry, often in difficult circumstances. The approach to dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic has seen everyone come together to develop activities and strategies to sustain the NSW tourism industry into the future to give us the best possible opportunity of maintaining our position as Australia’s number one tourism state.
	I would like to thank Minister Ayres, the Chairman, all Board Members and the Treasury Secretary for welcoming me in my new role and giving me the opportunity to steer our state’s tourism industry to recovery. I am excited by this challenge and I know I have the right team in place at Destination NSW to support me in that task.
	Steve CoxChief Executive Officer
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	Budget Structure
	Budget Structure
	Destination NSW is a NSW Public Service Executive Agency under the Destination NSW Act 2011 (created on 1 July 2011), comprising all the entities under its control, namely Destination NSW Staff Agency which provides personnel services to Destination NSW.
	As part of the Machinery of Government changes in 2019, Destination NSW moved to the NSW Treasury cluster from1 July 2019.
	 

	This summary represents the consolidated financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2020.
	Sources of Funds ($137.5 million) 
	Sources of Funds ($137.5 million) 

	Total revenue for Destination NSW for the year ending 30 June 2020 was $137.5 million.
	The main sources of revenue were recurrent government grants from NSW Treasury ($121.6 million), contributions received from Industry and other parties ($15.5 million)to participate in marketing activities and other income($0.4 million).
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	Overview

	Due to the combined impact of the Australian summer bushfires, the COVID-19 pandemic, the closure of Australia’s international and domestic borders and travel restrictions, all States and Territories recorded a decline in visitors, nights and expenditure for the year. 
	NSW received 95.4 million international and domestic overnight and day trip visitors, down 13.9 per cent on 2018- 2019. These visitors stayed 168.6 million nights and spent over $33.0 billion for the year, down 21.3 per cent and 20.4 per cent, respectively. 
	Domestic day trip visitors accounted for 65 per cent of all visitors to NSW and 21 per cent of the expenditure in 2019-2020. NSW’s domestic overnight visitor share was 32 per cent which accounted for 55 per cent of State expenditure. While international visitors accounted for just 3 per cent of the NSW total visitation, they contributed 24 per cent of the expenditure. 
	International performance
	International performance

	NSW continues to lead Australia with 49 per cent of all international visitors, 34 per cent of all nights and 35 per cent of all expenditure.
	NSW received 3.1 million international visitors (-30.3 per cent compared to 2018-2019) who stayed 69.7 million nights(-28.9 per cent) and spent almost $8.0 billion (-29.4 per cent).These results represent the State’s largest decline on record in all metrics.
	 
	 

	The key drivers for the decline in NSW’s international visitor expenditure were the Education and Holiday markets from China which were down $868.4 million or -31.6 per cent and $263.1 million or -40.4 per cent respectively. The Holiday and Visiting Friends and Relatives market and China drove the decline in NSW’s international visitor numbers.
	International visitation to NSW declined by 34 per cent in the March quarter 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. International news reporting of the Australian bushfires, the global spread of the coronavirus and the onset of Australia’s travel ban on visitors coming from/through China from February 2020 were all major contributors to this decline. Visitors from China, NSW’s number one international market, fell by 61 per cent in that period. 
	The impact of COVID-19 on travel intensified with the closure of Australia’s international borders from 20 March 2020. Visitor numbers to NSW declined by 99.5 per cent in the June quarter 2020 compared to the same period in 2019.
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	In 2019-2020, NSW remained the most popular Australian destination for six of the State’s top 10 markets: China, USA, United Kingdom, South Korea, Hong Kong, and Germany.
	In 2019-2020, NSW remained the most popular Australian destination for six of the State’s top 10 markets: China, USA, United Kingdom, South Korea, Hong Kong, and Germany.
	Visitation to Australia from China for the year declined, with NSW the most impacted (down 278,000). In NSW, the decrease in visitation from China in 2019-2020 was mainly due to reduced Holiday visitors  (-40.7 per cent), Education nights (-28.4 per cent) and expenditure (-31.6 per cent).
	Sydney continued to lead Australian capital cities in international visitors, nights and expenditure. Sydney received 2.8 million international visitors (-30.5 per cent) who stayed 59.3 million nights (-28.6 per cent) and spent $7.2 billion (-29.3 per cent). These percentages exceeded national capital city declines in all metrics (-27.8 per cent, -25.6 per cent and -24.2 per cent, respectively).
	Regional NSW received 591,600 international visitors (-31.7 per cent) who stayed 10.4 million nights (-31.0 per cent) and spent $729.8 million (-31.0 per cent). These percentages exceeded regional Australia’s decline in all metrics (-28.4 per cent, -25.7 per cent and -29.7 per cent, respectively).
	In absolute terms, Sydney had a much bigger decline for the year than regional NSW (visitors: down 1.2 million, nights: down 23.7 million and expenditure: down $3.0 billion). There was significant decline in all three metrics in the Sydney Holiday market in 2019-2020.
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	Domestic performance
	Domestic performance

	NSW maintained national leadership in the domestic overnight market for the year, accounting for 32.9 per cent of all visitors, 28.9 per cent of all nights and 28.7 per cent of all expenditure in Australia.
	NSW received 30.3 million domestic visitors (-18.6 per cent compared to 2018-2019) who stayed 98.8 million nights (-14.8 per cent) and spent $18.1 billion (-20.0 per cent), representing its greatest decreases ever recorded. 
	The decline in domestic overnight visitors to NSW was mainly due to fewer Holiday and Visiting Friends and Relatives visitors to regional NSW (down 3.1 million and 1.5 million on 2018-2019, respectively) and less Holiday and Business visitors from Victoria (each down 0.4 million).
	The bushfires hit NSW harder than any other State in Australia. This had an adverse impact on domestic travel to NSW in the March quarter 2020, with 18 per cent fewer domestic overnight visitors compared to the same period in 2019.
	Domestic travel to NSW was not severely impacted by COVID-19 until March, with Queensland closing its border to NSW on 25 March 2020 and the tightening of other lockdown restrictions later that month. While there was easing of travel restrictions from late April and the resumption of intrastate travel across NSW from 1 June 2020, the State received 68 per cent fewer domestic overnight visitors in June quarter 2020 compared to the year prior.
	Regional NSW experienced a bigger decline in domestic visitors and nights in absolute terms than Sydney for the year (down 4.7 million and 12.4 million, respectively) while Sydney suffered a higher drop in domestic overnight expenditure than regional NSW (down $2.5 billion). Sydney experienced significant declines in Business and Holiday visitor expenditure in 2019-2020.
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	Sydney continued to lead Australian capital cities in domestic overnight visitors and nights. It received 9.6 million domestic visitors (-19.6 per cent compared to 2018-2019) who stayed 27.6 million nights (-15.0 per cent) and spent $6.8 billion (-26.7 per cent) for the year. 
	Sydney continued to lead Australian capital cities in domestic overnight visitors and nights. It received 9.6 million domestic visitors (-19.6 per cent compared to 2018-2019) who stayed 27.6 million nights (-15.0 per cent) and spent $6.8 billion (-26.7 per cent) for the year. 
	Regional NSW led regional Australia in domestic visitors, nights and expenditure in 2019-2020. It received 21.4 million domestic visitors (-17.9 per cent on 2018-2019) who stayed 71.2 million nights (-14.8 per cent) and spent $11.3 billion (-15.2 per cent) for the year.
	The North Coast continued as the highest ranked regional destination in Australia after Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane.
	All tourism regions in regional NSW recorded falls in domestic visitors, nights and expenditure for the year.
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	Factors contributing to performance
	Factors contributing to performance
	2019-2020 was undoubtedly one of the most eventful and challenging years for Australia and the world, with the unprecedented Australian summer bushfires and the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic impacting all aspects of our lives, business and the economy.
	Bushfires
	The 2019-2020 Australian bushfire season was a period of unusually intense bushfires throughout Australia. As the hardest hit state, NSW experienced the worst bushfires on record, in terms of intensity, area affected and number of properties lost. 
	This event had an adverse impact on domestic and international travel to NSW, with NSW receiving 16 per cent less domestic overnight visitors in January 2020 and one per cent fewer in February than the same months in 2019. Global media representation of the Australian bushfires is likely to have contributed to the two per cent decline in international visitors to NSW in January 2020 and three per cent fall in expenditure.
	COVID-19
	The Australian Government introduced progressive travel restrictions from the beginning of February 2020, and by 20 March, a general travel ban prevented non-citizens and non-residents travelling to the country. Non-essential gatherings of more than 500 people were banned from late March, resulting in the cancellation of public events. 
	COVID-19 had an instant impact on international travel. China is NSW’s top holiday and education market for visitors and expenditure. With entry restrictions placed on visitors arriving from, or through, China in February 2020, international visitors to NSW decreased 31 per cent for the month compared to February 2019 while expenditure dropped by 49 per cent. 
	The COVID-19 impact intensified in March, causing international visitors to NSW to decrease by 65 per cent for the month and expenditure fall by 56 per cent or $519 million. Domestic overnight visitors to NSW fell 35 per cent while expenditure declined 37 per cent to $1.1 billion.  
	With interstate borders closed and other lockdown restrictions tightened, NSW received 88 per cent, or 3.4 million, fewer domestic overnight visitors in April 2020 than the same month in 2019. Expenditure decreased by 93 per cent or $2.1 billion for the month. 
	The easing of lockdown restrictions from late April saw some improvement in domestic travel in May 2020. NSW received more than one million domestic overnight visitors in May, up from 445,000 in April. However, visitors to NSW were still down 68 per cent compared to May 2019 and expenditure decreased by 83 per cent or $1.4 billion. From 1 June 2020, intrastate travel was allowed across NSW which brought further improvements on the previous month. NSW received 1.8 million domestic overnight visitors in June.
	Events
	Events

	Destination NSW invested directly in over 100 sports, cultural, lifestyle, creative and arts events held in Sydney and regional NSW, including events supported through the Regional Event Fund. From late March 2020, the NSW Public Health Order preventing public gatherings of more than 500 people saw the cancellation of some events due to the COVID-19 pandemic, including Vivid Sydney.
	COVID-19 travel restrictions and social distancing measures also significantly impacted the global meetings sector, hitting the industry earlier and harder than most, affecting the livelihoods of the business events community. 
	During 2019-2020, Business Events Sydney secured 49 global meetings that are expected to attract 39,200 delegates, staying 198,400 delegate days and generating in excess of an estimated $167 million in direct expenditure to the State’s economy. 
	From March 2020, Business Events Sydney focussed on securing longer-lead industry association global meetings, although at a reduced activity level reflecting market conditions. Activity in the short-lead Asian incentive business reduced to relationship management and preparation for a return to market, when conditions allow. The resultant impact on last quarter outcomes reduced the number of global meetings secured for 2019-2020 compared to the previous financial year.
	Fifty global meetings previously secured by BusinessEvents Sydney were delivered in 2019-2020, generatingmore than $104 million in estimated direct expenditure for the State’s economy. 
	 
	 

	This was significantly less than the previous year, when 88 global meetings generating more than an estimated $228 million were held. In the second half of the financial year, 18 events with an estimated direct expenditure of $110 million were displaced due to COVID-19 restrictions, together with additional short lead business that would traditionally have been won and held in this period. 
	Some of the larger events delivered for the year were:
	• MDRT Global Conference 2019 — 7,100 delegates
	• RoboCup 2019 — 2,700 delegates
	• World Scholar’s Cup: Global Round 2019 — 2,100 delegates
	•  China Gather Love & Pass Health Distributor Incentive— 850 delegates.
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	Aviation
	International and domestic aviation seat capacity declined significantly from March 2020, following the progressive implementation of travel restrictions and the closure of national and interstate borders. 
	In 2019-2020, NSW domestic aviation capacity accounted for 48 per cent of domestic seats in Australian competitive routes. NSW and Australia domestic seat capacity both declined by at least a quarter (down 26.3 per cent and 25.4 per cent, respectively). 
	Compared to the same month in 2019, domestic aviation seats to NSW declined by 27 per cent in March 2020, 95 per cent in April, 97 per cent in May and 93 per cent in June.

	International aviation seat capacity to NSW accounted for 40 per cent of international seats in Australia and capacity decreased by 26.7 per cent for the year. By comparison, international seat capacity to Australia also decreased at a similar rate, 25.9 per cent. 
	International aviation seat capacity to NSW accounted for 40 per cent of international seats in Australia and capacity decreased by 26.7 per cent for the year. By comparison, international seat capacity to Australia also decreased at a similar rate, 25.9 per cent. 
	Compared to the same month in 2019, international aviation seats to NSW declined by seven per cent in February, 36 per cent in March, 93 per cent in April and June and 94 per cent in May.
	New international services to Sydney in 2019-2020 included Malindo Air’s daily service from Kuala Lumpur to Sydney, via Denpasar, Indonesia, which commenced in August 2019.
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	Accommodation
	In the June quarter 2020, the NSW accommodation sector comprised 1,765 establishments and 87,763 rooms. This represents a decrease in supply compared to the previous year, down one per cent and two per cent, respectively. Regional NSW accounted for 78 per cent of all establishments and 52 per cent of all rooms in the State.
	Occupancy rates in NSW decreased significantly from 77.2 per cent in 2018-2019, to 46.0 per cent in 2019-2020. This was mainly due to the 35 percentage point decrease in occupancy rate in the Sydney region compared to the 21 percentage point decrease in regional NSW. 
	The number of establishments and rooms in NSW in the June quarter 2020 was lower than the 1,812 establishments and 90,268 rooms reported in the March quarter 2020. This could be partly due to the temporary closure of establishments due to COVID-19.
	The Australian summer bushfires could have contributed to the slight fall in occupancy rates in the December quarter 2020. The COVID-19 travel ban and restrictions severely impacted occupancy rates with significant decreases from March to May 2020, followed by early signs of recovery in June.
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	Australian dollar
	Exchange rates and differential inflation rates affect the price of Australia as a destination, relative to competing destinations. A fall in the value of the Australian dollar reduces the cost for overseas visitors to travel to, and within, Australia. Such a fall can also have a positive impact on domestic travel, encouraging Australian travellers to choose to holiday domestically rather than overseas.
	In 2019-2020, Australia was at its most affordable for international visitors since it dropped below parity against the US dollar in May 2013. The average Australian dollar to US dollar exchange rate in 2019-2020, was US $0.68, down from the average exchange rate of $0.72 in 2018-2019.  
	The Australian dollar dropped against all major currencies compared to 2018-2019, with the highest decline against Japan (-8.5 per cent), Taiwan (-7.4 per cent), Indonesia (-6.9 per cent) and Hong Kong (-6.4 per cent). 
	Global confidence
	Based on responses from over 33,500 online consumers in 68 countries, the Conference Board® Global Consumer Confidence Index fell from a near record 106 in the first quarter of 2020, to 92 in the second quarter. The 14-point drop marks the largest period-on-period decline since the launch of the index in the first quarter of 2005. Additionally, this latest decline is twice as deep as the largest drop during the global financial crisis of 2008-2009. 
	Consumers spent more on necessities, less on discretionary items and saved more during the second quarter of 2020. The global confidence survey found that more consumers plan to limit spending on annual holidays and short trips, reflecting social distancing rules as well as health and financial concerns. Consumer confidence is higher in countries where governments have earned their people’s trust in reducing the risk of further outbreaks. 
	•  In mature economies in North America and Europe, the worsening job outlook in the second quarter propelled the decline in confidence levels (down 14 points and 20 points, respectively). This was particularly pronounced in major markets such as the United States, Canada, France, Germany, and the United Kingdom. 
	•  In the Asia-Pacific region (including in Hong Kong, South Korea, Taiwan, Thailand, India and Singapore), consumer confidence reduced by 19 points due to diminishing expectations about personal finances over the next 12 months. In countries such as China, Taiwan and South Korea which successfully implemented strict COVID-19 containment measures and have begun to open up their economies, confidence will likely rebound fairly quickly. In countries such as India and Indonesia, confidence may recover more slo
	 

	Australian confidence
	In 2019-2020, the ANZ Roy Morgan Australian consumer confidence rating dropped significantly to 104.1 index points compared to 116.6 in 2018-2019. This was the lowest rating since 2008-2009 but higher than the confidence rating of98.0 index points during the Global Financial Crisis year, 2008-2009.
	 

	Tourism Australia conducts fortnightly research on Australia and its 15 key international markets.  Following a 23 per cent increase in the number of active COVID19 cases in Australia (523 on 24 June and 424 on 10 June 2020), there was instant impact on consumer sentiment. 
	As at 23 June 2020, consumer confidence index declined by four per cent and trip booking intent for the next month fell by three  percentage points. The top triggers for domestic travel in the next six months were the need for a holiday (43 per cent) and wanting to visit family and friends (36 per cent). Their current financial situation was the biggest barrier to travel intention in the next six months (39 per cent) and the fear of contracting COVID-19 (37 per cent).
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	Recovery Story
	Recovery Story

	The visitor economy is a vital input to the broader NSW economy, contributing more than $38 billion in Gross State Product and supporting one in 14 direct and indirect jobs in the state.
	The visitor economy is a vital input to the broader NSW economy, contributing more than $38 billion in Gross State Product and supporting one in 14 direct and indirect jobs in the state.
	2 

	The year started with NSW on track to meet its target of doubling overnight visitor expenditure to reach $36.6 billion by the year ending December 2020. Strong growth in the first half of 2019-2020 saw overnight visitor expenditure reach $35 billion by the end of the December 2019 quarter. However, at the same time, the effects of natural disasters were taking hold, with the prolonged drought affecting the entire state and the summer 2019-2020 bushfire season well underway.
	Response
	The cumulative effects of drought, bushfires, floods and the COVID-19 pandemic had a devastating effect on the NSW visitor economy, and it was clear that Destination NSW would play a vital role in supporting recovery.
	The NSW Government provided $10 million through Destination NSW for a tourism recovery package, which was developed in consultation with the tourism industry, industry associations and the six Destination Networks. 
	Commonwealth support
	In January 2020, the Commonwealth Government provided $1 million in immediate funding to the 33 bushfire-affected NSW Local Government Areas. This funding could be spent on a range of activities including hosting new events tobring communities together and attract visitors back to affected regions. 
	 

	The widespread devastation of the 2019-2020 bushfire season also attracted significant support from the Commonwealth Government including $20 million for the Holiday Here This Year domestic marketing campaign to get Australian’s to take holidays in fire-affected regions as they re-opened.
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	Marketing strategy
	Following the launch of the tourism recovery package, Destination NSW continued to modify its campaign strategy in line with the NSW Government’s phased approach to crisis management and economic recovery. The Now’s The Time To Love NSW campaign evolved in response to the COVID-19 situation, resulting in three distinct phases:
	•  RESPOND — Love NSW, from HomeRelieving the anxiety of being in hibernation at home, by focusing on dreaming and inspiration, showcasing many magnificent virtual experiences across the State.
	 

	•  RECOVER — Now’s The Time to Plan Your TripCapitalising on signs of positivity to shift our Path to Purchase towards the planning stage, with full / partial domestic travel restrictions lifted. 
	 

	•  REFORM — Now’s The Time To Love NSWWith borders open, we intend to capture the demand that has been generated, converting previously booked international travel into domestic bookings, in NSW.
	 

	Program launch
	At its inception, the multi-phase program targeted both domestic and international markets to encourage visitation to NSW, fund new local events and assist tourism businesses to develop, promote and sell their tourism products following these devastating events. 
	The first phase of the program included: 
	•  Joint marketing campaigns with major industry partners to build on the #RecoveryWeekend activity 
	•  Extensive social media and marketing activity showcasing the entire state
	•  Targeted publicity and hosted media programs for domestic and international markets
	•  $1 million regional events program to supportexisting flagship events and a new stream to support ‘micro events’
	 

	•  Capability building programs including upskilling for tourism operators.
	The Now’s The Time To Love NSW campaign was launched on 8 February 2020 as the first key activity in the recovery package. It was promoted via a double-page spread in The Daily Telegraph and a dedicated landing page on visitnsw.com, as well as social media activities. 
	Using #RecoveryWeekend to kickstart the campaign, travellers were urged to book getaways that gave back to affected regions and operators. People were encouraged to stay and spend locally, take photos showcasing NSW destinations, featuring hands in a heart shape and share them on social media with the tag #LoveNSW to generate authentic, real-time imagery of NSW holiday destinations. 
	With international border closures coming into effect on 20 March 2020, Destination NSW paused some planned investments in the Now’s The Time To Love NSW campaign, including television advertising, in line with Government Public Health Orders and travel restrictions.
	During May 2020, aspiring travellers were encouraged to Love NSW From Home with activities inspiring them to dream and plan future holidays once travel restrictions lifted. Activities to support Love NSW From Home, included advertising in the Love Australia Project special on Network 10’s The Project and Tourism Australia’s ‘Live From Aus’ virtual weekend. 
	Phase two
	Phase two of Now’s The Time To Love NSW began on 1 June 2020 coinciding with the easing of travel restrictions. With international borders remaining closed, marketing activities pivoted to domestic tourism, encouraging Australians to plan and book holidays in their own country.
	The campaign was relaunched simply as Love NSW supported by a paid media plan comprising TV, radio, digital display, social, YouTube and search to deliver the highest reach to drive consideration, intent and conversion for tourism businesses. The campaign targeted a cross section of travellers and was aligned to a range of interests including road trips, caravan and camping, and food and wine.
	A dedicated webpage was developed showing the top 213 ways to reboot 2020 in NSW, encouraging travellers to make the most of the 213 days to the end of the year.

	It’s time to reboot 2020 and turn those travel dreams into reality.If you’ve been longing for vast national parks, sandy beaches and cosy cabin getaways, now’s the time to book that dream trip in NSW.visitnsw.com/love-nsw
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	Support for regional events
	The recovery package included $1 million through the Regional Event Fund with 59 grants awarded, comprising 30 through the Flagship Event stream and 29 through the Micro Event stream.
	Impact on events
	Developing a world-class events calendar to continue to attract tourism and ensure NSW remains Australia’s number one visitor economy is a key focus for Destination NSW. Having built and secured a strong portfolio of successful and world-renowned events for Sydney and regional NSW, the need to cancel or postpone events due to the bushfires and COVID-19 pandemic was difficult for all concerned.
	The impact on events was felt as early as November 2019, with the cancellation of the 2019 Rally Australia due to a bushfire affecting a large part of the event footprint in northern NSW. In January 2020, bushfire smoke compromised air quality in Sydney, cancelling the Opening Night performance of the 2020 Sydney Festival. 
	As the year progressed, the bushfires and COVID-19 pandemic caused 48 Destination NSW-supported events across the State to be cancelled, rescheduled or postponed. Regional NSW was worst hit with 26 events including major events and those supported through the Regional EventFund. Sixteen Sydney and six Western Sydney events were also affected.
	 

	In particular, the cancellation of Vivid Sydney 2020 was a severe blow to the NSW tourism industry. As the largest event of light, music and ideas in the Southern Hemisphere, Vivid Sydney attracted a record 2.4 million people in 2019 and delivered $172 million to the NSW visitor economy. This decision was necessary to ensure public safety by controlling the spread of COVID-19. Vivid Sydney will return in August 2021 in a COVID-safe manner.
	Throughout the second half of the financial year, Destination NSW worked closely with event owners to support them through this period and assist in varying contracts for cancelled, rescheduled or postponed events.
	The State’s night-time economy has also suffered as a result of COVID-19 restrictions. To reinvigorate the night-time economy Destination NSW partnered with the Australian Recording Industry Association (ARIA) during 2019-2020 to develop Great Southern Nights, a new music event bringing 1,000 COVID-safe gigs to Sydney and regional NSW in November 2020. 
	This new event is a great example of the innovative ways that the tourism and events industry has pivoted to address COVID-19 and will be instrumental in turbocharging live music venues across the state.
	Major events will play a critical role in stimulating NSW’s visitor economy, and in turn our state’s broader COVID-19 recovery strategy.
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	Communications and PR support
	Communications and PR support
	Destination NSW continually adjusted its key messaging and media strategy throughout the bushfires and COVID-19 pandemic to align with travel advice and public health orders.   
	The Destination NSW corporate website was updated with a new ‘Travel alerts’ page to provide the latest information about travel restrictions in NSW.  More than 337,000 consumers visited this page during 2019-2020, highlighting the important role that Destination NSW websites play in being a trusted source of reliable facts and knowledge for potential visitors.
	A variety of videos, photos and articles were produced for visitnsw.com and sydney.com with a focus on promoting virtual experiences local produce and products across NSW. 
	The Now’s The Time To Love NSW launch was supported through proactive media outreach to more than 3,190 domestic and international media, a full week of Today Show weather broadcasts from locations across the state, a full show Today Show and Today Extra broadcast on location in Batemans Bay, and 17 media famils to bushfire-affected regions of NSW. 
	The Communications team led the crisis response from an industry engagement perspective through increased industry e-newsletter distribution and social media activity to advise operators about changes to Public Health Orders or inform of support programs available. Destination NSW also created a ’tourism recovery’ page on the agency’s corporate website, and managed regular updating of travel alerts on the consumer websites and social media channels in line with NSW Government health advice.
	2019-2020 has presented challenges like no other year.While recovery will take some time, it is clear that the NSW tourism industry has the resilience to rebound from the various crises of prolonged drought, bushfires, floods andthe COVID-19 pandemic.
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	Event Development

	In 2019-2020, Destination NSW secured or retained 27 major events for Sydney and NSW. New events secured during this period include: 9 to 5 The Musical, the Vogue 60th Anniversary Celebration for Sydney Metro, and the 100 Album Festival for Blue Mountains. New exhibitions secured under the Sydney International Art Series banner include French artist Matisse and American artist Doug Aitken. 
	In 2019-2020, Destination NSW secured or retained 27 major events for Sydney and NSW. New events secured during this period include: 9 to 5 The Musical, the Vogue 60th Anniversary Celebration for Sydney Metro, and the 100 Album Festival for Blue Mountains. New exhibitions secured under the Sydney International Art Series banner include French artist Matisse and American artist Doug Aitken. 
	Retained events for this period include Blackmores Sydney Running Festival and Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour for Sydney Metro, Nepean Triathlon for Western Sydney, the Deni Ute Muster, Bathurst 12 Hour, Mudgee Classic and Southern 80 for regional NSW.
	With 2015 election commitment funding ending on 30 June 2019, Destination NSW’s ability to secure or retain events for the State reduced significantly in 2019-2020. In 2018-2019, this additional funding enabled Destination NSW to secure or retain 119 events for Sydney Metro, Western Sydney and regional NSW; more than double the amount secured in 2019-2020. This additional funding was vital in securing or retaining 44 major events for NSW.
	The 2019-2020 year brought unprecedented challenges tothe tourism and events industry across the entire State.A catastrophic bushfire season saw the cancellation of the 2019 Rally Australia, as a result of a bushfire affecting a large area of northern NSW. With the bushfire smoke also compromising the air quality in Sydney, the Opening Night performance of the 2020 Sydney Festival was cancelled due to health concerns for performers. 
	 
	 

	Following the bushfires, NSW, along with the rest of the world, was heavily impacted by the rapid spread of COVID-19. The global pandemic saw the introduction of strict social distancing rules that included limits on gatherings and restrictions on all travel including domestic and international. Since March 2020, the NSW Government has issued multiple Public Health Orders placing restrictions on all non-essential gatherings, resulting in the cancellation or postponement of most events across NSW.
	The Event Development team maintained close contact with event organisers and other external stakeholders following the outbreak of COVID-19.
	The team represents Destination NSW in the monthly Event Operations Group meetings along with other key government agencies in relation to event delivery, including NSW Health, NSW Ambulance, NSW Police, Roads and Maritime Services.
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	10 World Cups in 10 Years
	10 World Cups in 10 Years
	On 23 July 2018, the Premier announced the NSW Government’s intention to bid for 10 World Cups in the coming 10 years. The 10 World Cups in 10 Years initiative remains a focus for the Event Development team. To date, eight of the 10 World Cups have been secured, including two events in the 2019-2020 financial year:
	•  In March 2020, the International Basketball Federation (FIBA) announced that the NSW Government and Basketball Australia had won the bid to host the FIBA Women’s Basketball World Cup 2022. Sydney will host all 12 competing national teams and all 38 games at Sydney Olympic Park from 22 September to 1 October 2022.
	•  On 26 June 2020, the International Federation of Association Football (FIFA) announced that the joint bid between Football Federation Australia and New Zealand Football to host the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023 was successful. The FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023 will see an increase in teams for the first time, with 32 national teams competing. The 2023 tournament is anticipated to deliver an estimated visitor spend of $21 million to NSW and will be held from 10 July to 20 August 2023. 
	10 World Cups in 10 Years events secured to date:
	1. 2019 Rugby League Nines World Cup
	2. ATP Cup (2020-2025)
	3. 2020 Women’s ICC T20 World Cup
	4. 2020 Men’s ICC T20 World Cup (postponed to 2022)
	5.  2021 World Athletics Cross Country Championships (postponed, dates TBC)
	6. 2022 UCI Road World Cycling Championships
	7. 2022 FIBA Women’s Basketball World Cup
	8. 2023 FIFA Women’s World Cup
	Vivid Sydney
	On 15 March 2020, the NSW Government announced the cancellation of Vivid Sydney 2020. This decision was made following recommendations by the Commonwealth Government and health authorities to limit non-essential organised gatherings to less than 500 people to control the spread of COVID-19 and ensure the health and safety of attendees and everyone involved with Vivid Sydney.
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	2019-2020 Event Development Achievements
	2019-2020 Event Development Achievements
	Arts and Entertainment Portfolio
	•  The annual Sydney International Art Series presented two exclusive exhibitions: 
	 –  The Art Gallery of NSW curated Japan Supernatural, a world-first, immersive and multi-sensory exhibition of more than 200 works celebrating Japanese culture and art. The exhibition featured a new piece of work in a multi-panel mural and large-scale sculpture by Takashi Murakami, one of the most recognisable figures in the world of contemporary art. 
	 –  The Cornelia Parker exhibition at the Museum of Contemporary Art Australia was the artist’s first major retrospective in the Southern Hemisphere, encompassing works across three decades. Highlights included six major installation works Cold Dark Matter: An Exploded View (1991) and War Room (2015), as well as a new commission made specifically for the MCA exhibition.
	•  The 2020 Sydney Festival program presented 109 events and 458 performances across theatre, dance, music (contemporary and classical), cabaret, large-scale outdoor events, visual arts, forums and workshops. The program championed access (27 free events), diversity (1,200 participating artists from Australia and 10 countries) and the presentation of new Australian work. The 2020 event included 44 Co-Commissioned Works, 20 Australian Exclusives and 9 Australian Premieres.
	•  Chicago, the multi award-winning, record-breaking musical, premiered in Sydney in August 2019, starring Casey Donovan, Natalie Bassingthwaite and Alinta Chidzey.
	•  Gondwana World Choral Festival saw hundreds of young choristers converge on Sydney in July 2019 for a six-day celebration of voice. The festival enabled Sydney Children’s Choir and Gondwana Indigenous Children’s Choir to develop strong relationships with participating international choirs from USA, France, Estonia, Latvia, Canada, Japan and China. The festival opened and closed with sold out performances at the Sydney Opera House.
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	Sport and Strategic Events
	Sport and Strategic Events
	•  The final and deciding game of the 2019 State of Origin Series saw the NSW Blues defeat the Queensland Maroons 26-20 at ANZ Stadium. The Blues scored the winning try with only 32 seconds left in the match to clinch the series in front of 82,565 screaming fans.
	•  In men’s tennis, the inaugural ATP Cup saw the world’s top 24 nations play across three host cities — Brisbane, Perth and Sydney — in the group stages. Sydney hosted the final stages at the redeveloped Ken Rosewall Arena at Sydney Olympic Park Tennis Centre. The Australian team, featuring Nick Kyrgios and Alex de Minaur, advanced to the Semi Finals where they were eventually defeated by Spain. The Final between Spain and Serbia saw the world’s top two players Rafael Nadal and Novak Djokovic compete in Sy
	•  The ICC Women’s T20 World Cup 2020 attracted 136,549 spectators, the highest ever attendance for a women’s sporting event in Australia. The tournament was also the most watched women’s cricket event ever with 1.1 billion video views across International Cricket Council (ICC) digital channels. Sydney hosted both semi-final matches at the Sydney Cricket Ground, in addition to five group matches at the Sydney Showground Stadium. To celebrate the commencement of the ICC Women’s T20 World Cup, a number of Aus
	World Rally Championships 
	On 12 November 2019, Rally Australia announced that due to the serious bushfire affecting much of Northern NSW and the State of Emergency declaration by the Premier, Kennards Hire Rally Australia, including the final round of the 2019 FIA World Rally Championship, would not proceed. The event owner’s decision followed extensive consultation with the NSW Government, the international sport’s governing body (FIA), emergency services and the local community. The event owner decided that it was not appropriate 
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	Lifestyle Portfolio
	•  The 2019 Blackmores Sydney Running Festival featured over 40,000 runners. This was a seven per cent increase on 2018, with the flagship Sydney Marathon (5,242 runners) participation up by almost 20 per cent. The Blackmores Sydney Running Festival – a legacy event of the Sydney 2000 Olympic Games – has a larger field than the equivalent festivals in the Gold Coast and Melbourne, even though both have been in existence for over 40 years.
	•  The Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo visited Sydney with all the fanfare of the iconic Scottish festival. Set against a full-size replica of Edinburgh Castle, the four shows featured over 1,400 military and cultural performers from around the world.
	•  The Sydney Surf Pro was the opening event of the newly announced World Surf League Challenger Series at Manly Beach. Four-time WSL World Champion Carissa Moore (USA) won the women’s event, with Italy’s Leonardo Fioravanti taking out the men’s title. More than 20 other world tour surfers featured in the field of 172 professionals with over 100 pro-junior competitors also participating. The Sydney Surf Pro finished a day earlier than scheduled after the WSL’s decision to cancel upcoming events due to COVID
	Business Activation Portfolio
	•  Sydney hosted the 33rd annual ARIA Awards to support the city’s position as a globally recognised music destination. The 2019 line-up included Tones & I, Guy Sebastian, Hilltop Hoods, Human Nature and Morgan Evans, alongside international guests Khalid, Halsey and Dua Lipa. The event was broadcast on Channel 9 and a new partnership with YouTube Music shared the ARIA Awards for the first time with international audiences through a global live stream, replays and best-of performances.
	•  The 9th Australian Academy of Cinema and Television Awards (AACTA Awards) were held at The Star Event Centre, hosted by Shane Jacobsen and broadcast on Network Seven. Presenters included notable Australian talent such as Dr George Miller, Rachel Griffiths, Tim Minchin, Pia Miranda, Sigrid Thornton and Julia Morris. Sam Neill received the Longford Lyell Award, Australia’s highest screen accolade, in recognition of his lifetime achievement and contribution to Australian film and television. The AACTA Award
	•  Destination NSW partnered with Vogue Australia to produce a bespoke experiential and editorial campaign showcasing Sydney and regional NSW in celebrating 60 years of Vogue. The campaign celebrated the beauty, culture, diversity and innovation of NSW, and included fashion shoots, a location shoot in Byron Bay and profiles on local venues, beaches and arts companies.
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	The team’s approach to marketing changed in 2019-2020, especially regional marketing, which has and continues to evolve to respond to multiple crises throughout the year. 
	The team’s approach to marketing changed in 2019-2020, especially regional marketing, which has and continues to evolve to respond to multiple crises throughout the year. 
	Digital Performance and Technology
	The Digital Performance team advanced a number of key initiatives in 2019-2020 with a focus on improved understanding of consumer behaviour, data-driven digital marketing performance and organisational capability. Working with Havas Media as our key implementation partner, Google Analytics 360 was implemented in July 2019. This initiative delivered a range of outcomes including:
	•  A full audit and management of Google Analytics 360 and Google Tag Manager accounts 
	•  Data strategy development
	•  ‘Insight of the Month’ analysis pieces for Destination NSW Marketing team 
	•  Lead score planning and development
	•  First party data audience building and initialcampaign testing
	 

	•  Platform maintenance and optimisations
	•  Organisational-wide Google Analytics Training Sessions.
	Destination NSW will continue to work with Havas Media to service our Google Analytics 360 platform with the addition of Google Optimise 360, which will be instrumental in delivering our conversion rate optimisation program across our consumer websites.
	Paid Search and Search Engine Optimisation continued to bea key digital channel that delivered performance for both Always On activity as well as marketing campaigns. The bushfire disasters followed by the COVID-19 crisis saw this activity paused intermittently throughout the second half of the year.
	 

	Looking forward we will continue to grow our YouTube channel strategy and performance program in 2020-2021 with a focus on increasing subscribers, video views and channel engagement across both Sydney and Visit NSW.
	We will also continue to focus attention on our consumer websites as we look to build the world’s best Destination Marketing Organisation websites across design, user experience, content and technology. 
	Digital Projects and Development 
	The Digital Projects and Development Team worked on a series of Customer Experience (CX) projects to advance onsite engagement and conversion across Destination NSW consumer websites. This work included consumer research and user testing to deliver a contextual map experience across visitnsw.com and sydney.com, providing world-class geographical and digital planning tools that enhance the NSW visitor experience, encourage deeper exploration and provide contextual information.
	A redesign of the sydney.com and visitnsw.com product list and product pages was implemented, including new accessibility filters, deals and attributes to increase visitor engagement, ease of navigation and tourism operator leads. The design and release of an enhanced, mobile optimised mega menu improved navigation and access to content. 
	Building and supporting the regional and event funding microsites, to allow event owners to upload applications to apply for funding across NSW. All microsites now integrate with Salesforce, improving tracking and stakeholder management. 
	A cyber security risk audit in partnership with Deloitte, was designed to analyse the business infrastructure. It identified threats and vulnerabilities, exposing weaknesses and high-risk practices. The audit has improved the organisation’s security awareness, strengthened security posture with regular testing, and provided up to date policies and checklists to prevent comprehensive and multi-layered attacks. 
	Digital Content and Distribution
	During 2019-20 the team maintained the Always On content schedule for visitnsw.com and sydney.com, covering over 1,000 content pages promoting NSW destinations, experiences and providing travel information. This work required close collaboration with industry partners to ensure fresh, current, quality products are featured. 
	A highlight was the Love NSW interactive map and trip planner, developed to showcase NSW and Sydney products that inspire travellers to plan and book their next trip. The Love NSW interactive map encourages users to add products to their planner and share them with their friends or family.  
	The development of a new Digital Consumer Content Strategy created a future proof framework for all consumer marketing content, publishing, curation, effective distribution and modern editorial governance across Destination NSW marketing channels and integrated media campaigns. The strategy includes the new content vision, brand values, content themes, editorial governance, content guidelines and recalibrated metrics that test the quality of content against key target audience behaviours. 
	Looking ahead the team will focus on the delivery of a content planning and implementation program.
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	Get Connected Program 
	Get Connected Program 
	Destination NSW’s Get Connected program gives tourism operators across NSW the opportunity to showcase their products across flagship consumer websites for free.  Powered by the Australian Tourism Data Warehouse (ATDW), the team rolled out several new features in Get Connected during the year to enhance tourism promotion in NSW:
	•  Deals and Offers section available enabling operators to further promote their business.  
	•  Product page design and build to integrate deals and offers data on Visitnsw.com and sydney.com.
	•  Accessibility filters across the websites, allowing consumers to filter products by their specific requirements. The accessible tourism market has been assessed to be the current size of the Chinese market, so catering for it is very important.
	•  Dedicated page for tour operators plus a web page per tour service, providing a better user experience and further exposure for tour operators. 
	During 2019-2020, Destination NSW, tourism operators and industry partners made approximately 56,000 updates to Get Connected, an average of 153 product updates per day.
	Consumer Social Media
	During 2019-2020 Destination NSW maintained Always On 365 days a year consumer social media activities, promoting Sydney and regional NSW across Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, WeChat, Weibo and Douyin in our domestic and priority international source markets.
	In response to natural disasters and COVID-19, the team developed an agile approach to content, with the focus moving to the dreaming and planning phases of travel planning. Despite this change in strategy, the Sydney and Visit NSW social channels (Facebook, Instagram, Twitter) continued to drive strong results, reaching a combined 228 million people with over 65 million engagements, delivering a year on year (YoY) increase of 250 per cent. 
	Organic content in China reached a combined 3.45 million people and our community size on Weibo, WeChat and Douyin increased by 3.52 per cent YoY. 
	To keep up with the ever-changing social media landscape the social media team delivered a number of key projects, focussing on improved performance and consumer engagement. Highlights of the social media programs include:
	•  Appointment of new specialist social media agency for social media management of the Always On consumer social media channels
	•  Development of a new social media strategy including the adoption of a full funnel approach for both content creation and media
	•  Development of Datorama dashboards for paid social media reporting
	•  Refined and optimised existing Sprinklr dashboards for organic social media reporting, working to ensure consistency in metric measurement
	•  Social media sentiment/listening benchmarking
	• Facebook tourism recovery asset creation with Genero
	•  Creation of two Social Augmented Reality (AR) filters ‘Where to go in NSW’ and ‘Explore Sydney’
	•  Development of a suite of Sydney and regional NSWGIFS/stickers.
	 


	 Despite the challenges of 
	 Despite the challenges of 
	 Despite the challenges of 
	 
	 2020, our social channels 
	reached a combined 228 million 
	people with over 65 million 
	engagements, delivering a YoY 
	increase of 250 per cent.
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	Regional Campaigns
	Regional Campaigns
	Destination NSW continued to deliver for regional NSW, placing rural and regional destinations, events, and experiences at the heart of what it does. 
	In 2019-2020, the team implemented the last round of Regional Tourism Fund campaigns with partners. They also focussed on delivering whole-of-state programs aimed at bushfire and COVID-19 recovery. 
	A Drought Resilience program was formulated in the first quarter, however with the devastating bushfire season, floods and then COVID-19, the tourism recovery marketing program grew in scale and importance and evolved to meet the ever-growing challenges faced by our State. 
	The success of the marketing program was its central proposition Now’s The Time To Love NSW that was key to generating civic pride, a sense of community and advocacy amongst NSW residents. The program’s adaptability across source markets and experiences cemented it as a strong brand for the State. 
	Destination NSW implemented an Always On approach via paid and organic social media to keep the state top-of-mind while generating deferred demand for when travel restrictions and traveller confidence returned. When regional NSW travel restrictions were lifted in June 2020 an omni-channel high impact campaign comprising of TV, radio and digital advertising was delivered resulting in just under 60,000 leads to NSW tourism operators.

	While some activities were paused due to the introduction of COVID-19 travel restrictions, the team delivered several highlights including:
	While some activities were paused due to the introduction of COVID-19 travel restrictions, the team delivered several highlights including:
	•  Continuation of the successful Unspoilt campaign in partnership with Sydney Surrounds South and Southern NSW Destination Networks and Shellharbour, Kiama, Shoalhaven and Sapphire Coast LGAs.
	•  Make It Maitland, the first social-only, co-operative marketing campaign with digital channels owned by the partner and advertising and content plans managed by Destination NSW. Followers to the My Maitland Instagram account grew by 29.3 per cent during the campaign period.
	•  Eurobodalla All Kinds of Natural, a new brand and awareness campaign for the region resulting in a 23 per cent increase in holiday consideration among campaign recognisers.
	 

	•  It’s Out There, the first campaign for the Broken Hill Central Darling Shire region in more than five years was launched at the International Media Market Place (for Travel Media). The campaign included a new brand as well as new image and video assets.
	•  Launched Port Stephens Incredible by Nature campaign featuring a new brand and refreshed image and video library via an online webcast with more than 80 industry operators joining the stream
	•  Now’s The Time To Love NSW recovery campaign launched in February 2020. While activities were paused from mid-March until 1 June 2020 when regional NSW travel was once again permitted, results show that website traffic increased by 154 per cent in the first month and the campaign has achieved one of the highest recognition levels.
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	Events Campaigns
	Events Campaigns
	Campaigns promoting the Sydney and NSW events calendar continued from July 2019, using the It’s ON! campaign platform. Some activities were paused following the introduction of travel restrictions and prohibition of public gatherings causing the cancellation of events due to COVID-19. 
	The It’s ON! in Sydney campaign activities focused on greater targeting of events aligned with audience interests which generated higher levels of awareness and response rates. Results showed that 18 per cent of the target source market recognising the campaign made a booking as a result of exposure to it; 22 per cent decided to go and 28 per cent expanded their existing itineraries. 
	The It’s ON! in NSW campaign increased event awareness and intention to visit NSW; with 16 per cent of the target market recognising the campaign making a booking as a result of exposure to it. Nine per cent decided to go and 18 per cent expanded their existing itineraries.
	Design Studio
	Design Studio

	Destination NSW’s in-house Design Studio had a remarkably busy year supporting several key initiatives across Destination NSW including:
	•  Now’s the Time to Love NSW Prospectus campaign creative production of online, social assets to help local councils align with the Love NSW campaign platform
	•  Supporting an Industry Travel Trade campaign by producing many creative outputs for both online and offline promotion
	•  Creating the brand and industry toolkit for Great Southern Nights to help the entertainment, hospitality and services industry get back on its feet
	•  Creating an accessible online version of the NSW Wine Regions Industry Toolkit which includes key NSW wine regions, local attractions, accommodation options, gourmet highlights and a selection of wineries to promote
	•  Creating the 2020 Destination NSW Brand Guidelines for corporate governance, guidance on brand usage and owning Destination NSW brand assets for greater alignment within the business to become more effective in our brand communications.
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	Looking into the Future
	Looking into the Future
	During the year the marketing division took the opportunity to reset and create a work framework to address the COVID-19 pandemic challenges, planning and preparing for the future. The future focus program of work is evolving on several fronts.
	Development of the 2020-2021Marketing Blueprint 
	 

	An evidence-based strategic framework to reimagine destination marketing founded on global best practice to accelerate travel demand for the competitive benefit of our industry. A number of strategies have been fast tracked to add maximum impact at this important time including:
	•  A new global Sydney and NSW branding strategy and creative brand architecture
	•  A revitalised Vivid Sydney brand
	•  New integrated media strategy planning tools and Customer Decision Journey, with emphasis on digital engagement and improved targeting
	•  Significant new statewide road trip strategy
	•  Organisation-wide consumer content strategy
	•  Updated priority audience strategy
	•  Key digital transformation projects fast-tracking the performance of the conversion rate to lead generationto our industry
	 

	•  Developed a high performance future-readymarketing team.
	 

	New South Wales and Sydney Brand Development
	The need for a NSW and Sydney brand refresh cannot be underestimated at this point in time, with domestic competition to win the hearts and minds of visitors more acute than ever. The brand refresh is a key priority to support tourism sector recovery post COVID-19. This work will include strategic brand positioning, identity architecture and audience prioritisation.
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	Regional Event Development
	Regional Event Development
	Fourteen major events were secured or retained for regional NSW in 2019-2020. These include new events such as the 100 Festival in the Blue Mountains and Mudgee Classic cycling event, and Deni Ute Muster, Wings Over Illawarra and Bathurst 12 Hour.
	In 2020, $1 million (excl. GST) was made available to support events in regional NSW as part of the Bushfire Recovery Plan, through two funding streams as follows:
	•  $700,000 through the existing Flagship Event stream of the Regional Event Fund, which offered grants to assist events to market themselves to visitors from outside their immediate regions and drive tourism
	•  $300,000 through a new funding stream offering grants of $10,000 (excl. GST) to ‘micro events’, community-based events with the capacity to harmonise, build engagement and stimulate local economies, particularly in bushfire or drought-affected areas.
	A total of 59 grants were awarded through the Regional Event Fund in 2020, 30 through the Flagship Event stream and 29 through the Micro Event stream. Full details are on page 89.
	Many events awarded grants through the 2020 Regional Event Fund had to be cancelled due to COVID-19 and grants have been deferred to 2021.
	Regional Tourism Development
	Regional Tourism Development

	Regional Tourism Development Managers are the interface between Destination NSW, the six Destination Networks and their regional stakeholders, including Local Tourism Organisations, Local Governments, Industry Associations and operators.
	The Regional Tourism Development Managers develop and maintain stakeholder relationships, providing guidance and encouraging participation in Destination NSW programsand resources. 
	 

	Regional Tourism Fund
	The Regional Tourism Fund ended on 30 June 2019. No further program funding was announced by the NSW Government in 2019-2020. 
	Projects funded through the Regional Tourism Fund continue to be managed until they are satisfactorily implemented and all milestones have been met. At the conclusion of the reporting period, there were 22 ongoing projects.
	Destination NSW continues to provide guidance and support to the tourism industry in developing new, and improving existing, tourism products and experiences. The team maintains a database of industry stakeholders interested in future funding opportunities.
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	Regional Conferencing 
	Regional Conferencing 
	The Regional Conferencing unit supports the business events sector, which presents significant growth opportunities for regional destinations and is a focus for driving the NSW visitor economy.  
	Destination NSW continued to deliver the NSW Regional Conferencing Strategy and Action Plan 2017 – 2021.The following key deliverables were achieved during the reporting period: 
	 

	EDUCATION
	•  Industry workshops - hosted eight industry workshops on the value of business events to regional NSW 
	•  MEA scholarships - applications invited (June 2020) for 12 scholarships to be awarded for students across regional NSW to undertake a Diploma of Event Management via Meetings and Events Australia (MEA)
	•  Industry resources - produced a Client Brief template and a series of factsheets showcasing the business events capacity of 38 destinations across regional NSW
	•  Capacity building sponsorship - sponsored six tourism professionals from across regional NSW to attend the Australian Association of Convention Bureaux (AACB) annual conference in Melbourne
	PROMOTION
	•  Business Development - secured 21 business events for regional NSW locations and provided assistance in securing an additional 13 events 
	•  Trade show activity - represented Destination NSW at six industry trade shows throughout the financial year, including driving the largest ever contingent (29 regional NSW operators and destinations) to attend the Asia Pacific Incentives Meetings Event (AIME) in February 2020in Melbourne
	 

	•  Familiarisations - supported seven business events familiarisations across regional NSW to assist destinations in securing events for their region 
	•  Industry partnerships
	 –  #backingthebush — announced an expanded partnership between Destination NSW, Business NSW and Business Events Sydney to support the State’s visitor economy by facilitating meetings, conferences and corporate events in all parts of the state
	 –  #EventHereThisYear — worked closely with Tourism Australia to develop their domestic focused business events campaign
	RESEARCH
	•  Published a research report relating to the value of business events to regional NSW, compiling data from sponsored business events detailing the visitor spend, jobs generated and regional benefits of conferencing in regional NSW.
	Visitor Services
	The Visitor Services team works with government and industry stakeholders on projects to improve visitor servicing and wayfinding throughout NSW.
	In 2019-2020 the Visitor Services team, in collaboration with TAFE NSW, conducted 14 volunteer management training workshops throughout NSW. Over 160 visitor information centre staff from 55 visitor centres attended the training, which focused on how to attract, train, motivate and retain volunteers.
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	Aboriginal Tourism
	Aboriginal Tourism
	Destination NSW continued its work with the NSW Aboriginal Tourism Operators Council (NATOC) to support the development and distribution of Aboriginal tourism experiences in NSW. Implementation of the Aboriginal Tourism Action Plan 2017-2020 continued throughout the year, along with activities to raise awareness of Aboriginal experiences in NSW.
	The 24 actions in the Plan were developed in consultation with Aboriginal tourism stakeholders for completion under four major goals: 
	•  Continue to build consumer awareness of Sydney and regional NSW as destinations where Aboriginal culture is strong, vibrant and diverse
	•  Increase the inclusion of export-ready experiences in travel trade distribution networks and marketing programs
	•  Develop new sustainable market-ready and export-ready Aboriginal cultural tourism products and events
	•  Build on the success of cross-cultural exchange between NSW Aboriginal cultural tourism, Government and Destination Networks.
	Almost 90 per cent of the actions (21 out of 24) in the Aboriginal Tourism Action Plan 2017-2020 are now completed or are ongoing. The COVID-19 pandemic disrupted the implementation of the three remaining actions, two of which are currently in planning and one is in progress.
	The Aboriginal Tourism Mentoring Pilot Program, a collaborative six-month phased program developed by the NATOC in partnership with Destination Country and Outback and Destination NSW commenced in May 2020. A maximum of 12 Aboriginal-owned tourism businesses are taking part in the program, which aims to complement Destination NSW’s NSW First Workshop Program and continue to build authentic and sustainable Aboriginal tourism businesses in line with the NSW Aboriginal Tourism Action Plan 2017 - 2020.
	Destination NSW was represented on the Senior Officer Group panel and site visits assessing applications to the $20 million Regional Growth Environment and Tourism Fund (Stream Four – Indigenous Tourism). Nine projects were shortlisted through this process.
	Destination NSW met regularly with TAFE NSW to discuss the development of a nationally accredited Aboriginal Tourism training program, an action item in the Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030. TAFE NSW has invited Destination NSW, NATOC, National Parks and Wildlife Service and other relevant stakeholders to contribute to a discussion paper that will inform the training program.
	COVID-19 impacted a number of activities supporting Aboriginal tourism during the year. This included the NATOC seller booth at the Australian Tourism Exchange to support five new and existing Aboriginal export ready tourism businesses to grow inbound sales relationships at Australia’s key inbound travel trade event. The Destination NSW Aboriginal Tourism Experience Development Workshop Program and Aboriginal Tourism Cultural Awareness Program developed in conjunction with NATOC was also paused due to COVID
	Destination NSW also met with the National Indigenous Australians Agency (NIAA) to provide an update on the effect of COVID-19 on Aboriginal-owned tourism businesses in NSW.
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	Food and Wine Tourism 
	Food and Wine Tourism 
	Destination NSW continued its partnership with NSW Wine Industry Association on the Capturing Growth in Wine Regions State Grant Program to support a collaborative, strategic approach to attracting and maximising international wine tourism in NSW. The program was due to be completed by June 2020, however it has been extended to June 2021 following delays in delivering some components due to bushfires and COVID-19.  
	The key outcomes of this project in 2019-2020 were:
	•  A regional audit and gap analysis across all 14 NSW wine regions examining the strengths, gaps, challenges and opportunities of each region. All wine regions received reports outlining the gaps and opportunities for their region. Six key regions were identified to target the international market.
	•  Delivered six Sip, Chat and Discover – The Wine Tourism Opportunity tourism development workshops tailored for wineries through the NSW First Program. The workshops encouraged wineries to create bookable experiences for distribution to domestic and international visitors. 
	 –  184 people from wineries across NSW participated in these events
	 –  As a result of the workshops, bookable wine tourism experiences in NSW increased from approximately10 to over 100
	 

	•  Developed resources to assist the travel trade  to include NSW wine experiences in their itineraries:
	 –  Wine Regions of NSW – A toolkit for the trade – includes six destination fact sheets providing information for the travel trade  on  commissionable products 
	 –  Six wine region destination videos featuring interviews with local heroes, winemakers and winery owners providing insights and  inspiration about each region
	•  Completed an extensive content capture program, which produced new video and images from seven NSW wine regions. Tourism businesses, media, trade and regional stakeholders can use the images and footage to promote NSW wine tourism experiences.
	Implementation of the Food and Wine Strategy & Action Plan 2018-2022 continues. Destination NSW incorporates the food and wine sector broadly in many of its marketing, publicity, partnership and industry support activities.
	In 2019, Destination NSW was involved in implementing the NSW Independent Brewers Action Plan to support the economic development of the independent brewing industry in the state. The Action Plan was developed as part of the NSW Government’s Food and Beverage Manufacturing Industry Development Strategy and the NSW Food and Wine Tourism Strategy and Action Plan.
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	Cruise Ship Tourism
	Cruise Ship Tourism
	In 2019-2020, Sydney maintained its position as Australia’s pre-eminent cruise destination, hosting 277 cruise ship visits and accommodating close to 1.2 million passenger exchanges. Vessels visiting Sydney for the first time, included Boudicca, Explorer Dream, Carnival Splendor and Vasco Da Gama.
	Regional ports in NSW including Newcastle, Eden and Port Kembla received 36 cruise ships visits, up from 31 in 2018-2019. 
	From 27 March until 17 June 2020, the Australian Government prohibited the arrival at any Australian port of any cruise ship that has left a foreign port, due to COVID-19. This cruise ban was later extended to 17 December 2020. 
	Prior to these restrictions, the Sydney Cruise Ship Meet and Greet program was extremely popular with both passengers and the cruise lines. From 1 July 2019 to February 2020 program volunteers welcomed 12,125 passengers at the Overseas Passenger Terminal and White Bay Terminal. This represents a 22 per cent increase on the previous year.
	Newcastle’s visitation fell from 15 cruise visits in 2018-2019 to 12 cruise visits prior to the COVID-19 cruise ban. The season boasted two maiden voyages, with visits from Explorer Dream and Sea Princess.  
	The south coast port of Eden saw a 20 per cent increase in cruise ship visits in 2019-20 season with 18 visits compared to 15 visits in 2018-2019. Pacific Aria, Voyager of the Seas, Explorer Dream, Seven Seas Navigator and Queen Elizabeth all made maiden voyages to Eden during the season. Bushfires in January 2020 and COVID-19 resulted in the cancellation of 15 cruise visits after 15 March, which would have seen Eden experience its biggest season ever. 
	Port Kembla received five cruise ships visits in 2019-2020 compared to one in the previous season. All visits occurred in March/April 2020 following redeployments from other ports due to COVID-19. Port Kembla assisted the cruise industry through the COVID-19 crisis by allowing vessels to berth so that they could reprovision in preparation for their journey home.
	Destination NSW attended the Australian Cruise Association 2019 Conference from 4-6 September in Geelong, Victoria, and produced the Cruise Sydney & New South Wales Along the Blue Highway guide for the event.

	For more information:visitnsw.com/cruiseportauthority.com.aucruise@dnsw.com.auAlong the Blue HighwayCRUISE SYDNEY  & NEW SOUTH WALES
	Trade and Industry Development
	Trade and Industry Development

	In 2019-2020, Destination NSW continued delivery of the NSW First Program, designed to assist NSW tourism businesses to develop, promote and sell tourism products. NSW First comprises two activity streams: tourism product development and travel industry training.
	In 2019-2020, Destination NSW continued delivery of the NSW First Program, designed to assist NSW tourism businesses to develop, promote and sell tourism products. NSW First comprises two activity streams: tourism product development and travel industry training.
	Tourism Product Development 
	The NSW First Program delivered 21 workshops in 17 locations, across all Destination Networks and Sydney, in addition to one webinar, attracting a total of 1,075 participants. Following the workshops 92 per cent of survey respondents indicated they were satisfied or very satisfied with the events they attended. 
	Workshop topics included Inbound Strategy, Seller Training, Digital Marketing Tips and the Wine Tourism Opportunity.The webinar detailed digital opportunities to be involved in the Love NSW campaign. 
	 

	Twenty-nine new online resources were created in 2019-2020, including seven Quick Tips for Tourism Recovery guides to assist businesses through the challenges of COVID-19, and 22 tourism business case studies.
	Travel Industry Training 
	Training resources were developed for travel distributors, including 10 destination videos for trade audiences, six updated trade product fact sheets, and the new NSW Wine Regions trade toolkit and videos. 
	Support of the Aussie Specialist Program continued with additional content for two online training modules and four newsletters targeting Aussie Specialist travel agents. 
	Travel Trade Events
	Three trade events were delivered in 2019-2020: Focus on Greater China 2019, USA Roadshow 2019 and South Korea Roadshow 2019. In 2020, five Destination NSW trade events were cancelled due to COVID-19: Chinese New Year ITO lunch, Focus on India 2020, New Product Workshop, Sip & Explore: Wine Experiences in NSW and the Destination NSW UK & Europe Roadshow. Australian Tourism Exchange was also cancelled.
	Delivery of the International Trade Events Webinar Program commenced in June 2020 in response to the global COVID-19 pandemic and ongoing international travel restrictions to replace face-to-face business trade events. 
	Three digital events consisting of 10 webinars were delivered in 2019-2020, targeting travel distributors in UK, Europe, South Korea and China. Nine NSW tourism suppliers participated in the UK/Europe webinars with 350 key trade buyers viewing the webinars online. Seven NSW tourism suppliers participated in the South Korea digital events with 112 key tourism buyers viewing online.  Sixteen NSW tourism suppliers participated in the China digital events with 3,949 key tourism buyers viewing online.
	International Trade Familiarisation Visits
	Destination NSW offers a comprehensive annual  trade familiarisation program focused on priority international markets where it partners with airlines and travel providers on joint promotional campaigns. Fifty per cent of scheduled trade familiarisations in 2019-2020 were cancelled due to COVID-19. However, the team delivered 29 individual familiarisation visits for more than 289 participants. 
	Industry Sponsorships and Events
	In 2019-2020, Destination NSW worked in partnership with a number of key industry associations, including:
	•  Sponsorship of the Local Government NSW Tourism Conference, held in Jindabyne from 16-18 March 2020 and attended by 130 delegates from across the State
	•  The Minister’s Student Achiever Award 2019 acknowledging academically high-achieving tourism and hospitality students. Thirteen individuals received awards from the Hon Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney at Parliament House on 26 September 2019
	•  Major sponsor of the 2019 NSW Tourism Awards held at the Four Seasons Hotel on 14 November 2019. Managed by the NSW Business Chamber, the awards celebrate excellence in the tourism industry through recognition of tourism products and individuals who have made an outstanding contribution to the industry
	•  Sponsored two awards in the Tourism Accommodation Australia (NSW) Awards for Excellence held on 25 July 2019 at The Star, Sydney. The awards are recognised as the hospitality industry’s most prestigious awards, honouring excellence in the accommodation sector
	•  Sponsorship of the NSW Wine Industry Association and Restaurant & Catering Association 2019 and NSW Sommelier’s Wine List Awards held at Parliament House on 18 October 2019. The Hon Stuart Ayres MP, Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney presented the awards on the evening.
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	The Partnerships team works with airlines, Online Travel Agents (OTAs) and trade partners on conversion campaigns that drive visitation to Sydney and NSW. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, all partnership campaigns were initially paused and then cancelled from March 2020 as international and state borders closed and travel restrictions were introduced across key source markets.
	The Partnerships team works with airlines, Online Travel Agents (OTAs) and trade partners on conversion campaigns that drive visitation to Sydney and NSW. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, all partnership campaigns were initially paused and then cancelled from March 2020 as international and state borders closed and travel restrictions were introduced across key source markets.
	International Campaign Activity
	Launch of ‘Love Sydney & NSW’International Social Media Campaign
	 

	Destination NSW launched its first direct to consumer, international social media campaign in May 2020, delivering inspirational destination content across paid social media channels in our key source markets. 
	As our key international source markets were in various stages of isolation and lockdown due to COVID-19, online media consumption hours were increasing including social media channels. The objective of this campaign was to keep Sydney and NSW destinations top of mind as places to visit when travel can resume. 
	The international social media campaign was in market from May to June 2020, targeting high value travellers in the United States, New Zealand, United Kingdom, India, Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia. The campaign media channels were Facebook, Instagram and YouTube and included short format videos covering the key pillars of nature and wildlife, food and wine, adventure and Sydney iconic experiences. The campaign delivered more than 260 million impressions, over 850,000 clicks through to sydney.com, and mo
	Launch of ‘Love Sydney & NSW’ Campaign in New Zealand
	Destination NSW launched its tourism recovery campaign, Love Sydney & NSW, which included new TV, social and digital creative featuring NSWs diverse landscapes and alluring experiences to inspire travellers around the globe.
	The commercial debuted in New Zealand during Tourism Australia’s special edition of The Project, ‘The Love Australia project’, and was supported by ‘Live from Aus’ social media activity to encourage people to dream about and plan a NSW holiday for when borders reopen.
	The Love Sydney & NSW campaign continued in June and included television, digital video and PR activity to target high value travellers in New Zealand. The campaign objective was to increase awareness, appeal and intention to travel to Sydney and NSW by showcasing inspirational content to target consumers at the dreaming and planning phase. The campaign creative consisted of 15 and 30 second television commercials and digital display and videos. The digital campaign delivered more than 2.4 million impressio
	Social Media Activities in China
	During 2019-2020, Destination NSW maintained an Always On 365 day a year consumer social media campaign promoting Sydney and Regional NSW on WeChat, Weibo and Douyin to our China source market. 
	In the second half of 2019-2020, Destination NSW developed an agile approach to content focusing only on the upper funnel dreaming and planning phases due to natural disasters and the COVID-19 pandemic. Destination NSW’s organic content reached a combined 3.45 million people and our community size on Weibo, WeChat and Douyin increased by 3.52 per cent YoY.
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	Domestic Partnership Activity
	Domestic Partnership Activity
	Love NSW Domestic Campaign
	In February 2020, Destination NSW launched the first phase of its disaster recovery campaign #RecoveryWeekend, which promoted travel to regional NSW with a focus on destinations that had been affected by bushfires and were open for business. The Domestic Partnerships team delivered co-operative marketing campaign activity with nine investing and non-investing partners including online travel agencies, hotels, travel wholesalers and retailers, airlines and holiday letting agencies. 
	The second phase Now’s the Time to Love NSW launched in March 2020 and evolved into a COVID-19 recovery strategy which will run until June 2021. 
	Tourism Australia Domestic Partnership
	On 19 January 2020, the Commonwealth Government announced a tourism recovery package that provided funding to the states and territories for domestic marketing initiatives. As part of this funding package, Tourism Australia and Destination NSW delivered a partnership marketing program under the Holiday Here This Year campaign platform. The campaign’s objective was to stimulate travel to bushfire affected regions. Activity was paused in March due to COVID-19 and has since recommenced in May with the focus sh
	Domestic Partnerships 
	Destination NSW worked with multiple partners to promote Sydney, regional NSW and key events in its primary interstate markets of South-East Queensland, ACT and Victoria. 
	In 2019-2020, Destination NSW continued its successful partnerships with a range of partners including Qantas Airways and Accor Hotels:
	•  Qantas AirwaysDestination NSW and Qantas Airways developed an integrated and strategic partnership across multiple touchpoints to increase flight bookings to Sydney and across their regional NSW network.
	 

	Key Highlights:
	-  Meet the Maker content series evolved to include the NSW North Coast. The campaign was in market from October to December 2019, highlighting the Byron and Tweed regions and featured two local producers: Byron Bay Cookie Company and Brookie’s Gin. The two episodes streamed on Qantas inflight entertainment over a four-week period and shared on Qantas’ owned channels including Facebook and Instagram. 
	-  In August 2019, Destination NSW and Qantas Airways undertook a tactical campaign to promote travel toSydney and regional NSW destinations from keyinterstate markets.
	 
	 

	•  Accor HotelsDestination NSW and Accor Hotels developed an integrated and targeted partnership promoting key properties across the state. The strategy includes dynamic social media campaigns, radio partnership with Nine Radio and digital marketing. 
	 

	Regional NSW Partnership Activity
	In 2019-2020, a key focus was to support and promote regional NSW destinations as part of the Destination NSW disaster recovery strategy. Campaigns were developed as a part of the #RecoveryWeekend and Now’s the Time to Love NSW activity with partners including Qantas Airways, TripAdvisor, Accor hotels, Webjet, Helloworld, Flight Centre, Stayz and Tigerair. 
	Selling Events through Partnerships
	In 2019-2020, the Partnership Programs team worked with over 40 event partners to disperse event content and packages through partner distribution channels. Destination NSW also continued its strategic partnerships with Ticketek and Ticketmaster to promote events in targeted intrastate, interstate and international markets.

	Communications
	Communications
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	PR Activity Highlights 2019-2020
	PR Activity Highlights 2019-2020
	In October 2019, Destination NSW hosted US based, Australian celebrity chef and media personality, Curtis Stone, in Sydney and NSW to film a dedicated NSW episode for season two of his TV show, Field Trip with Curtis Stone. Featured locations included Sydney, Tweed, South Coast and Hunter Valley. The season premiered on PBS in the US in October 2020, with Australian distribution in negotiation.
	To support and amplify the announcement of Lord Howe Island’s inclusion in Lonely Planet’s Best in Travel 2020 List, Destination NSW hosted a group of top tier international and domestic Key Opinion Leaders (KOLs) on Lord Howe Island and Sydney in October 2019. The group was a mix of influential travel KOLs from China, USA, UK and Australia who drove awareness of Lord Howe Island and NSW by sharing their experiences, and the announcement, live with a global audience of millions.
	The PR team supported the launch of Destination NSW’s Tourism Recovery Program - Now’s The Time To Love NSW in February with proactive media outreach to more than 3,190 domestic and international media. The team also secured a full week of Today Show weather broadcasts from locations across the state, a full show Today Show and Today Extra broadcast on location in Batemans Bay, and 17 media famils to bushfire affected regions of NSW. 
	Destination NSW launched the It’s Out There Broken Hill and Central Darling Regional Tourism Fund campaign to more than 200 media at the Travmedia International Media Marketplace in February by creating a pop-up of the iconic Bells Milk Bar and full schedule of media interviews and appointments for the Broken Hill Mayor. 
	In April 2020, the PR team launched a series of virtual workshops to deliver NSW experiences to media at home to support story placement while travel restrictions were in place. The Workshop themes were developed to replicate some of NSW’s key lifestyle experiences most impacted by COVID-19 restrictions. 
	During April and May, the PR team delivered 25 workshops comprising: cocktail masterclasses, NSW wine appreciation and yoga classes to 185 participants comprising travel and lifestyle media, influencers and industry contacts. To date the workshop series has delivered 53 media articles with a total AVE (advertising value equivalent) of $321,859.
	The PR team launched 213 Ways to Reboot 2020 in NSW, a PR led campaign coinciding with the easing of travel restrictions from 1 June and the second phase of the Love NSW campaign. Twenty-five days of live morning TV from across regional NSW were also delivered, working with Sunrise, Weekend Sunrise, Today Show and Weekend Today. The programs visited 25 different locations across the state, delivering 150 live crosses with more than 150 different tourism operators, and more than 300 minutes of prime-time TV.
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	Editorial and Content 
	Editorial and Content 
	The Editorial and Content team produces and manages photography, video and editorial content with the aim of building a strong inventory of assets for marketing, publicity and partnership campaign use. The team also services requests from industry, media and government for images, footage and editorial to promote Sydney and regional NSW. The Destination NSW Content Library provides registered users access to content and currently houses approximately 30,000 assets for promotional use. 
	In 2019-2020, the team undertook 94 video and 64 photography shoots across the state, including the capture of content across the Destination Networks, which was used by media, trade and industry, marketing, partnerships and government agencies. More than 6,000 new images and 185 new videos were uploaded to the Destination NSW Content Library for stakeholder use. 
	Demand for content remained strong with 60,905 photo assets, 2,557 video orders and 150 editorial items serviced via the Content Library plus 823 custom video edits provided to stakeholders. In addition to video and photography, the team researched, wrote and edited 521 editorial content requests. 
	The Editorial and Content team also manages the Destination NSW corporate website, which had almost 220,000 visits in 2019-2020, and the newly redesigned and launched staff Intranet. 
	From January, focus switched to aiding industry with all activity immediately adapting to changed circumstances. 
	Editorial and Content project highlights during the year included:
	July – December 2019
	Video and photography content shoots, with supporting editorial:
	• Wine Regions of NSW 
	• Orange in Winter 
	• Griffith in Spring
	• Blue Mountains featuring international talent 
	• Underwater NSW 
	• Bondi to Manly Walking Trail 
	• Curtis Stone behind-the scenes in regional NSW
	• Vogue 60th Birthday Sydney Activation 
	• Bridgeclimb activation content for social media 
	• New Sydney Zoo.
	January – June 2020 
	•  Local Stories: video content series, featuring 35 regional operators for digital media distribution, inviting visitors back to regional NSW
	•  Port Stephens Local Operator Video Stories to complement the Incredible By Nature campaign
	•  Love NSW Reboot 2020 Television commercial and social campaign for domestic markets
	•  Love NSW Television commercial campaign forinternational markets 
	 

	•  Love NSW campaign content: Hawkesbury, Blue Mountains, Port Stephens, Kiama, Sydney
	•  Love NSW: Dreaming content, including zoombackgrounds, puzzles and extensive editorial supportfor industry operators. 
	 
	 

	•  Suite of content for virtual experiences to support industry: visual galleries; virtual wine experiences; cooking classes; at-home wellness
	•  Sydney content shoot, featuring 70 locations
	•  North Coast Shoot: from Port Macquarie, Coffs Harbour, Yamba, Bellingen, Byron Bay and Tweed Heads
	•  Content Acquisition Project
	•  Media Centre project initiation, research and scoping
	•  CONTENTed – EDMs for staff, Destination Networks and Content Library users 
	FY 2019 Editorial & Content highlights* 
	*highlights items that can be compared to a full FY 2018 report
	Photography:
	• 21.13% increase in media requests
	• 36.85% increase in government requests
	• 65.52% increase in lifestyle shoots
	• 14.71% increase in regional shoots
	Video:
	• 140.96% increase in trade and industry requests
	• 39.13% increase in media requests
	• 172.41% increase in regional shoots
	• 107.69% increase in lifestyle shoots
	Editorial:
	• 171.88% increase in event industry and trade requests
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	Ministerial Liaison
	Ministerial Liaison
	The Ministerial Liaison team continued its role in developing, drafting and coordinating a range of outputs to support Ministers and Government representatives as well as the Destination NSW executive team. The multiple crises during the year prompted an increase in workloads particularly in correspondence and Questions on Notice, with the team responding to 278 letters compared to 164 in the previous year and providing responses to 23 Questions on Notice, compared to nine in the previous year. 
	A major change for the team was the new Budget Estimates resolution, introduced by the Legislative Council which introduced a new approach to Budget Estimates Hearings. With initial hearings in September-October 2019, supplementary hearings in October-November and further hearings in February 2020, this new approach saw Ministers, Parliamentary Secretaries and public servants give evidence in morning sessions, and, for the first time, included afternoon sessions during which department secretaries and publi
	To assist the Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney and the Destination NSW CEO, the Ministerial Liaison team prepared 130 Budget Estimates Notes for the hearings and responses to more than 120 Questions on Notice and Supplementary Questions.
	Ministerial and Corporate Communications
	The Ministerial and Corporate Communications team works with the broader communications team to leverage tourism and major events announcements for NSW, positioning the Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney as the lead spokesperson for opportunities.
	The team managed a range of announcements and other initiatives during the year. Highlights include:
	Lord Howe Island named in Lonely Planet’sBest in Travel 2020
	 

	In October 2019, Lonely Planet released its annual publication Best in Travel 2020 naming Lord Howe Island in the top five destinations to visit.
	Destination NSW coordinated a Ministerial media release about the announcement, a video including comments from Minister Ayres and Member for Port Macquarie, Leslie Williams, social media content for Minister Ayres and a comprehensive internal Q&A addressing contentious issues including sustainability and visitor quotas.
	Vivid Sydney best major festival and event— NSW Tourism Awards
	 

	In November 2019, Vivid Sydney was named best major event or festival at the NSW Tourism Awards - the first gold medal for the event since its inception in 2009.
	The submission, prepared by the Corporate Communications team, called for extensive research, coordination of input, and a lengthy review process with the NSW Business Chamber mentor and experienced NSW Tourism Awards judge.
	The final document provided a comprehensive overview of Destination NSW’s strategic vision and operational management of Australia’s largest and much-loved event. It drew attention to the organisation’s leadership in terms of securing visitation through travel packages and risk management through extensive engagement with other Government agencies and external stakeholders.
	Tourism Recovery campaign 
	Destination NSW played a significant role in supporting the tourism industry navigate a rapidly changing market and challenging conditions in the wake of devastating bushfires, prolonged drought and the COVID-19 pandemic.
	On 8 February 2020, Minister Ayres launched the NSW Government’s tourism recovery package delivered by Destination NSW. The $10 million package included theLove NSW marketing campaign, which was re-launched on 1 June 2020 to align with the recommencement of travel across regional NSW following a period of restricted movement to control the spread of COVID-19. 
	 

	The team supported both launches with Ministerial media releases, releases for local MPs to distribute in their electorates, social media content, extensive stakeholder communications materials and support across Destination NSW’s corporate channels including social media and industry newsletters.
	The tourism recovery package included the 2020 Regional Event Fund that was announced by the Minister on 21 February, with successful grant recipients confirmed on 26 June via Ministerial and local MP media releases and social media amplification using a custom-created video hype reel for the program.
	Importantly, the team also led the crisis response from an industry engagement perspective through increased industry e-newsletter distribution and social media activity to advise operators about changes to Public Health Orders or inform them of support programs they could access. Destination NSW also created a “tourism recovery” page on the agency’s corporate website, and managed regular updating of travel alerts on the consumer websites and social media channels in line with NSW Government health advice.
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	Women’s T20 World Cup 2020 — Welcome to Sydney
	Women’s T20 World Cup 2020 — Welcome to Sydney
	In February 2020, Destination NSW led a major media and stakeholder event ahead of the T20 Women’s World Cup 2020. It was officiated by Minister for Women, Bronnie Taylor and Minister for Tourism, Stuart Ayres on behalf of the NSW Government to welcome the Australian and Indian Women’s cricket teams to NSW.
	The event kicked off a week of fan activations and gave the media a springboard to promote the games held in Sydney. The tournament was secured as part of the NSW Government’s 10 World Cups in 10 years initiative and had a focus on accessibility for families and communities.
	FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023
	In June 2020, FIFA announced that hosting rights for the 2023 Women’s Football World Cup had been awarded to Australia and New Zealand, making the 2023 event the first to be held in the Asia-Pacific region.
	Minister for Tourism Stuart Ayres attended the event in support of the bid with media invited in anticipation of the announcement. Destination NSW arranged content capture that was circulated widely and published by international and national media outlets, including the Daily Mail UK. The content was re-shared via social media through the Australian women’s football team (the Matildas), FFA and FIFA’s Women’s World Cup channels.
	Following the announcement by FIFA, Destination NSW helped to coordinate a large scale press conference with Federal Minister for Youth and Sport Richard Colbeck, Federal Minister for Women and Foreign Affairs Marise Payne, NSW Premier Gladys Berejiklian, Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney Stuart Ayres and Minister for Sport Geoff Lee, as well as the FFA CEO and Matildas players.
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	Special projects
	Special projects
	Corporate social media growth and strategy
	In 2020, Destination NSW’s corporate social media accounts became an important channel for updating stakeholders on its activities and key government announcements. 
	The Corporate Communications team prioritised content creation and messaging for these channels, in particular the Destination NSW LinkedIn account, to provide timely information to tourism businesses, councils, industry associations and other stakeholders during the bushfires and COVID-19 pandemic.
	From March to June 2020, Destination NSW grew its LinkedIn community by 3,000 followers taking the total to 17,600, achieving 20 per cent organic growth for its LinkedIn channel. This has occurred through regular posting of relevant content showcasing the agency’s work to support the industry, including marketing campaigns, new content, partnership activity and publicity coverage, alongside profiling operators and sharing NSW Government announcements and messages.
	Employee communications strategy
	In May, the Communications team undertook to review Destination NSW’s approach to employee engagementand communications, and to prepare and implement anew strategy.
	 
	 

	The objectives were to deliver a strategic and consistent approach and content, facilitate two-way communications, foster and drive a high performance culture and ensure staff feel connected and committed to achieving the agency’s shared goals.
	To achieve this, three key content pillars were identified to steer the types of communication that would be shared:
	• Destination NSW strategic priorities
	• Updates that enhance the employee experience
	• Engaging and understanding our industry.
	The strategy is in the implementation phase and early steps have included increasing the frequency of all staff ‘town hall’ meetings and a relaunch of the Destination NSW intranet.
	Destination NSW has also collaborated closely with Treasury’s Human Resources team to include agency content in cluster-wide communications such as the Open Mike newsletters from Secretary of NSW Treasury, Mike Pratt and updates from Kim Curtain, Deputy Secretary Jobs, Investment and Tourism. This has highlighted the work and achievements of Destination NSW staff to the broader Treasury cluster, in turn raising the profile of the tourism industry as a key economic driver for NSW.
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	Corporate Services
	Corporate Services

	The Corporate Services team brings together specialist support services including finance, recruitment, human resource management, workplace health and safety, database administration and technology support, recordkeeping, general administration, facilities management and property maintenance.
	The Corporate Services team brings together specialist support services including finance, recruitment, human resource management, workplace health and safety, database administration and technology support, recordkeeping, general administration, facilities management and property maintenance.
	Key Achievements
	The Corporate Services team continued to provide operational and business support across the organisation and delivered numerous projects related to each of its functional areas. 
	Values and Culture
	There was a continued focus on our values and culture, with our six core values of Collaboration, Agility, Excellence, Respect, Ownership and Passion being championed through the formation of the Destination NSW People Committee to drive our values and engagement in the workplace.
	Customer Relationship Management - Salesforce CRM 
	The ongoing success of the Salesforce Customer Relationship Management (CRM) Project Team continues to permeate across all divisions to streamline and introduce functional updates to the work-stream. 
	The CRM team continues to automate additional business processes for Vivid Sydney and the Communications, and Corporate Services teams managing general enquiries, to ensure better outcomes.
	Migration into Treasury 
	Facilitating the migration of corporate systems and IT from the Department of Primary Industry and Environment into Treasury was a key focus in 2019-2020. Once complete, Destination NSW will receive support through Treasury’s Payroll Services function Gov Connect and SAPConnect, which includes Finance, Procurement, Payroll and Information Technology.
	LinkedIn Learning 
	The LinkedIn Learning online learning platform was made available to staff to provide them with on-demand learning opportunities to upskill whilst working remotely.
	New HR Business Plan
	The development of our new HR Business Plan to highlight and prioritise our short-term and long-term HR initiatives.
	WHS Committee 
	Destination NSW’s WHS Committee highlighted the ongoing commitment to ensuring a safe workplace with the successful completion of the external WHS audit.
	Managing the Transition to Remote Working
	Provided practical Human Resources advice to staff and managers to minimise the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, to ensure the management of the demands of remote working and prioritisation of staff safety. 
	Working from home enabled the organisation to think of working differently. The organisation is creating a consistent, consolidated, transparent and dynamic operations environment. The leadership team’s commitment is to build a higher performing team and stakeholder environment, to deliver on our key objectives.
	Wages Policy Outcome
	A 2.5 per cent salary increase was approved by the NSW Wages Policy Taskforce and paid to Destination NSW employees, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2019. This is aligned with the NSW Public Sector Wages Policy.
	Performance Reviews and Learning and Development
	All staff completed the annual Performance Review and Development Plan process, which supports career and learning goals. More than 300 formal learning and development opportunities were provided to Destination NSW staff totalling 722 hours of training. Additionally, staff had access to online self-paced learning courses to assist their learning and development plans.
	SAP Connect
	Destination NSW worked with the SAPConnect Project Team to transition to Treasury’s SAPConnect system effective from October 2020. SAPConnect allows Treasury to have one view of staff and finances across the Treasury cluster and incorporates the SAPConnect Self Service mobile app for requesting / approving leave and viewing pay details.
	SAPConnect is the tool for managing people, finance, HR/payroll, procurement, expense claims and project accounting. It allows Destination NSW to interact with Treasury’s shared services provider GovConnect.
	Supporting the organisation during COVID-19
	From March 2020, the team’s focus changed to implementing the COVID19 Business Continuity Plan, to ensure staff could effectively transition to agile working while maintaining productivity in a remote environment. The team has continued to adapt and support the business in different ways depending on the scenario.
	Corporate Services continued to deliver learning and development resources online, where staff have access to a range of courses in the agile environment. New ways of on-boarding were implemented during the working from home period with new starters inducted online. With only essential staff working from the office, core services continued from home in an electronic, paperless environment, which resulted in no delay in the provision of services. Cleaning protocols were changed to ensure a clean and safe wor
	Corporate Services provided a special Working from Home Plan to staff to help them adjust to working from home, along with communications about counselling and ergonomics, regular check in sessions, online WIPs and team meetings, regular reminders that EAP is available, updating the intranet with resources for wellbeing. The frequency of Town Hall meetings, led by the CEO, increased to bring staff together virtually. 
	The Legal Team worked closely with event owners and organisers on the postponement or cancellation of events due to COVID-19. In many cases, this required variations to contracts. 
	Destination NSW staff members provided critical supportto the both the Treasury Bushfire Taskforce, and the COVID-19 Committee. Destination NSW WHS planning documentation was provided to the Taskforce ensuring the ability of the Agency to quickly respond to the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic.
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	Destination NSW Senior Executive (as at 30 June 2020)
	Destination NSW Senior Executive (as at 30 June 2020)

	Steve Cox, MBA, Post Grad Dip Management(from 4 May 2020) Chief Executive Officer
	Steve Cox, MBA, Post Grad Dip Management(from 4 May 2020) Chief Executive Officer
	 

	Neville D’Costa, B. Com, LL.B. (Hons)Director, Procurement and Legal
	 

	Peter Doran, BA MA QPR AMSRS TASA FAIM MAICD MISPIDirector, Program Performance and Assessment
	 

	Sue Doyle, BA Tourism ManagementDirector, Partnership Programs
	 

	Libby Ellis, B. EducationEvent Development Manager, Arts and Entertainment
	 

	Bronwen Gwynn-Jones, BA (Hons); Master of Arts (Communications)Director, Editorial and Content
	 

	Jan Hutton, IMMGeneral Manager, Marketing
	 

	Stephen Mahoney, Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Japanese Language and CultureGeneral Manager, Regional NSW
	 

	Shane McClelland, DipInvRelGeneral Manager, Communications 
	 

	Theresa Mejia, Master of Industrial Engineering, BSc StatisticsManager, Visitor Insights and Performance
	 

	Kylie-Jane Menzies, AdvDip Travel and Tourism MarketingDirector Trade and Industry Development
	 

	Kristy Meudell, BA (Communications)Director, Public Relations and Visiting Media
	 

	Caroline Miller, CPADirector, Finance and Administration
	 

	Sonia McIvor, BA, Master of TourismDirector, Marketing
	 

	Ross Pearson, BA (Accounting), FCPA and MAICDChief Operating Officer
	 

	Jacqueline Smith, B Media Comm; Master of Environmental Law(from 20 April 2020) Director, Ministerial and Corporate Communications  
	 

	Nathan Ting, BA Business Studies (Marketing Major)Director, Digital Marketing Services
	 

	Julie Turpie, BA Hons Leisure and Recreation ManagementDirector, Event Development – Arts, Lifestyle and EntertainmentActing General Manager, Event Development (from January 2020)
	 
	 

	Sandra Chipchase, B. Bus Comm, GAICD (until 31 December 2019)Chief Executive Officer
	 

	Steve Keogh, B. App Sc (until 20 December 2019)Director, Sport and Strategic Events
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	In 2019-2020, 24.68 per cent of Destination NSW’s employee-related expenditure was allocated to Senior Executives, compared to 25.46 per cent in 2018-2019.
	In 2019-2020, 24.68 per cent of Destination NSW’s employee-related expenditure was allocated to Senior Executives, compared to 25.46 per cent in 2018-2019.
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE


	Band
	Band
	Band

	2019-2020
	2019-2020

	2018-2019
	2018-2019


	Female
	Female
	Female

	Male
	Male

	Female
	Female

	Male
	Male


	Band 3
	Band 3
	Band 3

	0
	0

	1
	1

	1
	1

	0
	0


	Band 2
	Band 2
	Band 2

	1
	1

	3
	3

	1
	1

	3
	3


	Band 1
	Band 1
	Band 1

	10
	10

	3
	3

	9
	9

	4
	4


	Totals
	Totals
	Totals

	11
	11

	7
	7

	11
	11

	7
	7


	18
	18
	18

	18
	18




	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE – REMUNERATION
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE – REMUNERATION
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE – REMUNERATION
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE – REMUNERATION
	SENIOR EXECUTIVE PROFILE – REMUNERATION


	Band
	Band
	Band

	Range
	Range

	$ Average Remuneration 2019-2020
	$ Average Remuneration 2019-2020
	 


	$ Average Remuneration 2018-2019
	$ Average Remuneration 2018-2019
	 



	Band 3
	Band 3
	Band 3

	$345,551 - $487,050
	$345,551 - $487,050

	475,000
	475,000

	475,150*
	475,150*


	Band 2
	Band 2
	Band 2

	$274,701 – $345,550
	$274,701 – $345,550

	311,237
	311,237

	303,646
	303,646


	Band 1
	Band 1
	Band 1

	$192,600 – $274,700
	$192,600 – $274,700

	219,545
	219,545

	212,058
	212,058




	*does not include allowances
	Exceptional movements in remuneration
	A salary increase of 2.5 per cent, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2019, was paid to clerical officers in accordance with the Crown Employees (Public Sector – Salaries) Award.
	An application was made to, and approved by, the NSW Government Wages Policy Taskforce for an increase of 2.5 per cent to all non-executive staff not covered under the Crown Award.
	The Statutory and Other Offices Remuneration Tribunal determined a performance-based increase of 2.5 per cent for Senior Executive officers, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2019.
	All increases were subject to satisfactory performance. There were no adjustments made to the recruitment andretention allowance.
	 

	Various international based staff received annual cost of living increases in accordance with their individual employment agreements.

	Corporate Governance
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	Destination NSW Board of Management
	Destination NSW Board of Management
	Method of appointment and term of board members
	Method of appointment and term of board members

	Under the terms of the Destination NSW Act 2011, members of the Board of Management of Destination NSW were appointed by the responsible Minister. During the year the responsible Minister was the Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney, The Hon.  Stuart Ayres, MP.
	The Board consists of a Chairperson (also appointed by the Minister), individuals with relevant skills and experience, the Secretary of the cluster and the Chief Executive Officer. Each member holds office for the term specified in his or her instrument of appointment. If they are otherwise qualified, members are eligible for reappointment for additional term(s).
	Board Members
	Board Members

	John Warn (Chairman)
	Russell Balding AO (Deputy Chairman)
	David Baffsky AO
	Margaret Jack AM
	Rod McGeoch AO
	Sally Loane
	The Hon. George Souris AM
	Michael Pratt AM
	Steve Cox (CEO, Destination NSW – appointed 4 May 2020)
	Sandra Chipchase (former CEO – until 31 December 2019)
	Stephen Mahoney (A/CEO – 16 December 2019 to 4 May 2020) 
	Rebekah Horne was appointed to the Destination NSW Board on 17 July 2020.
	Board Meetings 
	Board Meetings 

	Destination NSW Board met on six occasions during 2019-2020. The attendance record of the members was John Warn (6/6), Russell Balding AO (6/6), David Baffsky AO (6/6), Margaret Jack AM (6/6), Rod McGeoch AO (6/6), Sally Loane (6/6), the Hon. George Souris AM (6/6), Michael Pratt AM (or alternate 6/6), Steve Cox (1/1), Sandra Chipchase (3/3) and Stephen Mahoney (2/2).
	Board Committees
	Board Committees

	Audit and Risk Committee 
	Audit and Risk Committee 

	The Committee has an important role in risk management and audit through endorsement of internal and external audit plans, review of audit reports and the review of risk assessment and management.
	This Committee also ensures the sound financial position of Destination NSW through regular reviews of its budget performance. The Destination NSW Audit and Risk Committee met on four occasions during 2019-2020.
	The attendance record of the members was: Russell Balding AO (Committee Chairman) (4/4), Sally Loane (4/4), Steve Cox (1/1), Sandra Chipchase (1/1) and Stephen Mahoney (2/2).
	Business Events Sydney
	Business Events Sydney

	Destination NSW has two Board Members on the Business Events Sydney Board:
	The Hon. George Souris AM and Steve Cox. 
	Legal Change  
	Legal Change  

	The Treasurer and Minister for Jobs, Investment, Tourism and Western Sydney administer the following Acts and the Regulations made under those Acts:
	Destination NSW Act 2011 No 21 
	Major Events Act 20019 No 73 
	Motor Sports (World Rally Championship) Act 2009 No 55
	Motor Racing (Sydney and Newcastle) Act 2008 No 106.
	Consultants
	Consultants

	Consultants equal to or more than $50,000:
	Consultant
	Consultant
	Consultant
	Consultant
	Consultant

	Funding $
	Funding $

	Title/Nature
	Title/Nature


	Bevington Consulting P/L
	Bevington Consulting P/L
	Bevington Consulting P/L

	$95,500
	$95,500

	Strategy advice – Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030
	Strategy advice – Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan 2030




	Consultants less than $50,000: Nil
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	Disclosure of Controlled Entities
	Disclosure of Controlled Entities
	Destination NSW has the following controlled entities:
	Destination NSW Staff Agency 
	The Destination NSW Staff Agency is classified as an Executive Agency pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 of the Government Sector Employment Act 2013 and falls within the NSW Treasury cluster of the public service. The head of the agency is the Chief Executive Officer of Destination NSW, who is responsible for general and employer functions. 
	The Staff Agency’s objective is to provide personnel services to Destination NSW. The Staff Agency has responsibility for the employees and employee-related liabilities of Destination NSW.
	Disclosure of subsidiaries
	Destination NSW does not have any interest in any public sector subsidiaries. Destination NSW does hold a shareholding in Australian Tourism Warehouse Data Limited. Destination NSW is also a member of six Destination Networks, which are established as companies limited by guarantee.
	Government Information (Public Access)Act 2009
	 

	In 2019-2020, Destination NSW received five valid access applications under the Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009. 
	Pursuant to the Government Information (Public Access)Act 2009, Destination NSW reviews each year its release of Government information.
	 

	As a result of this review, Destination NSW will continue to do the following:
	1.  Produce a corporate annual report as part of its Government reporting requirements.
	2.  Distribute a regular e-newsletter which outlines upcoming events and insights in the events andtourism industry in NSW to industry stakeholders.The e-newsletter is free for subscribers.
	 
	 

	3.  Distribute a regular e-newsletter which outlinesupcoming events and tourism initiatives to subscribers. The e-newsletter is free for subscribers.
	 

	4.  Maintain a media centre on our website www.destinationsw.com.au which provides media releases and media kits for downloading free of charge. The media centre also provides event fact sheets, destination media kits, reports, product fact sheets, product updates, videos, speeches and presentations, annual reports, image library and media visit details.
	5. Provision of reports, tourism strategies and plans. 
	6. Produce letters to stakeholders.
	7. Provision of statistics and research insights.  
	8. Provision of Partner Opportunities via a prospectus.
	9. Briefings with accommodation providers.  
	10. Workshops with industry. 
	11. Links to webcasts, strategies and plans.
	12. Details of contacts and associations.
	Destination NSW aims to strike a balance to provide information to the public whilst acknowledging the resources of Destination NSW and the commercial nature of its operations.
	The table below details the total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year (1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020).
	Valid Applications
	Valid Applications
	Valid Applications
	Valid Applications
	Valid Applications

	Invalid Applications
	Invalid Applications


	5
	5
	5

	1
	1




	Destination NSW did not receive any informal applications during the reporting period.
	A detailed breakdown of the types and nature of the requests is provided in the following tables.
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	Privacy and Personal InformationProtection Act 1998 
	Privacy and Personal InformationProtection Act 1998 
	 

	Destination NSW respects the privacy of members of the public who use its services and its employees. As a NSW Public Service Executive Agency, Destination NSW must comply with NSW State and Commonwealth Privacy legislation.
	During the reporting year no complaints have been received regarding the privacy management of Destination NSW.
	Destination NSW has a privacy policy which is reviewed regularly. The privacy policy and terms of use documents for all Destination NSW websites were amended as a result of the General Data Privacy Regulation released by the European Commission. 
	Destination NSW advises members of the public of its privacy obligations in various media and correspondence i.e. website and terms and conditions. Destination NSW also outlines its privacy obligations in contracts with third parties and requests those third parties also to be aware and comply with privacy legislation.
	Requests for access to personal information held by Destination NSW may be made to the Privacy Officer at Level 2, 88 Cumberland Street, The Rocks, NSW, 2000 or by telephone on (02) 9931 1111.
	In compliance with the provisions of the Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998, Destination NSW has a Privacy Management Plan and has a designated Privacy Officer. Mechanisms have been established to make Destination NSW staff aware of the Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 and other privacy obligations.
	In all staff contracts, staff are required to exercise confidentiality in their dealings with third parties and in the execution of their duties.
	Public Interest Disclosures
	The Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 requires Agenciesto report every six months to the Ombudsman on Public Interest Disclosures (PIDs) and to include this informationin Annual Reports.
	 
	 

	This report covers those PIDs received during the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.
	Number of public officials who have made a disclosure to the Agency – (0)
	Number of the public interest disclosures received by the Agency relating to:
	• Corrupt conduct – (0)
	• Maladministration – (0)
	• Serious and substantial waste – (0)
	• Government information contravention – (0)
	Total number of public interest disclosures received – (0)
	The number of public interest disclosures finalised to 30 June 2020 – (0)
	The Destination NSW PID Reporting Policy and Procedure was developed in accordance with the requirements of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 and approved effective from June 2012. To ensure that staff are aware of the contents of the Policy and the protections available, as required under s6E (1)(b) of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994.
	Destination NSW staff have access to the Public Interest Disclosures policy from the staff intranet.
	Internal Audits
	Destination NSW conducted an internal audit program during the reporting year, comprising six audits undertaken by Deloitte:
	• Event Funding - Regional Event
	• Funding – Destination Networks 
	• Procurement
	• Cybersecurity 
	• Website Management 
	• Work Place Health and Safety 
	Destination NSW is implementing the agreed recommendations from these audits.
	Destination NSW has developed a risk management program to identify and manage risks consistent with NSW Government guidelines and policy. Risk management aims to safeguard the public, staff, buildings and related assets.
	Risk controls include:
	• Assessing corporate risk and conducting internal audits
	•  Managing ongoing risk, including maintaining registers and conducting fire and safety audits
	• Developing risk strategies
	•  Maintaining appropriate insurance cover with the Treasury Managed Fund that covers all classes of risk
	• Reviewing financial management processes.
	Insurance
	Destination NSW is insured through the Treasury Managed Fund. The coverage provided by the scheme is all inclusive and policies are held for Workers Compensation, Motor Vehicles, Property, Miscellaneous and Public Liability. 
	Destination NSW also has a specific separate insurance policy for its media familiarisation program.

	NSW Cyber Security Policy
	NSW Cyber Security Policy

	Compliance Attestation Statement 2019-20 for Destination NSW
	Compliance Attestation Statement 2019-20 for Destination NSW
	I, John Warn, am of the opinion the Department of Planning Industry and Environment (DPIE), the Destination NSW  shared services provider for the 2019-20 financial year, has managed cyber security risks in a manner consistent with the Mandatory Requirements set out in the NSW Government Cyber Security Policy. 
	Governance is in place to manage the cybersecurity maturity and initiatives of DPIE. Risks to the information and systems of DPIE have been assessed and are managed. There exists a current cyber incident response plan for DPIE which has been tested during the reporting period.
	The DPIE Cluster Corporate Services has maintained certified compliance with ISO 27001 Information technology - Security techniques - Information security management systems - Requirements by an Accredited Third Party (BSI) during the 2019-2020 financial year (Certificate Number is IS 645082).
	John WarnChairmanDated: 18 October 2020
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	Work Health and Safety 
	Work Health and Safety 
	Destination NSW is committed to ensuring the active participation of all staff in WHS matters and continues to ensure everyone has a safe and healthy workplace. The active WHS Committee continues to promote and educate staff in the identification and management of Workplace Health and Safety. There were no compensation cases or lost time injuries recorded in 2019-2020. There were two reported incidents (low) which were managed through the appropriate channels.
	The WHS Committee provided assistance for the successful completion of the external WHS audit, highlighting the ongoing commitment of the Destination NSW WHS Committee to ensuring a safe workplace.
	As part of Destination NSW’s commitment to providing staff with practical WHS advice, the Corporate Operations team managed the transition of employees to Remote Working by undertaking key activities to support the transition to working from home during the COVID-19 pandemic including the provision of ergonomic advice, regular check-in sessions, encouraging WHS in regular online WIPs and team meetings, regular reminders that EAP is available, and updating the intranet with resources for wellbeing. This advi
	Disability Inclusion Action Plan 
	Destination NSW is committed to providing an accessible and inclusive workplace, and supports the inclusion in the community of individuals with a disability. We will continue to collaborate with various public authorities to provide support and services to individuals with a disability.
	We have continued building on the implementation and objectives of the 2019-2021 Disability Inclusion Action Plan with the planning and implementation of disability inclusive events held through 2019 Vivid Sydney. We are proud of the many events that have been inclusive and will strive to encourage social inclusiveness for people living with a disability in the accessible events and experiences we produce. Building on previous years, Destination NSW will continue providing accessible services and event offe
	Vivid Sydney featured audio descriptions of Vivid Light Walk installations and projections, talk-to-text selections for screen readers and smartphone devices, managed accessible viewing areas, provided accessibility maps, accessible drop off and pick up zones, and pre-booked mini bus accessible parking for community groups. There has also been accessible signage and ramps on the Vivid Light Walk, promotion of companion card for events and AUSLAN interpreters at Vivid Game Changer events. The Vivid Sydney Ac
	Workforce Diversity
	Destination NSW recognises that diverse workforces are more innovative, productive and increase the delivery of high quality services. We are continuing to implement strategies to ensure our workforce diversity. We are excited about partnering with Treasury in delivering world-class training that shows respect for inclusiveness, for diverse backgrounds, perspectives and experiences.
	We will continue to evaluate internal processes and policies to ensure they adhere to the intent and purpose of the diversity plan, and we will continue to support staff to acknowledge and celebrate diversity, with involvement in NAIDOC week, LGBTQIA+ celebrations, charity fundraisers, and to role model behaviour in line with the Destination NSW values of Excellence, Collaboration, Respect, Agility, Passion and Ownership.
	Destination NSW welcomes and encourages applications from all groups including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, LGBTQIA+, people with disability, women and other diversity groups.
	The table on the following page has been populated with Workforce Diversity information for Destination NSW.
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	Work Health and Safety  
	Work Health and Safety  
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	Multicultural Policy and Initiatives 
	Multicultural Policy and Initiatives 
	Destination NSW has actively embraced and embedded the 2019-2021 Multicultural Plan, encouraging staff to celebrate diversity. We continue to advocate for the values of a multicultural society by showing respect, and by being inclusive of diverse backgrounds, experiences and perspectives. We continue to evaluate our internal processes to ensure the purpose of our multicultural plan reflects the initial intention.
	Destination NSW is committed to the Principles of the Multiculturalism NSW Act 2000 and the NSW Government’s aims and objectives for multiculturalism as stated in the Multicultural Action Plan. We recognise and support multiculturalism as a public policy and have implemented the Destination NSW Multicultural Plan 2019-2021 to ensure that our organisation both reflects and engages with multicultural resources and people, and to ensure every success of its initiatives in the promotion of NSW.
	Destination NSW continues to follow the NSW Government guidelines regarding Culturally and Linguistically Diverse communities and continues to provide customised translations of its websites visitnsw.com and sydney.com from key community and visitor languages such as Chinese, Singaporean, Japanese, Malaysian, Korean, Indian, Italian, French and German. Destination NSW also continues to provide the customised Official Sydney Guide in English, Mandarin, Japanese and Korean languages and the Official Sydney Ma
	Traditionally the Regional Events Fund has actively supported multiculturalism through the support of festivals such as the Grafton Jacaranda Festival, the Girrakool Blues Festival & BBQ, the Boggabri Drovers Campfire Weekend, Curryfest Woolgoolga, the Riverlights Multicultural Festival, the Dream Festival Dubbo, Pie Fest Southern Highlands and the Griffith Spring Fest. Some of these initiatives have moved online due to COVID-19.
	Destination NSW looks forward to actively developing programs, initiatives and events in 2020/2021 in line withthe Multicultural Policies and Services Program Framework and the policy objectives that people from culturallydiverse communities achieve high degrees of social and economic participation.
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	Research and Development
	Research and Development
	Along with the Commonwealth Government and other States and Territories, Destination NSW co-funds two national surveys that provide detailed information on the size of the visitor economy and trends in visitor behaviour, including length of stay, accommodation used, purpose of visit, day trips, transport used, activities undertaken, expenditure, travel party, demographics, destinations visited, and source markets.
	The International Visitor Survey is conducted in the exit lounges of airports around Australia, sampling 40,000 departing visitors each year. The National Visitor Survey interviews 120,000 Australian residents aged 15 years and over. From January 2019, the National Visitor Survey was conducted through 100 per cent mobile interviewing. With the closure of Australia’s international borders, the International Visitor Survey was suspended from April 2020.
	Destination NSW uses the results of these surveys internally to inform campaign activities and develop strategies as well as externally to share insights with industry. In 2019-2020, Destination NSW published 314 visitor profile factsheets, time series, statistical tables and research reports for the tourism industry and other stakeholders.
	Consumer Enquiries Response 
	Destination NSW stakeholders and the community can make enquiries or offer feedback via Feedback Assist, or by providing comments in writing or by email. The online Feedback Assist functionality provides a consistent level of service in response to enquiries and/or feedback received from our stakeholders and the community. Destination NSW is committed to providing professional, courteous and prompt assistance to its stakeholders and community and the public in general.
	All requests for information or assistance made to Destination NSW are met directly and promptly and, where necessary, are referred to the most appropriate officer. Destination NSW received no significant consumer complaints during the reporting period. Consequently, no changes to Destination NSW’s programs and services were warranted on the basis of negative consumer response.  
	Economic and other factors affecting achievement of operational objectives 
	A wide range of economic, industry and consumer factors affect NSW visitor economy performance. The COVID-19 pandemic led to the most severe contraction in global and domestic economic activity in decades.
	Global economy
	The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects global growth at 4.9 per cent in 2020, 1.9 percentage points below their April 2020 forecast. The COVID-19 pandemic has had a more negative impact on the economy in the first half of 2020 than anticipated, and hence, IMF projects recovery to be more gradual than previously forecast. In 2021, global growth is forecast at 5.4 percent.
	There is a higher-than-usual degree of uncertainty around this forecast than previous years. For economies struggling to control COVID-19 infection rates, a lengthier lockdown will result in an additional toll on activity. In economies with declining infection rates, the IMF forecasts slower recovery path based on persistent social distancing measures, larger than expected damage on activity during lockdown and on productivity as businesses increase necessary workplace safety and hygiene practices. 
	For the first time, all regions are forecast to experience negative growth in 2020. Growth in the advanced economies is projected at –8.0 per cent in 2020, 1.9 percentage points lower than in the April 2020. Deep downturns are foreseen in the United States (–8.0 per cent); Japan (–5.8 per cent); the United Kingdom (–10.2 per cent); Germany (–7.8 per cent); France (–12.5 per cent); Italy and Spain (–12.8 per cent). In 2021, the advanced economy growth rate is projected to strengthen to 4.8 per cent. 
	In China, where the recovery from the sharp contraction in the first quarter is underway, growth is projected at 1.0 per cent in 2020, supported in part by policy stimulus. India’s economy is forecast to contract by 4.5 per cent following a longer period of lockdown and slower recovery than anticipated in April while ASEAN economies are expected to decline by 2.0 per cent.
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	Australian economy
	Australian economy
	The Australian economy has experienced a severe contraction and, like many other economies, is now in the early stages of recovery. However, the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) expects the pace of recovery to be slower than previously forecast.
	In light of the extreme uncertainty about the course of the pandemic and its economic effects, the RBA considered several scenarios with different assumptions about the outbreak and restrictions and their effects on household and business confidence. In the baseline scenario, the Australian economy is expected to contract by about 6 per cent over 2020, before growing by around 5 per cent over 2021 and 4 per cent over 2022. Under the baseline scenario, the unemployment rate is expected to peak at around 10 p
	A stronger economic recovery is possible if faster progress in controlling the virus is achieved in the near term. However, a plausible downside scenario is where Australia faces further periods of outbreaks and heightened restrictions in certain areas, and the world experiences a widespread resurgence in infections in the near term.
	Aviation
	Air transport is key to economic development. This wider economic benefit is underpinned by both the direct connections between cities and falling air transport costs. However, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused a significant impact on the industry, with the International Air Transport Association reporting that air passenger numbers will not return to 2019 levels until 2023-2024.
	In Moving Forward 2020, Tourism Research Australia (TRA) reported that there is potential for a domestic-led travel recovery with travel to and from Australia suspended and travel within Australia slowly opening up. A domestic-led recovery also includes the possibility of Australians who prefer overseas travel becoming domestic travellers.
	Accommodation
	Accommodation

	Accommodation remains a pillar of a prosperous visitor economy, offering the supply to meet growing demand. Tourism Research Australia reported in Moving Forward 2020 that recovery prospects will depend on the accommodation sector’s ability to find domestic substitutes for international visitors. 
	While interstate borders remain closed and flights are limited, TRA expects that regional centres within driving distance of cities will recover first. As flights return and borders reopen, this recovery will extend to more far-flung regional destinations and interstate capitals. Over the longer term however, capital cities will feel the loss of international travel far more than other parts of the country.
	Infrastructure investment
	Investing in tourism is a long-term proposition, requiring significant time and capital from planning to approval to completion. Tracking the progress of these investments will establish how well supply is keeping up with expected increases in demand. 
	Tourism Research Australia reported in Tourism Investment Monitor 2019-20 that Australia’s tourism investment pipeline comprised 255 projects worth $43.6 billion. Aviation accounted for 42 per cent of the investment ($18.2 billion), followedby Arts, recreation and business services (33 per cent or$14.3 billion) and Stand-alone Accommodation (25 per centor $11.1 billion). 
	 
	 
	 

	NSW had the greatest share of the tourism investment pipeline with 66 projects valued at $14.1 billion or a third of Australian investments. 
	Investments were mostly in the aviation ($5.6 billion), and the arts and recreation and business services ($5.2 billion) sectors. Capital city investment was $13.6 billion and regional investment was $555 million.
	Key NSW tourism investment projects in the pipeline included Western Sydney Airport (Badgerys Creek) (worth $5.3 billion), Sydney Powerhouse Museum ($1.0 billion), Crown Sydney Hotel Resort ($2.2 billion). Stand-alone accommodation currently under construction in Sydney is worth $2.8 billion across 37 projects and $520 million in Regional NSW.

	Accumulated Funds 
	Accumulated Funds 
	The deficiency of accumulated funds is consistent with the NSW Treasury approved position and results from cash management reforms instituted by NSW Treasury.
	Investment Performance
	Refer Financial Statements: Financial Instruments Note 20.
	Liability Management Performance
	Destination NSW has no debt greater than $20 million.
	Financial Management
	In FY 2019-20 there are no after Balance-Day events which have a significant effect on the financial or other operations of Destination NSW. 
	Budgets
	Refer Financial Statements: Note 18.
	Implementation of Price Determination
	Destination NSW is not subject to the Tribunal.
	Ross PearsonChief Operating Officer & Chief Financial Officer
	 

	Additional Matters: 
	Annual Report Costs
	Nil. Annual report produced in-house by Destination NSW Communications Division. All images and other collateral included in the document were sourced from the Destination NSW image library and existing resources. Printing of required compliance copies was undertaken in-house.

	figure
	FinancialStatements
	FinancialStatements
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	Sources of Funds
	Sources of Funds
	Sources of Funds


	0.3%
	0.3%
	0.3%


	11.2%
	11.2%
	11.2%


	88.5%
	88.5%
	88.5%


	88.5% NSW Treasury
	88.5% NSW Treasury
	11.2% Other contributions
	0.3% Other income

	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020
	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020

	Strategic Objective 1:Position Sydney & New South Wales as world-leading tourism and events destinations
	Strategic Objective 1:Position Sydney & New South Wales as world-leading tourism and events destinations
	 

	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	Target
	Target
	2019-2020

	Actual
	Actual
	2019-2020

	%
	%
	Achieved

	Comment
	Comment


	Growth in total NSW visitor nights (million)
	Growth in total NSW visitor nights (million)
	Growth in total NSW visitor nights (million)


	Total
	Total
	Total

	205.7
	205.7

	168.6
	168.6

	82.0%
	82.0%


	Domestic
	Domestic
	Domestic

	98.1
	98.1

	98.8
	98.8

	100.8%
	100.8%


	International
	International
	International

	107.6
	107.6

	69.7
	69.7

	64.8%
	64.8%


	Growth in total NSW overnight expenditure ($billion)
	Growth in total NSW overnight expenditure ($billion)
	Growth in total NSW overnight expenditure ($billion)


	Total
	Total
	Total

	35.5
	35.5

	26.1
	26.1

	73.4%
	73.4%


	Domestic
	Domestic
	Domestic

	19.8
	19.8

	18.1
	18.1

	91.4%
	91.4%


	International
	International
	International

	15.6
	15.6

	8.0
	8.0

	51.2%
	51.2%


	Media Exposure
	Media Exposure
	Media Exposure


	No. of media articles
	No. of media articles
	No. of media articles

	15,202
	15,202

	16,582
	16,582

	109.1%
	109.1%

	Exceeded
	Exceeded


	Equivalent Advertising Value
	Equivalent Advertising Value
	Equivalent Advertising Value

	$202,107,063
	$202,107,063

	$117,038,801
	$117,038,801

	57.9%
	57.9%

	Note 1
	Note 1


	No. of supported media visits to Sydney and regional destinations
	No. of supported media visits to Sydney and regional destinations
	No. of supported media visits to Sydney and regional destinations
	 


	269
	269

	195
	195

	72.5%
	72.5%

	Note 1
	Note 1


	Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements 
	Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements 
	Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements 

	122,774
	122,774

	35,019
	35,019

	28.5%
	28.5%

	Note 1
	Note 1


	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity
	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity
	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity


	Visits to tourism & events consumer websites(sydney.com, visitnsw.com & vividsydney.com)
	Visits to tourism & events consumer websites(sydney.com, visitnsw.com & vividsydney.com)
	Visits to tourism & events consumer websites(sydney.com, visitnsw.com & vividsydney.com)
	 


	23,871,924
	23,871,924

	15,385,866
	15,385,866

	64.5%
	64.5%

	Note 2
	Note 2


	Business leads to industry generated by digital andcampaign activity
	Business leads to industry generated by digital andcampaign activity
	Business leads to industry generated by digital andcampaign activity
	 


	7,174,402
	7,174,402

	4,789,886
	4,789,886

	66.8%
	66.8%

	Note 2
	Note 2




	Note 1:   In 2019-2020 the number of media articles generated increased by nine per cent over the previous year, however the impact of bushfires, COVID-19 and in particular the cancellation of Vivid Sydney and other Destination NSW sponsored events impacted the PR team’s ability to execute publicity activities. COVID-19 travel restrictions halted delivery of the media famil program which reduced Equivalent Advertising Value in high value international markets in the period from January-June 2020. 
	Note 2:   There was significant impact on performance in 2019-2020 due to the bushfire disasters and the COVID-19 pandemic which contributed to the steep decline in website visits and leads to the tourism industry. Campaigns were impacted across Sydney, Regional, Events and Vivid Sydney and the second half of the financial year saw paused activity across Always On Search and Always On Social activity.
	AWARDS
	AWARDS
	AWARDS
	AWARDS
	AWARDS


	Vivid Sydney named Australia’s Best Tourism Event, and the country’s Best Cultural, Arts or Music Event at the Australian Event Awards.
	Vivid Sydney named Australia’s Best Tourism Event, and the country’s Best Cultural, Arts or Music Event at the Australian Event Awards.
	Vivid Sydney named Australia’s Best Tourism Event, and the country’s Best Cultural, Arts or Music Event at the Australian Event Awards.


	NSW was again recognised as the home of major events with Sydney, Coffs Harbour and Port Macquarie all bestowed the InternationalFestivals & Events Association (IFEA) 2019 World Festival and Event City Award. Sydney is the only city to have won the IFEA City Award.
	NSW was again recognised as the home of major events with Sydney, Coffs Harbour and Port Macquarie all bestowed the InternationalFestivals & Events Association (IFEA) 2019 World Festival and Event City Award. Sydney is the only city to have won the IFEA City Award.
	NSW was again recognised as the home of major events with Sydney, Coffs Harbour and Port Macquarie all bestowed the InternationalFestivals & Events Association (IFEA) 2019 World Festival and Event City Award. Sydney is the only city to have won the IFEA City Award.
	 



	Lord Howe Island ranked the world’s fifth best region to visit next year by global travel authority Lonely Planet in their new publication,Best in Travel 2020.
	Lord Howe Island ranked the world’s fifth best region to visit next year by global travel authority Lonely Planet in their new publication,Best in Travel 2020.
	Lord Howe Island ranked the world’s fifth best region to visit next year by global travel authority Lonely Planet in their new publication,Best in Travel 2020.
	 



	Vivid Sydney named NSW’s best major festival and event at the NSW Tourism Awards.
	Vivid Sydney named NSW’s best major festival and event at the NSW Tourism Awards.
	Vivid Sydney named NSW’s best major festival and event at the NSW Tourism Awards.


	Sydney named Best Homeport in 2019 Cruise Critic Editors’ Picks Awards.
	Sydney named Best Homeport in 2019 Cruise Critic Editors’ Picks Awards.
	Sydney named Best Homeport in 2019 Cruise Critic Editors’ Picks Awards.


	Six NSW beaches named amongst Australia’s top 20 beaches for 2020 announced by Tourism Australia.
	Six NSW beaches named amongst Australia’s top 20 beaches for 2020 announced by Tourism Australia.
	Six NSW beaches named amongst Australia’s top 20 beaches for 2020 announced by Tourism Australia.





	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   
	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   
	CONTINUED


	Strategic Objective 2:Attract and secure high value major events
	Strategic Objective 2:Attract and secure high value major events
	 

	FESTIVALS
	FESTIVALS
	FESTIVALS
	FESTIVALS
	FESTIVALS

	Secured:
	Secured:


	TR
	Deni Ute Muster
	Deni Ute Muster


	TR
	Snowtunes
	Snowtunes


	TR
	Wings Over Illawarra
	Wings Over Illawarra


	TR
	The 100 Festival, Blue Mountains
	The 100 Festival, Blue Mountains


	TR
	Continued investment into: Parkes Elvis Festival; Sydney Festival; TOYOTA Country Music Festival Tamworth;Vivid Sydney & Vivid LIVE at Sydney Opera House; Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras; Sydney Royal Easter Show
	Continued investment into: Parkes Elvis Festival; Sydney Festival; TOYOTA Country Music Festival Tamworth;Vivid Sydney & Vivid LIVE at Sydney Opera House; Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras; Sydney Royal Easter Show
	 



	ENTERTAINMENT
	ENTERTAINMENT
	ENTERTAINMENT

	Secured:
	Secured:


	TR
	9 to 5 The Musical
	9 to 5 The Musical


	TR
	Sydney International Art Series: Matisse
	Sydney International Art Series: Matisse


	TR
	Sydney International Art Series: Doug Aitken
	Sydney International Art Series: Doug Aitken


	TR
	Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour
	Handa Opera on Sydney Harbour


	TR
	Vogue 60th Anniversary
	Vogue 60th Anniversary


	TR
	Continued investment into: ARIA Awards; Australian Fashion Laureate; 9th AACTA Awards Ceremony; Mercedes-Benz Fashion Week Australia; Semi Permanent
	Continued investment into: ARIA Awards; Australian Fashion Laureate; 9th AACTA Awards Ceremony; Mercedes-Benz Fashion Week Australia; Semi Permanent


	LIFESTYLE
	LIFESTYLE
	LIFESTYLE

	Secured:
	Secured:


	TR
	Blackmores Sydney Running Festival
	Blackmores Sydney Running Festival


	TR
	2019 Nepean Triathlon
	2019 Nepean Triathlon


	TR
	Tour de Tweed / Battle on the Border
	Tour de Tweed / Battle on the Border


	TR
	Australia Day 2020
	Australia Day 2020


	TR
	WEMBO Asia Pacific 24 Hour Solo Championships & WEMBO World Solo 24 Hour Solo Championships
	WEMBO Asia Pacific 24 Hour Solo Championships & WEMBO World Solo 24 Hour Solo Championships


	TR
	Surfest
	Surfest


	TR
	Southern 80
	Southern 80


	TR
	Sail Port Stephens
	Sail Port Stephens


	TR
	Mudgee Classic
	Mudgee Classic


	TR
	Bowral Classic
	Bowral Classic


	TR
	Superboat Festival Weekend
	Superboat Festival Weekend


	TR
	WSL Sydney Surf Pro
	WSL Sydney Surf Pro


	TR
	Kiama Bodyboard King Pro
	Kiama Bodyboard King Pro


	TR
	Australian Boardriders Battle
	Australian Boardriders Battle


	TR
	Continued investment into: NSW Pro Surf Series - Carve Pro; NSW Pro Surf Series - Great Lakes Pro; NSW Pro Surf Series - Central Coast Pro; NSW State Readiness Camp (Surfing); Sydney Harbour Challenge; Ironman 70.3 Western Sydney; L’Etape Australia by Tour de France; True Grit Aussie 24Hr Titles; Newcrest Orange Challenge; NCHA Futurity; Australian Surf Rowers League Open; SAE Australian Surf Championships; Snowies Ultra Trail Run Festival; Snowies Mountain Bike Festival; TreX Cross Triathlon National Champ
	Continued investment into: NSW Pro Surf Series - Carve Pro; NSW Pro Surf Series - Great Lakes Pro; NSW Pro Surf Series - Central Coast Pro; NSW State Readiness Camp (Surfing); Sydney Harbour Challenge; Ironman 70.3 Western Sydney; L’Etape Australia by Tour de France; True Grit Aussie 24Hr Titles; Newcrest Orange Challenge; NCHA Futurity; Australian Surf Rowers League Open; SAE Australian Surf Championships; Snowies Ultra Trail Run Festival; Snowies Mountain Bike Festival; TreX Cross Triathlon National Champ





	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   
	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   
	CONTINUED


	Strategic Objective 2 (continued):Attract and secure high value major events
	Strategic Objective 2 (continued):Attract and secure high value major events
	 

	SPORT
	SPORT
	SPORT
	SPORT
	SPORT

	Secured:
	Secured:


	TR
	Bathurst 12 Hour
	Bathurst 12 Hour


	TR
	2023 FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023
	2023 FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023


	TR
	2022 FIBA Women’s Basketball World Cup
	2022 FIBA Women’s Basketball World Cup


	TR
	Continued investment into: Holden State of Origin Game 3; Rugby Test Match: Wallaroos v Japan (Women’s);FFA National Youth Championships for Boys; FFA National Youth Championships for Girls; International FootballFriendly: Olyroos v New Zealand (U23’s); Rugby Test Match: Wallabies v Manu Samoa; NRL Premiership Grand Final; International Football Friendly: Matildas v Chile; Australian Open Golf Championship; FIH Hockey Pro League; HSBC Sydney 7s; National Touch League; Youth Trans-Tasman Test (Touch Football
	Continued investment into: Holden State of Origin Game 3; Rugby Test Match: Wallaroos v Japan (Women’s);FFA National Youth Championships for Boys; FFA National Youth Championships for Girls; International FootballFriendly: Olyroos v New Zealand (U23’s); Rugby Test Match: Wallabies v Manu Samoa; NRL Premiership Grand Final; International Football Friendly: Matildas v Chile; Australian Open Golf Championship; FIH Hockey Pro League; HSBC Sydney 7s; National Touch League; Youth Trans-Tasman Test (Touch Football
	 
	 





	Note:   All events listed were secured or retained in 2019-2020; however, some could not be delivered due to bushfires andthe COVID-19 pandemic.
	 


	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020  
	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020  
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	Strategic Objective 3:Build a sustainable events calendar for New South Wales
	Strategic Objective 3:Build a sustainable events calendar for New South Wales
	 

	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	Intrastate
	Intrastate
	overnight visitors

	Interstate
	Interstate
	overnight visitors

	International
	International
	overnight visitors

	Comment
	Comment


	Sydney events
	Sydney events
	Sydney events

	98,755
	98,755

	112,255
	112,255

	22,599
	22,599

	Note 1
	Note 1


	Regional events
	Regional events
	Regional events

	55,577
	55,577

	47,668
	47,668

	3,415
	3,415

	Note 1
	Note 1


	Total
	Total
	Total

	154,331
	154,331

	159,923
	159,923

	26,013
	26,013

	Note 1
	Note 1




	EVENT ATTENDANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ATTENDANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ATTENDANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ATTENDANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ATTENDANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020


	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	No of events evaluated
	No of events evaluated

	Visitor Expenditure
	Visitor Expenditure

	Comment
	Comment


	Sydney events
	Sydney events
	Sydney events

	27
	27

	$143,531,683
	$143,531,683

	Note 2
	Note 2


	Regional events
	Regional events
	Regional events

	28
	28

	$74,837,098
	$74,837,098

	Note 2
	Note 2


	Total
	Total
	Total

	55
	55

	$218,368,782
	$218,368,782

	Note 2
	Note 2




	INTERNATIONAL SPORTS, CULTURAL, CREATIVE AND ARTS EVENTS HELD IN NSW  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	INTERNATIONAL SPORTS, CULTURAL, CREATIVE AND ARTS EVENTS HELD IN NSW  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	INTERNATIONAL SPORTS, CULTURAL, CREATIVE AND ARTS EVENTS HELD IN NSW  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	INTERNATIONAL SPORTS, CULTURAL, CREATIVE AND ARTS EVENTS HELD IN NSW  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	INTERNATIONAL SPORTS, CULTURAL, CREATIVE AND ARTS EVENTS HELD IN NSW  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020


	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	Regional NSW
	Regional NSW

	Sydney Metro
	Sydney Metro

	Western Sydney
	Western Sydney

	Total
	Total


	Events won or retained
	Events won or retained
	Events won or retained

	17
	17

	21
	21

	21
	21

	59
	59


	Events assisted or grown
	Events assisted or grown
	Events assisted or grown

	19
	19

	7
	7

	2
	2

	28
	28


	Events on calendar 
	Events on calendar 
	Events on calendar 
	(not directly assisted)

	1
	1

	4
	4

	0
	0

	5
	5


	Total no. of events held
	Total no. of events held
	Total no. of events held

	37
	37

	32
	32

	23
	23

	92
	92




	BUSINESS EVENTS SYDNEY PERFORMANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	BUSINESS EVENTS SYDNEY PERFORMANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	BUSINESS EVENTS SYDNEY PERFORMANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	BUSINESS EVENTS SYDNEY PERFORMANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	BUSINESS EVENTS SYDNEY PERFORMANCE  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020


	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	Target
	Target
	2019-2020

	Actual
	Actual
	2019-2020

	%
	%
	Achieved

	Comment
	Comment


	Events Secured:
	Events Secured:
	Events Secured:


	Bids Won
	Bids Won
	Bids Won

	88
	88

	49
	49

	56%
	56%


	Delegate Days
	Delegate Days
	Delegate Days

	257,400
	257,400

	198,400
	198,400

	77%
	77%


	Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)
	Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)
	Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)

	$236
	$236

	$167
	$167

	71%
	71%


	Events Delivered:
	Events Delivered:
	Events Delivered:


	Events Held
	Events Held
	Events Held

	50
	50


	Delegate Days
	Delegate Days
	Delegate Days

	125,800
	125,800


	Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)
	Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)
	Estimated Direct Expenditure ($M)

	$104
	$104




	EVENT ASSESSMENT  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ASSESSMENT  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ASSESSMENT  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ASSESSMENT  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020
	EVENT ASSESSMENT  1 July 2019 – 30 June 2020


	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	No of events evaluated
	No of events evaluated


	Event investment feasibility
	Event investment feasibility
	Event investment feasibility

	39
	39


	Event performance assessment
	Event performance assessment
	Event performance assessment

	55
	55




	Note 1:   Event visitation results include actuals, where event evaluations have been completed, and forecasts/estimates, where evaluations have notbeen finalised. These are all events that took place within the 2019-2020 financial year. Reporting excludes the Regional Events Program.Events cancelled due to bushfires and COVID-19 are not included in these results.
	 
	 

	Note 2:   Overnight visitor expenditure reports the money flowing into the State, from the expenditure by intrastate, interstate and international overnight visitors who came specifically to Sydney or NSW for an event or extended their stay. Reporting excludes the Regional Events Program.Events cancelled due to bushfires and COVID-19 are not included in these results.
	 


	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   
	Destination NSW Performance 2019-2020   
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	Strategic Objective 4:Increase industry stakeholder and customer engagement
	Strategic Objective 4:Increase industry stakeholder and customer engagement
	 

	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	Target
	Target
	2019-2020

	Actual
	Actual
	2019-2020

	% Achieved
	% Achieved
	 


	Comment
	Comment


	Media Exposure
	Media Exposure
	Media Exposure


	No. of media articles generated
	No. of media articles generated
	No. of media articles generated

	15,202
	15,202

	16,582
	16,582

	109.1%
	109.1%

	Exceeded
	Exceeded


	Equivalent Advertising Value
	Equivalent Advertising Value
	Equivalent Advertising Value

	$202,107,063
	$202,107,063

	$117,038,801
	$117,038,801

	57.9%
	57.9%

	Note 1
	Note 1


	No. of supported media visits to Sydney and regional destinations
	No. of supported media visits to Sydney and regional destinations
	No. of supported media visits to Sydney and regional destinations

	269
	269

	195
	195

	72.5%
	72.5%

	Note 1
	Note 1


	Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements
	Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements
	Media distribution/ pitches / service engagements

	122,774
	122,774

	35,019
	35,019

	28.5%
	28.5%

	Note 1
	Note 1




	Trade and Industry Development
	Trade and Industry Development
	Trade and Industry Development
	Trade and Industry Development
	Trade and Industry Development

	Target
	Target
	2019-2020

	Actual
	Actual
	2019-2020

	% Achieved
	% Achieved
	 


	Comment
	Comment


	No. of trade missions & events
	No. of trade missions & events
	No. of trade missions & events

	5
	5

	3
	3

	60%
	60%

	Note 2
	Note 2


	No. of New South Wales businesses attending trade missions
	No. of New South Wales businesses attending trade missions
	No. of New South Wales businesses attending trade missions

	180
	180

	67
	67

	37%
	37%

	Note 2
	Note 2


	No. of trade familiarisations
	No. of trade familiarisations
	No. of trade familiarisations

	57
	57

	29
	29

	50%
	50%

	Note 2
	Note 2


	No. of trade familiarisation participants
	No. of trade familiarisation participants
	No. of trade familiarisation participants

	537
	537

	289
	289

	54%
	54%

	Note 2
	Note 2


	No. of workshops delivered
	No. of workshops delivered
	No. of workshops delivered

	25
	25

	22
	22

	88%
	88%

	Note 2
	Note 2


	No. of tourism businesses assisted
	No. of tourism businesses assisted
	No. of tourism businesses assisted

	1,200
	1,200

	1,238
	1,238

	103%
	103%

	Note 2, 3
	Note 2, 3




	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	Actual 2019-2020
	Actual 2019-2020
	 



	Destination and Business Development
	Destination and Business Development
	Destination and Business Development


	No. of approved TASAC applications
	No. of approved TASAC applications
	No. of approved TASAC applications
	1


	24
	24


	No. of research insight fact sheets published
	No. of research insight fact sheets published
	No. of research insight fact sheets published

	314
	314


	Visits to corporate website
	Visits to corporate website
	Visits to corporate website

	219,210
	219,210




	Grants – No. of approved applications
	Grants – No. of approved applications
	Grants – No. of approved applications
	Grants – No. of approved applications
	Grants – No. of approved applications

	Actual 2019-2020
	Actual 2019-2020
	 



	Regional Event Fund
	Regional Event Fund
	Regional Event Fund

	59
	59




	Note 1:   In 2019-2020 the number of media articles generated increased by nine per cent over the previous year, however the impact of bushfires, COVID-19 and in particular the cancellation of Vivid Sydney and other Destination NSW sponsored events impacted the PR team’s ability to execute publicity activities. COVID-19 travel restrictions halted delivery of the media famil program which reduced Equivalent Advertising Value in high value international markets in the period from January-June 2020.
	Note 2:   Original planned program delivery disrupted by COVID-19.
	Note 3:   Businesses assisted under the NSW First Program include 1,075 participants in NSW First workshops, showcases and trade training, and 163 businesses receiving business development assistance via 304 interactions, including phone, email and meetings.

	 Tourist Attraction Signposting Assessment Committee
	 Tourist Attraction Signposting Assessment Committee
	1
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	Strategic Objective 5:Deliver value in partnership/co-operative programs
	Strategic Objective 5:Deliver value in partnership/co-operative programs
	 

	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators
	Key Performance Indicators

	Results 2019-2020
	Results 2019-2020
	 


	% difference over last year
	% difference over last year

	Comment
	Comment


	Marketing & Communications
	Marketing & Communications
	Marketing & Communications


	No. of advertising/creative pieces developed (television ads, digital, outdoor and press ads etc.)
	No. of advertising/creative pieces developed (television ads, digital, outdoor and press ads etc.)
	No. of advertising/creative pieces developed (television ads, digital, outdoor and press ads etc.)

	4,058
	4,058

	-46%
	-46%

	Note 1
	Note 1


	No. of Sydney campaigns
	No. of Sydney campaigns
	No. of Sydney campaigns

	5
	5

	-128%
	-128%

	Note 2
	Note 2


	No. of regional NSW campaigns
	No. of regional NSW campaigns
	No. of regional NSW campaigns

	10
	10

	-46%
	-46%

	Note 3
	Note 3


	Equivalent Advertising Value (EAV)of publicity generated
	Equivalent Advertising Value (EAV)of publicity generated
	Equivalent Advertising Value (EAV)of publicity generated
	 


	$117,038,801
	$117,038,801

	-42%
	-42%

	Note 4
	Note 4




	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity
	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity
	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity
	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity
	Consumer Response to Marketing Activity

	Target
	Target
	2019-2020

	Results
	Results
	2019-2020

	% Target
	% Target
	 


	Comment
	Comment


	Visits to tourism and events consumer websites 
	Visits to tourism and events consumer websites 
	Visits to tourism and events consumer websites 
	(sydney.com, visitnsw.com, vividsydney.com)

	23,871,924
	23,871,924

	15,385,866
	15,385,866

	64.5%
	64.5%

	Note 5
	Note 5


	Business leads to industry generated by digital and campaign activity
	Business leads to industry generated by digital and campaign activity
	Business leads to industry generated by digital and campaign activity
	 


	7,174,402
	7,174,402

	4,789,886
	4,789,886

	66.8%
	66.8%

	Note 5
	Note 5




	Partnership Programs
	Partnership Programs
	Partnership Programs
	Partnership Programs
	Partnership Programs

	Target
	Target
	2019-2020

	Results
	Results
	2019-2020

	% Target
	% Target
	 


	Comment
	Comment


	No. of campaigns domestic
	No. of campaigns domestic
	No. of campaigns domestic

	39
	39

	17
	17

	44%
	44%

	Note 6
	Note 6


	No. of campaigns international
	No. of campaigns international
	No. of campaigns international

	220
	220

	120
	120

	55%
	55%

	Note 6
	Note 6


	Total no. of airline partnerships secured and or renewed
	Total no. of airline partnerships secured and or renewed
	Total no. of airline partnerships secured and or renewed
	 


	23
	23

	11
	11

	48%
	48%

	Note 6
	Note 6


	Value of domestic and international airlinepartnerships (including VIK)
	Value of domestic and international airlinepartnerships (including VIK)
	Value of domestic and international airlinepartnerships (including VIK)
	 


	$14.3 million
	$14.3 million

	$3.3 million
	$3.3 million

	23%
	23%

	Note 6
	Note 6




	Note 1:   Creative production outputs reduced significantly in 2019-2020 due to the combined impact of bushfires and the COVID-19 pandemic, which saw campaign activity paused and cancelled. This greatly affected a number of events cancelled, including Vivid Sydney 2020 where outputs for this event, including the artwork of event owners usually exceeds 1,000 pieces. 
	Note 2:   The number of Sydney campaigns reduced significantly in 2019-2020 due to the combined impact of bushfires and the COVID-19 pandemic, which saw campaign activity paused and cancelled. A number of planned event campaigns were cancelled and there was no destination campaign for Sydney over summer or winter. 
	Note 3:   The number of regional NSW campaigns reduced significantly due to the Regional Tourism Fund not being offered in 2019-2020.  The number of regional campaigns was further impacted by the combined impact of drought, bushfires and the COVID-19 pandemic, which saw activity delayed or reduced due the number of impacted regions.  
	Note 4:   Bushfires, COVID-19, the cancellation of Vivid Sydney and other events had significant impact on Destination NSW publicity activities, reducing the amount of coverage generated, particularly in second half of 2019-2020.
	Note 5:   Bushfires and COVID-19 accounted for the steep decline in website visits and leads to the tourism industry. Sydney, Regional, Events and Vivid Sydney campaigns were impacted in the second half of the financial year, with Always On Search and Always On Social activities paused. 
	Note 6:   The COVID-19 travel restrictions and State and international border closures required Partnership Program activities to be paused or cancelled. 
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	Strategic Objective 6:Create and sustain a high performance organisation
	Strategic Objective 6:Create and sustain a high performance organisation
	 

	Key PerformanceIndicators
	Key PerformanceIndicators
	Key PerformanceIndicators
	Key PerformanceIndicators
	Key PerformanceIndicators
	 


	Targeted Outcomes
	Targeted Outcomes

	Achieved
	Achieved

	Comment
	Comment


	OrganisationGovernance
	OrganisationGovernance
	OrganisationGovernance
	 


	Key People Management Strategies
	Key People Management Strategies

	Embedded Value and Culture
	Embedded Value and Culture

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Disability Inclusion Plan review
	Disability Inclusion Plan review

	Updated
	Updated


	TR
	Code of Conduct
	Code of Conduct

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Performance Review Process
	Performance Review Process

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Learning and Development 
	Learning and Development 

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Work Health and Safety (WHS) including Health and Wellbeing
	Work Health and Safety (WHS) including Health and Wellbeing

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	No Workers’ Compensation cases and lost time for injuries
	No Workers’ Compensation cases and lost time for injuries

	Achieved
	Achieved


	TR
	Diversity and Inclusion Plan
	Diversity and Inclusion Plan

	Updated
	Updated


	TR
	Wages Policy Outcome
	Wages Policy Outcome

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Multicultural Plan review
	Multicultural Plan review

	Updated
	Updated


	TR
	One industrial instrument matter
	One industrial instrument matter

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Improved provision of
	Improved provision of
	Operational Support

	Corporate Operations Policies and Guidelines
	Corporate Operations Policies and Guidelines

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Treasury SAP and GOVConnect Implementation migration
	Treasury SAP and GOVConnect Implementation migration

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Salesforce CRM including streamlining of key business process and solutions
	Salesforce CRM including streamlining of key business process and solutions

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Calendar of Works and Activities
	Calendar of Works and Activities

	Ongoing
	Ongoing


	TR
	Green Team to ensure an efficient and sustainable practices
	Green Team to ensure an efficient and sustainable practices

	Ongoing
	Ongoing





	Glasshouse Rocks, Narooma
	Glasshouse Rocks, Narooma
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	2018
	2018
	2018


	2019
	2019
	2019


	2020
	2020
	2020
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	-28.9%
	-28.9%
	-28.9%






	4.4
	4.4
	4.4


	4.3
	4.3
	4.3


	4.1
	4.1
	4.1


	3.7
	3.7
	3.7


	3.4
	3.4
	3.4


	Visitors
	Visitors
	Visitors
	 
	(Million)


	3.1
	3.1
	3.1


	% change on 
	% change on 
	% change on 
	previous year


	11.3
	11.3
	11.3


	10.5
	10.5
	10.5


	9.8
	9.8
	9.8


	Expenditure
	Expenditure
	Expenditure
	 
	(Billion)


	8.9
	8.9
	8.9


	8.0
	8.0
	8.0


	7.5
	7.5
	7.5


	% change on 
	% change on 
	% change on 
	previous year


	98.1
	98.1
	98.1


	94.3
	94.3
	94.3


	91.9
	91.9
	91.9


	86.4
	86.4
	86.4


	79.3
	79.3
	79.3


	Nights
	Nights
	Nights
	 
	(Million)


	69.7
	69.7
	69.7


	% change on 
	% change on 
	% change on 
	previous year


	INTERNATIONAL VISITORS TO NSW (‘000)
	INTERNATIONAL VISITORS TO NSW (‘000)

	1,400
	1,400

	1,200
	1,200

	1,000
	1,000

	800
	800

	600
	600

	400
	400

	200
	200

	–
	–

	Dec QTR2018
	Dec QTR2018
	 


	Dec QTR2019
	Dec QTR2019
	 


	Sep QTR2019
	Sep QTR2019
	 


	Jun QTR2020
	Jun QTR2020
	 


	Jun QTR2019
	Jun QTR2019
	 


	Sep QTR2018
	Sep QTR2018
	 


	Mar QTR2020
	Mar QTR2020
	 


	Mar QTR2019
	Mar QTR2019
	 


	NSW — INTERNATIONAL — SOURCE (TOP 10)
	NSW — INTERNATIONAL — SOURCE (TOP 10)

	EXPENDITURE
	EXPENDITURE
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	(Million)
	 
	YE June 2020


	VISITORS (000s)
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	YE June 2020


	NIGHTS (Million)
	NIGHTS (Million)
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	YE June 2020


	COUNTRY
	COUNTRY
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	COUNTRY
	COUNTRY
	COUNTRY

	%Change YOY
	%Change YOY
	 


	%Change YOY
	%Change YOY
	 


	%Change YOY
	%Change YOY
	 



	China
	China
	China

	-36.8%
	-36.8%

	-30.9%
	-30.9%

	 
	 

	-32.6%
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	USA
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	-29.1%
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	2015
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	2016
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	2017
	2017
	2017


	2018
	2018
	2018


	2019
	2019
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	2020
	2020
	2020



	–
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	–
	–


	+5.0%
	+5.0%
	+5.0%
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	+11.7%
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	+11.7%
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	+10.6%


	-18.6%
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	+6.8%


	+16.7%
	+16.7%
	+16.7%
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	% change on 
	% change on 
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	previous year
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	(Billion)


	17.2
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	15.8


	% change on 
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	% change on 
	previous year
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	% change on 
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	DESTINATION
	DESTINATION
	DESTINATION
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	DESTINATION


	VISITORS (Million)
	VISITORS (Million)
	VISITORS (Million)
	 
	YE June 2019


	%
	%
	%
	 
	Change
	 
	YOY


	Average length
	Average length
	Average length
	 
	of stay (nights)


	Average spend
	Average spend
	Average spend
	 
	per night



	North Coast NSW
	North Coast NSW
	North Coast NSW
	North Coast NSW


	-13.5%
	-13.5%
	-13.5%


	3.8
	3.8
	3.8


	$164.7
	$164.7
	$164.7



	South Coast
	South Coast
	South Coast
	South Coast


	-17.2%
	-17.2%
	-17.2%


	3.4
	3.4
	3.4


	$134.7
	$134.7
	$134.7



	Hunter
	Hunter
	Hunter
	Hunter


	-22.8%
	-22.8%
	-22.8%


	2.8
	2.8
	2.8


	$170.8
	$170.8
	$170.8



	Central NSW
	Central NSW
	Central NSW
	Central NSW


	-29.2%
	-29.2%
	-29.2%


	2.7
	2.7
	2.7


	$177.6
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	$177.6



	Central Coast
	Central Coast
	Central Coast
	Central Coast


	-16.8%
	-16.8%
	-16.8%


	2.7
	2.7
	2.7


	$132.9
	$132.9
	$132.9



	New England North West
	New England North West
	New England North West
	New England North West


	-14.0%
	-14.0%
	-14.0%


	2.6
	2.6
	2.6


	$156.1
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	$156.1



	Capital Country
	Capital Country
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	-14.1%
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	-14.1%
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	$130.1
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	The Murray
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	-11.9%
	-11.9%
	-11.9%
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	$159.7
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	2.5
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	-17.5%
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	3.3
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	$244.6
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	NSW and Australia – Monthly
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	Establishments (No.)
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	2018-2019
	2018-2019


	2019-2020
	2019-2020
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	Occupancy rate (%)
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	Occupancy rate (%)

	-1%
	-1%
	-1%


	1,765
	1,765
	1,765


	100
	100
	100


	90
	90
	90


	Sydney
	Sydney
	Sydney


	80
	80
	80


	-6%
	-6%
	-6%


	388
	388
	388


	78.5
	78.5
	78.5


	70
	70
	70


	Regional
	Regional
	Regional
	 
	NSW


	60
	60
	60


	-0.1%
	-0.1%
	-0.1%


	54.5
	54.5
	54.5


	50
	50
	50


	1,377
	1,377
	1,377


	41.4
	41.4
	41.4


	40
	40
	40


	30
	30
	30


	0
	0
	0


	2,000
	2,000
	2,000


	30.5
	30.5
	30.5


	20
	20
	20


	10
	10
	10


	0
	0
	0


	Oct-19
	Oct-19
	Oct-19


	Sep-19
	Sep-19
	Sep-19


	Aug-19
	Aug-19
	Aug-19


	Jul-19
	Jul-19
	Jul-19


	Jun-20
	Jun-20
	Jun-20


	Jun-19
	Jun-19
	Jun-19


	May-20
	May-20
	May-20


	May-19
	May-19
	May-19


	Apr-20
	Apr-20
	Apr-20


	Apr-19
	Apr-19
	Apr-19


	Mar-20
	Mar-20
	Mar-20


	Mar-19
	Mar-19
	Mar-19


	Feb-20
	Feb-20
	Feb-20


	Feb-19
	Feb-19
	Feb-19


	Jan-20
	Jan-20
	Jan-20


	Jan-19
	Jan-19
	Jan-19


	Dec-18
	Dec-18
	Dec-18


	Nov-18
	Nov-18
	Nov-18


	Oct-18
	Oct-18
	Oct-18


	Sep-18
	Sep-18
	Sep-18


	Aug-18
	Aug-18
	Aug-18


	Jul-18
	Jul-18
	Jul-18


	Dec-19
	Dec-19
	Dec-19


	Nov-19
	Nov-19
	Nov-19


	Rooms (No.)
	Rooms (No.)
	Rooms (No.)


	2018-2019
	2018-2019
	2018-2019


	2019-2020
	2019-2020
	2019-2020


	NSW
	NSW
	NSW


	-2%
	-2%
	-2%


	87,763
	87,763
	87,763


	Sydney
	Sydney
	Sydney


	-3%
	-3%
	-3%


	42,413
	42,413
	42,413


	Regional
	Regional
	Regional
	 
	NSW


	-0.2%
	-0.2%
	-0.2%


	45,350
	45,350
	45,350


	0
	0
	0


	100,000
	100,000
	100,000


	Occupancy Rate (%)
	Occupancy Rate (%)
	Occupancy Rate (%)


	2019-2020
	2019-2020
	2019-2020


	2018-2019
	2018-2019
	2018-2019


	NSW
	NSW
	NSW


	-31 pp.
	-31 pp.
	-31 pp.


	46.0
	46.0
	46.0


	Sydney
	Sydney
	Sydney


	-35 pp.
	-35 pp.
	-35 pp.


	47.9
	47.9
	47.9


	Regional
	Regional
	Regional
	 
	NSW


	-21 pp.
	-21 pp.
	-21 pp.


	41.6
	41.6
	41.6


	0
	0
	0


	100
	100
	100


	50
	50
	50


	Wagonga Inlet, Narooma
	Wagonga Inlet, Narooma
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	DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS 
	DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS 
	DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS 
	DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS 
	DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS 
	DOMESTIC VISITORS AND VISITOR NIGHTS 


	PURPOSE OF VISIT
	PURPOSE OF VISIT
	PURPOSE OF VISIT

	Visitors
	Visitors

	Visitor Nights
	Visitor Nights


	Holiday
	Holiday
	Holiday

	35%
	35%

	38%
	38%


	Visiting Friends & Relatives
	Visiting Friends & Relatives
	Visiting Friends & Relatives

	37%
	37%

	33%
	33%


	Business
	Business
	Business

	22%
	22%

	21%
	21%


	Other
	Other
	Other

	7%
	7%

	8%
	8%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	100%
	100%

	100%
	100%




	DOMESTIC PURPOSE OF VISIT — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR 
	DOMESTIC PURPOSE OF VISIT — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR 
	DOMESTIC PURPOSE OF VISIT — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR 
	DOMESTIC PURPOSE OF VISIT — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR 
	DOMESTIC PURPOSE OF VISIT — CHANGES ON PREVIOUS YEAR 
	(YE June 2020)


	TR
	Visitors
	Visitors

	% change
	% change


	Holiday
	Holiday
	Holiday

	-3.9 million
	-3.9 million

	-26.6%
	-26.6%


	Visiting Friends & Relatives
	Visiting Friends & Relatives
	Visiting Friends & Relatives

	-2.2 million
	-2.2 million

	-16.3%
	-16.3%


	Business
	Business
	Business

	-0.9 million
	-0.9 million

	-11.2%
	-11.2%


	Other
	Other
	Other

	-0.2 million
	-0.2 million

	-6.3%
	-6.3%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	-6.9 million
	-6.9 million

	-18.6%
	-18.6%


	Nights
	Nights
	Nights

	Visitor nights
	Visitor nights

	% change
	% change


	Holiday
	Holiday
	Holiday

	-12.3 million
	-12.3 million

	-24.8%
	-24.8%


	Visiting Friends & Relatives
	Visiting Friends & Relatives
	Visiting Friends & Relatives

	-7.3 million
	-7.3 million

	-18.2%
	-18.2%


	Business
	Business
	Business

	+1.1 million
	+1.1 million

	5.7%
	5.7%


	Other
	Other
	Other

	+1.3 million
	+1.3 million

	20.6%
	20.6%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	-17.2 million
	-17.2 million

	-14.8%
	-14.8%


	Source: National and International Visitor Surveys.Tourism Research Australia.
	Source: National and International Visitor Surveys.Tourism Research Australia.
	Source: National and International Visitor Surveys.Tourism Research Australia.
	 



	Note: Visitors may visit a State for more than one purpose – hence, figures by Purpose of Visit category may not add up to the Total.
	Note: Visitors may visit a State for more than one purpose – hence, figures by Purpose of Visit category may not add up to the Total.
	Note: Visitors may visit a State for more than one purpose – hence, figures by Purpose of Visit category may not add up to the Total.





	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS (INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS (INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS (INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS (INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS (INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS (INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC)
	 



	TOTAL VISITOR ARRIVALS
	TOTAL VISITOR ARRIVALS
	TOTAL VISITOR ARRIVALS


	Australia
	Australia
	Australia

	98.2 million
	98.2 million


	NSW
	NSW
	NSW

	33.4 million
	33.4 million


	Growth on Previous Year: Australia
	Growth on Previous Year: Australia
	Growth on Previous Year: Australia

	-19.4%
	-19.4%


	Growth of Previous Year: NSW
	Growth of Previous Year: NSW
	Growth of Previous Year: NSW

	-19.8%
	-19.8%


	NSW Market Share Visitors
	NSW Market Share Visitors
	NSW Market Share Visitors

	34.0%
	34.0%


	TOTAL VISITOR NIGHTS
	TOTAL VISITOR NIGHTS
	TOTAL VISITOR NIGHTS


	Australia
	Australia
	Australia

	544.5 million
	544.5 million


	NSW
	NSW
	NSW

	168.6 million
	168.6 million


	Growth on Previous Year: Australia
	Growth on Previous Year: Australia
	Growth on Previous Year: Australia

	-19.1%
	-19.1%


	Growth on Previous Year: NSW
	Growth on Previous Year: NSW
	Growth on Previous Year: NSW

	-21.3%
	-21.3%


	NSW Market Share Visitor Nights
	NSW Market Share Visitor Nights
	NSW Market Share Visitor Nights

	31.0%
	31.0%


	AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY
	AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY
	AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY


	Australia
	Australia
	Australia

	5.5 nights
	5.5 nights


	NSW
	NSW
	NSW

	5.1 nights
	5.1 nights


	TOTAL EXPENDITURE
	TOTAL EXPENDITURE
	TOTAL EXPENDITURE


	Australia
	Australia
	Australia

	$86.0 billion
	$86.0 billion


	NSW
	NSW
	NSW

	$26.1 billion
	$26.1 billion


	Growth on Previous Year: Australia
	Growth on Previous Year: Australia
	Growth on Previous Year: Australia

	-20.6%
	-20.6%


	Growth on Previous Year: NSW
	Growth on Previous Year: NSW
	Growth on Previous Year: NSW

	-23.1%
	-23.1%


	NSW Market Share Visitor Expenditure
	NSW Market Share Visitor Expenditure
	NSW Market Share Visitor Expenditure

	30.3%
	30.3%


	TOTAL VISITOR MARKET SHARE
	TOTAL VISITOR MARKET SHARE
	TOTAL VISITOR MARKET SHARE


	Visitation to Sydney and regional NSW
	Visitation to Sydney and regional NSW
	Visitation to Sydney and regional NSW

	Visitors
	Visitors

	Visitor Nights
	Visitor Nights


	Sydney
	Sydney
	Sydney

	37%
	37%

	52%
	52%


	Regional
	Regional
	Regional

	66%
	66%

	48%
	48%


	Note: Figures may add to more than 100% in some instances as some visitors will visit multiple destinations.
	Note: Figures may add to more than 100% in some instances as some visitors will visit multiple destinations.
	Note: Figures may add to more than 100% in some instances as some visitors will visit multiple destinations.





	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS
	TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITORS AND NIGHTS


	TR
	Visitors
	Visitors
	(millions)

	% change
	% change

	Visitor nights (millions)
	Visitor nights (millions)

	% change
	% change

	Expenditure
	Expenditure
	($billion)

	% change
	% change


	Sydney
	Sydney
	Sydney


	International
	International
	International

	2.8
	2.8

	-30.5%
	-30.5%

	59.3
	59.3

	-28.6%
	-28.6%

	7.2
	7.2

	-29.3%
	-29.3%


	Domestic
	Domestic
	Domestic

	9.6
	9.6

	-19.6%
	-19.6%

	27.6
	27.6

	-15.0%
	-15.0%

	6.8
	6.8

	-26.7%
	-26.7%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	12.5
	12.5

	-22.4%
	-22.4%

	86.9
	86.9

	-24.7%
	-24.7%

	14.1
	14.1

	-28.1%
	-28.1%


	Regional NSW
	Regional NSW
	Regional NSW


	International
	International
	International

	0.6
	0.6

	-31.7%
	-31.7%

	10.4
	10.4

	-31.0%
	-31.0%

	0.7
	0.7

	-31.0%
	-31.0%


	Domestic
	Domestic
	Domestic

	21.4
	21.4

	-17.9%
	-17.9%

	71.2
	71.2

	-14.8%
	-14.8%

	11.3
	11.3

	-15.2%
	-15.2%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	22.0
	22.0

	-18.3%
	-18.3%

	81.7
	81.7

	-17.3%
	-17.3%

	12.0
	12.0

	-16.4%
	-16.4%


	New South Wales (total)
	New South Wales (total)
	New South Wales (total)


	International
	International
	International

	3.1
	3.1

	-30.3%
	-30.3%

	69.7
	69.7

	-28.9%
	-28.9%

	8.0
	8.0

	-29.4%
	-29.4%


	Domestic
	Domestic
	Domestic

	30.3
	30.3

	-18.6%
	-18.6%

	98.8
	98.8

	-14.8%
	-14.8%

	18.1
	18.1

	-20.0%
	-20.0%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	33.4
	33.4

	19.8%
	19.8%

	168.6
	168.6

	-21.3%
	-21.3%

	26.1
	26.1

	-23.1%
	-23.1%


	Note: NSW visitors total is less than the addition of Sydney and regional NSW as some visitors will visit multiple locations.
	Note: NSW visitors total is less than the addition of Sydney and regional NSW as some visitors will visit multiple locations.
	Note: NSW visitors total is less than the addition of Sydney and regional NSW as some visitors will visit multiple locations.




	NSW TOP 5 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS (based on expenditure)
	NSW TOP 5 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS (based on expenditure)
	NSW TOP 5 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS (based on expenditure)
	NSW TOP 5 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS (based on expenditure)
	NSW TOP 5 INTERNATIONAL MARKETS (based on expenditure)


	TR
	Visitors
	Visitors
	(thousands)

	% change
	% change

	Visitor nights (millions)
	Visitor nights (millions)

	% change
	% change

	Expenditure
	Expenditure
	($billion)

	% change
	% change


	Country of Origin
	Country of Origin
	Country of Origin


	Mainland China
	Mainland China
	Mainland China

	476.9
	476.9

	-36.8%
	-36.8%

	15.2
	15.2

	-30.9%
	-30.9%

	2,685
	2,685

	-32.6%
	-32.6%


	USA
	USA
	USA

	370.1
	370.1

	-29.1%
	-29.1%

	3.6
	3.6

	-33.9%
	-33.9%

	588
	588

	-31.1%
	-31.1%


	United Kingdom
	United Kingdom
	United Kingdom

	273.7
	273.7

	-23.6%
	-23.6%

	5.2
	5.2

	-28.3%
	-28.3%

	465
	465

	-30.1%
	-30.1%


	South Korea
	South Korea
	South Korea

	126.1
	126.1

	-37.2%
	-37.2%

	3.5
	3.5

	-22.1%
	-22.1%

	385
	385

	-30.7%
	-30.7%


	India
	India
	India

	120.6
	120.6

	-28.2%
	-28.2%

	5.2
	5.2

	-33.3%
	-33.3%

	322
	322

	-25.2%
	-25.2%





	Mudgee
	Mudgee

	 NSW Tourism Satellite Accounts, 2018-20
	 NSW Tourism Satellite Accounts, 2018-20
	2


	Royal National Park
	Royal National Park

	Batemans Bay
	Batemans Bay

	Gondwana World Choral Festival
	Gondwana World Choral Festival
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	Nepean Triathlon
	Nepean Triathlon

	Bathurst 12 Hour
	Bathurst 12 Hour

	2019 Rugby League Nines World Cup
	2019 Rugby League Nines World Cup

	Japan Supernatural
	Japan Supernatural

	Cornelia Parker
	Cornelia Parker

	Chicago
	Chicago

	2019 State of Origin Series
	2019 State of Origin Series

	Figure
	The Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo
	The Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo

	Figure
	Sydney Surf Pro
	Sydney Surf Pro

	 World-class geographical 
	 World-class geographical 
	 World-class geographical 
	 
	 and digital planning tools
	 
	enhance the NSW visitor 
	experience and encourage 
	deeper exploration.


	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Sea Cliff Bridge, Clifton
	Sea Cliff Bridge, Clifton

	Wings Over Illawarra
	Wings Over Illawarra

	2019 Wine Media Conference, Hunter Valley
	2019 Wine Media Conference, Hunter Valley

	Printhie Wines, Molong
	Printhie Wines, Molong

	Figure
	Photo credit: Port Authority of NSW
	Photo credit: Port Authority of NSW
	Photo credit: Port Authority of NSW


	Eden Wharf
	Eden Wharf

	2019 DIRECTORY OF BUYERSFocus on Greater China
	Figure
	Figure
	If you’ve been longing for vast national parks, sandy beaches  and cosy cabin getaways, now’s the time to plan  your dream family holiday in NSW.visitnsw.com/love-nsw
	Lord Howe island
	Lord Howe island

	ICC Women’s T20 World Cup 2020
	ICC Women’s T20 World Cup 2020

	Tathra Beach, Tathra
	Tathra Beach, Tathra
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	Human Resources
	Human Resources

	Destination NSW Staff Profile (as at 30 June 2020)
	Destination NSW Staff Profile (as at 30 June 2020)
	The following tables cover staff of Destination NSW (rounding applied).
	PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)
	PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)
	PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)
	PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)
	PERCENTAGE OF STAFF BY GRADING: FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)


	Total staff on 30 June 2020
	Total staff on 30 June 2020
	Total staff on 30 June 2020

	2019-2020
	2019-2020

	Men
	Men

	Women
	Women

	% Total
	% Total

	% Men
	% Men

	% Women
	% Women


	Grade 3–4 $72,418-$79,297
	Grade 3–4 $72,418-$79,297
	Grade 3–4 $72,418-$79,297

	4
	4

	1
	1

	3
	3

	2.0%
	2.0%

	0.5%
	0.5%

	1.5%
	1.5%


	Grade 5–6 $85,488 -$94,327
	Grade 5–6 $85,488 -$94,327
	Grade 5–6 $85,488 -$94,327

	22
	22

	5
	5

	17
	17

	11.1%
	11.1%

	2.5%
	2.5%

	8.5%
	8.5%


	Grade 7–8 $97,152-$107,541
	Grade 7–8 $97,152-$107,541
	Grade 7–8 $97,152-$107,541

	42
	42

	4
	4

	38
	38

	21.1
	21.1

	2.0%
	2.0%

	19.1%
	19.1%


	Grade 9–10 $110,745-$122,038
	Grade 9–10 $110,745-$122,038
	Grade 9–10 $110,745-$122,038

	35
	35

	2
	2

	33
	33

	17.6%
	17.6%

	1.0%
	1.0%

	16.6%
	16.6%


	Grade 11–12 $128,089-$148,134
	Grade 11–12 $128,089-$148,134
	Grade 11–12 $128,089-$148,134

	17
	17

	5
	5

	12
	12

	8.5%
	8.5%

	2.5%
	2.5%

	6.0%
	6.0%


	Senior Executives Band 1–3
	Senior Executives Band 1–3
	Senior Executives Band 1–3

	18
	18

	7
	7

	11
	11

	9.0%
	9.0%

	3.5%
	3.5%

	5.5%
	5.5%


	Overseas Staff
	Overseas Staff
	Overseas Staff

	21
	21

	3
	3

	18
	18

	10.6%
	10.6%

	1.5%
	1.5%

	9.0%
	9.0%


	Contingent Workforce
	Contingent Workforce
	Contingent Workforce

	40
	40

	12
	12

	28
	28

	20.1%
	20.1%

	6.0%
	6.0%

	14.1%
	14.1%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	199
	199

	39
	39

	160
	160

	100%
	100%

	19.6%
	19.6%

	80.4%
	80.4%




	STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS
	STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS
	STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS
	STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS
	STAFF PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT BASIS


	Total staff on 30 June 2020
	Total staff on 30 June 2020
	Total staff on 30 June 2020

	2019-2020
	2019-2020

	2018-2019
	2018-2019

	2017-2018
	2017-2018

	2016-2017
	2016-2017


	Permanent Full-time 
	Permanent Full-time 
	Permanent Full-time 

	104
	104

	98
	98

	119
	119

	117
	117


	Permanent Part-time
	Permanent Part-time
	Permanent Part-time

	18
	18

	14
	14

	14
	14

	14
	14


	Temporary Full-time
	Temporary Full-time
	Temporary Full-time

	17
	17

	14
	14

	10
	10

	7
	7


	Temporary Part-time
	Temporary Part-time
	Temporary Part-time

	2
	2

	2
	2

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Senior Executives
	Senior Executives
	Senior Executives

	18
	18

	18
	18

	18
	18

	18
	18


	Contingent
	Contingent
	Contingent

	40
	40

	52
	52

	33
	33

	38
	38


	Total staff on 30 June
	Total staff on 30 June
	Total staff on 30 June

	199
	199

	198
	198

	194
	194

	194
	194





	Corporate Governance   
	Corporate Governance   
	CONTINUED


	TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*
	TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*
	TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*
	TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*
	TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*
	TABLE A: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME*


	TR
	Access grantedin full
	Access grantedin full
	 


	Access grantedin part
	Access grantedin part
	 


	Access refusedin full
	Access refusedin full
	 


	Information not held
	Information not held

	Information already available
	Information already available

	Refuse to deal with application
	Refuse to deal with application

	Refuse to confirm/ deny whether informationis held
	Refuse to confirm/ deny whether informationis held
	 


	Application withdrawn
	Application withdrawn


	Media
	Media
	Media

	0
	0

	2
	2

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Members of Parliament
	Members of Parliament
	Members of Parliament

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Private sector business
	Private sector business
	Private sector business

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Not for profit organisations or community groups
	Not for profit organisations or community groups
	Not for profit organisations or community groups

	1
	1

	2
	2

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Members of the public (applicationby legal representative)
	Members of the public (applicationby legal representative)
	Members of the public (applicationby legal representative)
	 


	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Members of the public (other)
	Members of the public (other)
	Members of the public (other)

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0




	* More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
	TABLE B: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME
	TABLE B: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME
	TABLE B: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME
	TABLE B: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME
	TABLE B: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS BY TYPE OF APPLICANT AND OUTCOME


	TR
	Access grantedin full
	Access grantedin full
	 


	Access grantedin part
	Access grantedin part
	 


	Access refusedin full
	Access refusedin full
	 


	Information not held
	Information not held

	Information already available
	Information already available

	Refuse to deal with application
	Refuse to deal with application

	Refuse to confirm/ deny whether informationis held
	Refuse to confirm/ deny whether informationis held
	 


	Application withdrawn
	Application withdrawn


	Personal information applications*
	Personal information applications*
	Personal information applications*

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Access applications (other than personal information applications)
	Access applications (other than personal information applications)
	Access applications (other than personal information applications)

	5
	5

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Access applications that are partly personal information applicationsand partly other
	Access applications that are partly personal information applicationsand partly other
	Access applications that are partly personal information applicationsand partly other
	 


	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0




	* Personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applcant being an individual).
	TABLE C: INVALID APPLICATIONS
	TABLE C: INVALID APPLICATIONS
	TABLE C: INVALID APPLICATIONS
	TABLE C: INVALID APPLICATIONS
	TABLE C: INVALID APPLICATIONS


	Reason for invalidity
	Reason for invalidity
	Reason for invalidity

	No of applications
	No of applications


	Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act)
	Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act)
	Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act)

	1
	1


	Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act)
	Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act)
	Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act)

	0
	0


	Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act)
	Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act)
	Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act)

	0
	0


	Total number of invalid applications received
	Total number of invalid applications received
	Total number of invalid applications received

	1
	1


	Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications
	Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications
	Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications

	0
	0





	Corporate Governance   
	Corporate Governance   
	CONTINUED


	TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT
	TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT
	TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT
	TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT
	TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT
	TABLE D: CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION OF OVERRIDING PUBLIC INTEREST AGAINST DISCLOSURE: MATTERS LISTED IN SCHEDULE 1 TO ACT


	TR
	Number of times consideration used*
	Number of times consideration used*


	Overriding secrecy laws
	Overriding secrecy laws
	Overriding secrecy laws

	0
	0


	Cabinet information
	Cabinet information
	Cabinet information

	0
	0


	Executive Council information
	Executive Council information
	Executive Council information

	0
	0


	Contempt
	Contempt
	Contempt

	1
	1


	Legal professional privilege
	Legal professional privilege
	Legal professional privilege

	0
	0


	Excluded information
	Excluded information
	Excluded information

	0
	0


	Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety
	Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety
	Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety

	0
	0


	Transport safety
	Transport safety
	Transport safety

	0
	0


	Adoption
	Adoption
	Adoption

	0
	0


	Care and protection of children
	Care and protection of children
	Care and protection of children

	0
	0


	Ministerial code of conduct
	Ministerial code of conduct
	Ministerial code of conduct

	0
	0


	Aboriginal and environmental heritage
	Aboriginal and environmental heritage
	Aboriginal and environmental heritage

	0
	0


	Information about complaints to Judicial Commission
	Information about complaints to Judicial Commission
	Information about complaints to Judicial Commission

	0
	0


	Information about authorised transactions under Electricity Network Assets (Authorised Transactions) Act 2015
	Information about authorised transactions under Electricity Network Assets (Authorised Transactions) Act 2015
	Information about authorised transactions under Electricity Network Assets (Authorised Transactions) Act 2015

	0
	0


	Information about authorised transaction under Land and Property Information NSW (Authorised Transaction) Act 2016
	Information about authorised transaction under Land and Property Information NSW (Authorised Transaction) Act 2016
	Information about authorised transaction under Land and Property Information NSW (Authorised Transaction) Act 2016

	0
	0




	* More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access application and, if so, each such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application). This also applies in relation to Table E.
	TABLE E: OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS AGAINST DISCLOSURE – MATTERS LISTED IN TABLE TO SECTION 14 OF ACT
	TABLE E: OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS AGAINST DISCLOSURE – MATTERS LISTED IN TABLE TO SECTION 14 OF ACT
	TABLE E: OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS AGAINST DISCLOSURE – MATTERS LISTED IN TABLE TO SECTION 14 OF ACT
	TABLE E: OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS AGAINST DISCLOSURE – MATTERS LISTED IN TABLE TO SECTION 14 OF ACT
	TABLE E: OTHER PUBLIC INTEREST CONSIDERATIONS AGAINST DISCLOSURE – MATTERS LISTED IN TABLE TO SECTION 14 OF ACT


	TR
	Number of occasions when application not successful
	Number of occasions when application not successful


	Responsible and effective government
	Responsible and effective government
	Responsible and effective government

	2
	2


	Law enforcement and security
	Law enforcement and security
	Law enforcement and security

	0
	0


	Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice
	Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice
	Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice

	1
	1


	Business interests of agencies and other persons
	Business interests of agencies and other persons
	Business interests of agencies and other persons

	2
	2


	Environment, culture, economy and general matters
	Environment, culture, economy and general matters
	Environment, culture, economy and general matters

	0
	0


	Secrecy provisions
	Secrecy provisions
	Secrecy provisions

	0
	0


	Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation
	Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation
	Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation

	0
	0





	Corporate Governance   
	Corporate Governance   
	CONTINUED


	TABLE F: TIMESLINES
	TABLE F: TIMESLINES
	TABLE F: TIMESLINES
	TABLE F: TIMESLINES
	TABLE F: TIMESLINES
	TABLE F: TIMESLINES


	TR
	Number of applications
	Number of applications


	Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions)
	Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions)
	Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions)

	4
	4


	Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant)
	Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant)
	Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant)

	1
	1


	Not decided within time (deemed refusal)
	Not decided within time (deemed refusal)
	Not decided within time (deemed refusal)

	0
	0


	Total
	Total
	Total

	5
	5




	TABLE G: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS REVIEWED UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF REVIEW AND OUTCOME)
	TABLE G: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS REVIEWED UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF REVIEW AND OUTCOME)
	TABLE G: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS REVIEWED UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF REVIEW AND OUTCOME)
	TABLE G: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS REVIEWED UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF REVIEW AND OUTCOME)
	TABLE G: NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS REVIEWED UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF REVIEW AND OUTCOME)


	TR
	Decision varied
	Decision varied

	Decision upheld
	Decision upheld

	Total
	Total


	Internal review
	Internal review
	Internal review

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Review by Information Commissioner*
	Review by Information Commissioner*
	Review by Information Commissioner*

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act
	Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act
	Internal review following recommendation under section 93 of Act

	0
	0

	0
	0

	0
	0


	Review by NCAT
	Review by NCAT
	Review by NCAT

	1
	1

	0
	0

	1
	1


	Total
	Total
	Total

	1
	1

	0
	0

	1
	1




	* The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendations to the original decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by the Information Commissioner.
	TABLE H: APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF APPLICANT)
	TABLE H: APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF APPLICANT)
	TABLE H: APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF APPLICANT)
	TABLE H: APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF APPLICANT)
	TABLE H: APPLICATIONS FOR REVIEW UNDER PART 5 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF APPLICANT)


	TR
	Number of applications for review
	Number of applications for review


	Applications by access applicants
	Applications by access applicants
	Applications by access applicants

	2
	2


	Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates (see section 54 of the Act)
	Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates (see section 54 of the Act)
	Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates (see section 54 of the Act)

	0
	0




	TABLE I: APPLICATIONS TRANSFERRED TO OTHER AGENCIES UNDER DIVISION 2 OF PART 4 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF TRANSFER)
	TABLE I: APPLICATIONS TRANSFERRED TO OTHER AGENCIES UNDER DIVISION 2 OF PART 4 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF TRANSFER)
	TABLE I: APPLICATIONS TRANSFERRED TO OTHER AGENCIES UNDER DIVISION 2 OF PART 4 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF TRANSFER)
	TABLE I: APPLICATIONS TRANSFERRED TO OTHER AGENCIES UNDER DIVISION 2 OF PART 4 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF TRANSFER)
	TABLE I: APPLICATIONS TRANSFERRED TO OTHER AGENCIES UNDER DIVISION 2 OF PART 4 OF THE ACT (BY TYPE OF TRANSFER)


	TR
	Number of applications transferred
	Number of applications transferred


	Agency-initiated transfers
	Agency-initiated transfers
	Agency-initiated transfers

	0
	0





	Figure
	Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statementfor the 2019-2020 Financial Year for Destination NSW
	Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statementfor the 2019-2020 Financial Year for Destination NSW
	 


	The Board of Destination NSW is of the opinion that Destination NSW has internal audit and risk management processes in  operation that are, excluding the exceptions described below, compliant with the core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector, specifically:
	The Board of Destination NSW is of the opinion that Destination NSW has internal audit and risk management processes in  operation that are, excluding the exceptions described below, compliant with the core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector, specifically:

	CORE REQUIREMENTS
	CORE REQUIREMENTS
	CORE REQUIREMENTS
	CORE REQUIREMENTS
	CORE REQUIREMENTS
	CORE REQUIREMENTS

	For each requirement, please specify whether compliant,non-compliant, or in transition
	For each requirement, please specify whether compliant,non-compliant, or in transition
	 



	Risk Management Framework
	Risk Management Framework
	Risk Management Framework


	1.1
	1.1
	1.1

	The agency head is ultimately responsible and accountable for risk management in the agency
	The agency head is ultimately responsible and accountable for risk management in the agency

	Compliant
	Compliant


	1.2
	1.2
	1.2

	A risk management framework that is appropriate to the agency has been established andmaintained and the framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009
	A risk management framework that is appropriate to the agency has been established andmaintained and the framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009
	 


	Compliant
	Compliant


	Internal Audit Function
	Internal Audit Function
	Internal Audit Function


	2.1
	2.1
	2.1

	An internal audit function has been established and maintained
	An internal audit function has been established and maintained

	Compliant
	Compliant


	2.2
	2.2
	2.2

	The operation of the internal audit function is consistent with the International Standardsfor the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing
	The operation of the internal audit function is consistent with the International Standardsfor the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing
	 


	Compliant
	Compliant


	2.3
	2.3
	2.3

	The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’
	The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’

	Compliant
	Compliant


	Audit and Risk Committee
	Audit and Risk Committee
	Audit and Risk Committee


	3.1
	3.1
	3.1

	An independent Audit and Risk Committee with appropriate expertise has been established
	An independent Audit and Risk Committee with appropriate expertise has been established

	Compliant(with Minister’s Exception)
	Compliant(with Minister’s Exception)
	 



	3.2
	3.2
	3.2

	The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee providing assistance to the agencyhead on the agency’s governance processes, risk management and control frameworks, andits external accountability obligations
	The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory committee providing assistance to the agencyhead on the agency’s governance processes, risk management and control frameworks, andits external accountability obligations
	 
	 


	Compliant
	Compliant


	3.3
	3.3
	3.3

	The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’
	The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’

	Compliant
	Compliant




	MembershipThe chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:• [Independent] Chair, Mr. Russell Balding AO, (Appointment to April 2022)• [Independent] Member 1, Sally Loane, (Appointment to April 2021)
	 
	 
	 


	Departures from Core Requirements
	Departures from Core Requirements
	The Board of Destination NSW advises that the internal audit and risk management processes for Destination NSW depart fromthe following core requirements set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector:
	 

	1.  The circumstances giving rise to these departures have been determined by the Portfolio Minister, and Destination NSWhas implemented the following practicable alternative measures to  meet the core requirements:
	 


	DEPARTURE
	DEPARTURE
	DEPARTURE
	DEPARTURE
	DEPARTURE
	DEPARTURE

	Reason for departure and description of practicable alternative measures implemented/being implemented
	Reason for departure and description of practicable alternative measures implemented/being implemented


	Non-Compliance
	Non-Compliance
	Non-Compliance


	•  Core Requirement 3.1.4 – Independent members from Prequalification Scheme
	•  Core Requirement 3.1.4 – Independent members from Prequalification Scheme
	•  Core Requirement 3.1.4 – Independent members from Prequalification Scheme

	•  Independent Members are individuals who do not hold positions within the agency and are not employees of the NSW Government. They collectively possess all skill and knowledge requirements set out in the policy and also satisfy other TPP 15-03 criteria prohibiting conflicts of interest.
	•  Independent Members are individuals who do not hold positions within the agency and are not employees of the NSW Government. They collectively possess all skill and knowledge requirements set out in the policy and also satisfy other TPP 15-03 criteria prohibiting conflicts of interest.
	•  Loss of industry knowledge, adequate skills of current members and administrative burden


	The determination by the Portfolio Minister for Destination NSW in respect of this departure is dated 14 December 2017
	The determination by the Portfolio Minister for Destination NSW in respect of this departure is dated 14 December 2017
	The determination by the Portfolio Minister for Destination NSW in respect of this departure is dated 14 December 2017





	These processes, including the practicable alternative measures being implemented, demonstrate that the Destination NSW has established and maintained frameworks, including systems, processes and procedures for appropriately managing audit and risk within the agency.
	These processes, including the practicable alternative measures being implemented, demonstrate that the Destination NSW has established and maintained frameworks, including systems, processes and procedures for appropriately managing audit and risk within the agency.
	Signed in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Destination NSW.
	John WarnChairman
	 

	Dated: 18 October 2020

	Figure
	TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF  WORKFORCE DIVERSITY GROUPS
	TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF  WORKFORCE DIVERSITY GROUPS
	TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF  WORKFORCE DIVERSITY GROUPS
	TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF  WORKFORCE DIVERSITY GROUPS
	TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF  WORKFORCE DIVERSITY GROUPS
	TRENDS IN THE REPRESENTATION OF  WORKFORCE DIVERSITY GROUPS


	Workforce Diversity Group
	Workforce Diversity Group
	Workforce Diversity Group

	Benchmark
	Benchmark

	2020
	2020

	2019
	2019

	2018
	2018


	Women
	Women
	Women

	50%
	50%

	82.7%
	82.7%

	80.8%
	80.8%


	Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People
	Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People
	Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People

	3.3%
	3.3%

	0.0%
	0.0%

	0.0%
	0.0%

	0.0%
	0.0%


	People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English
	People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English
	People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English

	23.2%
	23.2%

	1.0%
	1.0%

	9.1%
	9.1%

	12.7%
	12.7%


	People with Disability
	People with Disability
	People with Disability

	5.6%
	5.6%

	3.1%
	3.1%

	1.1%
	1.1%

	1.4%
	1.4%


	People with a Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment
	People with a Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment
	People with a Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment

	N/A
	N/A

	1.54%
	1.54%

	0.5%
	0.5%

	0.7%
	0.7%




	Destination NSW exceeded the Benchmark 50% target in the Trends in Workforce Diversity Group Women with a strong result in 2019-2020 of 82.7%.

	Operations
	Operations

	Name of Officer
	Name of Officer
	Name of Officer
	Name of Officer
	Name of Officer
	Name of Officer

	Purpose of Visit
	Purpose of Visit

	Country Visited
	Country Visited

	From
	From

	Date To
	Date To



	Sam Cameron
	Sam Cameron
	Sam Cameron
	Sam Cameron

	Accompany 5 key agents from Flight Centre, House of Travel & Helloworld on a famil
	Accompany 5 key agents from Flight Centre, House of Travel & Helloworld on a famil

	Australia
	Australia

	4/09/2019
	4/09/2019

	6/09/2019
	6/09/2019


	Christine Tang
	Christine Tang
	Christine Tang

	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney
	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney

	Australia
	Australia

	31/08/2019
	31/08/2019

	7/09/2019
	7/09/2019


	Celine Dong
	Celine Dong
	Celine Dong

	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney
	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney

	Australia
	Australia

	31/08/2019
	31/08/2019

	7/09/2019
	7/09/2019


	Nerissa Lee
	Nerissa Lee
	Nerissa Lee

	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney
	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney

	Australia
	Australia

	31/08/2019
	31/08/2019

	7/09/2019
	7/09/2019


	Michelle Fu
	Michelle Fu
	Michelle Fu

	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney
	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney

	Australia
	Australia

	29/08/2019
	29/08/2019

	7/09/2019
	7/09/2019


	Jennifer Tung
	Jennifer Tung
	Jennifer Tung

	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney
	Focus On Greater China Event in Sydney

	Australia
	Australia

	31/08/2019
	31/08/2019

	7/09/2019
	7/09/2019


	Pascal Reiling
	Pascal Reiling
	Pascal Reiling

	Attend Corroboree West 2019 Perth, followed by famil to Blue Mountains 
	Attend Corroboree West 2019 Perth, followed by famil to Blue Mountains 

	Australia
	Australia

	6/10/2019
	6/10/2019

	18/10/2019
	18/10/2019


	Daliah Von Harten
	Daliah Von Harten
	Daliah Von Harten

	Attend Corroboree West 2019 Perth, followed by Famil in regional NSW showcasing South Coast
	Attend Corroboree West 2019 Perth, followed by Famil in regional NSW showcasing South Coast

	Australia
	Australia

	4/10/2019
	4/10/2019

	18/10/2019
	18/10/2019


	Jennifer Tung
	Jennifer Tung
	Jennifer Tung

	Travel to Sydney for HATA ( Hong Kong Association of Travel Agents)
	Travel to Sydney for HATA ( Hong Kong Association of Travel Agents)

	Australia
	Australia

	24/10/2019
	24/10/2019

	27/10/2019
	27/10/2019


	Gin Woo
	Gin Woo
	Gin Woo

	Escorted a group of 8 top selling agents and 1 media for Air NZ/DNSW to the Northern Rivers NSW Region
	Escorted a group of 8 top selling agents and 1 media for Air NZ/DNSW to the Northern Rivers NSW Region

	Australia
	Australia

	12/11/2019
	12/11/2019

	15/11/2019
	15/11/2019


	Haruhiko Niihori
	Haruhiko Niihori
	Haruhiko Niihori

	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie
	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie

	Australia
	Australia

	26/11/2019
	26/11/2019

	6/12/2019
	6/12/2019


	Sam Cameron
	Sam Cameron
	Sam Cameron

	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie
	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie

	Australia
	Australia

	27/11/2019
	27/11/2019

	6/12/2019
	6/12/2019


	Siobhan Burke
	Siobhan Burke
	Siobhan Burke

	Hosted a famil to the Blue Mountains, Hunter Valley & Port Stephens prior to meetings with TravelBag & Malaysia Airlines. Also attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney, followed by a famil in Port Macquarie
	Hosted a famil to the Blue Mountains, Hunter Valley & Port Stephens prior to meetings with TravelBag & Malaysia Airlines. Also attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney, followed by a famil in Port Macquarie

	Australia
	Australia

	18/11/2019
	18/11/2019

	7/12/2019
	7/12/2019


	Jennifer Tung
	Jennifer Tung
	Jennifer Tung

	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie
	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie

	Australia
	Australia

	26/11/2019
	26/11/2019

	7/12/2019
	7/12/2019


	Paramjit Bawa
	Paramjit Bawa
	Paramjit Bawa

	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie
	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie

	Australia
	Australia

	25/11/2019
	25/11/2019

	7/12/2019
	7/12/2019


	Irene Morgan
	Irene Morgan
	Irene Morgan

	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie
	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie

	Australia
	Australia

	24/11/2019
	24/11/2019

	7/12/2019
	7/12/2019


	Siew Hoon Tan
	Siew Hoon Tan
	Siew Hoon Tan

	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie
	Attended the International Manager Meetings in Sydney followed by a famil in Port Macquarie

	Australia
	Australia

	26/11/2019
	26/11/2019

	6/12/2019
	6/12/2019


	Steve Keogh
	Steve Keogh
	Steve Keogh

	Represented the NSW Government as a participant in the World Rugby Observer Program, which will assist with the development of the bid to host the 2027 Rugby World Cup. 
	Represented the NSW Government as a participant in the World Rugby Observer Program, which will assist with the development of the bid to host the 2027 Rugby World Cup. 

	Japan
	Japan

	7/10/2019
	7/10/2019

	14/10/2019
	14/10/2019


	Heather Young
	Heather Young
	Heather Young

	Escort a DNSW educational famil with American Airlines attended by7 key retail/industry travel operators to  Sydney, Hunter Valley andPort Stephens.
	Escort a DNSW educational famil with American Airlines attended by7 key retail/industry travel operators to  Sydney, Hunter Valley andPort Stephens.
	 
	 


	Australia
	Australia

	13/02/2020
	13/02/2020

	25/02/2020
	25/02/2020





	Grants
	Grants

	Regional Event Fund
	Regional Event Fund

	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference

	Organiser
	Organiser

	Grant Amount
	Grant Amount



	ArtWalk (Port Macquarie)
	ArtWalk (Port Macquarie)
	ArtWalk (Port Macquarie)
	ArtWalk (Port Macquarie)

	Port Macquarie Hastings Council
	Port Macquarie Hastings Council

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Australian Art Deco Festival (Leeton)
	Australian Art Deco Festival (Leeton)
	Australian Art Deco Festival (Leeton)

	Leeton Shire Council
	Leeton Shire Council

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Baroquefest (Canowindra)
	Baroquefest (Canowindra)
	Baroquefest (Canowindra)

	Canowindra Fine Music Inc.
	Canowindra Fine Music Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Bathurst Winter Festival (Bathurst)
	Bathurst Winter Festival (Bathurst)
	Bathurst Winter Festival (Bathurst)

	Bathurst Regional Council
	Bathurst Regional Council

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Batlow Cider Fest (Batlow)
	Batlow Cider Fest (Batlow)
	Batlow Cider Fest (Batlow)

	Batlow Development League
	Batlow Development League

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Be Welcomed by Wildlife at the Australian Wildlife Sanctuary (Bargo)
	Be Welcomed by Wildlife at the Australian Wildlife Sanctuary (Bargo)
	Be Welcomed by Wildlife at the Australian Wildlife Sanctuary (Bargo)

	National Trust of Australia (NSW)
	National Trust of Australia (NSW)

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Bellingen Fine Music Festival (Bellingen)
	Bellingen Fine Music Festival (Bellingen)
	Bellingen Fine Music Festival (Bellingen)

	Bellingen Community Arts Council Inc.
	Bellingen Community Arts Council Inc.

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Bellinger River Agricultural Show (Bellingen)
	Bellinger River Agricultural Show (Bellingen)
	Bellinger River Agricultural Show (Bellingen)

	Bellinger River Agricultural Show Society
	Bellinger River Agricultural Show Society

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Blue Mountains Writers Festival (Katoomba)
	Blue Mountains Writers Festival (Katoomba)
	Blue Mountains Writers Festival (Katoomba)

	Eleanor Dark Foundation
	Eleanor Dark Foundation

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Boorowa Irish Woolfest (Boorowa)
	Boorowa Irish Woolfest (Boorowa)
	Boorowa Irish Woolfest (Boorowa)

	Hilltops Council
	Hilltops Council

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Breathing Space: Transformative Projections inthe Magic Hour
	Breathing Space: Transformative Projections inthe Magic Hour
	Breathing Space: Transformative Projections inthe Magic Hour
	 


	Illuminart
	Illuminart

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Bungendore Street Party (Bungendore)
	Bungendore Street Party (Bungendore)
	Bungendore Street Party (Bungendore)

	Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional Council
	Queanbeyan-Palerang Regional Council

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Casino Beef Week (Casino)
	Casino Beef Week (Casino)
	Casino Beef Week (Casino)

	Casino Beef Week Promotions Committee Inc.
	Casino Beef Week Promotions Committee Inc.

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Cotton Capital Country Music Muster (Wee Waa)
	Cotton Capital Country Music Muster (Wee Waa)
	Cotton Capital Country Music Muster (Wee Waa)

	Cotton Capital Country Music Muster
	Cotton Capital Country Music Muster

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Cowra Christmas Street Festival (Cowra)
	Cowra Christmas Street Festival (Cowra)
	Cowra Christmas Street Festival (Cowra)

	Cowra Tourism Corporation
	Cowra Tourism Corporation

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Crank It Up (Batemans Bay)
	Crank It Up (Batemans Bay)
	Crank It Up (Batemans Bay)

	Batemans Bay Rock n Rollers
	Batemans Bay Rock n Rollers

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Dubbo Stampede Running Festival (Dubbo)
	Dubbo Stampede Running Festival (Dubbo)
	Dubbo Stampede Running Festival (Dubbo)

	Dubbo Running Festival Inc.
	Dubbo Running Festival Inc.

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Eden Whale Festival (Eden)
	Eden Whale Festival (Eden)
	Eden Whale Festival (Eden)

	Eden Whale Festival
	Eden Whale Festival

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Elephant Trail Race (Port Macquarie)
	Elephant Trail Race (Port Macquarie)
	Elephant Trail Race (Port Macquarie)

	Coastal Sports & Fitness
	Coastal Sports & Fitness

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Ewingar Rising (Ewingar)
	Ewingar Rising (Ewingar)
	Ewingar Rising (Ewingar)

	Ewingar Hall Committee
	Ewingar Hall Committee

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Flavours of Mudgee Street Festival (Mudgee)
	Flavours of Mudgee Street Festival (Mudgee)
	Flavours of Mudgee Street Festival (Mudgee)

	Mid-Western Regional Council
	Mid-Western Regional Council

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Gears & Beers Festival (Wagga Wagga)
	Gears & Beers Festival (Wagga Wagga)
	Gears & Beers Festival (Wagga Wagga)

	Rotary Club of Wollundry-Wagga Wagga Inc.
	Rotary Club of Wollundry-Wagga Wagga Inc.

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Glenreagh Timber Festival (Glenreagh)
	Glenreagh Timber Festival (Glenreagh)
	Glenreagh Timber Festival (Glenreagh)

	Glenreagh Progress Association Inc.
	Glenreagh Progress Association Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000





	Grants   
	Grants   
	CONTINUED


	Regional Event Fund  
	Regional Event Fund  
	CONTINUED


	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference

	Organiser
	Organiser

	Grant Amount
	Grant Amount



	Grafton Jacaranda Festival (Grafton)
	Grafton Jacaranda Festival (Grafton)
	Grafton Jacaranda Festival (Grafton)
	Grafton Jacaranda Festival (Grafton)

	Grafton Jacaranda Festival Inc.
	Grafton Jacaranda Festival Inc.

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Harden Kite Festival (Harden)
	Harden Kite Festival (Harden)
	Harden Kite Festival (Harden)

	Harden Kite Festival Committee
	Harden Kite Festival Committee

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Hello Koalas Festival (Port Macquarie)
	Hello Koalas Festival (Port Macquarie)
	Hello Koalas Festival (Port Macquarie)

	Arts & Health Australia Pty Ltd
	Arts & Health Australia Pty Ltd

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Lakeside Music Festival (Tuncurry)
	Lakeside Music Festival (Tuncurry)
	Lakeside Music Festival (Tuncurry)

	Lakeside Festival Inc.
	Lakeside Festival Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Lost Lanes (Wagga Wagga)
	Lost Lanes (Wagga Wagga)
	Lost Lanes (Wagga Wagga)

	Wagga Wagga City Council
	Wagga Wagga City Council

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Love Sea Food (Port Stephens)
	Love Sea Food (Port Stephens)
	Love Sea Food (Port Stephens)

	Port Stephens Tourism Ltd
	Port Stephens Tourism Ltd

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Moree on a Plate (Moree)
	Moree on a Plate (Moree)
	Moree on a Plate (Moree)

	Moree on a Plate Inc.
	Moree on a Plate Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Motofest Wauchope (Wauchope)
	Motofest Wauchope (Wauchope)
	Motofest Wauchope (Wauchope)

	Wauchope Chamber of Commerce & Industry Inc.
	Wauchope Chamber of Commerce & Industry Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Mullum Circus (Ringside) Festival (Mullumbimby)
	Mullum Circus (Ringside) Festival (Mullumbimby)
	Mullum Circus (Ringside) Festival (Mullumbimby)

	Spaghetti Circus
	Spaghetti Circus

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Narooma Oyster Festival (Narooma)
	Narooma Oyster Festival (Narooma)
	Narooma Oyster Festival (Narooma)

	Narooma Oyster Festival
	Narooma Oyster Festival

	$30,000
	$30,000


	National Cherry Festival (Young)
	National Cherry Festival (Young)
	National Cherry Festival (Young)

	Hilltops Council
	Hilltops Council

	$30,000
	$30,000


	New England Sings! (Armidale)
	New England Sings! (Armidale)
	New England Sings! (Armidale)

	New England Conservatorium of Music
	New England Conservatorium of Music

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Perricoota Pop & Pour Festival (Moama)
	Perricoota Pop & Pour Festival (Moama)
	Perricoota Pop & Pour Festival (Moama)

	E M Events
	E M Events

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Peter Allen Festival (Tenterfield)
	Peter Allen Festival (Tenterfield)
	Peter Allen Festival (Tenterfield)

	Tenterfield Chamber of Tourism Industry & Business Inc.
	Tenterfield Chamber of Tourism Industry & Business Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Port Stephens Multisport Festival (Fingal Bay)
	Port Stephens Multisport Festival (Fingal Bay)
	Port Stephens Multisport Festival (Fingal Bay)

	Allura Pty t/a In2Adventure
	Allura Pty t/a In2Adventure

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Pulse of the Earth – A Festival of Regeneration (Bingara)
	Pulse of the Earth – A Festival of Regeneration (Bingara)
	Pulse of the Earth – A Festival of Regeneration (Bingara)

	Bingara & District Vision 2020 Inc.
	Bingara & District Vision 2020 Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	ReBoot Bermagui (Bermagui)
	ReBoot Bermagui (Bermagui)
	ReBoot Bermagui (Bermagui)

	Bermagui Area Chamber of Commerce & Tourism Inc.
	Bermagui Area Chamber of Commerce & Tourism Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Rising from the Ashes – Shoalhaven Car Rally (Sussex Inlet to Kioloa)
	Rising from the Ashes – Shoalhaven Car Rally (Sussex Inlet to Kioloa)
	Rising from the Ashes – Shoalhaven Car Rally (Sussex Inlet to Kioloa)

	St Mary Star of the Sea Parish
	St Mary Star of the Sea Parish

	$10,000
	$10,000


	River Festival (North Haven)
	River Festival (North Haven)
	River Festival (North Haven)

	Camden Haven Chamber of Commerce, Tourism & Industry Inc.
	Camden Haven Chamber of Commerce, Tourism & Industry Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	River of Art Festival (Durras Lakes to Tilba Tilba)
	River of Art Festival (Durras Lakes to Tilba Tilba)
	River of Art Festival (Durras Lakes to Tilba Tilba)

	River of Art Inc
	River of Art Inc

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Sculpture at Scenic World (Katoomba)
	Sculpture at Scenic World (Katoomba)
	Sculpture at Scenic World (Katoomba)

	Katoomba Scenic Railway Pty Ltd
	Katoomba Scenic Railway Pty Ltd

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Seechange Jervis Bay Arts Festival (Huskisson)
	Seechange Jervis Bay Arts Festival (Huskisson)
	Seechange Jervis Bay Arts Festival (Huskisson)

	Jervis Bay & Basin Arts Inc.
	Jervis Bay & Basin Arts Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Spring Jam (Wagga Wagga)
	Spring Jam (Wagga Wagga)
	Spring Jam (Wagga Wagga)

	Wagga Wagga City Council
	Wagga Wagga City Council

	$20,000
	$20,000


	StoryFest (Milton)
	StoryFest (Milton)
	StoryFest (Milton)

	StoryFest Incorporated
	StoryFest Incorporated

	$20,000
	$20,000





	Grants   
	Grants   
	CONTINUED


	Regional Event Fund  
	Regional Event Fund  
	CONTINUED


	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference
	Conference

	Organiser
	Organiser

	Grant Amount
	Grant Amount



	The Bay Games (Huskisson)
	The Bay Games (Huskisson)
	The Bay Games (Huskisson)
	The Bay Games (Huskisson)

	HBM Creative Pty Ltd
	HBM Creative Pty Ltd

	$20,000
	$20,000


	The Clarence 100 (Copmanhurst to Yamba)
	The Clarence 100 (Copmanhurst to Yamba)
	The Clarence 100 (Copmanhurst to Yamba)

	Benjamin Sullivan
	Benjamin Sullivan

	$10,000
	$10,000


	The End 2 End Festival (Pokolbin)
	The End 2 End Festival (Pokolbin)
	The End 2 End Festival (Pokolbin)

	Parish of Pokolbin Inc.
	Parish of Pokolbin Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Trundle Show (Trundle)
	Trundle Show (Trundle)
	Trundle Show (Trundle)

	Trundle Pastoral & Agricultural Society
	Trundle Pastoral & Agricultural Society

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Tulip Time (Bowral)
	Tulip Time (Bowral)
	Tulip Time (Bowral)

	Wingecarribee Shire Council
	Wingecarribee Shire Council

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Viking Festival – A Celebration of Scandinavian Heritage (Sussex Inlet)
	Viking Festival – A Celebration of Scandinavian Heritage (Sussex Inlet)
	Viking Festival – A Celebration of Scandinavian Heritage (Sussex Inlet)

	Sussex Inlet District Chamber of Commerce
	Sussex Inlet District Chamber of Commerce

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Warbirds Downunder Airshow (Temora)
	Warbirds Downunder Airshow (Temora)
	Warbirds Downunder Airshow (Temora)

	Temora Aviation Museum
	Temora Aviation Museum

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Woodstock Memorial Show (Woodstock)
	Woodstock Memorial Show (Woodstock)
	Woodstock Memorial Show (Woodstock)

	Woodstock Memorial Show Inc.
	Woodstock Memorial Show Inc.

	$10,000
	$10,000


	Woolgoolga Blues & Berries Festival (Woolgoolga)
	Woolgoolga Blues & Berries Festival (Woolgoolga)
	Woolgoolga Blues & Berries Festival (Woolgoolga)

	Another Tasty Event
	Another Tasty Event

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Woolgoolga MTB Festival (Woolgoolga)
	Woolgoolga MTB Festival (Woolgoolga)
	Woolgoolga MTB Festival (Woolgoolga)

	White Lightning Event Management
	White Lightning Event Management

	$20,000
	$20,000


	Write Around the Murray Festival (Albury)
	Write Around the Murray Festival (Albury)
	Write Around the Murray Festival (Albury)

	Albury City Council
	Albury City Council

	$30,000
	$30,000


	Yours & Owls Festival (Wollongong)
	Yours & Owls Festival (Wollongong)
	Yours & Owls Festival (Wollongong)

	Yours & Owls Events Pty Ltd
	Yours & Owls Events Pty Ltd

	$20,000
	$20,000


	TOTAL (All Amounts are GST Exclusive)
	TOTAL (All Amounts are GST Exclusive)
	TOTAL (All Amounts are GST Exclusive)

	$1,010,000
	$1,010,000





	Major Event Performance 2019-2020
	Major Event Performance 2019-2020

	Event classification
	Event classification
	Event classification
	Event classification
	Event classification
	Event classification

	Events assessed
	Events assessed

	Estimated visitor expenditure of events
	Estimated visitor expenditure of events

	Total contracted investment
	Total contracted investment

	% of events 
	% of events 
	which met all KPIs



	Arts, Entertainment & Festivals
	Arts, Entertainment & Festivals
	Arts, Entertainment & Festivals
	Arts, Entertainment & Festivals

	14
	14

	$122,325,666
	$122,325,666

	$6,780,455
	$6,780,455

	57%
	57%


	Lifestyle
	Lifestyle
	Lifestyle

	16
	16

	$20,019,876
	$20,019,876

	$4,159,000
	$4,159,000

	75%
	75%


	Sport
	Sport
	Sport

	25
	25

	$76,023,240
	$76,023,240

	$27,185,999
	$27,185,999

	88%
	88%


	Total
	Total
	Total

	55
	55

	$218,368,782
	$218,368,782

	$38,125,454
	$38,125,454

	76%
	76%





	Financial Management
	Financial Management

	PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
	PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
	PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
	PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
	PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
	PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS


	Quarter
	Quarter
	Quarter

	Current(within due date)
	Current(within due date)
	 

	$

	Less than 30days overdue
	Less than 30days overdue
	 

	$

	Between 30 and 60 days overdue
	Between 30 and 60 days overdue
	$

	Between 60 and 90 days overdue
	Between 60 and 90 days overdue
	$

	More than 90 days overdue
	More than 90 days overdue
	$


	All Suppliers
	All Suppliers
	All Suppliers


	September 2019
	September 2019
	September 2019

	48,250,519
	48,250,519

	970,306
	970,306

	29,700
	29,700

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL


	December 2019
	December 2019
	December 2019

	29,111,543
	29,111,543

	244,639
	244,639

	145,900
	145,900

	NIL
	NIL

	-89
	-89


	March 2020
	March 2020
	March 2020

	33,756,570
	33,756,570

	3,789,830
	3,789,830

	16,597
	16,597

	-2,126
	-2,126

	3,221
	3,221


	June 2020
	June 2020
	June 2020

	25,493,790
	25,493,790

	151,035
	151,035

	8,343
	8,343

	-4,301
	-4,301

	-9,818
	-9,818


	Total all suppliers
	Total all suppliers
	Total all suppliers

	136,612,422
	136,612,422

	5,155,810
	5,155,810

	200,540
	200,540

	-6,427
	-6,427

	-6,686
	-6,686


	Small Business
	Small Business
	Small Business


	September 2019
	September 2019
	September 2019

	474,799
	474,799

	86,276
	86,276

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL


	December 2019
	December 2019
	December 2019

	251,483
	251,483

	33,221
	33,221

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL


	March 2020
	March 2020
	March 2020

	274,718
	274,718

	134,612
	134,612

	14,725
	14,725

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL


	June 2020
	June 2020
	June 2020

	325,406
	325,406

	23,914
	23,914

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL


	Total Small Business
	Total Small Business
	Total Small Business

	1,326,406
	1,326,406

	278,023
	278,023

	14,725
	14,725

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL




	All Suppliers
	All Suppliers
	All Suppliers
	All Suppliers
	All Suppliers

	September 2019
	September 2019

	December 2019
	December 2019

	March 2020
	March 2020

	June 2020
	June 2020


	Total no of accounts due for payment
	Total no of accounts due for payment
	Total no of accounts due for payment

	1,565
	1,565

	946
	946

	1,235
	1,235

	1,131
	1,131


	No of accounts paid on time
	No of accounts paid on time
	No of accounts paid on time

	1,503
	1,503

	910
	910

	1,059
	1,059

	1,116
	1,116


	% of account paid on time (based on no of accounts)
	% of account paid on time (based on no of accounts)
	% of account paid on time (based on no of accounts)

	96.0%
	96.0%

	96.2%
	96.2%

	85.7%
	85.7%

	98.7%
	98.7%


	$ amount of accounts due for payment
	$ amount of accounts due for payment
	$ amount of accounts due for payment

	49,250,525
	49,250,525

	29,501,993
	29,501,993

	37,564,093
	37,564,093

	25,639,049
	25,639,049


	$ amount of accounts paid on time
	$ amount of accounts paid on time
	$ amount of accounts paid on time

	48,250,519
	48,250,519

	29,111,543
	29,111,543

	33,756,570
	33,756,570

	25,493,790
	25,493,790


	% of accounts paid on time (based on $ amount of accounts)
	% of accounts paid on time (based on $ amount of accounts)
	% of accounts paid on time (based on $ amount of accounts)

	98.0%
	98.0%

	98.7%
	98.7%

	89.9%
	89.9%

	99.4%
	99.4%


	Number of payment for interest on overdue accounts
	Number of payment for interest on overdue accounts
	Number of payment for interest on overdue accounts

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL


	Interest paid on overdue accounts
	Interest paid on overdue accounts
	Interest paid on overdue accounts

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL

	NIL
	NIL





	Figure
	Belmore Falls, Morton National Park
	Belmore Falls, Morton National Park
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	Statement in accordance
	Statement in accordance

	Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer(a)the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable Australian AccountingStandards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations), the provisions of the Public Finance and AuditAct 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and the Financial ReportingDirections mandated by the Treasurer;(b)the accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial positio
	Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer(a)the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable Australian AccountingStandards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations), the provisions of the Public Finance and AuditAct 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and the Financial ReportingDirections mandated by the Treasurer;(b)the accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial positio
	Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer(a)the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable Australian AccountingStandards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations), the provisions of the Public Finance and AuditAct 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and the Financial ReportingDirections mandated by the Treasurer;(b)the accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial positio
	Auditor’s Report
	Auditor’s Report

	    INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Destination NSW  To Members of the New South Wales Parliament Opinion I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Destination NSW (DNSW), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory informati
	    INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Destination NSW  To Members of the New South Wales Parliament Opinion I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Destination NSW (DNSW), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory informati
	    INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Destination NSW  To Members of the New South Wales Parliament Opinion I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Destination NSW (DNSW), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory informati
	    INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Destination NSW  To Members of the New South Wales Parliament Opinion I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Destination NSW (DNSW), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory informati
	Auditor’s Report   
	Auditor’s Report   
	CONTINUED


	   Other Information DNSW’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 includes other information in addition to the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The members of the Board of DNSW are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the Statement by the Chair and the Chief Executive Officer. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I d
	Auditor’s Report   
	Auditor’s Report   
	CONTINUED


	   The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: • that DNSW or the consolidated entity carried out their activities effectively, efficiently and economically • about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial statements • about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial statements on any website where they may be presented • about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statem
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020

	Beginning of the audited Financial StatementsDESTINATION NSWSTATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020ActualBudgetActualActualActual20202020201920202019$000$000$000$000$000Expenses excluding lossesOperating expenses   Employee related2(a)21,90921,75021,608--   Personnel services2(b)---21,90921,608   Other operating expenses2(c)102,025106,041155,501102,025155,501Depreciation and amortisation2(d)1,8522,0211281,852128Grants and subsidies2(e)4,69411,3476,9274,6946,927Finance Costs2(f)89--
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020   
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020   
	CONTINUED


	DESTINATION NSWActualBudgetActual ActualActual 20202020201920202019$000$000$000$000$000ASSETSCurrent AssetsCash and cash equivalents616,49813,52329,65716,49829,657Receivables73,1548,7736,9303,1546,930Total Current Assets19,65222,29636,58719,65236,587Non-Current AssetsFinancial assets at fair value8--50-50Property, plant and equipment  - Plant and equipment9243287292243292Total property, plant and equipment243287342243342Right-of-use assets1042905790-4290-Intangible assets114141554155Total Non-Current Assets
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020   
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020   
	CONTINUED


	DESTINATION NSWSTATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020Consolidated EntityAccumulatedTotalFundsEquity$000$000Balance at 1 July 2019(12,393)(12,393)Net result for the year5,7975,797Total other comprehensive income--Total comprehensive income for the year5,7975,797Balance at 30 June 2020(6,596)(6,596)Balance at 1 July 2018(10,359)(10,359)Net result for the year(2,034)(2,034)Total other comprehensive income--Total comprehensive income for the year(2,034)(2,034)Balance at 30 June 2019(12,3
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020   
	Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2020   
	CONTINUED


	DESTINATION NSWSTATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020ActualBudget ActualActualActual20202020201920202019$000$000$000$000$000CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIESPaymentsEmployee related(21,659)(21,425)(21,220)--Personnel services expense---(21,659)(21,220)Grants and subsidies(4,694)(11,347)(7,081)(4,694)(7,081)Finance Costs(89)(167)-(89)-Payments to suppliers(132,684)(110,874)(153,551)(132,684)(153,551)Total Payments(159,125)(143,813)(181,852)(159,125)(181,852)ReceiptsSale of goods and servi
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Notes to the Financial Statements

	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20201.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES●applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)●●●●receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that:theamountofGSTincurredbytheGroupasapurchaserthatisnotrecoverablefromtheAustralianTaxationOffice is recognised as
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	CONTINUED


	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20201.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)•     identifying the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations•     determining the transaction price•     allocating the transaction price to the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations.TheentityappliedAASB15RevenuefromContractswithCustomers,AASB1058IncomeofNot-for-ProfitEntities,andAASB16Leasesforthefirsttime.Thenatureandeffectofthec
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	CONTINUED


	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20201.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)LessoraccountingunderAASB16issubstantiallyunchangedfromAASB117.LessorswillcontinuetoclassifyleasesaseitheroperatingorfinanceleasesusingsimilarprinciplesasinAASB117.Therefore,AASB16doesnothaveasignificantimpactforleases where the entity is the lessor.Lessee accountingAASB16requirestheentitytoaccountforallleasesunderasingleon-balancesheetmodelsimilartothea
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	CONTINUED


	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20201.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)$’000  Assets            7,145             7,145             7,145             7,145 --$’000            11,246 (1,022)          12,268 1.41%            7,169 (24)            7,145 i. Effective for the first time in 2019-20 (continued)ii. Issued but not yet effectiveNSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new AAS, unless Treasury deter
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	CONTINUED


	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20202.EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES2020201920202019$000$000$000$000(a) Employee related expensesSalaries and wages (including annual leave)18,46618,269--Superannuation – defined benefit plans3139--Superannuation – defined contribution plans1,3991,394--Long service leave168409--Workers compensation insurance4441--Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax1,1711,196--Redundancy Payments391---Other - miscellaneous239260--21,90
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20202.EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES (continued)(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense2020201920202019$000$000$000$000Depreciation - Buildings1,745-1,745-Depreciation - Plant and equipment93114931141,8381141,838114Amortisation of intangible assets1414141414141414Recognition and MeasurementRefer to Note 9 and 11 for recognition and measurement policies on depreciation and amortisation.(e) Grants and subsidiesGrant t
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20203.REVENUES2020201920202019$000$000$000$000(a) Sale of goods and servicesRendering of services:Other services2344742344742344742344742020201920202019$000$000$000$000(b) Grants and contributionsGrants – NSW Budget Sector Agencies      7,800          500       7,800          500 Grant and contributions – Industry / Private Bodies            -         7,141             -         7,141 In kind sponsorship      3,3
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20203.REVENUES (continued)2020201920202019$000$000$000$000(c) Other revenueMiscellaneous209190209190Fees-3-3209193209193(d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilitiesSuperannuation – defined benefit31393139Payroll tax222233413341(e) Deemed appropriation•     forms part of the Consolidated Fund; and•     is not appropriated under the authority of an ActAll payments and receipts of th
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20206.CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS2020201920202019$000$000$000$000Cash at bank and on hand16,49829,65716,49829,65716,49829,65716,49829,657Cash and cash equivalents (per statement of financial position)16,49829,65716,49829,657Closing cash and cash equivalents (per statement of cash flows)16,49829,65716,49829,657Refer Note 20 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising fr
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20208.NON-CURRENT  - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE202020192020Parent$000$000$000$000NON-CURRENTDerivative Assets - Hedge FX Forward-50-50-50-50Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Financial assets at fair value through profit or lossFinancialassetsatfairvaluethr
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20209.                   NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (a) Total property, plant and equipmentConsolidatedParentConsolidatedParent$000$000$000$000At 1 July 2019 - fair valueGross carrying amount              4,678           4,678               4,678           4,678 Accumulated depreciation and impairment(4,386)(4,386)(4,386)(4,386)Net carrying amount292292292292At 30 June 2020 - fair value    
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20209.NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)Impairment of property, plant and equipment Right-of-Use Assets acquired by lessees (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)From1July2019,AASB16Leases(AASB16)requiresalesseetorecognisearight-of-useassetformostleases.Theentityhaselectedtopresentright-of-use assets separately in the Statement of Financial Position.Therefore, at that date property, plant and
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202010.a. Entity as a lesseeRight-of-use assets under leasesBuildingsPlant & EquipmentTotal$000$000$000Balance at 1 July 20197,125207,145Additions---Depreciation expense(1,745)(6)(1,751)Impairment(1,104)-(1,104)Balance at 30 June 20204,276144,290Lease liabilities$000Balance at 1 July 20197,145Additions-Interest expenses89Payments(1,685)Balance at 30 June 20205,550$000Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets1,7
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202010.• Motor vehicles and other equipment 3 yearsLEASES (continued)Recognition and measurement (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019) (continued)ii. Lease liabilitiesAtthecommencementdateofthelease,theentityrecognisesleaseliabilitiesmeasuredatthepresentvalueofleasepaymentstobemadeoverthelease term.i. Right-of-use assetsTheentityrecognisesright-of-useassetsatthecommencementdateofthelease(i.e.thedatetheunderlyingasseti
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202011.INTANGIBLE  ASSETS SoftwareConsolidatedParent$000$000At 1 July 2019Cost (gross carrying amount)140140Accumulated amortisation and impairment(85)(85)Net carrying amount5555Year ended 30 June 2020Cost (gross carrying amount)140140Accumulated amortisation and impairment(99)(99)Net carrying amount4141Year ended 30 June 2020Net carrying amount at start of year5555Additions / transfers--Disposals / revaluations 
	Notes to the Financial Statements  
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202012.CURRENT LIABILITIES - PAYABLES2020201920202019$000$000$000$000CURRENTAccrued salaries, wages and on-costs454340--Unearned income441455441455Personnel services--454340Creditors19,64843,99319,64843,99320,54344,78820,54344,788Recognition and Measurement13.CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS2020201920202019$000$000$000$000Current - Lease liability (see Note 10)1,693-1,693-Non-Current - Derivatives4949
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202014.2020201920202019$000$000$000$000CURRENTEmployee benefits and related on-costsAnnual leave1,6451,372--Long service leave1,9652,254--Other on-costs121--Personnel services provision--3,6223,627Total current provisions3,6223,6273,6223,627NON-CURRENTEmployee benefits and related on-costsLong service leave688538688538688538688538Other provisionsRestoration costs415415415415415415415415Total non-current provision
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202014.Long service leave and superannuation Consequential on-costsOther provisions15.EQUITYAccumulated funds16.COMMITMENTS (a) Capital commitmentsAs at 30 June 2020 Destination NSW had no capital commitments (2019: Nil).17.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS18.Net ResultAssets and liabilities  Cash flowsTheconsolidatedactualnetresultfor2020hasafavourablevariancetobudget$7.3m.Thiswasprimarilyduetolowerth
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202019.RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT2020201920202019$000$000$000$000Net Cash used on operating activities(11,524)7,905(11,524)7,905Depreciation and amortisation(1,852)(128)(1,852)(128)Decrease / (increase) in provisions(145)(322)(145)(322)Increase / (decrease) in receivables(3,777)(1,824)(3,777)(1,824)Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets(50)(307)(50)(307)Dec
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202020.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)(c) Financial risks (continued)(i) Credit risk (continued)Authority DepositsThe Group has no funds placed on deposit with TCorp.Other FacilitiesThe Group has access to the following banking facilities:20202019$000$000Citibank Limit1,2001,200(ii) Liquidity riskConsolidated and ParentWeighted NominalFixed Int.Variable Int.Non-interest< 1 yr1 - 5> 5 yrsAverageAmount1Rate      
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202020.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)(c) Financial risks (continued)(iii) Market riskInterest rate riskGroup and ParentCarrying Amount$000-1%+1%-1%+1%Financial AssetsCash and cash equivalents16,498----Financial AssetsCash and cash equivalents29,657----Other price risk - TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilitiesThe Group holds no units in Hour-Glass investment trusts.Foreign exchange risk(d) Fair value measurement
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	DESTINATION NSWNOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202021.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSUREEntityNature of TransactionDepartment of Planning, Industry and EnvironmentProvides administrative, secretarial support and operational assistanceAmbulance Service of NSWProvides support services to facilitate eventsArt Gallery of NSWProvides support services to facilitate eventsBarangaroo Delivery AuthorityProvides support services to facilitate eventsBotanic Gardens TrustProvides 
	Figure
	Spoon Bay, Wamberal
	Spoon Bay, Wamberal

	Page  126
	Page  126
	Page  126


	DESTINATION NSW   //   
	DESTINATION NSW   //   
	DESTINATION NSW   //   
	Annual Report 2019-2020


	Index & Access
	Index & Access

	Contents
	Contents
	128 Index
	130 Access

	Page  127
	Page  127
	Page  127


	DESTINATION NSW   //   
	DESTINATION NSW   //   
	DESTINATION NSW   //   
	Annual Report 2019-2020


	Index
	Index

	A
	A
	A

	Aboriginal Tourism ......................................................58
	About Destination NSW ...............................................10
	Access .........................................................................130
	Annual Report Costs ..................................................119
	Appendices ...................................................................71
	Arts and Entertainment Portfolio ..............................48
	Audit and Risk Committee ..........................................75
	Auditor’s Report ...........................................................97
	B
	B

	Board Committees  ......................................................75
	Board of Management .................................................75
	Board Members ...........................................................12
	Budget Structure .........................................................20
	Business Activation Portfolio .....................................50
	Business Support Programs ......................................69
	C
	C

	CEO’s Report: The Year in Review ..............................18
	Chairman’s Foreword ....................................................7
	Charter Aims & Objectives .........................................10
	Communications ..........................................................64
	Consultants ..................................................................75
	Consumer Enquiries Response ..................................87
	Corporate Governance ................................................88
	Corporate Services ......................................................69
	Cruise Ship Tourism ....................................................60
	D
	D

	Destination NSW Staff Agency ...................................75
	Destination NSW Performance KPIs .........................21
	Disability Inclusion Action Plan ..................................84
	Disclosure of Controlled Entities ...............................76
	Disclosure of Subsidiaries ..........................................76
	E
	E

	Event Development ......................................................46
	Exceptional Movements in Remuneration ................74
	F
	F

	Financial Management ................................................92
	Financial Overview .......................................................20
	Financial Statements ...................................................95
	Funds Sources of .........................................................20
	Food & Wine Tourism ..................................................59
	G
	G

	Government Information (Public Access) Act ...........76
	Grants ............................................................................89
	    Regional Conferencing ............................................57
	    Regional Event Fund ................................................56
	    Regional Tourism Fund ............................................56
	H
	H

	Human Resources .......................................................73
	I
	I

	Independent Auditor’s Report .....................................97
	Insurance .......................................................................80
	Internal Audit and Risk ManagementPolicy Attestation ..........................................................82
	 

	Internal Audits ...............................................................80
	L
	L

	Legal Change and Legislation .....................................75
	Letter of Submission ......................................................4

	Index
	Index

	M
	M
	M

	Management Activities .................................................87
	Management and Structure See: 
	    Board of Management ..............................................75
	    Senior Executives ......................................................72
	    Organisation Chart  ...................................................17
	Marketing .......................................................................51
	Multicultural Policy .......................................................85
	N
	N

	NSW Cyber Security Policy Attestation ......................81
	NSW Tourism Performance.........................................29
	O
	O

	Operations .....................................................................86
	Organisation ....................................................................9
	Organisation Chart .......................................................17
	Overseas Visits ..............................................................86
	P
	P

	Partnership Programs .................................................62
	Payment of Accounts ....................................................92
	Policies and Programs .................................................84
	Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act ....80
	R
	R

	Regional Conferencing .................................................57
	Regional Event Development .......................................56
	Regional NSW ................................................................56
	Regional Tourism Fund ................................................56
	Research and Development .........................................87
	Risk Management .........................................................95
	S
	S

	Sport and Strategic Events Portfolio ..........................49
	Staff Profile ....................................................................73
	Statement by Chair and CEO ........................................96
	Strategic Objectives ......................................................21
	Subsidiaries ...................................................................76
	T
	T

	Tourism Industry Performance ...................................29
	Tourism Snapshots .......................................................38
	V
	V

	Visitor Economy Industry Action Plan ........................11
	Visitor Snapshot ............................................................38
	Vivid Sydney ...................................................................47
	W
	W

	Work Health & Safety ...................................................84
	Workers Compensation ...............................................80
	Workforce Diversity ......................................................84

	Access
	Access

	SYDNEY OFFICE
	SYDNEY OFFICE
	Level 2,88 Cumberland Street,The Rocks, Sydney,NSW 2000Tel: +61 2 9931 1111Fax: + 61 2 9931 1490
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Business hours:8:30am-5:00pm Monday to Friday
	 

	Postal address:GPO Box 7050, Sydney NSW 2001
	 

	CORPORATE EMAIL & WEBSITE
	info@dnsw.com.audestinationnsw.com.au
	 

	CONSUMER WEBSITES
	sydney.comvisitnsw.comvividsydney.com
	 
	 

	INTERNATIONAL OFFICES
	United Kingdom OfficeLevel 6, Australia Centre Strand,London, WC2B 4LG, UNITED KINGDOMTel: +44 20 7438 4643Fax: +44 20 7240 6690
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Germany OfficeNeue Mainzer Strasse 22 D60311 Frankfurt, GERMANYTel: + 49 (0) 69 2740 0698Fax: +49 (0) 69 2740 0640
	 
	 
	 
	 

	North America Office2029 Century Park East,Suite 3150, Los Angeles, CA 90067,UNITED STATES OF AMERICATel: +1 310 695 3235Fax: +1 310 641 1655
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	New Zealand OfficePart Level 1, 20 Beaumont StreetAuckland 1010 NEW ZEALANDTel: +64 9 307 7040Fax: +64 9 930 6886
	 
	 
	 
	 

	INTERNATIONAL OFFICES CONTINUED
	 

	NORTH ASIA
	Shanghai OfficeRoom 4303, Level 43 CITIC Square1168 Nanjing Road West, Shanghai 200040P. R. CHINATel: +86 21 5292 8833Fax: +86 21 5292 5557
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Beijing OfficeDestination NSWUnit 1486, Level 14, China World Office 1,1 Jianguomenwai Avenue,Chaoyang District, Beijing, P. R. CHINATel: +86 10 6535 0330Fax: +86 10 6535 1099
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Chengdu OfficeDestination NSWUnit 17-29, Level 17, Raffles City, Tower 2,No.3 Section 4, South Renmin Road,Wuhou District, Chengdu 610041, P. R. CHINATel: 86 28 6511 2838Fax: 86 28 6511 8199
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Guangzhou OfficeUnit A2, Level 10, Development Centre3 Linjiang Dadao, Pearl River New Town,Guangzhou, PRC, 510623Tel: +86 20 3785 3009  
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Hong Kong OfficeRoom 240524/F Harbour Centre, No 25 Harbour RoadWanchaiHONG KONGTel: +852 2531 3889Fax: +852 2877 0387
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Destination NSW Representative Office – South KoreaRm #1105, Dong-A BD 117, Namdaemun-roJung-gu, Seoul, SOUTH KOREATel: +82 2779 2950
	 
	 
	 

	Japan Office12F Sanno Park Tower2-11-1 Nagata-cho, Chiyoda-ku,Tokyo 100-6112, JAPANTel: +81 3 6550 8061Fax: +81 3 6550 8064
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	SOUTH AND SOUTH-EAST ASIA
	Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia Office#08-01A United Square 101 Thomson Rd,Singapore 307591, SINGAPORETel: +65 6253 3888Fax: +65 6352 4888
	 
	 
	 
	 

	IndiaNo 85, 3 North Avenue (Building 3),Maker Maxity, Bandra Kurla Complex,Bandra (E), Mumbai – 400051, INDIATel: +91 22 6770 3034
	 
	 
	 
	 


	Figure






Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		25176 - DNSW Annual Report accessible LOW REZ.pdf




		Report created by: 

		Harry McEvoy

		Organization: 

		




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 0

		Passed: 30

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top


